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INTRODUCTION

In this annual report, we use the term “Copa Haldirto refer to Copa Holdings, S.A., “Copa” or “GoAirlines” to refe
to Comparfia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., a subgidiiCopa Holdings, S.A., and “Copa Colombia’ refer to AeroRepublic
S.A., a subsidiary of Copa Holdings, S.A. The tefms,” “us” and “our” refer to Copa Holdings, S.A. together with its sdizsies
except where the context requires otherwise. Ref@®to “Class A shares” refer to Class A sharg3opfa Holdings, S.A.

This annual report contains terms relating to ojeggperformance that are commonly used withinahine industry an
are defined as follows:

. “Aircraft utilization” represents the average number of block hours aabpsr day per aircraft for the total airc
fleet.

. “Available seat miles” or “ASMstepresents the aircraft seating capacity multipigdhe number of miles the se

are flown.

. “Average stage lenc” represents the average number of miles flown |agintfl

. “Block hour! refers to the elapsed time between an aircrafihgaan airport gate and arriving at an airport g

. “Break-even load factorfepresents the load factor that would have resuftetal revenues being equal to t
expenses

. “Load factor”represents the percentage of aircraft seating @gpthat is actually utilized (calculated by divid
revenue passenger miles by available seat m

«  “Operating expense per available seat” represents operating expenses divided by avaitsdzemiles

. “Operating revenue per available seat " represents operating revenues divided by availsdzdé¢ miles

. “Passenger revenue per available seal’ represents passenger revenue divided by availebtarsles

. “Revenue passenger m” represents the number of miles flown by revenuseragers

. “Revenue passengerspresents the total number of paying passengahkiding all passengers redeeming One

frequent flyer miles and other travel awards) floan all flight segments (with each connecting segfmeeing
considered a separate flight segme

*  “Yield” represents the average amount one passenger piysite mile.
Market Data

This annual report contains certain statisticanda&garding our airline routes and our competipesition and mark
share in, and the market size of, the Latin Ameriaaline industry. This information has been dedvrom a variety of sourct
including the International Air Transport Associatj the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration, tielrnational Monetary Fund &
other thirdparty sources, governmental agencies or industgeneral publications. Information for which no smuis cited has be
prepared by us on the basis of our knowledge ofnLAmerican airline markets and other informatiovaitable to us. Tr
methodology and terminology used by different searare not always consistent, and data from diffeseurces are not reac
comparable. In addition, sources other than usnusihodologies that are not identical to ours ang praduce results that difl
from our own estimates. Although we have not indeleatly verified the information concerning our quetitive position, mark
share, market size, market growth or other sindiaa provided by thirgharty sources or by industry or general publicatjome
believe these sources and publications are geypereurate and reliable.
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Presentation of Financial and Statistical Data

Included elsewhere in this annual report are oulitad consolidated statement of financial positeenof December 3
2010 and 2009 and the related audited consolidasgdments of income, changes in sharehol@epgity and cash flows for the yei
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

The Companys consolidated financial statements have been prdpa accordance with International Financial Répg
Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the Internatidx@lounting Standards Board (“IASB”). These are @wmpanys first consolidate
financial statements prepared in accordance witRSIFand IFRS 1First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporti
Standardq"“IFRS 1) has been applied.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references in threual report to “$” or “dollarstefer to U.S. dollars, and all reference:
“Pesos” or “Ps.” refer to Colombian pesos, the latarency of Colombia.

Certain figures included in this annual report h&een subject to rounding adjustments. Accordinfiiyyres shown a
totals in certain tables may not be an arithmedigregation of the figures that precede them.

Special Note About Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report includes forward-looking statatee principally under the captions “Risk FactorsBusines:
Overview” and “Operating and Financial Review amddpects.” We have based these forwaaking statements largely on ¢
current beliefs, expectations and projections abdute events and financial trends affecting ausibess. Many important factors,

addition to those discussed elsewhere in this dmepart, could cause our actual results to di§figbstantially from those anticipat
in our forward-looking statements, including, amanrtiger things:

. general economic, political and business conditionBanama and Latin America and particularly ie gfeographi
markets we serve

. our managemert’expectations and estimates concerning our fdinamcial performance and financing plans
programs

. our level of debt and other fixed obligatio

. demand for passenger and cargo air service in #rkats in which we operat
. competition;

. our capital expenditure plar

. changes in the regulatory environment in which werate;

. changes in labor costs, maintenance costs, futd eosl insurance premiurn
. changes in market prices, customer demand andrenefes and competitive conditiot
. cyclical and seasonal fluctuations in our operatggylts;

. defects or mechanical problems with our airct

. our ability to successfully implement our growthesegy;

. our ability to obtain financing on commercially seaable terms; ar

. the risk factors discussed uncRisk Factor” beginning on page «
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HNTH

The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “aim,” “estimag,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expectand similar words are intendec
identify forward-looking statements. Forwaabking statements include information concerning possible or assumed fut
results of operations, business strategies, fimgnplans, competitive position, industry environtgmotential growth opportunitie
the effects of future regulation and the effecteapetition. Forwardeoking statements speak only as of the date thexgmnade
and we undertake no obligation to update publiglyoorevise any forwartboking statements after the date of this annupbn
because of new information, future events or ofaetors. In light of the risks and uncertaintiesaéed above, the forwaitdeking
events and circumstances discussed in this anapaltrmight not occur and are not guarantees ofdéuperformance. Consider|
these limitations, you should not place undue nekaon forward-looking statements contained in énisual report.

LTS ” o, LTS ” o ” ” w

PART |
Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Managemend &uvisers
Not applicable.
Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not applicable.
Item 3. Key Information
A. Selected Financial Data

The following table presents summary consolidaiednicial and operating data for each of the periodgcated. Ou
consolidated financial statements are prepareddordance with International Financial Reportingristards (“IFRS”)jssued by th
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASBahd are stated in U.S. dollars. These are our ficstsolidated financi
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS an@& [FRrst-time Adoption of International Financial Repiog Standardq*IFRS
1") has been applied. You should read this informatioonjunction with our consolidated financial staents included in tr
annual report and the information under “ltem 5e@ping and Financial Review and Prospeeigpearing elsewhere in this anr
report.

The summary consolidated financial information &$oo the years ended December 31, 2010 and 208%é&ean derive
from our audited consolidated financial statemémtBided elsewhere in this annual report.

Year Ended December 31, (ir
thousands of dollars, except sha
and per share data and operatini

data)
2009 2010
INCOME STATEMENT DATA
Operating revenue
Passenger reveni $ 1,189,70 $ 1,338,58
Cargo, mail and othe 66,37( 76,22¢
Total operating revenus 1,256,07! 1,414,801
Operating expense
Aircraft fuel 300,81t 354,42
Salaries and benefi 157,04! 178,84!
Passenger servicir 125,15( 133,71¢
Commission: 47,457 45,331
Reservations and sal 56,28( 58,81
Maintenance, materials and repe 55,72( 62,22¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 50,87¢ 62,96:
Flight operation: 60,87 70,64¢
Aircraft rentals 46,53¢ 46,33¢
Landing fees and other renti 33,62¢ 40,32(
Other 62,19( 71,531
Special fleet charge 19,41° 0
Total operating expens 1,015,99 1,125,15!
Operating incomi 240,08t 289,64
Nonr-operating income (expenst
Interest expens (32,939 (29,98))
Interest capitalize 693 0
Interest incom: 9,18¢ 4,75¢
Other, nel@ 58,95¢ (4,409
Total nor-operating expenses, r 35,89¢ (29,625



Income before income tax 275,98 260,02!
Provision for income taxe 26,89 18,96¢
Net income 249,08 241,05’
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATA
Total cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment

Accounts receivable, n

Total current asse

Purchase deposits for flight equipm:
Total property and equipme

Total asset

Long-term debt

Total shareholde’ equity

Capital stock

CASH FLOW DATA
Net cash provided by operating activit
Net cash used in investing activiti

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi

OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
EBITDA ©)

Aircraft rentals

Operating margil®

Weighted average shares used in computing net iag@nshare (basi
Weighted average shares used in computing net iaganshare (dilutec

Net income per share (bas
Net income per share (dilute
Dividends declared per she

OPERATING DATA

Revenue passengers carr®)
Revenue passenger mil®)
Available seat mile(®

Load factor(®)

Breal-even load facto®

Total block hour10)

Average daily aircraft utilizatio(1)
Average passenger fg

Yield (12)

Passenger revenue per A{13)
Operating revenue per AS(14)
Operating expenses per ASM (CAS(5)
Departures

Average daily departure

Average number of aircra
Airports served at period et

SEGMENT FINANCIAL DATA
Copa:
Operating revenu
Operating expense¢
Depreciation and Amortizatic
Aircraft rentals
Interest expens
Interest capitalize
Interest incomt
Income before income te
Total asset
Copa Colombia:
Operating revenu

Year Ended December 31, (it
thousands of dollars, except shai
and per share data and operating

data)
2009 2010

$ 352,06t $ 402,60:

80,79 89,38
503,02: 594,38¢
198,69 205,97:
1,480,17. 1,772,52!
2,161,20! 2,555,99
750,97 888,68
911,13¢ 1,109,96!

51,78 55,86

$ 291,29¢ $ 292,80:

(160,315 (445,432
(87,849 95,52(
313,83¢ 324,48:

46,53¢ 46,33«
19.1% 20.5%
43,910,92 43,995,67
43,910,92 43,995,67
$ 5.67 $ 5.4¢
$ 5.67 $ 5.4¢
$ 0.37 $ 1.0¢
7,18z 7,99¢
7,391 8,41¢
9,911 10,95(
74.6% 76.5%
55.506 61.6%
206,72 221,29¢
10.1 10.1¢
167.C 168.¢
16.0¢ 15.9¢
12.0¢ 12.2:
12.67 12.9z
10.2¢ 10.2¢
88,29: 95,00¢
241.¢ 260.:
56. 59.7
51 52
1,013,131 1,163,99:
780,46t 871,98t
46,69: 55,20¢
25,507 30,377
30,08¢ 27,07t
(699) 0
(8,12 (3,909)
271,99° 264,70
1,984,35: 2,386,16!
254,68! 269,97:



Operating expenst
Depreciation and amortizatic
Aircraft rentals

Interest expens

Interest capitalize

Interest incom:

Income (loss) before income t
Total asset

248,17t
4,18¢
26,187
2,857

0
(1,064
4,12(
321,85:

274,98
7,75:
27,19¢
2,90¢

0
(851)
(4,68¢)
340,92
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Year Ended December 31, (it
thousands of dollars, except shai
and per share data and operating

data)
2009 2010
SEGMENT OPERATING DATA
Copa:
Available seat mile(® 8,31¢ 9,22¢
Load factor(®) 76% 77.%%
Breal-even load facta 51.9% 57.1%
Yield (12) 15.07 15.1¢
Operating revenue per AS(14) 12.1¢ 12.61
CASM (19) 9.3¢ 9.4t
Average stage leng(7) 1,21¢ 1,24¢
On time performanc(8) 87.6% 90.6%
Copa Colombia{19
Available seat mile® 1,592 1,722
Load factor(®) 67.5% 71.1%
Breakeven load factc 67.€% 72.2%
Yield (13) 22.0¢ 20.2¢
Operating revenue per AS(5) 15.1( 15.0¢
CASM (16) 14.62 15.3(
Average stage leng(8) 42¢ 43t
On time performanc9) 90.1% 86.%

1)

)
3

Represents expenses related to costs asmbeidh terms negotiated for the early terminaiiisnMD-80 aircraft as a result
Copa Colombi's transition to a more fuel efficient all Embr-190 fleet in 2009

Consists primarily of changes in the fair valudua derivative contracts and foreign exchange gflisses

EBITDA represents net income (loss) plus the sunniarest expense, income taxes, depreciation amatteation minus tr
sum of interest capitalized and interest incomelTER is presented as supplemental information beeawe believe it is
useful indicator of our operating performance andseful in comparing our operating performancé wther companies in t
airline industry. However, EBITDA should not be satered in isolation, as a substitute for net ineg@repared in accordar
with IFRS or as a measure of a company’ofitability. In addition, our calculation of EBDA may not be comparable to otl
companies’similarly titled measures. The following table pets a reconciliation of our net income to EBITD#r fthe
specified periods

2009 2010
Net income $ 249,08 $ 241,05
Interest expens 32,93¢ 29,98!
Income taxe: (9,185 (4,759
Depreciatior 50,87¢ 62,96
Subtotal 323,71t 329,24
Interest capitalize (693%) 0
Interest incom: (9,185 (4,759
EBITDA 313,83t 324,48

(4)
()

(6)
()
8

Aircraft rentals represent a significant operat;xgpense of our business. Because we leased se¥arat aircraft during tr
periods presented, we believe that when assesamgRI TDA you should also consider the impact of aticraft rent expens

Operating margin represents operating income divlmeoperating revenue

Total number of paying passengers (including adispagers redeeming OnePass frequent flyer mileoted travel award
flown on all flight segments, expressed in thousa

Number of miles flown by scheduled revenue passang&pressed in million
Aircraft seating capacity multiplied by the numioémiles the seats are flown, expressed in millit

Percentage of aircraft seating capacity that isallst utilized. Load factors are calculated by dimg revenue passenger m
by available seat mile
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(9) Load factor that would have resulted in totalenues being equal to total expenses, exclutimegffect of fuel derivative mark-
to-market and special fleet charges, this figure winalde been 54.0% in 2009 and 61.2 in 2(

(10) The number of hours from the time an airplane maféthe departure gate for a revenue flight uittis parked at the gate
the arrival airport

(11) Average number of block hours operated per dayjeraft for the total aircraft flee
(12) Average amount (in cents) one passenger pays tméymile.
(13) Passenger revenues (in cents) divided by the nuoflarailable seat mile
(14) Total operating revenues for passenger related ¢imstents) divided by the number of available seites.
(15) Total operating expenses for passenger aircraftaglcosts (in cents) divided by the number oflalle seat miles
(16) Percentage of flights that arrive at the destimagate within fifteen minutes of scheduled arri
(17) The average number of miles flown per flig
(18) Percentage of flights that depart within fifteemotes of the scheduled departure ti
)

(19) Has not historically distinguished between revepassengers and noevenue passengers. Revenue passenger informati
other statistics derived from revenue passengex fiatthe year ended December 31, 2009 and 201®éas derived fro
estimates that we believe to be materially accu

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not applicable

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable

D. Risk Factors

R isks R elating to Our Company

Our failure to successfully implement our growthrategy may adversely affect our results of operasoand harm the marke
value of our Class A shares.

We have grown rapidly over the past ten years. mgutihe next several years we intend to continugréav our busines:
We intend to grow our fleet, having recently sigheases for ten new Boeing 7800 airplanes, five for delivery in 2011 and f
during 2012. We also intend to expand our senaceetwv markets and to increase the frequency ditBigo the markets we curren
serve. Achieving these goals is essential in ofoleour business to benefit from cost efficienaiesulting from economies of sca
We expect to have substantial cash needs as wadxpeluding cash required to fund aircraft pusdeor aircraft deposits as
add to our fleet. We cannot assure you that we hdlle sufficient cash to fund such projects, anaefare unable to successfu
expand our route system, our future revenue amdregs growth would be limited.

When we commence a new route, our load factorsttebe lower than those on our established routdsoar advertisin
and other promotional costs tend to be higher, winiay result in initial losses that could have gatize impact on our results
operations as well as require a substantial amoficish to fund. We also periodically run speciaimpotional fare campaign
particularly in connection with the opening of nesutes. Promotional fares may have the effect ofeiasing load factors whi
reducing our yield on such routes during the petfad they are in effect. The number of marketssesee and our flight frequenci
depend on our ability to identify the appropriaeographic markets upon which to focus and to gaitalsle airport access and roi
approval in these markets. There can be no as=ithatthe new markets we enter will provide pagsetraffic that is sufficient t
make our operations in those new markets profitalay condition that would prevent or delay our egs to key airports or route
including limitations on the ability to process raquassengers, the imposition of flight capacityrigt®ons, the inability to secul
additional route rights under bilateral agreememtthe inability to maintain our existing slots abanks and obtain additional sl
and flight banks, could constrain the expansioawfoperations.
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The expansion of our business will also requireitamtal skilled personnel, equipment and faciliti&®e inability to hir
and retain skilled pilots and other personnel ause the required equipment and facilities effidigncosteffectively, and on
timely basis, may adversely affect our ability teeeute our growth strategy. In recent years, thighaiindustry has experience:
pilot shortage that has disproportionately affectstiller and regional carriers. Expansion of ourketa and flight frequencies r
also strain our existing management resources padhtional, financial and management informatiostesyis to the point where tt
may no longer be adequate to support our operatieqsiiring us to make significant expenditureghese areas. In light of the
factors, we cannot assure you that we will be ablsuccessfully establish new markets or expandeaisting markets, and ¢
failure to do so could harm our business and regidlbperations, as well as the value of our Chashares.

Our performance is heavily dependent on economiaditions in the countries in which we do business.

Passenger demand is heavily cyclical and highlyeddpnt on global and local economic growth, econc®pectatior
and foreign exchange rate variations. In the past,have been negatively impacted by poor econoraifopnance in certa
emerging market countries in which we operate. Afyhe following developments in the countries ihigh we operate cou
adversely affect our business, financial condifod results of operations:

. changes in economic or other governmental poli
. changes in regulatory, legal or administrative pcas; or
. other political or economic developments over whighhave no contro

Additionally, a significant portion of our revenuées derived from discretionary and leisure travdlich are especial
sensitive to economic downturns. An adverse ecoa@nvironment, such as the one triggered by the 20@bal financial crisi:
could result in a reduction in passenger traffig] &isure travel in particular, as well as a reiurcin our cargo business, and cc
also impact our ability to raise fares, which imntwould materially and negatively affect our ficéal condition and results
operations.

The cost of refinancing our debt and obtaining adidinal financing for new aircraft has increased anchay continue to increase.

We currently finance our aircraft through bank leamd operating leases. In the past, we have i#ericaobtain lease
debt financing on terms attractive to us. We haviioed most of the financing for our Boeing aifcaurchases from commerc
financial institutions utilizing guarantees provitley the Export-Import Bank of the United Statekse Exportkmport Bank provide
guarantees to companies that purchase goods fr@mcompanies for export, enabling them to obtaiarfting at substantially low
interest rates as compared to those that they caltigin without a guarantee. The Explonport Bank does not provide simi
guarantees in connection with financing for oucft purchases from Embraer since those aircrafnat exports from the Unit
States. At December 31, 2010, we had $547.1 milbéroutstanding indebtedness that is owed to firniostitutions unde
financing arrangements guaranteed by the ExporttimBank. We cannot predict whether the Export-Imf@gank’s credit suppo
will continue to be available to us to fund futyrerchases of Boeing aircraft. The Expbriport Bank may in the future limit i
exposure to Panantmsed companies, to our airline or to airlines gahg or may encourage us to diversify our crestitirces b
limiting future guarantees.

Similarly, we cannot assure you that we will beeaol continue to raise financing from past souroe$rom other source
on terms comparable to our existing financing okt The recent turmoil in the financial markefsr example, tightened t
availability of credit and increased the cost ofaifiing lease or debt financing. If the cost oftsdimancing increases or we
unable to obtain such financing, we may be foraedntur higher than anticipated financing costsjoicould have an adve!
impact on the execution of our growth strategy lansiness.
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We are dependent on our alliance with United Cordgirtal Holdings and cannot assure you that it wilbtinue.

We have maintained a broad commercial and markefiience with Continental Airlines, Inc., or Comgintal, for the pa
12 years. This alliance allowed us to enhance aiwaerk and, in some cases, offer our customersicgsrthat we could n
otherwise offer. Our alliance with Continental lpasvided us with support in negotiations for aiftraurchases, insurance and
purchases, sharing of “best practicagtl engineering support in our maintenance op&stand significant other intangible supg
This support has assisted us in our growth stratepile also improving our operational performareel the quality of our servic
On October 1, 2010, Continental merged with Unisidines and became a whollgwned subsidiary of United Continer
Holdings, Inc. (“UAL”"). Although the airlines continue to operate sepayatatil the integration is complete, all of the béts fromr
our previous alliance with Continental have beamgaized by UAL.

If UAL were to experience severe financial diffites or go bankrupt, our alliance and service agerds may k
terminated or we may not realize the anticipatenelits from our relationship with UAL. In additiohjgh fuel costs, slowdowns
the global capital markets, industry competitionl &rrorism or other international hostilities mellyaffect UAL’s profitability. We
cannot assure you that UAL will be able to sustarprofitability, and as a result, we may be miater and adversely affected b
deterioration of UAL'’s financial condition.

Our alliance relationship with Continental was gubject of a grant of antitrust immunity from theSUDepartment 1
Transportation, or DOT. If our relationship with UAhowever, were deemed unable to benefit fromamtgof antitrust immunit
our business, financial condition and results oérafions would likely be materially and adverseffeeted. There are curren
appeals pending challenging the merger of Contaleartd United Airlines in the U.S. District Courrfthe Northern District
California. We cannot assure you that these chgdélenvill be unsuccessful.

In addition, if our alliance with UAL or our serdcagreements were terminated, our business, fimlaoondition an
results of operations would likely be materially/daadversely affected. The loss of Capabdesharing relationship with UAL wol
likely result in a significant decrease in our newes. We also rely on UAE’OnePass frequent flyer program that we partieijn
globally and on a ctranded basis in Latin America, and our businesg beaadversely affected if the OnePass program dot
remain a competitive marketing program. In additioar competitors may benefit from alliances wither airlines that are mc
extensive than our alliance with UAL. We cannotdice the extent to which we will be disadvantaggdcbmpeting alliances. O
relationship with suppliers depends in part onaliance with UAL.

We have decided to change our global airlines atie, which could involve significant transition anichtegration risks.

During 2008, Continental Airlines announced itseiitton to leave the SkyTeam Alliance and join thar SAlliance
effective the fourth quarter of 2009. Due to ourdestanding alliance relationship with Continentald am order to ensure we rem
fully aligned with Continental on a number of imfart joint initiatives, we also exited the SkyTeddliance during the fourt
quarter of 2009. As a result, we are currentlyaftiliated with any global airline alliance. In Nember 2010, Copa and Star Allia
jointly announced Coy's intention to join Star Alliance. Copa is currgnith the process of complying with the requiremeto
join,with a target entry date into Star Alliance Aybril 30, 2012. The process of joining an alliadde the Star Alliance involve
execution risks, including potential delays dudack of applicable approvals or difficulty in sdifng entrance requirements.
particular, we may be required to execute bilatagdeements with members and integrate our techpgbwocesses. Delays
joining Star Alliance or our inability to comply thi these requirements could result in additionat€@nd anticipated benefits n
not be realized, which could have a material adveffect on our business, results of operationsfimadcial condition.
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We operate using a hub-and-spoke model and are eudtble to competitors offering direct flights betem destinations we serve.

The structure of our flight operations follows wigknown in the airline industry as a “hub-and{sgomodel. This mode
aggregates passengers by operating flights fromnaber of “spoke’origins to a central hub through which they aredported tc
their final destinations. In recent years, manylitranal hub-andspoke operators have faced significant and inangasbmpetitive
pressure from low-cost, point-to-point carriers rontes with sufficient demand to sustain point-toAp service. A point-tgoint
structure enables airlines to focus on the moditphie, highdemand routes and to offer greater convenienceiamdany instance:
lower fares. As demand for air travel in Latin Amcarincreases, some of our competitors have iediatonstop service betwee
destinations that we currently serve through oun lu Panama. Nostop service, which bypasses our hub in Panamaoig
convenient and possibly less expensive, than onmexting service and could significantly decreasmahnd for our service to tho
destinations. We believe that competition from paiapoint carriers will be directed towards the largestrkets that we serve a
such competition is likely to continue at this lege intensify in the future. As a result, the effef such competition on us could
significant and could have a material adverse effamur business, financial condition and resoftsperations.

The Panamanian Aviation Act and certain of the bileral agreements under which we operate contain Baranian ownershif
requirements that are not clearly defined, and ofailure to comply with these requirements could caius to lose our authority 1
operate in Panama or to the international destinatis we serve.

Under Law No. 21 of January 29, 2003, which regadabhe aviation industry in the Republic of Panand which we
refer to as the Aviation Act, “substantial ownepshand “effective control’of our airline must remain in the hands of Panama
nationals. Under certain of the bilateral agreeméetween Panama and other countries pursuantioh wie have the right to fly t
those other countries and over their territory, nugst continue to have substantial Panamanian owipeasd effective control b
Panamanian nationals to retain these rights. Nefgubstantial ownership” nor “effective contrate defined in the Aviation Act «
in the bilateral agreements, and it is unclear l@oRanamanian court or, in the case of the bilasgetements, foreign regulatc
authorities might interpret these requirementsaddition, the manner in which these requiremergsirerpreted may change o
time. We cannot predict whether these requirementdd be satisfied through ownership and controPlaypamanian record holde
or if these requirements would be satisfied onhdirgct and indirect ownership and control by Paaaian beneficial owners.

At the present time, Corporacion de Inverstionesas, S.A., or CIASA, a Panamanian entity, is #word owner of all ¢
our Class B voting shares, representing approxisnate 1% of our total share capital and all of ttwting power of our capital stock.

On November 25, 2005, the Executive Branch of theveBnment of Panama promulgated a decree statiafy thie
“substantial ownership” and “effective contraBquirements of the Aviation Act are met if a Pamaran citizen or a Panamani
company is the record holder of shares represebtl§g or more of the voting power of the companythéiigh the decree has 1
force of law for so long as it remains in effetoes not supersede the Aviation Act, and it Gamilodified or superseded at any ti
by a future Executive Branch decree. Additionathe decree has no binding effect on regulatoryaittes of other countries who
bilateral agreements impose Panamanian ownerskiamtrol limitations on us. We cannot assure ymat the decree will not t
challenged, modified or superseded in the futurat CIASA will continue to own a majority of the &@lis B shares, or that rect
ownership of a majority of our Class B shares bydPaanian entities will be sufficient to satisfy theubstantial ownership”
requirement of the Aviation Act and the decree. arge in the ownership of the Class B shares oetarmination by th
Panamanian Civil Aviation Authority (th&utoridad de Aerondutica Civ)l which we refer to as the AAC, or a Panamaniarrtciat
“substantial’Panamanian ownership should be determined on #gis bkour direct and indirect ownership, couldsgus to lose ot
license to operate our airline in Panama. Likewis&, foreign regulatory authority were to determithat our direct or indire:
Panamanian ownership fails to satisfy the minimuamdnanian ownership requirements for a Panamaraarerc under th
applicable bilateral agreement; we may lose thefieof that agreement and be prohibited from fiyto the relevant country or ov
its territory. Any such determination would havemeterial adverse effect on our business, financ@ldition and results ¢
operations, as well as on the value of the Clashakes.
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Our business is subject to extensive regulation @fhimay restrict our growth or our operations or ingase our costs.

Our business, financial condition and results ofrafions could be adversely affected if we or dersaiation authoritie
in the countries to which we fly fail to maintaihet required foreign and domestic governmental aightions necessary for o
operations. In order to maintain the necessaryaaizitions issued by the AAC, the Colombian Civilidtion Administration (the
Unidad Administrativa Especial de Aeronautica Ciil UAEAC), and other corresponding foreign authesit we must continue
comply with applicable statutes, rules and regafetipertaining to the airline industry, includingyarules and regulations that m
be adopted in the future. We cannot predict orrobmainy actions that the AAC, the UAEAC, or foreigwmiation regulators may tal
in the future, which could include restricting aayperations or imposing new and costly regulatidxiso, our fares are technical
subject to review by the AAC, the UAEAC, and thgukators of certain other countries to which we #ipy of which may in th
future impose restrictions on our fares.

We are also subject to international bilateralteansport agreements that provide for the excharigar traffic rights
between each of Panama and Colombia, and varidwes abuntries, and we must obtain permission fram a@pplicable foreig
governments to provide service to foreign destimeti There can be no assurance that existing fzladgreements between f
countries in which our airline operating comparaes based and foreign governments will continughar we will be able to obta
more route rights under those agreements to accalat@mur future expansion plans. A modificatiorspgnsion or revocation
one or more bilateral agreements could have a rabtaverse effect on our business, financial dimdiand results of operatior
The suspension of our permits to operate to cedaports or destinations, the cancellation of ahyur provisional routes or tt
imposition of other sanctions could also have aeni@tadverse effect. Due to the nature of bildtaggeements, we can fly to ma
destinations only from Panama and to certain daetstins only from Colombia. We cannot assure you ¢ghahange in a foreic
governments administration of current laws and regulationghar adoption of new laws and regulations will have a materic
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

We plan to continue to increase the scale of oaratjpns and revenues by expanding our presencewrand existin
routes. Our ability to successfully implement thigategy will depend upon many factors, severablwth are outside our control
subject to change. These factors include the pesn@mnof a suitable political, economic and regulatnvironment in the Lati
American countries in which we operate or intendperate and our ability to identify strategic lbpartners.

The most active government regulator among the teiesrto which we fly is the U.S. Federal Aviatiddministration, ol
FAA. The FAA from time to time issues directivesdanther regulations relating to the maintenance @etation of aircraft th:
require significant expenditures. FAA requirements/er, among other things, security measures, saafli avoidance systerr
airborne windshear avoidance systems, noise abategme other environmental issues, and increasgabations and maintenar
procedures to be conducted on older aircraft. WWeeeixto continue incurring expenses to comply with FAA'’s regulations, and ar
increase in the cost of compliance could have arerse effect on our financial condition and resolt®perations. Additional ne
regulations continue to be regularly implementedh®yU.S. Transportation Security AdministrationT&A, as well.

The growth of our operations to the United Statesdathe benefits of our codsharing arrangements with Continental ai
dependent on Panama’s continued favorable safetgessment.

The FAA periodically audits the aviation regulataythorities of other countries. As a result ofiitgestigation, eac
country is given an International Aviation Safetgs&ssment, or IASA, rating. Since April 2004, IA®As rated Panama as
Category 1 jurisdiction. We cannot assure you thatgovernment of Panama, and the AAC in particuldlt continue to mee
international safety standards, and we have natdaentrol over their compliance with IASA guideds If Panama’ IASA rating
were to be downgraded in the future, it could pbghis from increasing service to the United Statied Continental would have
suspend the placing of its code on our flights saay us to lose direct revenue from codesharingedsas reducing flight options -
our customers.
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We are highly dependent on our hub at Panama Cityscumen International Airport.

Our business is heavily dependent on our operatainsur hub at Panama Cisy'Tocumen International Airpol
Substantially all of our Copa flights either degfaoim or arrive at our hub. Our growth strategyhisrefore, at least in part, depend
on the completion of the expansion of Tocumen hdgonal Airport expected to be completed in Seen2011. We cannot asst
you that this expansion will be fully implemented2011, andhus cannot assure you that our expansion willnfgdeémented witl
the speed we have anticipated.

In addition, the hub-and-spoke structure of ourrafens is particularly dependent on the tome arrival of tightly
coordinated groupings of flights (or banks) to emsthat passengers can make timely connectionsrionting flights. Like othe
airlines, we are subject to delays caused by fadbeyond our control, including air traffic congestat airports, adverse weatt
conditions and increased security measures. Defaymvenience passengers, reduce aircraft utitimaéind increase costs, all
which in turn negatively affect our profitabilitin addition, at its current utilization level, Taoen International Airport has limite
fuel storage capacity. In the event there is augtson in the transport of fuel to the airport, may be forced to suspend flights u
the fuel tanks can be refueled. A significant iniption or disruption in service or fuel at Tocuniaternational Airport could have
serious impact on our business, financial condiéind operating results.

Tocumen International Airport is operated by a cogpion that is owned and controlled by the govesntof the Republi
of Panama. We depend on our good working relatipnsith the quasgovernmental corporation that operates the airfgoensure
that we have adequate access to aircraft parkisgigus, landing rights and gate assignments foraieraft to accommodate o
current operations and future plans for expansitie. corporation that operates Tocumen Internatigirglort does not enter into ai
formal, written leases or other agreements withinagis that govern rights to use the airperjgtways or aircraft parking spac
Therefore, we do not have contractual recourshérevent the airport authority assigns new capaecittompeting airlines, reassig
our resources to other aircraft operators, raises br discontinues investments in the airpartaintenance and expansion. Any
these events could result in significant new coiitipatfor our routes or could otherwise have a matadverse effect on our curre
operations or ability for future growth.

We are exposed to increases in landing charges atfter airport access fees and cannot be assuredeasdo adequate facilitie
and landing rights necessary to achieve our expamsplans.

We must pay fees to airport operators for the digheir facilities. Any substantial increase inpairt charges could have
material adverse impact on our results of operatidPassenger taxes and airport charges have alssaged in recent yea
sometimes substantially. Certain important airponst we use may be privatized in the near futuhéckvis likely to result ir
significant cost increases to the airlines thatthese airports. We cannot assure you that theréérpsed by us will not impose,
further increase, passenger taxes and airport ehanghe future, and any such increases could iazelverse effect on our financ
condition and results of operations.

Certain airports that we serve (or that we plasdove in the future) are subject to capacity cairsis and impose sl
restrictions during certain periods of the day. ¥denot assure you that we will be able to obtasuféicient number of slots, gat
and other facilities at airports to expand our E&w as we are proposing to do. It is also possitaeairports not currently subject
capacity constraints may become so in the futur@addition, an airline must use its slots on a legand timely basis or risk havii
those slots rellocated to others. Where slots or other airpesburces are not available or their availabilityeistricted in some wa
we may have to amend our schedules, change routesiaoce aircraft utilization. Any of these altetimas could have an adver
financial impact on us.

Some of the airports to which we fly impose varigastrictions, including limits on aircraft noisevkls, limits on thi
number of average daily departures and curfewsuoway use. In addition, we cannot assure you tinabis at which there are 1
such restrictions may not implement restrictionsthie future or that, where such restrictions exisey may not become mc
onerous. Such restrictions may limit our abilitycintinue to provide or to increase services al suiports.
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We have significant fixed financing costs and expég incur additional fixed costs as we expand diget.

The airline business is characterized by high leger and we have a high level of indebtedness. [¥¢ehave significar
expenditures in connection with our operating lsaamed facility rental costs, and substantiallycdilbur property and equipment
pledged to secure indebtedness. For the year ebdeeimber 31, 2010, our interest expense and airanalf facility rental expens
under operating leases aggregated $95.4 millioDédember 31, 2010, approximately 61% of our timtdébtedness bore interest
fixed rates, and a small portion of our lease atilans was determined with reference to LIBOR. Adaagly, our financing and rel
expense will not decrease significantly if markeerest rates decline.

As of December 31, 2010, we had firm commitmentptochase 42 Boeing 7qNext Generation, with an aggreg
manufactures list price of approximately $3.7 billion. We wikquire substantial capital from external sourcemeet our futur
financial commitments. In addition, the acquisitiand financing of these aircraft will likely result a substantial increase in ¢
leverage and fixed financing costs. A high degriedleverage and fixed payment obligations could:

. limit our ability in the future to obtain additionfinancing for working capital or other importameeds

. impair our liquidity by diverting substantial caBbm our operating needs to service fixed finanabjgations
or

. limit our ability to plan for or react to changes our business, in the airline industry or in gehe&conomi
conditions.

Any one of these could have a material adversetefie our business, financial condition and resofitsperations.

Our existing debt financing agreements and our aiaft operating leases contain restrictive covenartgat impose significan
operating and financial restrictions on us.

Our aircraft financing loans and operating leasebthe instruments governing our other indebtednestain a number ¢
significant covenants and restrictions that limit ability and our subsidiaries’ ability to:

. create material liens on our ass:

»  take certain actions that may impair cred’ rights to our aircraft
. sell assets or engage in certain mergers or calaians; anc

. engage in other specified significant transacti

In addition, several of our aircraft financing agments require us to maintain compliance with ggetfinancial ratios
and other financial and operating tests. For examplir access to certain borrowings under our &irdinancing arrangements
conditioned upon our maintenance of minimum debtise coverage and capitalization ratios. Skem 5 Operating and Financ
Review and Prospects—Liquidity and Capital Resaufd@omplying with these covenants may cause us todakiens that make
more difficult to execute successfully our businstmtegy, and we may face competition from comgmmiot subject to suc
restrictions. Moreover, our failure to comply witflese covenants could result in an event of defautefusal by our creditors
extend certain of our loans.

If we fail to successfully take delivery of or ralbly operate new aircraft, our business could berimzd.

In 2011, we expect to take delivery of ten Boeil®y-800 and we expect to continue to incorporate newraft into out
fleet. The decision to incorporate new aircrafbésed on a variety of factors, including the impmatation of our growth strateg
Acquisition of new aircraft involves a variety a$ks relating to its ability to be successfullyqadd into service including:

. manufacture’s delays in meeting the agreed upon aircraft delisehedule
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. difficulties in obtaining financing on acceptabbrrhs to complete our purchase of all of the aitonaf hav:
committed to purchase; al

« the inability of new aircraft and their componetdscomply with agreed upon specifications and penémnct
standards

In addition, our fleet includes 26 Embraer 190 raiftc which is a relatively new aircraft to the usdry. Technical issue
with our Embraer 190 aircraft would increase ouintegnance expenses, and we cannot predict théitalisof the Embraer aircra
as the aircraft matures.

If we fail to successfully take delivery of or idhly operate new aircraft, our business, financtaldition and results «
operations could be harmed.

If we were to determine that our aircraft, rotabjgarts or inventory were impaired, it would have igsificant adverse effect on oL
operating results.

If there is objective evidence that an impairmestsion londived assets carried at amortized cost has beenrguat, the
amount of the impairment loss is measured as tifiereince between the assetarrying amount and the higher of its fair valess
cost to sell and its value in use, defined as tkeegnt value of estimated future cash flows (exolyéuture expected credit losses t
have not been incurred) discounted at the assisk adjusted interest rate. The carrying amofithe asset is reduced and the los
recorded in the consolidated statement of incomeddition to the fact that the value of our fldetlines as it ages, any poten
excess capacity in the airline industry, airlinelkaptcies and other factors beyond our control fiuather contribute to the declit
of the fair market value of our aircraft and rethtetable parts and inventory. If such impairmeo¢si occur, we would be requir
under IFRS to write down these assets through agehi® earnings. A significant charge to earningailed adversely affect ol
financial condition and operating results. In aiddit the interest rates on and the availabilitgeitain of our aircraft financing loa
are tied to the value of the aircraft securingldans. If those values were to decrease substigniiair interest rates may rise or
lenders under those loans may cease extending ¢oeds, either of which could have an adverse whpa our financial conditio
and results of operations.

We rely on information technology systems, and waynbecome more dependent on such systems in thedut

We rely upon information technology systems to apeour business and increase our efficiency. Weaghly reliant or
certain systems for maintenance, reservations keimecevenue management, accounting and cargo llisoh. Other systems a
designed to decrease distribution costs througériet reservations and to maximize cargo distrilmsti These systems may |
deliver their anticipated benefits. Also, in trdimiing to new systems we may lose data or expeei@mterruptions in service, whit
could harm our business.

Our quarterly results can fluctuate substantiallgnd the trading price of our Class A shares maydféected by such variations.

The airline industry is by nature cyclical and seed, and our operating results may vary from qrad quarter. We ter
to experience the highest levels of traffic anderae in July and August, with a smaller peak iffiran December and January.
general, demand for air travel is higher in thedtasind fourth quarters, particularly in internaabmarkets, because of the increas
vacation travel during these periods relative t® tbmainder of the year. We generally experienaelmumest levels of passeng
traffic in April and May. Given our high proportioof fixed costs, seasonality can affect our profitty from quarter to quarte
Demand for air travel is also affected by factomshsas economic conditions, war or the threat of, iexre levels and weath
conditions.

11




Table of Contents

Due to the factors described above and others ibdescin this annual report, quartergaarter comparisons of ¢
operating results may not be good indicators of fature performance. In addition, it is possiblattin any quarter our operat
results could be below the expectations of invastgod any published reports or analyses regarding@mpany. In that event, 1
price of our Class A shares could decline, perisapstantially.

Our reputation and financial results could be harrden the event of an accident or incident involvirayr aircraft.

An accident or incident involving one of our airitreould involve significant claims by injured pasgers and others,
well as significant costs related to the repaireglacement of a damaged aircraft and its temparapermanent loss from servi
We are required by our creditors and the lessoruofaircraft under our operating lease agreementsirry liability insurance, b
the amount of such liability insurance coverage matybe adequate and we may be forced to bearasuladtiosses in the event of
accident. Our insurance premiums may also incrdaseto an accident or incident affecting one of aicraft. Substantial clair
resulting from an accident in excess of our relatsdrance coverage or increased premiums woulah loar business and financ
results.

Moreover, any aircraft accident or incident, evérully insured, could cause the public to perceie as less safe
reliable than other airlines which could harm owsibess and results of operations. The Copa bramdenand our corpore
reputation are important and valuable assets. Advpublicity (whether or not justified) could tashiour reputation and reduce
value of our brand. Adverse perceptions of the dypE aircraft that we operate arising from safetymaerns or other problen
whether real or perceived, or in the event of arident involving those types of aircraft could sfgrantly harm our business as
public may avoid flying our aircrafts. In additioas a result of the rebranding of AeroRepublic&épa Colombia, issues related
and perceptions of, Copa Colombia may negativelyaich our brand and affect our business or profitgbi

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could negedily affect our net income.

In 2010, approximately 66.7% of our expenses and%2of our revenues were denominated in U.S. dolldihe
remainder of our expenses and revenues were deatadiin the currencies of the various countrieshah we fly, with the large
non-dollar amount denominated in Colombian Pesos dwitosolume of business in Colombia. If any of thesirrencies decline
value against the U.S. dollar, our revenues, esxpes U.S. dollars, and our operating margin wdddadversely affected. We n
not be able to adjust our fares denominated inratherencies to offset any increases in U.S. dallmominated expenses, increi
in interest expense or exchange losses on fixemjailidns or indebtedness denominated in foreigmetuy. We currently ha
hedges in place with respect to some of our U.adbColombian Peso exposure.

We are also exposed to exchange rate losses, hasaghins, due to the fluctuation in the valudoohl currencies vis-a-
vis the U.S. dollar during the period of time betwehe time we are paid in local currencies andithe we are able to repatriate
revenues in U.S. dollars. Although in most coustrie which we fly this period is typically betweeme and two weeks,
Venezuela, foreign companies, including airlinesyenexperienced increasing delays for approvalhéywenezuelan governmen
repatriate funds. We have significant cash balaimc@&olivar Fuerte subject to Venezuelan excharmrols. In recent periods,
have experienced up to a nine month delay in rigtiay funds. On January 8, 2010, the Venezuelareguonent announced
decision to implement new fixed exchange ratescétffe January 11, 2010, which resulted in a sigaifi devaluation of the Boliv
Fuerte against the U.S. dollar. As a result, weiired losses of approximately $19.7 million. Gitka uncertainty with respect to
exchange control regime in Venezuela, we continusetexposed in respect of our cash balance in2{mten Bolivar Fuertes shol
there be a further devaluation of the Bolivar Feert

Our maintenance costs will increase as our fleeteag

The average age of our fleet was approximatelyda8s as of December 31, 2010. In recent yearsawenage fleet a
has decreased significantly, mainly as a resuttusffleet renewal program. Historically, we haveurred low levels of maintenar
expenses relative to the size of our fleet becausst of the parts on our aircraft are covered unudti-year warranties. As our fle
ages, these warranties expire and the mileage a@naecraft increases, our maintenance costs nagase significantly, both on
absolute basis and as a percentage of our opesxpenses.
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If we enter into a prolonged dispute with any of mamployees, many of whom are represented by uniamsf we are required t
increase substantially the salaries or benefitsmir employees, it may have an adverse impact on operations and financia
condition.

Approximately 54% of the Compars/'employees belong to a labor union. There areentlyr five unions covering ot
Copa employees based in Panama: the pilots unicdPACL); the flight attendants’ union (SIPANAB); thmechanics’union
(SITECMAP); the traffic attendantsinion (UGETRACO); and a generalized union (SIELASjch represents ground personi
messengers, drivers, counter agents, and otheexerutive administrative staff. Copa entered irdltective bargaining agreemer
with its mechanics union in April 2009, its genanaion in July 2008, its pilot union in November0Z0and its flight attendants uni
in March 2010. Collective bargaining agreement®@amama are typically between three and four yearsteRecently, Copa clos
the negotiation of a final statement of allegedations submitted by UNPAC. In such negotiation8|QAP also agreed to sched:
the negotiations for the new collective bargaireggeements for September 2011. Negotiations witleigdized union (SIELAS) al
expected to take place in September 2013. In tlemtesuch negotiations do not lead to a mutuallysfeatory resolution, th
government may require us to enter into arbitrapooceedings and agree to terms that are lessdbloto us than our existit
agreement. In the event the government does notatararbitration, these negotiations may result prolonged dispute with o
pilots. We also have union contracts with Copa eygés in Brazil. Copa Colombia is a party to cdilexbargaining agreemer
that cover all of Copa Colombia’s pilots, pdets, and flight attendants. A strike, work imtgstion or stoppage or any prolong
dispute with our employees who are representechigyofithese unions could have an adverse impaciuoroperations. These ris
are typically exacerbated during periods of renagjon with the unions. Any renegotiated collectivargaining agreement cot
feature significant wage increases and a consequergase in our operating expenses. Employeesdeutdé Panama that are r
currently members of unions may also form new usithrat may seek further wage increases or benefits.

Our business is labor intensive. We expect salawages and benefits to increase on a gross lzagisthese costs cot
increase as a percentage of our overall costselfave unable to hire, train and retain qualifieldbtpiand other employees a
reasonable cost, our business could be harmed amday be unable to complete our expansion plans.

Our revenues depend on our relationship with traxsgents and tour operators.

In 2010, approximately 52% of our revenues werévddrfrom tickets sold by travel agents or tour rapers. We cannc
assure you that we will be able to maintain favteablationships with these ticket sellers. Oureraves could be adversely impac
if travel agents or tour operators elect to favthreo airlines or to disfavor us. Our relationshifthwtravel agents and tour operat
may be affected by:

. the size of commissions offered by other airlir
. changes in our arrangements with other distributbegrline tickets; an
. the introduction and growth of new methods of aglliickets.
We rely on third parties to provide our customensdaus with facilities and services that are intedita our business.

We have entered into agreements with tipiadty contractors to provide certain facilities as®tvices required for o
operations, such as heavy aircraft and engine evamice; call center services; catering, ground Imaydcargo and bagga
handling, or “below the wing” aircraft services.rlexample, at airports other than Tocumen Inteonati Airport, most of ourlielow
the wing” aircraft services are performed by thpatty contractors. Overhaul maintenance and “Ciciegre handled by contractc
in the United States and Costa Rica, and someniamtenance is handled at certain airports by eehtworkers rather than o
employees. Substantially all of our agreements whitd-party contractors are subject to termination onrtshotice. The loss ¢
expiration of these agreements or our inabilityrdoew these agreements or to negotiate new agreemith other providers
comparable rates could harm our business and sesfuliperations. Further, our reliance on thirdiparto provide reliable equipme
or essential services on our behalf gives us leafr@ over the costs, efficiency, timeliness awndldy of our service. A contract®’
negligence could compromise our aircraft or endampgessengers and crew. This could also have a iasladelverse effect on o
business. We expect to be dependent on such agneefoe the foreseeable future and if we enter ey market, we will need 1
have similar agreements in place.
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We depend on a limited number of suppliers.

We are subject to the risks of having a limited bemof suppliers for our aircraft and engines. ©@hthe elements of o
business strategy is to save costs by operatingnplied aircraft fleet. Copa currently operatdsetBoeing 737200/800 Ne»
Generation aircraft powered by CFM 38-engines from CFM International and the Embre84, owered by General Electric
34-10 engines. Copa Colombia currently operatestEtinbéraer 190, powered by General Electric CFlB4engines. We curren
intend to continue to rely exclusively on thesermift for the foreseeable future. If any of Boeigybraer, CFM International or (
Engines were unable to perform their contractudigabons, or if we are unable to acquire or leas& aircraft or engines frc
aircraft or engine manufacturers or lessors onabée terms, we would have to find another supfitiea similar type of aircraft
engine.

If we have to lease or purchase aircraft from a@motupplier, we could lose the benefits we derieenfour current fles
composition. We cannot assure you that any replaoerircraft would have the same operating advastas the Boeing 737-
700/800 Next Generation or Embraer 190 aircraft Whauld be replaced or that Copa could lease ochasge engines that would
as reliable and efficient as the CFM 56-7B and GEB410. We may also incur substantial transition cdatduding costs associal
with retraining our employees, replacing our maswald adapting our facilities. Our operations cald be harmed by the failure
inability of Boeing, Embraer, CFM International GE Engines to provide sufficient parts or relategport services on a time
basis.

Our business would be significantly harmed if aigieslefect or mechanical problem with any of thpety of aircraft ¢
components that we operate were discovered thatdwgnound any of our aircraft while the defect oolpem was correcte
assuming it could be corrected at all. The useunfaircraft could be suspended or restricted byledgry authorities in the event
any actual or perceived mechanical or design predléur business would also be significantly harifiglde public began to avc
flying with us due to an adverse perception oftifes of aircraft that we operate stemming fronetsa€oncerns or other problel
whether real or perceived, or in the event of aridant involving those types of aircraft or compotse

We also depend on limited suppliers with respestufaplies obtained locally, such as our fuel supphese local supplie
may not be able to maintain the pace of our graaviti our requirements may exceed their capabilitidsch may adversely affe
our ability to execute our growth strategy.

We are dependent on key personnel.

Our success depends to a significant extent upmefflorts and abilities of our senior managemeantand key financie
commercial, operating and maintenance personngaitticular, we depend on the services of our sanemagement team, includ
Pedro Heilbron, our Chief Executive Officer, Victdial, our Chief Financial Officer, Daniel Gunn, oGhief Operating Officer, at
Joe Mohan our Vic&resident of Commercial and Planning. Competitmmhighly qualified personnel is intense, and th&s|of an
executive officer, senior manager or other key eaygd without adequate replacement or the inabibtyattract new qualifie
personnel could have a material adverse effect opofusiness, operating results and financial itiamd
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Our operations in Cuba, which has been identifiegt the U.S. Department of State as a state spon$deworism, may adversel
affect our reputation and the liquidity and valuef our Class A shares.

We currently operate approximately five daily deépees to and from Cuba which provide passengegocand mai
transportation service. For the year ended DeceBiher2010, our transported passengers to and frarhaQepresente
approximately 4.8% of our total passengers carri@dr operating revenues from Cuban operations dutile year ende
December 30, 2010 represented approximately 6.68ti0fotal consolidated operating revenues for stedr. Our assets located
Cuba are insignificant.

Cuba has been identified by the United States goment as a state sponsor of terrorism, and the Ur&asury
Department Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) administand enforces economic and trade sanctions lwesedS. foreigr
policy against Cuba and certain other targetedidareountries. You should understand that our di/énasiness reputation m:
suffer as a result of our activities in Cuba, maarly if such activities grow in the future. Cairt U.S. states have recently enac
legislation regarding investments by pension fuadd other retirement systems in companies, suchues that have busine
activities with Cuba and other countries that hbgen identified as terrorisponsoring states. Similar legislation may be pamah
other states. As a result, pension funds and atbirement systems may be subject to new reponaggirements and oth
burdensome restrictions with respect to investmentsompanies such as ours. Pension funds andasiimititutions represent i
important source of demand for our shares, artkif willingness to invest in and hold our sharesemo diminish as a result of a
such requirements or restrictions, or for any otleason, it would likely have a material adverdeafon the liquidity and value
our Class A shares.

Risks Relating to the Airline Industry
The airline industry is highly competitive.

We face intense competition throughout our routevaek. Overall airline industry profit margins alew and industn
earnings are volatile. Airlines compete in the arefpricing, scheduling (frequency and flight teheontime performance, freque
flyer programs and other services. Some of our @itges, such as American Airlines, have largetauwer bases and greater br:
recognition in the markets we serve outside Panamd,some of our competitors have significantlyatge financial and marketir
resources than we have. Airlines based in othenttis may also receive subsidies, tax incentivestber state aid from the
respective governments, which are not providechikyRanamanian government. The commencement afci@ase in, service on t
routes we serve by existing or new carriers coelgatively impact our operating results. Likewisgmpetitors’'service on routes th
we are targeting for expansion may make those expamlans less attractive.

We compete with a number of other airlines thatrentty serve some of the routes on which we opegiatuding
American Airlines, Delta Air Lines, Aero-México, AancaTaca and Aires. Alliances, bankruptcy restructwsirand industr
consolidations characterize the airline industrg gnd to intensify competition. In recent yeaeyjesal air carriers have sought
reorganize, including certain of our competitorg;lsas Aviancdraca and Delta, and have benefited from lower dpgy@osts an
fare discounting in order to maintain cash flowsl do enhance continued customer loyalty. In addjtisince 2008, the airlir
industry has experienced increased consolidatignchanges in international alliances, both of whiele altered and will contint
to alter the competitive landscape in the industyyresulting in the formation of airlines and atic@s with increased financ
resources, more extensive global networks andeglteost structures. Although we intend to compégereusly and maintain ot
strong competitive position in the industry, AviaAataca and Aires represent a significant portion ted tlomestic market |
Colombia and have access to greater resourcesessila of their recent combinations. It is thereftikely that Copa Colombia wi
face stronger competition in the future than it ima®ecent years, and its prior results may nanleative of its future performance.

We must constantly react to changes in prices andces offered by our competitors to remain coritiget The airline
industry is highly susceptible to price discountipgrticularly because airlines incur very low maad costs for providing service
passengers occupying otherwise unsold seats. &auge discount fares to stimulate traffic durireyipds of lower demand -
generate cash flow and to increase market sharg.léwer fares offered by one airline are often rhatt by competing airline
which often results in lower industry yields witktle or no increase in traffic levels. Price corifgen among airlines in the futu
could lead to lower fares or passenger traffic @mes or all of our routes, which could negativelyauot our profitability. We canni
assure you that any of our competitors will notencdt our fares in the future or increase capamityoutes in an effort to increa
their respective market share. Although we intendampete vigorously and to assert our rights againy predatory conduct, su
activity by other airlines could reduce the levélfares or passenger traffic on our routes to thimtpwhere profitable levels «
operations could not be maintained. Due to our Emnalze and financial resources compared to skeé@ur competitors, we mg
be less able to withstand aggressive marketingctaot fare wars engaged in by our competitors Ehswch events occur.

15




Table of Contents

We may face increasing competition from low-costrars offering discounted fares.

Traditional hub-andpoke carriers in the United States and Europdramto face substantial and increasing compe
pressure from low-cost carriers offering discountaes. The low-cost carriers’ operations are gihjccharacterized by point-to-
point route networks focusing on the highest demaeity pairs, high aircraft utilization, single ckaservice and fewer ifight
amenities. As evidenced by the operations of Gellligent Airlines or Gol, which continues to grdeth in Brazil as well as in ott
South American countries, Spirit, which serves haé&imerica from Fort Lauderdale, JetBlue, whichdligom Orlando to Bogot
San José, San Juan, Santo Domingo, and Bahamas, (Aécently acquired by LAN), which recently hapanded aggressively
the domestic Colombian market and introduced fidigtween Bogota and Fort Lauderdale, and a nuafbew-cost carriers whic
operate within Mexico, among others, the lowst carrier business model appears to be gairdogptance in the Latin Americ
aviation industry. As a result, we may face new smldstantial competition from lowest carriers in the future which could resu
significant and lasting downward pressure on thesfave charge for flights on our routes.

Significant changes or extended periods of high fuests or fuel supply disruptions could materiadffect our operating results

Fuel costs constitute a significant portion of tntal operating expenses, representing approxima@6% of operatir
expenses in 2009 and 31.5% in 2010. Jet fuel ¢w@sts been subject to wide fluctuations as a reduficreases in demand, sud
disruptions in and other concerns about global by@Es well as market speculation. Fuel prices lmedcrecord levels during t
middle of 2008, decreased substantially in 2008, taen began to increase once again in 2010. Betledst and availability of fu
are subject to many economic, political, weathagienmental and other factors and events occutttingughout the world that \
can neither control nor accurately predict, inahgdinternational political and economic circums&sesuch as the political instabi
in major oilexporting countries in Latin America, Africa andiAslf a future fuel supply shortage were to arésea result «
production curtailments by the Organization of fhetroleum Exporting Countries, or OPEC, a disruptd oil imports, suppl
disruptions resulting from severe weather or natdisasters, the continued unrest in Iraq, otherflaxts in the Middle East
otherwise, higher fuel prices or further reductiofischeduled airline services could result. Wencarassure you that we would
able to offset any increases in the price of fyeinereasing our fares.

We routinely enter into derivative contracts fopation of our fuel needs to protect against risingl costs, although
recent periods, we have entered into such arrangsn a much more selective basis. These agresmpeotide only limite
protection against increases in the price of fuebur counterpartieshability to perform under the agreement, can Iss leffectiv:
during volatile market conditions and may be unia@é to us in the event of a deterioration in foancial condition. Because
the large volume of jet fuel that we consume inlousiness, entering into derivative contracts for substantial portion of our futt
projected fuel requirements is costly. Fuel priaes likely to increase above their current leveld enay do so in the near futt
which could materially and negatively affect oureogting results. Conversely, declines in fuel mrigeay increase the cao
associated with our fuel hedging arrangementsdetient we have entered into swaps or collarspSwaad put options sold as |
of a collar obligate us to make payments to thentemparty upon settlement of the contracts if theepof the commodity hedg
falls below the agreed upon amount. Historicallg¢lthing crude oil prices have resulted in our geiequired to post significe
amounts of collateral to cover potential amounte@with respect to swap and collar contracts thaemot yet settled. Additional
lower fuel prices may result in lower fares throulgh reduction or elimination of fuel surcharges.
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We may experience difficulty finding, training ancetaining pilots and other employees.

In previous years, the airline industry has experég a sustained pilot shortage caused by extramdair traffic growtt
in the Persian Gulf, China and India; the riseucf&tive loweost carriers in Europe and Asia; and the sustaieeavery of the U.<
airlines from the industry recession caused byS&ptember 11 terrorist attacks. This worldwide &g® of pilots disproportionate
affects smaller and regional carriers. Our needdgiaalified pilots has caused us to hire a substhntimber of norRanamania
national pilots. We cannot assure you that we golitinue to attract or obtain government approf@atssuch pilots. Although th
current recessionary environment has provided seief to the pilot shortage, as economies imprdtie, inability to attract an
retain pilots may adversely affect our growth stggt by limiting our ability to add new routes ociease the frequency of existi
routes.

The airline industry is a labantensive business. We employ a large number ghflattendants, maintenance technic
and other operating and administrative personnie¢ dirline industry has, from time to time, expeded a shortage of qualifi¢
personnel. In addition, as is common with most wf competitors, we may, from time to time, face sidarable turnover of ol
employees. Should the turnover of employees shamghgase, our training costs will be significantigher. We cannot assure y
that we will be able to recruit, train and retaire tqualified employees that we need to continuecourent operations or repla
departing employees. A failure to hire and retairalied employees at a reasonable cost could madieradversely affect oL
business, financial condition and results of openast

Because the airline industry is characterized byhifixed costs and relatively elastic revenuesJiags cannot quickly reduce the
costs to respond to shortfalls in expected revenue.

The airline industry is characterized by low grgssfit margins, high fixed costs and revenues tterally exhibi
substantially greater elasticity than costs. Therafing costs of each flight do not vary signifiggawith the number of passeng¢
flown and, therefore, a relatively small changehie number of passengers, fare pricing or traffic could have a significant effe
on operating and financial results. These fixedscoannot be adjusted quickly to respond to chamgesvenues and a shortfall frc
expected revenue levels could have a material adwffect on our net income.

Our business may be adversely affected by downtunnthie airline industry caused by terrorist attaskwar or outbreak of diseas
which may alter travel behavior or increase costs.

Demand for air transportation may be adverselycééf by terrorist attacks, war or political and iabdnstability,
epidemics, natural disasters and other events.ohtlyese events in the markets in which we operatgd have a material impact
our business, financial condition and results adrations. Furthermore, these types of situationgdcbave a prolonged effect on
transportation demand and on certain cost items.

The terrorist attacks in the United States on Sepé 11, 2001, for example, have had a severeaamtithd) adverse impa
on the airline industry. Airline traffic in the Ueid States fell dramatically after the attacks dadreased less severely througt
Latin America. The repercussions of September lidthyding increases in security, insurance and ééaimilar attacks, continue
affect us and the airline industry. Our revenugseded on the number of passengers traveling onligintd. Therefore, any futul
terrorist attacks or threat of attacks, whethemot involving commercial aircraft, any increasehiastilities relating to reprisa
against terrorist organizations, including an estoah of military involvement in the Middle Eastr otherwise and any relat
economic impact could result in decreased passerafic and materially and negatively affect owsiness, financial condition ai
results of operations.
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Public health threats, such as the H1N1 flu vithe,bird flu, Severe Acute Respiratory SyndromeRSpPand other highl
communicable diseases, affect travel behavior autdchave a material adverse effect on the induitying the second quarter
2009, passenger traffic was negatively affected assult of the HIN1 flu crisis, which resultedlinver overall demand for intra-
Latin America travel, especially to and from Mexid&though we quickly responded to the crisis bguging capacities to Mexic
and the H1NI flu situation normalized by July 2008 cannot assure you that the adverse effectatofef outbreaks of H1NI ¢
other such health threats will be able to be sityilaontained. It is impossible to determine if awtlen such health threats,
perceived health threats, will occur, when the Itegyuadverse effects will abate and the extentvtach they will further decreas
demand for air travel, which could materially aredjatively affect our business, financial conditeomd results of operations.

Increases in insurance costs and/or significant rgtions in coverage would harm our business, finaalccondition and results o
operations.

Following the 2001 terrorist attacks, premiumsif@urance against aircraft damage and liabilityhicd parties increase
substantially, and insurers could reduce their caye or increase their premiums even further inethent of additional terrori:
attacks, hijackings, airline crashes or other evelversely affecting the airline industry abroadnoLatin America. In the future
certain aviation insurance could become unafforlabhavailable or available only for reduced amsuonit coverage that a
insufficient to comply with the levels of insuranceverage required by aircraft lenders and lessorapplicable governme
regulations. While governments in other countriagehagreed to indemnify airlines for liabilitiesaththey might incur from terrori:
attacks or provide loweost insurance for terrorism risks, the Panamag@a@rnment has not indicated an intention to prewuinilar
benefits to us. Increases in the cost of insurama result in both higher fares and a decreaseaudeérfor air travel generally, whic
could materially and negatively affect our busindisencial condition and results of operations.

Failure to comply with applicable environmental retations could adversely affect our business.

Our operations are covered by various local, natiand international environmental regulations. Seheegulations cove
among other things, emissions to the atmosphesppsdal of solid waste and aqueous effluents, dircoése and other activities th
result from the operation of aircraft. Future opierss and financial results may vary as a resuftush regulations. Compliance w
these regulations and new or existing regulatibas inay be applicable to us in the future couldease our cost base and adver
affect our operations and financial results.

Risks Relating to Panama and our Region
We are highly dependent on conditions in Panama atma lesser extent, in Colombia.

A substantial portion of our assets are locatethénRepublic of Panama, a significant proportioroof customers al
Panamanian, and substantially all of Caplights operate through our hub at Tocumen Ietgomal Airport. As a result, we depe
on economic and political conditions prevailingrfréime to time in Panama. Panasmatonomic conditions in turn highly depend
the continued profitability and economic impacttbé Panama Canal. Control of the Panama Canal amy mther assets we
transferred from the United States to Panama in91&®er nearly a century of U.S. control. Politi@alents in Panama m
significantly affect our operations.

Copa Colombia results of operations are highly sensitive to nme@onomic and political conditions prevailing
Colombia, which have been highly volatile and ubktan recent decades. Although the state of affaitColombia has been steac
improving since 2002 political unrest and instabilin Colombia could resume, which could adversaffect Copa Colombia’
financial condition and results of operations. Theeat of terrorist attacks could impose additiocadts on us, including enhanc
security to protect our aircraft, facilities andrgmnnel against possible attacks as well as inetkasurance premiums. As a res
we may encounter significant unanticipated probleshsCopa Colombia, which could have a material extveeffect on ou
consolidated financial condition and results ofragiens.
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According to International Monetary Fund estimatbg, Panamanian and Colombian economies are expgctgrow by
6.2% and 4.7%, respectively, in 2011 as measurethéily GDP, however, if either economy experienaesustained recession,
significant political disruptions, our businessdncial condition and results of operations coddraterially and negatively affected.

A ny increase in the taxes we or our shareholders payPanama or the other countries where we do buess could adverse
affect the value of our Class A shares.

We cannot assure you that we will continue to paxe$ at the current rate. Our provision for incotaekes wa:
$26.9 million and $18.9 million in the years endeecember 31, 2009 and 2010, which representedfaatigé income tax rate «
9.7% and 7.3% for the respective periods. We abgestito local tax regulations in each of the jdii§ions where we operate, t
great majority of which are related to the taxatadfrincome. In some of the countries to which we e do not pay any incon
taxes, because we do not generate income undé@aviseof those countries either because they ddhawee income tax or because
treaties or other arrangements those countries WwihiePanama. In the remaining countries, we pagiime tax at a rate ranging frc
25% to 34% of income. Different countries calculateome in different ways, but they are typicallgrided from sales in tr
applicable country multiplied by our net marginbyra presumed net margin set by the relevant @igl&ion. The determination
our taxable income in certain countries is based eombination of revenues sourced to each paati@duntry and the allocation
expenses of our operations to that particular aguithe methodology for multinational transportaticompany sourcing of reven
and expense is not always specifically prescrilmethé relevant tax regulations, and therefore ez to interpretation by both |
and the respective taxing authorities. Additionailly some countries, the applicability of certaggulations governing noimcome
taxes and the determination of our filing status @so subject to interpretation. We cannot eseéntla@ amount, if any, of potent
tax liabilities that might result if the allocatisninterpretations and filing positions used byirusur tax returns were challenged
the taxing authorities of one or more countriesales were to increase, our financial performar results of operations could
materially and adversely affected. Due to the cditipe revenue environment, many increases in fgebtaxes have been absor
by the airline industry rather than being passedoothme passenger. Any such increases in our feg$axes may reduce demand
air travel and thus our revenues.

As of 2010, the Panamanian tax code for the airliustry was amended, tax is now based on net incaamged fo
traffic whose origin or destination is the Repubdit Panama. The applicable tax rate for 2010 wa8% 7 For 2011 and goir
forward, the applicable tax rate will be 25.0%. idends from our Panamanian subsidiaries, includioga, are separately subjec
a 10% percent withholding tax on the portion atttéble to Panamanian sourced income and a 5% widlinigotax on the portio
attributable to foreign sourced income. Additiopala 7% value added tax is levied on tickets issuedPanama for trave
commencing in Panama and going abroad, irrespectivénere such tickets were ordered.

Political unrest and instability in Latin Americarcountries to which we fly may adversely affect dausiness and the market pric
of our Class A shares.

While geographic diversity helps to reduce our expe to risks in any one country, we operate piilgnavithin Latin
America and are subject to a full range of risksoaited with our international operations. Théslkesrmay include unstable politic
or economic conditions, lack of wedktablished or reliable legal systems, exchangéralenand other limits on our ability
repatriate earnings and changeable legal and itegylaequirements. Although conditions throughowttih America vary fron
country to country, our customergactions to developments in Latin America gengnalay result in a reduction in passenger tra
which could materially and negatively affect ourdincial condition, results of operations and theketzprice of our Class A shares.
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Risks Relating to Our Class A Shares

The value of our Class A shares may be adversefeaéd by ownership restrictions on our capital skoand the power of ou
Board of Directors to take remedial actions to peege our operating license and international routeghts by requiring sales @
certain outstanding shares or issuing new stock.

Pursuant to the Panamanian Aviation Act, as ameadéddnterpreted to date, and certain of the bidteeaties affordin
us the right to fly to other countries, we are lieggh to be “substantially owned” and “effectivelprtrolled” by Panamania
nationals. Our failure to comply with such requiets could result in the loss of our Panamaniamadipg license and/or our rig
to fly to certain important countries. Our ArticleIncorporation(Pacto Social)give special powers to our independent directo
take certain significant actions to attempt to eaghat the amount of shares held in us by Ranamanian nationals does not rea
level which could jeopardize our compliance witm&aanian and bilateral ownership and control regouénts. If our independe
directors determine it is reasonably likely that wid be in violation of these ownership and cohtrequirements and our Class
shares represent less than 10% of our total oulistgrcapital stock (excluding newly issued shamd svith the approval of oL
independent directors committee), our independeattbrs will have the power to issue additionahs3 B shares or Class C shz
with special voting rights solely to Panamanianiaratls. See “10B. Memorandum and Articles of Asatioh—Description of
Capital Stock.”

If any of these remedial actions are taken, thdinicaprice of the Class A shares may be materelly adversely affecte
An issuance of Class C shares could have the affediscouraging certain changes of control of Cblmédings or may reduce ai
voting power that the Class A shares enjoy prioth Class C share issuance. There can be no assufat we would be able
complete an issuance of Class B shares to Panamaaiionals. We cannot assure you that restrictmmswnership by non-
Panamanian nationals will not impede the developgroéan active public trading market for the Clésshares, adversely affect t
market price of the Class A shares or materiathjtlour ability to raise capital in markets outsmfePanama in the future.

Our controlling shareholder has the ability to diog our business and affairs, and its interests cdwonflict with yours.

All of our Class B shares, representing approxitga®®.1% of the economic interest in Copa Holdirsgsl all of the
voting power of our capital stock, are owned by 6h CIASA is in turn controlled by a group of Paranian investors. In order
comply with the Panamanian Aviation Act, as amended interpreted to date, we have amended our a@mal documents 1
modify our share capital so that CIASA will contento exercise voting control of Copa Holdings. CRABIll not be able to transfe
its voting control unless control of our companyl wémain with Panamanian nationals. CIASA will m&iin voting control of th
company so long as CIASA continues to own a majaftour Class B shares and the Class B sharegoerto represent more th
10% of our total share capital (excluding newlues shares sold with the approval of our independeactors committee). Eve
after CIASA ceases to own the majority of the vgtipower of our capital stock, CIASA may continuectantrol our Board ¢
Directors indirectly through its control of our Namting and Corporate Governance Committee. Asctivgrolling shareholde
CIASA may direct us to take actions that could batrary to your interests and under certain cirdamses CIASA will be able t
prevent other shareholders, including you, frontkilog these actions. Also, CIASA may prevent chaofjeontrol transactions th
might otherwise provide you with an opportunitydispose of or realize a premium on your investnieiour Class A shares.

The Class A shares will only be permitted to vaterery limited circumstances and may never havd fidting rights.

The holders of Class A shares have no right to att®ur shareholdergheetings except with respect to corpo
transformations of Copa Holdings, mergers, conatilichs or spimffs of Copa Holdings, changes of corporate purpgstuntary
delistings of the Class A shares from the NYSE, approval of nominations of our independent directand amendments to t
foregoing provisions that adversely affect the tsghnd privileges of any Class A shares. The heldérClass B shares have -
power, subject to our supplemental agreement witth o elect the Board of Directors and to deterenthe outcome of all oth
matters to be decided by a vote of shareholdeessCA shares will not have full voting rights usiélse Class B shares represent
than 10% of our total capital stock (excluding newgksued shares sold with the approval of our iedeent directors committee). <
“Iltem 10B. Memorandum and Articles of Association-edaription of Capital Stock¥We cannot assure you that the Class A s
will ever carry full voting rights.
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Substantial future sales of our Class A shares b\MSA could cause the price of the Class A shareslézrease

CIASA owns all of our Class B shares, and thoses€k shares will be converted into Class A shdrésey are sold t
nonPanamanian investors. In connection with our ihjiablic offering in December 2005, Continental gBtASA reduced thei
ownership of our total capital stock from 49% t@agximately 27.3% and from 51% to approximately12%%, respectively. In
follow-on offering in June 2006, Continental further reshlidgts ownership of our total capital stock from.22% to 10.0%. It
May 2008, we, and CIASA, released Continental fritenstandstill obligations and they sold down th&imaining shares in t
public market. CIASA holds registration rights witespect to a significant portion of its sharesspant to a registration rigr
agreement entered into in connection with ourahjpiublic offering. In March 2010, CIASA convertadgortion of its Class B shar
into 1.6 million nonvoting Class A shares and sold such Class A slima@SEC registered public offering. In the eveAEA seeks
to reduce its ownership below 10% of our total sheapital, our independent directors may decidiesgoe special voting shar
solely to Panamanian nationals to maintain the osiip requirements mandated by the Panamanian iéwidtct. As a result, th
market price of our Class A shares could drop ficantly if CIASA further reduces its investmentus, other significant holders
our shares sell a significant number of share§theimarket perceives CIASA or other significantders intend to sell them.

Holders of our common stock are not entitled to praptive rights, and as a result you may experiescabstantial dilution upor
future issuances of stock by u

Under Panamanian law and our organizational doctsnénlders of our Class A shares are not enttteahy preemptiv
rights with respect to future issuances of captatk by us. Therefore, unlike companies organineder the laws of many oth
Latin American jurisdictions, we will be free tosise new shares of stock to other parties withost &ffering them to our existir
shareholders. In the future we may sell Class Atber shares to persons other than our existinggeBbllers at a lower price than 1
shares already sold, and as a result you may experisubstantial dilution of your interest in us.

You may not be able to sell our Class A sharestet price or at the time you desire because an activ liquid market for the
Class A shares may not continue.

Our Class A shares are listed on the NYSE. Durirggthree months ended December 31, 2010, the aveeily trading
volume for our Class A shares as reported by th&SE'Yvas approximately 253,567 shares. We cannotgbrethether an activ
liquid public trading market for our Class A sharedl be sustained. Active, liquid trading markegsnerally result in lower pric
volatility and more efficient execution of buy asell orders for our investors. The liquidity ofecarities market is often affected
the volume of shares publicly held by unrelatedipsar

Our Board of Directors may, in its discretion, améror repeal our dividend policy. You may not receithe level of dividend
provided for in the dividend policy or any dividesét all.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a dividend gotleat provides for the payment of dividends torshalders in ai
amount ranging from 20% to 30% of our annual cadat#d net income. Our Board of Directors may,ténsole discretion and fi
any reason, amend or repeal this dividend policyMay 4, 2011, for example, our Board of Directansended the dividend polit
to increase the level of dividends to its curremtge. Our Board of Directors may decrease the lgveividends provided for in th
dividend policy or entirely discontinue the paymehtlividends. Future dividends with respect torsaf our common stock, if ar
will depend on, among other things, our resulte@érations, cash requirements, financial conditbmmtractual restrictions, busine
opportunities, provisions of applicable law and estifactors that our Board of Directors may deemevaht. See Item 8A.
Consolidated Financial Statements and Other Fiaahtfiormation—Dividend Policy.”

To the extent we pay dividends to our shareholdeve,will have less capital available to meet outute liquidity needs.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a dividend potitat provides for the payment of dividends torshalders ir
amounts ranging from 10% to 20% of our annual clidated net income. Our Board of Directors has akserved the right 1
amend the dividend policy, or pay dividends in escef the level circumscribed in the dividend ppli¢he aviation industry h¢
cyclical characteristics, and many internationdirss are currently experiencing difficulties magttheir liquidity needs. Also, ot
business strategy contemplates substantial growgh the next several years, and we expect suchthrawll require a great deal «
liquidity. To the extent that we pay dividends otardance with, or in excess of, our dividend pgltbe money that we distribute
shareholders will not be available to us to funiife growth and meet our other liquidity needs.
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Our Articles of Incorporation impose ownership andontrol restrictions on our company which ensure ah Panamanian
nationals will continue to control us and that thesrestrictions operate to prevent any change of wtohor some transfers o
ownership in order to comply with the Aviation Aahd other bilateral restrictions.

Under the Panamanian Aviation Act, as amended atalpreted to date, Panamanian nationals must isg€eleffective
control” over the operations of the airline and mmsintain “substantial ownershipThese phrases are not defined in the Avis
Act itself and it is unclear how a Panamanian cewtild interpret them. The share ownership requireisiand transfer restrictio
contained in our Articles of Incorporation, as wali the duatlass structure of our voting capital stock areigiesd to ensur
compliance with these ownership and control resbns. See “Item 10B. Memorandum and Articles oddation—bescription of
Capital Stock."These provisions of our Articles of Incorporatiomynprevent change of control transactions that migherwise
provide you with an opportunity to realize a premion your investment in our Class A shares. Theg ahsure that Panamanii
will continue to control all the decisions of owmspany for the foreseeable future.

The protections afforded to minority shareholdens Panama are different from and more limited thahdse in the United State
and may be more difficult to enforce.

Under Panamanian law, the protections affordeditwrity shareholders are different from, and muabrenlimited than
those in the United States and some other Latinraue countries. For example, the legal framewoith wespect to sharehold
disputes is less developed under Panamanian lawuhder U.S. law and there are different procedrtequirements for bringin
shareholder lawsuits, including shareholder derreasuits. As a result, it may be more difficultr four minority shareholders
enforce their rights against us or our directorsantrolling shareholder than it would be for stlders of a U.S. company.
addition, Panamanian law does not afford minorttgreholders as many protections for investors tiinocorporate governan
mechanisms as in the United States and providesnandatory tender offer or similar protective meétians for minority
shareholders in the event of a change in contrdiil&\bur Articles of Incorporation provide limiteihts to holders of our Class
shares to sell their shares at the same price ASAIn the event that a sale of Class B shares B\S& results in the purchas
having the right to elect a majority of our boatttkre are other change of control transactionshichvholders of our Class A shau
would not have the right to participate, includitige sale of interests by a party that had previoasfjuired Class B shares fr
CIASA, the sale of interests by another party injooction with a sale by CIASA, the sale by CIASAomntrol to more than or
party, or the sale of controlling interests in CRBself.

Developments in Latin American countries and othemerging market countries may cause the market praf our Class A share
to decrease.

The market value of securities issued by Panamaoisnpanies may be affected to varying degrees lonauic and marke
conditions in other countries, including other batAmerican and emerging market countries. Althoeglonomic conditions i
emerging market countries outside Latin America rdifer significantly from economic conditions iraRama and Colombia
elsewhere in Latin America, investorgactions to developments in these other countnigg have an adverse effect on the ma
value of securities of Panamanian issuers or isswih significant operations in Latin America. Agesult of economic problems
various emerging market countries in the past (@cthe Asian financial crisis of 1997, the Rusdiaancial crisis of 1998 and tt
Argentine financial crisis in 2001), investors haxewed investments in emerging markets with heigad caution. Crises in otr
emerging market countries may hamper investor eidbm for securities of Panamanian issuers, inetudur shares, which cou
adversely affect the market price of our Class areh.
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Item 4. Information on the Company
A. History and Development of the Company
General

Copa was established in 1947 by a group of Panamaniestors and Pan American World Airways, whichvided
technical and economic assistance as well as tapit#ally, Copa served three domestic destinagicn Panama with a fleet of thr
Douglas C47 aircraft. In the 1960s, Copa began its inteomati service with three weekly flights to citiesGosta Rica, Jamaica a
Colombia using a small fleet of Avro 748s and Higd88s. In 1971, Pan American World Airways stddstake in Copa to a gro
of Panamanian investors who retained control ofdinkne until 1986. During the 1980s, Copa suspgehils domestic service
focus on international flights.

In 1986, CIASA purchased 99% of Copa, which wastratled by the group of Panamanian shareholders ehcently
control CIASA. From 1992 until 1998, Copa was atmdra commercial alliance with Grupo TAC&Ahetwork of Central Americe
airline carriers. In 1997, together with Grupo TAQGBopa entered into a strategic alliance with AceeriAirlines. After a year ot
alliance with American Airlines was terminated bytomal consent.

On May 6, 1998, Copa Holdings, the holding compéotyCopa and related companies was incorporatea siedac
anonimaunder the laws of Panama to facilitate the saleCb&SA of a 49% stake in Copa Holdings to Continémtalines. In
connection with Continental Airlinegvestment, we entered into an extensive alliamgreement with Continental Airlines providii
for codesharing, joint marketing, technical exchanges ah@rocooperative initiatives between the airlinksthe time of our initia
public offering in December 2005, Continental Aids reduced its ownership of our total capital kstbem 49% to approximatel
27.3%. In a followen offering in June 2006, Continental Airlines et reduced its ownership of our total capital lstisom 27.3%
to 10.0%. In May 2008,Continental Airlines sold fiesnaining shares in the public market. In March@0CIASA sold 4.2% of it
interest and as of December 31, 2010 held 25.1étiofotal capital stock.

Since 1998, we have grown and modernized our fidde improving customer service and reliabilityofia has expande
its fleet from 13 aircraft to 47 aircraft. In 1998e received our first Boeing 737-700s, in 2003reaeived our first Boeing 73800s,
and in 2005 we received our first Embraer 190. Ha first quarter of 2005, we completed our flegtoration program an
discontinued use of our last Boeing 737-200s. the second quarter of 2005, we purchased Copand, the third largest
domestic air carrier in Colombia in terms of numbérpassengers carried during 2010. Since 2005hawe expanded from
destinations in 18 countries to 46 destination®5rcountries. We plan to continue our expansionclvincludes increasing our flet
over the next several years.

Our principal executive offices are located at Beard Costa del Este, Avenida Principal y Avenidala Rotonda
Urbanizacion Costa del Este, Complejo Business,Hamke Norte, Parque Lefevre, Panama City, Paremdeour telephone numb
is +507 3042677. The website of Copa is www.copaair.com. CQuombia maintains a website at www.aerorepubla.(
Information contained on, or accessible througks¢éhwebsites is not incorporated by reference merail shall not be consider
part of this annual report. Our agent for servit¢hie United States is Puglisi & Associates, 898y Avenue, Suite 204, Newal
Delaware 19715, and its telephone number is (388)6680.

Capital Expenditures
During 2010, our capital expenditures were $348lan, which consisted primarily of expenditureslated to ou
purchase of three Boeing 7800 aircraft, as well as to expenditures relate@deance payments on aircraft purchase contt

During 2009, our capital expenditures were $211ilbam, which consisted primarily of expenditureslated to our purchase of o
Boeing 737-800 aircraft, as well as to expendituetsted to advance payments on aircraft purchasgacts.
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B. Business Overview

We are a leading Latin American provider of airlipassenger and cargo service through our two pah@peratin
subsidiaries, Copa and Copa Colombia. Copa opefatesits strategically located position in the Rbfic of Panama, and Cc
Colombia provides service primarily within Colombt@mplemented by international flights from variotifies in Colombia t
Panama, Venezuela, Ecuador, México, Cuba, GuatemnaldCosta Rica. We currently operate a fleet ohié&aft, 37 Boeing 737-
Next Generation aircraft and 26 Embraer 190 aitcied meet its growing capacity requirements, Chpa firm orders, includir
purchase and lease commitments, to accept delofeés@ additional aircraft through 2017 and has pase rights and options tha
exercised, would allow it to accept delivery ofto22 additional aircraft through 2018.

Copa’s firm orders, including purchase and leaseroitments, are for 56 additional Boeing 78éxt Generation aircra
and its purchase rights and options are for ufixteen Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft andaipix Embraer 190s.

Copa currently offers approximately 166 daily salled flights among 46 destinations in 25 countife®orth, Centre
and South America and the Caribbean from its Pan@ityahub. Copa provides passengers with accefligtds to more than 1(
other destinations through codeshare arrangematiisUML pursuant to which each airline places itsme and flight designati
code on the othes’flights. Through its Panama City hub, Copa igdblconsolidate passenger traffic from multipléngoto serv
each destination effectively.

Copa started its strategic alliance with Continemtal998. Since then, it has conducted joint neig and codeharing
arrangements, and participated in the award-win@ngPass frequent flyer loyalty program globallyl @m a cobranded basis
Latin America. We believe that Copa’s beanding and joint marketing activities which todantinue with UAL have enhanced
brand in Latin America, and that the relationshithvi AL has afforded it costelated benefits, such as improving purchasing
in negotiations with aircraft vendors and insur@spa’s alliance and related services agreemenitsWAL are in effect until 2015.

In 2007, Copa joined the SkyTeam global alliancam#\ssociate Member, in part due to the suppattsgponsorship
UAL. Continental left the SkyTeam Alliance and jeththe Star Alliance effective the fourth quartér2609. Due to the long-
standing alliance relationship with Continentaldan order to ensure Copa remains fully alignechv@ontinental on a number
important joint initiatives, Copa also exited they$eam Alliance during the fourth quarter of 20092010, Continental merged w
United Airlines. The combined carrier will take thinited Airlines name but will use Continentalfogo. All of the service ai
alliance agreements we had in place with Contindrmaae been transferred to the combined UAL eniitfe are currently in tt
process of joining Star Alliance.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchasedRepublica, now known as Copa Colombia, the sedanybs
domestic carrier in Colombia in terms of numbermpatsengers carried in 2005, which at the time pgexlipoint-topoint servic
among 11 cities in Colombia. Copa Colombia cursepfperates a fleet of 14 Embraer 190 and 2 BoeBigNext Generation. £
part of its fleet expansion plan, Copa Colombiadyations to purchase up to three additional Embt86raircraft through 2013.

Since January 2001, we have grown significantly hade established a track record of consistentitphility. Our tota
operating revenues have increased from $290.4omilin 2001 to $1.4 billion in 2010 while our opéngt margins have al
increased from 8.6% to 20.5% over the same period.

Our Strengths

We believe our primary business strengths that la#legved us to compete successfully in the airlirdustry include th
following:

. Our “Hub of the Americas” airport is strategicallyocated. We believe that Copa’ base of operations at
geographically central location of Tocumen Inteimradl Airport in Panama City, Panama provides coisft connectior
to our principal markets in North, Central and $o&merica and the Caribbean, enabling us to cotatitraffic to sen
several destinations that do not generate enougiade to justify point-tgoint service. Flights from Panama operate
few service disruptions due to weather, contritputio high completion factors and ¢ime performance. Tocum
International Airport’s seéevel altitude allows our aircraft to operate with@erformance restrictions that they woulc
subject to at higher-altitude airports. We beligivat Copa’s hub in Panama allows us to benefit fRamama Citys statu
as a center for financial services, shipping androerce and from Panama’s stable, dollar-based ewprfoeetrade zon
and growing tourisrr
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«  We focus on keeping our operating costs lobwrecent years, our low operating costs and efficy have contribut
significantly to our profitability. Our operatingost per available seat mile, excluding costs fel and fleet impairme
charges, was 7.36 in 2009 and 7.52 in 2010. Wes\zelthat our cost per available seat mile reflectsmodern flee
efficient operations and the competitive cost bblain Paname

. We operate a modern fle€ur fleet consists of modern Boeing 7Réxt Generation and Embraer 190 aircraft equi
with winglets and other modern castving and safety features. Over the next sevezaitsy we intend to enhance
modern fleet through the addition of at least 5@itmhal Boeing 73M™ext Generation aircraft. We believe that
modern fleet contributes to our ¢éime performance and high completion factor (petaga of scheduled flights r
cancelled). We expect our Boeing 737-700s, 88Us and Embraer 190s to continue offering subistamperational co
advantages

«  We believe Copa has a strong brand and a reputdtoquality serviceWe believe that the Copa brand is associatec
value to passengers, providing wodldss service and competitive pricing. For the ymated December 31, 2010, C
Airlines’ statistic for on-time performance was &% and completion factor was 99.61%. Additionabppa Colombig
statistics for ortime performance was 85.85% and completion factas 89.54%. Baggage handling for Copa was
mishandled bags per 1000 passengers. Our focusstoneer service has helped to build passengertjoy&le believe thi
our brand has also been enhanced through ourametdtip with UAL, including our joint marketing dfie¢ OnePass loya
program in Latin America, the similarity of our eiaft livery and aircraft interiors and our panpation in UAL'’s
Presider’s Club lounge progran

. Our management fosters a culture of teamwork amditoous improvemen©ur management team has been succes:
creating a culture based on teamwork and focusedootinuous improvement. Each of our employeesihdiwidual
objectives based on corporate goals that serve lazssia for measuring performance. When corporatradipnal an
financial targets are met, employees are eligibleeteive bonuses according to our profit sharimgmam. Seeltem 6D
Employees.” We also recognize outstanding perforear individual employees through company-wideogggtion, one-
time awards, special events and, in the case okenior management, grants of restricted stocksameck options. Ot
goal-oriented culture and incentive programs have doutieid to a motivated work force that is focusedsatisfyinc
customers, achieving efficiencies and growing padility.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to continue to grow profitably and emt& our position as a leader in Latin American by providing .
combination of superior customer service, convearsehedules and competitive fares, while maintgiriompetitive costs. The k
elements of our business strategy include thevatlg:

. Expand our network by increasing frequencies andiraginew destination'We believe that demand for air travel in L
America is likely to expand in the next decade, amdintend to use our increasing fleet capacityntet this growin
demand. We intend to focus on expanding our ogmraitiby increasing flight frequencies on our mosfifable routes ar
initiating service to new destinations. Caopd@anama City hub allows us to consolidate tradfid provide service
certain underserved markets, particularly in Cértraerica and the Caribbean, and we intend to faougroviding ne\
service to regional destinations that we believ& bahance the overall connectivity and profit@pitif our network

. Continue to focus on keeping our costs l@ve seek to reduce our cost per available seatwitlout sacrificing service
valued by our customers as we execute our grovethsplOur goal is to maintain a modern fleet anchade effective us
of our resources through efficient aircraft utitiva and employee productivity. We intend to redoce distribution cos
by increasing direct sales, including internet aall center sales, as well as improving efficietttyough technology ai
automated processe
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. Emphasize superior service and value to our custenWe intend to continue to focus on satisfying oustomers ar
earning their loyalty by providing a combinationafperior service and competitive fares. We beltéat continuing ot
operational success in keeping flights on timeucéty mishandled luggage and offering conveniehédales to attracti
destinations will be essential to achieving thislg@We intend to continue to incentivize our empley to improve
maintain operating and service metrics relatingptio customerssatisfaction by continuing our profit sharing planc
employee recognition programs and to reward custdoyelty with the popular OnePass frequent flysygsam, upgrads
and access to Presid’s Club lounges

. Capitalize on opportunities at Copa ColombVde are seeking to enhance Copa Colonshpabfitability through a varie
of initiatives, including, expanding its internatal routes, capitalizing on aircraft interchangethwCopa, furthe
integrating its route network with Cc’s and improving overall efficienc

Copa Colombia

On April 22, 2005, we acquired an initial 85.6% #gwownership interest in Copa Colombia which wafioived by
subsequent acquisitions increasing our total ovglisterest in Copa Colombia to 99.9% as of Decen®i, 2010. Copa Coloml
is the third largest passenger air carrier in Cdili@anin terms of revenue, with a market share ofraxmately 14.7% of the domes
traffic on principal routes in 2010 and approxintate 536 employees.

Our goal is to achieve growth at Copa Colombiafipalarly in the business travelers segment. Weebelthat Copa’
operational coordination with Copa Colombia mayateeadditional passenger traffic in our existingteonetwork by providin
Colombian passengers more convenient access totémeational destinations served through our Panlanb.

We have centralized certain administrative functiocommon to Copa and Copa Colombia. We have alpteimented e-
ticketing at Copa Colombia, and since the firstrtpraof 2006, Copa Colombia participates in the Rass frequent flyer loyal
program.

Industry

In Latin America, the scheduled passenger serviaegket consists of three principal groups of trakslstrictly leisure
business and travelers visiting friends and famlilgisure passengers and passengers visiting friandsfamily typically place
higher emphasis on lower fares, whereas businessepgers typically place a higher emphasis on tflighquency, ortime
performance, breadth of network and service enlmants, including loyalty programs and airport loesg

According to data from the International Air TranspAssociation, or IATA, Latin America comprisegmoximatel
7.4% of worldwide passengers flown in 2009, or hfilfion passengers.

The Central American aviation market is dominatgdriernational traffic. According to data from IAT internatione
traffic represented more than 84% of passengergedaand 92% of passenger miles flown in Centralefioa in 2009. Internatior
passenger traffic is concentrated between North riameand Central America. This segment represeB&¥ of internation:
passengers flown in Central America in 2009, comgao 5% for passengers flown between Central Asaeand South America a
8% for passengers flown between Central Americamt@s. Total passengers flown on internatiorightk in Central America drt
by 6.1% in 2009, and load factors on internatidligits to and from Central America were 70% onrage.
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Domestic traffic and traffic within Central Americaountries represented approximately 16% of pagssrcarried ar
8% of passenger miles flown in 2009. Average loactdrs on domestic flights and flights within CahtAmerica were 72.6%
2009. The chart below details passenger traff@09.

2009 IATA Traffic Results @)
Passenger: Passenge
Carried Miles
(Thousands Change (%) (Millions) Change (%) ASMs (Million) Change (%) Load Factor

International Scheduled
Service

North America— Central

America 31,86( -5.1% 51,18¢ 4.€% 67,24: 6.C% 76.1%
North America— South

America 10,98t 1.9% 32,19¢ -0.2% 41,61( 0.C% 77.2%
Central America — South

America 1,692 -16.5% 3,327 -3.1% 5,011 2.€% 66.4%
Within Central Americe 2,741 -10.1% 1,50C -6.C% 2,26¢ -71.2% 66.5%
Within South Americse 13,06¢ 5.1% 11,96¢ -6.5% 16,58: 8.7% 72.2%
Domestic Scheduled

Service
Central Americe 7,101 -21.€% 4,73¢ -15.5% 6,52¢ -18.€% 72.¢%
South Americz 39,54: 3.7% 22,757 8.5% 33,60: 12.5¢ 67.71%

@) 1ATA passenger traffic data is not yet available 2610.

Panama serves as a hub for connecting passentjier tietween major markets in North, South, and t@dmmerica an
the Caribbean. Accordingly, passenger traffic td fiIom Panama is significantly influenced by ecormogrowth in surroundin
regions. Major passenger traffic markets in No&buth and Central America experienced growth iir B®P in 2010. In 2010, re
GDP increased by 6.2% in Panama and by 4.7% innluiky according to the International Monetary Fenebtimates for 2010.

GDP GDP per Capita
2010 GDP 2010 GDP per Capit:

Current Prices 2010 Real GDI Current Prices

(US$hn) (% Growth) (US$)

Brazil 2,02 7.5% 10,47(
Argentina 351 7.4% 8,66z
Chile 19¢ 5.C% 11,587
Mexico 1,00¢ 4.S% 9,24:
Colombia 2832 4.7% 6,22(
Panam: 27 6.2% 7,712
USA 14,62 2.€% 47,13

Source International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outldd&tabase, October 2010; estimated GDP growth leamlin local
currency
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Panama has benefited from a stable economy witheratel inflation and steady GDP growth. Accordindrti@rnatione
Monetary Fund estimates, from 1999 to 2010 Panamexll GDP grew at an average annual rate of 5.7%e wflation average
2.4% per year. The service sector represents appately 75% of total real GDP in Panama, a highecentage of GDP than 1
service sector represents in most other Latin Ataericountries. The World Bank currently estimatasdPas population to
approximately 3.5 million in 2010, with the majgriof the population concentrated in Panama Cityenehour hub at Tocum
International Airport is located. We believe themtonation of a stable, serviagiented economy and steady population growtt
helped drive our domestic origin and destinatiogspager traffic.

Domestic travel within Panama primarily consistsirafividuals visiting families as well as domeséiod foreign touri:
visiting the countryside. Most of this travel ismdovia ground transportation, and its main flowoisand from Panama City, whi
most of the economic activity and population is cemtrated. Demand for domestic air travel is grgnamd relates primarily
leisure travel from foreign and local tourist. Timarket is served primarily by two local airlinesy Ranama and Aeroperlas, wh
operate a fleet primarily consisting of turbo pmipcraft generally with less than 50 seats. Thedmes offer limited internation
service and operate in the domestic terminal oBRenCity, which is located 30 minutes by car froatdmen International Airport.

Colombia is the third largest country in Latin Anger in terms of population, with a population ofpamximately
45.0 million in 2010 according to the InternatiorMbnetary Fund, and has a land area of approximaté0,000 square mile
Colombias GDP was approximately $283 billion in 2010, ard gapita income was approximately $6.2 thousand€at prices
according to the International Monetary Fund. Cddais geography is marked by the Andean mountains andaalequate road a
rail infrastructure, making air travel a conveniant attractive transportation alternative. Colaadiiares a border with Panama,
for historic, cultural and business reasons itesents a significant market for many Panamaniamésses.

Route Network and Schedules
Copa

As of December 31, 2010, Copa provided regularhedaled flights to 46 cities in North, Central eauth America ar
the Caribbean. Substantially all of our Copa flggbperate through our hub in Panama which allow® usansport passengers
cargo among a large number of destinations withicethat is more frequent than if each route veenwed directly.

We believe our hub-ansiboke model is the most efficient way for us to rape our business since most of
origination/destination city pairs we serve do generate sufficient traffic to justify a point-pmint service. Also, since we se
many countries, it would be very difficult to obiahe bilateral route rights necessary to operatnapetitive point-to-point system.

We schedule four banks of flights during the daighwlights timed to arrive at the hub at approxteig the same time a
to depart a short time later. We are currentlyhim process of adding two more banks per day teaser efficiency in the use of F
infrastructure in addition to providing more timeday choices to passengers.

As a part of our strategic relationship with UALp@a provides flights through cod&aring arrangements to over

other destinations. Copa also provides flights ugioits codesharing arrangements with Copa Colombia, KLM, Garomeéxice
and Gulfstream International Airlines.
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In 2007, Copa joined the SkyTeam global alliancam#\ssociate Member, in part due to the suppattsponsorship
Continental. Continental Airlines left the SkyTedtliance and joined the Star Alliance effective fioairth quarter of 2009. Due
the longstanding alliance relationship with Continentaldan order to ensure Copa remains fully alignechw@tontinental on
number of important joint initiatives, Copa alsdted the SkyTeam Alliance during the fourth quat€”2009. We are currently
the process of joining Star Alliance, in which UAdLa member.

In addition to increasing the frequencies to degtims we already serve, Copabusiness strategy is also focusei
adding new destinations across Latin America, thgbBean and North America in order to increaseatiractiveness of our Hub
the Americas at Tocumen International Airport habihtraAmerican traffic. We currently plan to introducenndestinations and
increase frequencies to many of the destinatioas@opa currently serves. Our Embraer 190 airctadiether with the Boeing 737-
Next Generation aircraft, allows us to improve sarvice by increasing frequencies and service to aestinations with the rig-
sized aircraft.

Our plans to introduce new destinations and inerdeejuencies depend on the allocation of routetsiga process o\
which we do not have direct influence. Route rigdats allocated through negotiations between theegouent of Panama and
governments of countries to which we intend toéase flights. If we are unable to obtain routetsgive will exercise the flexibilit
within our route network to re-allocate capacityappropriate.

We do not currently provide any domestic servicethia Republic of Panama, choosing instead to famtgely or
international traffic. The following table showsraevenue generated in each of our major operaégmpns.

Revenue by Region

Year Ended December 31

Region 2009 2010

North America(1] 15.2% 15.1%
South Americe 58.5% 55.(%
Central America(2 19.5% 23.%%
Caribbean(3 6.8% 6.5%

(1) The United States, Canada and Mex
(2) Includes Panami
(3) Cuba, Dominican Republic, Haiti, Jamaica, PuertwoRirinidad and Tobag

Copa Colombia

Copa Colombia currently provides scheduled sertacthe following cities in Colombia, Panama, Verglay Ecuado
Costa Rica, Guatemala, Mexico and Cuba:

Date Service

Destinations Servec Commenced
Barranquilla Jun 199t
Bogota Jun 199:
Bucaramang: May 1995
Cali Jun 199:
Caracas, Venezue May 2008
Cartagen: Jun 199:
Clcuta Nov 2005
Leticia Nov 1993
Medellin Oct 1994
Monteria Jul 1994
Panama City, Panan Dec 200t
Pereira Mar 2003
San André: Jun 199:
Santa Martz Jun 199:
Quito, Ecuado Dec 200¢
Guatemala, Guatems Ago 2010
Guayaquil, Ecuadc Mar 2010
Havana, Cub: Dec 201C
México D.F., Méxicc Oct 2010
San José, Costa Ri Jun 201(

Cancin, Méxicc Dec 201C
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In addition to the destinations described aboveyaOBolombia has periodically operated charter figh: Havana, Cub
Punta Cana, Dominican Republic and Cancun Mexico.

Since its acquisition, Copa Colombia has been grhtihe authorization to fly regular services to @aa City fron
Bogota, Cali, Medellin, Bucaramanga, Pereira, Bayuila and Cartagena, Colombia. As a result, Goplmbia has been operat
four daily flights to Panama City from Bogota, tarérom Medellin, and three from Cali; four frequessc per week froi
Bucaramanga, Pereira and Cartagena, and five frarmaBquilla. Copa Colombia has also been operdtingfrequencies per we
from Medellin to Caracas and one daily frequenoynfiBogota to Quito.

During 2010, Copa Colombia launched service toasiditional international destinations: Guayaquiu&dor with fou
frequencies per week; San José, Costa Rica witlresipuencies per week; Guatemala, Guatemala with fiequencies per wet
Mexico City, Mexico with daily flights; and Havan&uba and Cancun, Mexico with one frequency perkw€gpa Colombia wi
also granted authorization to fly to San Juan, @uRico, Managua, Nicaragua and San Pedro Suladiites via Panama, as wel
to Mexico City, Mexico from Medellin and to Cucutaplombia via Panama.

In addition to code-sharing with Copa, Copa Colanis leveraging Copa’technology and relationships to incre
international traffic with other international ci@ns. Colombia has opeskies agreements with the Andean Pact (Comunidatinaj
nations of Bolivia, Ecuador and Peru.

Airline Operations
Passenger Operations

Passenger revenue accounted for approximately @i@iion in 2010, and $953 million in 2009, repeesing 93.7% ar
94.1% respectively, of Copa'total revenues, all earned from internationatesulLeisure traffic, which makes up close to lud
Copa’s total traffic, tends tooincide with holidays, school vacations and caltwvents and peaks in July and August and ag
December and January. Despite these seasonaiaasiaCopas overall traffic pattern is relatively stable doehe constant influx
business travelers. Approximately half of Copa pagsrs regard Panama City as their destinatiomigination point, and most
the remaining passengers pass through PanamanGignisit to other points on our route network.

Passenger revenue accounted for approximately $2#8.2010, $236.7 million in 2009, representing 032. an
92.9%,respectively, of Copa Colombia’s total revesiurhe majority of Copa Colombgatustomers are leisure travelers and tray
visiting friends and family, and traffic is heaviekiring the vacation months of July, August arellibliday season in December.

Cargo Operations

In addition to our passenger service, we makeiefftcuse of extra capacity in the belly of our eift by carrying carg
Our cargo operations consist principally of freigbtvice. Copa& cargo business generated a gain of approxim@8sy6 million ir
2009 and $40.7 million in 2010, representing 3.50both years, of Cops’'operating revenues. We primarily move our cargthé
belly of our aircraft, however, we also wet-leasd aharter freighter capacity when necessary ta maecargo customers’ needs.

Pricing and Revenue Management
Copa has designed its fare structure to balandedtsfactors and yields in a way that it beliewé maximize profits ol
its flights. Copa also maintains revenue managermelities and procedures that are intended to marirtotal revenues, wh

remaining generally competitive with those of ouajon competitors. Copa uses Airmax, the revenueagament software desigr
by Sabre.
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Copa charges more for tickets on higdemand routes, tickets purchased on short notideotirer itineraries suggestin
passenger would be willing to pay a premium. Tleisresents strong value to Copa’s business custarherneed more flexibilit
with their flight plan. The number of seats Cop#erf at each fare level in each market results feooontinual process of analy
and forecasting. Past booking history, seasondliy effects of competition and current bookingndi® are used to forecast demi
Current fares and knowledge of upcoming eventseatihtions that will affect traffic volumes areclinded in Copa forecastin
model to arrive at optimal seat allocations forféies on specific routes. Copa uses a combinafi@pproaches, taking into acco
yields, flight load factors and effects on loadtfas of continuing traffic, depending on the ch#eastics of the markets served
arrive at a strategy for achieving the best possibenue per available seat mile, balancing tlezaaye fare charged against
corresponding effect on our load factors.

Relationship with UAL

It is common practice in the commercial aviatiodustry for airlines to develop marketing and conuiaralliances wit
other carriers in order to offer a more completd aeamless travel experience to passengers. THesees typically yield certa
conveniences such as costearing, frequent flyer reciprocity, and, wheremitted, coordinated scheduling of flights as wed
additional joint marketing activities.

In May 1998, Copa Airlines and Continental entered a comprehensive alliance agreement, encommaasbroad arr:
of activities such as Copa’s participation in Coatitals frequent flyer programs and VIP lounge; as wsllagreements in ott
areas, such as trademarks. These agreements \itexyisigned for a period of ten years. In Noveani2005, Copa and Continer
amended and restated these agreements and extaedddrm through the year 2015.

On October 1, 2010, Continental merged with Unidédines and became a whollywned subsidiary of UAL. Althou
the airlines continue to operate separately uh#él integration is complete, all of the benefitsnfr@mur previous alliance wi
Continental have been recognized by UAL in respéthe new entity, UAL.

As a result of our alliance, we have benefited fl@ontinentals expertise and experience over the past decage
for example, fully adopted Continental’'s OnePassjtient flyer program and rolled out alw@nded joint product in much of La
America, enabling us to develop brand loyalty amongtravelers. The cbranding of the OnePass loyalty programs has hely
leverage the brand recognition that Continentadaaly enjoyed across Latin America and enableswibeatrlines to compete mc
effectively against regional competitors such asAvaTaca and the Oneworld alliance represented by AraerAirlines and LAI
Airlines. We also share ContinentlSceptre inventory management software, whictwallGopa to pool spare parts with the la
airline and to rely on Continental to provide erggiring support for maintenance projects. We hase la¢éen able to take advant
of Continental’s purchasing power and negotiateenammpetitive rates for spare parts and tpadty maintenance work. In addit
to the Sceptre system, we have implemented seireprtant information technology systems, suchhes“SHARES” compute
reservation system in an effort to maintain comnfipnaith Continental.

Building on the existing trackecord of successful alliance accomplishments, C@gaintegrated, where appropriate, C
Colombia in aspects of the existing alliance coafien, beginning with Copa Colombsaparticipation in the OnePass frequent 1
loyalty program.

Our alliance relationship with Continental has e a grant of antitrust immunity from the US Ddpwnt o
Transportation, or DOT. We are pleased to note thatDOT has issued a “route transfer orddstument whereby the existi
antitrust immunity grant between Continental angh&4irlines is now in effect between UAL and CopigliAes.

In 2007, Copa joined the SkyTeam global alliancam#\ssociate Member, in part due to the suppattsponsorship
Continental. Continental left the SkyTeam Alliaras&d joined the Star Alliance effective the fourtlager of 2009. Due to the long-
standing alliance relationship with Continentaldan order to ensure Copa remains fully alignechv@ontinental on a number
important joint initiatives, Copa also exited thiey$eam Alliance during the fourth quarter of 200%e are currently in the proce
of joining Star Alliance, in which UAL is a member.
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Sales, Marketing and Distribution
Copa

Sales and DistributionApproximately 69% of sales during 2010 were congalethrough travel agents and other airl
while approximately 31% were direct sales via aty ticket offices (CTOs), call centers, airportuctiers or website. Travel age
receive base commissions, not including banl-incentive payments, ranging from 0% to 6% ddpenon the country. Tl
weighted average rate for these commissions d@@i@ was 2.54%. In recent years, base commissiaves dlecreased significar
in most markets as more efficient baake incentive programs have been implemented tankgelected travel agencies that ex
their sales targets.

Travel agents obtain airline travel information assue airline tickets through global distributisystems, or GDSs, tt
enable them to make reservations on flights frdarge number of airlines. GDSs are also used lwelragents to make hotel and
rental reservations. Copa participates activelglirmajor international GDSs, including SABRE, Anead, Galileo and Worldsp:
In return for access to these systems, Copa paysdction fees that are generally based on the ewntbreservations book
through each system.

Copa has a sales and marketing network consisfirigb domestic and international ticket offices;liding airport an
city ticket offices located in Panama and Colomklapa has 36 CTOs dwanded with UAL. During the year ended Decembe
2010, approximately 14% and 4% of its sales wekbd through its ticket counters and call cenespectively.

The call center that operates Capaéservations and sales services handles calls Banama as well as most o
countries to which Copa flies. Such centralizati@s resulted in a significant increase in telephsaies as it efficiently allowed 1
improvements in service levels such as 24-hourya-talays-a-week service, in three different largsa

We encourage the use of direct Internet bookingeurycustomers because it is our most efficientitisgtion channel. |
the third quarter of 2009, Copa introduced a newkbr@ engine in order to offer more functionalityaustomers and further red
distribution costs; 10.9% of its 2010 sales weralenaia the website. Copagoal is to channel more of its total sales thhotlg
website.

Advertising and Promotional Activitie®ur advertising and promotional activities inclutle use of television, print, rac
and billboards, as well as targeted public relatments in the cities where we fly. We believe ttiat corporate traveler is
important part of our business, and we particulariymote our service to these customers by congetyia reliability, convenien:
and consistency of our service and offering vaddded services such as convention and conferemeel rrangements, as well
our Business Rewards loyalty program for our freqjumrporate travelers. We also promote packagés geaong the destinatic
where we fly through combined efforts with seledtedels and travel agencies.

Copa Colombia
Copa Colombia successfully implemented the Onefaspient flyer program in March 2006. Copa Colomhiac
implemented e-ticket in January 2006 andicket interline with Copa and Amadeus during thecand quarter of 20C

complementing its call center, city ticket officaisd airport ticket offices. In February 2007, C@xdombia was brought into Copa’
SHARES reservations and check-in platform providiignificant benefits in terms of costs and funmélity.
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Competition

We face considerable competition throughout ourerauetwork. Overall airline industry profit margimse low an
industry earnings are volatile. Airlines competdha areas of pricing, scheduling (frequency aighfltimes), orntime performanci
frequent flyer programs and other services. All@sdbankruptcy restructurings and industry conatibehs characterize the airl
industry and tend to intensify competition.

Copa competes with a number of other airlines ¢thatently serve the routes on which we operatdudicg internation:
air carriers such as American Airlines, Delta Ainés; and regional air carrier such as Aero-MéxisaancaTaca and Aires al
“low cost carriers”such as Gol. In order to remain competitive, we tnsosstantly react to changes in prices and ses\affered b
our competitors.

The airline industry is highly susceptible to pridiscounting, particularly because airlines incarwlow marginal cos
for providing service to passengers occupying etier unsold seats. Carriers use discount faresnwlsite traffic during periods
lower demand to generate cash flow and to increaaeket share. Any lower fares offered by one adrlare often matched
competing airlines, which often results in lowedustry yields with little or no increase in traffievels. Price competition amc
airlines in the future could lead to lower farespassenger traffic on some or all of our routesictvltould negatively impact ¢
profitability. We cannot assure you that any of oampetitors will not undercut our fares in theufat or increase capacity on rot
in an effort to increase their respective marketrahAlthough we intend to compete vigorously amédsert our rights against i
predatory conduct, such activity by other airlimesild reduce the level of fares or passenger traffi our routes to the point wh
profitable levels of operations could not be mam#d. Due to our smaller size and financial resesircompared to several of
competitors, we may be less able to withstand a&ggre marketing tactics or fare wars engaged iurycompetitors should su
events occur.

Airlines based in other countries may also recesubsidies, tax incentives or other state aid frdwirtrespectiv
governments, which are not provided by the Panaamagovernment. The commencement of, or increasemmice on the routes
serve by existing or new carriers could negativelpact our operating results. Likewise, competit@ervice on routes that we
targeting for expansion may make those expansianspless attractive. We must constantly react smgés in prices and servi
offered by our competitors to remain competitive.

Traditional hub-andpoke carriers in the United States and Europe havecent years faced substantial and incre:
competitive pressure from low-cost carriers offgrdiscounted fares. The low-cost carriezperations are typically characterizec
point-to-point route networks focusing on the higthdemand city pairs, high aircraft utilizationngle class service and fewer in-
flight amenities. As evidenced by the operationsahpetitors in Brazil and other South Americanrades and several new low-
cost carriers which have recently launched servfee;low-cost carrierbusiness model appears to be gaining acceptarhe lratir
American aviation industry, and we may face new sulastantial competition from low-cost carrierghie future.

Copa has significant presence in destinations wluea airlines are less viable and competitiveghsas the Dominic
Republic (Santo Domingo, Santiago de los Caballams$ Punta Cana), Ecuador (Quito and Guayaquil) \éemtkzuela (Caraci
Maracaibo and Valencia). Copa has also establighelf as a significant player on traffic to andrfr Colombia, with strong mark
share on routes to and from Barranquilla, Bogo#di, Cartagena, Medellin and San Andres.

With respect to our cargo operations, we will coné to face competition from all of the major aight companies, mc
notably DHL, which has a cargo hub operation atuheen International Airport.

Aircraft
Copa Airlines
As of December 31, 2010, Copa operated a fleetistimg of 47 aircraft, including 18 Boeing 7300 Next Generatic
aircraft, 17 Boeing 73800 Next Generation aircraft and 12 Embraer 19€rafi. As of December 31, 2010, Copa had firm s,

including purchase and lease commitments, for Sfitiadal Boeing 73M™ext Generation aircraft. Copa also has optionsait
additional three Embraer 190s and purchase rigitations for an additional sixteen Boeing 737-Negneration aircraft.
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The current composition of the Copa fleet as ofdbelger 31, 2010 is more fully described below:

Average
Term
of Lease Average
Number of Aircraft Remaining Age Seating
Total Owned Leased (Years) (Years) Capacity
Boeing 73-700 18 14 4 2 8.3 124
Boeing 73-800 17 14 3 4.7 2.5 16C
Embraer 19( 12 12 — — 3.7 94
Total 47 40 7 3.2 5.C —

We expect our Copa fleet to continue to centernenBoeing 737200/800 model. The table below describes the erp
size of our Copa fleet at the end of each yeafostt below, assuming delivery of all aircraft fiwhich we currently have firm orde
but not taking into account any aircraft for whiek have purchase rights and options:

Aircraft Type 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

737-700(1) 18 16 16 12 12
737-800(2) 17 39 46 50 58
Embraer 19( 12 12 12 12 9
Total Fleet 47 67 74 74 79

(1) Assumes the return of leased aircraft upon expinadif lease contract

(2) We have the flexibility to choose between Bueing 737-700 and the Boeing 737-800 aircraftniast of the 737200 aircrai
deliveries.

The Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft currentlyour Copa fleet are fuefficient and suit our operations well for
following reasons:

*  They have simplified maintenance procedu
*  They require just one type of standardized traifioxgour crews
*  They have one of the lowest operating costs i ttass.

Our focus on profitable operations means that weogieally review our fleet composition. As a resubur flee
composition changes over time when we concludeatiding other types of aircraft will help us acldekliis goal. The introduction
any new type of aircraft to our fleet is only doifieafter careful consideration, we determine thath a step will improve o
profitability. In line with this philosophy, afteronducting a careful cofienefit analysis, we added the Embraer 190 airbedtaus
its combination of smaller size and highly effidi@perating characteristics made it the ideal aftdo serve new midized marke
and to increase frequency to existing destinatidriee Embraer 190 incorporates advanced designréstsuch as integra
avionics, fly-by-wire flight controls, and CF343 engines made by General Electric. The Embra80Eas a range of approximat
2,000 nautical miles enabling it to fly to a widenge of destinations from short-haul to certain immeehaul destinations. We he
configured Copa’s Embraer aircraft with a busindass section similar to the business class seat@have on our Boeing 73Vexl
Generation aircraft.
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Through several special purpose vehicles, we ctiyrdrave beneficial ownership of 40 of our aircraficluding 1:
Embraer 190s. In addition, we lease four of ouriBg&37-700s and three of our Boeing 737-800s utategterm operating lea
agreements that have an average remaining ternBofedrs. Leasing some of our aircraft providesvitls flexibility to change ot
fleet composition if we consider it to be in ousbinterests to do so. We make monthly rental payspesome of which are basec
floating rates, but are not required to make teatiim payments at the end of the lease. Currewtydo not have purchase option
any of our lease agreements. Under our operategelagreements, we are required in some casesirttaimanaintenance resel
accounts and in other cases to make supplememtlpeyments at the end of the lease that are eddzlilwith reference to t
aircrafts’maintenance schedule. In either case, we mustnréter aircraft in the agreed upon condition ateghd of the lease ter
Title to the aircraft remains with the lessor. We eesponsible for the maintenance, servicing,rarste, repair and overhaul of
aircraft during the term of the lease.

To better serve the growing number of businessteas, we introduced business clagdgse Ejecutivgd in November ¢
1998. Our business class service features twebagryuseats in the Boeing 737-700s with aiB81 pitch, upgraded meal servi
special check-in desks, bonus mileage for full-fausiness class passengers and access to VIP fudge Boeing 73B00s ar
currently configured with 14 business class sdat®010, we reconfigured our Boeing 7800 aircraft by adding two additiol
business class seats and three additional econeaty, $ncreasing the total number of seats fromt@3%50. Our Embraer 190s hi
10 business class seats in a three abreast caatfiguand 38-inch pitch.

Each of our Boeing 737-Next Generation aircrafpasvered by two CFM International Model CFM 38- engines. Eac
of our Embraer 190 aircraft is powered by two CAB4engines made by General Electric. We currergiyeleleven spare engines
service replacements and for periodic rotationughoour fleet.

Copa Colombia

As of December 31, 2010, Copa Colombia’s operatéided of 2 leased Boeing 7300, seven owned Embraer 190
seven leased Embraer 190, with an average agelofedrs. Copa Colombia’s fleet consists of Boei3F-700%s, which have
capacity of 124 seats and Embraer $90Vhich have a capacity of 106 seats. Copa Colarhhs options to purchase up to tl
additional Embraer 190 aircraft through 2013.

Maintenance
Copa

The maintenance performed on our Copa aircraftbeadivided into two general categories: line andvWyemaintenanc
Line maintenance consists of routine, scheduledhteaance checks on our aircraft, including fight, daily and overnight checl
“A-checks” and any diagnostics and routine repalgpa’s line maintenance is performed by Cepavn technicians at our bast
Panama and at stations outside Panama by Copayseplor thirgearty contractors. Heavy maintenance consists aErnomple:
inspections and overhauls, including “C-checksd servicing of the aircraft that cannot be acdwhed during an overnight vis
Maintenance checks are performed as defined bgitbeaft manufacturer. These checks are basedeonuimber of hours or calen
months flown. We have contract with certified odésimaintenance providers, such as COOPESA,whicértffied as an authoriz
repair station by the FAA and the AAC, for heaviceift maintenance services. Copa also has ansxellongterm contract wit
GE Engines whereby they will perform maintenanceabwof its CFM56 engines. There were 13 heavy maintenance ewve2G10
When possible, Copa attempts to schedule heavytemaince during its lowaetemand seasons in order to maximize productiv
of its aircraft.

Copa employs over 252 maintenance professionatiidimg engineers, supervisors, technicians andharécs, wh
perform maintenance in accordance with mainten@negrams that are established by the manufactu@raaproved and certifi
by international aviation authorities. Every medhas trained in factory procedures and goes thihoagr own rigorous ifoust
training program. Every mechanic is licensed by A%C and approximately 34 of our mechanics are ditsensed by the FA/
Copa’s safety and maintenance procedures are reviewsgenodically audited by the aircraft manufactutbie AAC, the FAA
IATA and, to a lesser extent, every foreign courttrywhich its flies. Cop& maintenance facility at Tocumen InternationalpAit
has been certified by the FAA as an approved regtation, and twice a year the FAA inspects itdlifaes to validate and renew t
certification. Copas aircraft are initially covered by warranties thave a term of four years, resulting in lower ngiiance expens
during the period of coverage. All of Copa’s medharare trained to perform line maintenance on kbt Boeing 73MNexl
Generation and Embraer 190s aircraft.
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Copa Colombia

Line maintenance for Copa Colombia’s aircraft ismarily performed by Copa Colombia’s huse maintenance sti
while C-checks on its fleet are performed by FAAtitied third-party aviation maintenance compani@d. of Copa Colombiad
maintenance and safety procedures are performeordicg to Boeing standards (certified by the FAAphd certified by th
Aeronautica Civil of Colombia and BVQIi, the instiguthat issues 1SO (International Organization $tandardization) quali
certificates. All of Copa Colombia’maintenance personnel are licensed by the Aeticaa@ivil of Colombia. In December 20!
Copa Colombia received its IATA Operational Safatydit IOSA) compliance certification.

Safety

We place a high priority on providing safe andakle air service. Copa has uniform safety standandissafetyrelate(
training programs that cover all of its operatiolmsparticular, Copa periodically evaluates thdlskexperience and safety record
its pilots in order to maintain strict control ovitie quality of its pilot crews. All of Cop&'pilots participate in training prograr
some of which are sponsored by aircraft manufacdyend all are required to undergo recurrent imgitwo times per year. We he
a full time program of Flight Data Analysis (FDAherein the flight data from every Copa flight isafrzed for safety or technic
anomalies. During 2007, Copa successfully compliégeskcond security certification IOSA.

On July 17, 2007, one of our Copa Colombia Embi&®s overran a wet runway at Santa Marta, Colonfsaa result ¢
this incident, six people suffered minor injurigglahe aircraft sustained damages that causedritsgnent removal from service

The FAA periodically audits the aviation regulat@ythorities of other countries. As a result ofirtievestigation, eac
country is given an International Aviation Safetgs&ssment, or IASA, rating. Panama is currentlgdrats “Category 1"which
indicates a strong level of confidence in the safegulation of the AAC.

Airport Facilities

We believe that our hub at Panama Gitfocumen International Airport (PTY) is an excetlbase of operations for 1
following reasons:

. Panama consistently temperate climate is ideal for airperations. For example, in recent years Tocl
was closed and unavailable for flight operationsaftotal of less than two hours per year on awe

«  Tocumen is the only airport in Central America witho operational runways. Also unlike some othgjiaoea
airports, consistent modernization and growth of lbub has kept pace with our needs. Tocumen aitig
currently in the process of completing phase 2roégpansion project which is scheduled for Septerabé1
and there is ample room for further expans

. Panama central and sea level location provides a veficiefit base to operate our narrow body fl
efficiently serving short and lonigaul destinations in Central, North and South Acwrias well as ti
Caribbean

. Travelers can generally make connections edsiyugh Tocumen because of its manageable size amahias
policies accommodating-transit passenger
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Tocumen International Airport is operated by anejpendent corporate entity established by the gowent wher
stakeholders have a say in the operation and dewelot of the airport. The law that created thistgaiso provided for a significa
portion of revenues generated at Tocumen to be fmsegirport expansion and improvements. We doh#te any formal, writte
agreements with the airport management that goseeass fees, landing rights or allocation of teahgates. We rely upon our gc
working relationship with the airpog’management and the Panamanian government toeethgurwe have access to the air
resources we need at prices that are reasonable.

We worked closely with the airpostmanagement and consulted with the IATA infrastreegroup to provide plans &
guidance for Phase | of an airport expansion thatiged eight new gate positions with jet bridg&g,new remote parking positiol
expanded retail areas and improved the bagbagéting facilities. The government authorized #7bion to cover the costs of tt
expansion. Work on Phase | was completed in the tiarter of 2006. Phase Il of the expansion whidhadd 12 additional j¢
bridge gates is expected to be completed in Semefdil.

We provide all of our own ground services and hiamgdbf passengers and cargo at Tocumen Internatidingort. In
addition, we provide services to several of theggal foreign airlines that operate at Tocumenmaist of the foreign airports whe
we operate, foreign airport services companiesigeoall of our support services other than salesnter services and some mi
maintenance.

We lease a variety of facilities at Tocumen, inahgdour maintenance hangar and our operationsitfesilin the airpo
terminal. From our System Operations Control Celdeated within our corporate headquarters buildiwg dispatch, track a
direct our aircraft throughout the hemisphere awpond to operational contingencies as necessarygaierally cooperate with 1
airport authority to modify the lease terms as ssagy to account for capital improvements and esiparnplans. Currently, our el
passengers have access to a President’s Club atrfwet, which is jointly operated with UAL. Thed3idents Club was recent
expanded to approximately one and half times itset size, utilizing space made available durihg tecent expansion of 1
terminal.

Fuel
Fuel costs are extremely volatile, as they areesatlip many global economic, geopolitical, weatlegyironmental ar
other factors that we can neither control nor aataly predict. Due to its inherent volatility, aiaft fuel has historically been ¢

most unpredictable unit cost. The global econons/éwmperienced increase demand for oil coupled hvithed refinery capacity ar
instability in oil-exporting countries has led toapid increase in prices.

Aircraft Fuel Data

2009 2010

Copa Segmel

Average price per gallon of jet fuel into planedlexiing hedge) (in U.S. dollar $ 1.84 $ 2.3t

Gallons consumed (in thousani 112,40: 120,91¢

Available seat miles (in millions 8,31¢ 9,22¢

Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.3t 1.31
Copa Colombig(1)

Average price per gallon of jet fuel into planedlexling hedge) (in U.S. dollar $ 1.97 $ 2.5¢

Gallons consumed (in thousan 25,615 27,66¢

Available seat miles (in millions 1,592 1,722

Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.61 1.61
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From 2005 to 2010, the average price of West Téx@smediate crude oil, a benchmark widely usedcfoide oil price
that is measured in barrels and quoted in U.Sadglincreased by 40.3% from $56.64 per barrel7@48 per barrel. During 20(
fuel prices experienced significant volatility, tvitWest Texas Intermediate crude prices reachingeberd price of approximate
$133.88 per barrel in June. Prices then droppealnb841 per barrel at the beginning of 2009, and ttabilized at approximate
$71 per barrel in the second half of 2009. Whilegs have significantly decreased since their pprak008, we believe that fu
prices are likely to increase in the future. At #ved of 2010, prices reached $89.15 per barreR0lt0, we hedged 27% of «
requirements through the use of jet fuel and critlewap contracts. We have hedged approximatedg a6d 9% of our anticipat
fuel needs for 2011 and 2012, respectively. We edglitinue to evaluate various hedging strategied,vée may enter into additiol
hedging agreements in the future. Any prolongedeiase in the price of jet fuel will likely matetialand negatively affect o
business, financial condition and results of openatTo date, we have managed to offset some ofritreases in fuel prices w
higher load factors, fuel surcharges and fare as®s. In addition, our relatively young, wingégripped fleet also helps us mitic
the impact of higher fuel prices.

Insurance

We maintain passenger liability insurance in an amb@onsistent with industry practice, and we iesour aircraft again
losses and damages on an “all riskasis. We have obtained all insurance coveragerezgtjoy the terms of our leasing and finan
agreements. We believe our insurance coverage risistent with airline industry standards and appeate to protect us fro
material loss in light of the activities we condudb assurance can be given, however, that the mhudunsurance we carry will |
sufficient to protect us from material losses. Wavéh negotiated low premiums on our Copa insuramtieies by leveraging tt
purchasing power of our alliance partner, UAL. Cegaull and liability operations are insured und#kL’ s insurance policy. W
maintain separate insurance policies for our Coplar@bia operations.

Environmental

Our operations are covered by various local, naticand international environmental regulationseSéhregulations cov
among other things, emissions into the atmospliisppsal of solid waste and aqueous effluentsrafiraoise and other activiti
that result from the operation of aircraft. Ourcedft comply with all environmental standards apgiile to their operations
described in this annual report. We conducted,utinoa consulting firm, an environmental audit of bangar and support faciliti
at the Tocumen International Airport to determinieaty if any, measures we need to implement in otdlesatisfy the Panaman
effluent standards and the General Environmental athose facilities. We plan to implement all swas required for compliar
based on our environmental audit. Additionally, tRanamanian Civil Aviation Code (RAC) contains agrtenvironment:
provisions that are similar to those set forthhie GGeneral Environmental Law regarding effluenthoaigh such provisions do 1
contain compliance grace periods. In the eventAR€ determines that our facilities do not currentiget the RAC standards,
could be subject to a fine. The measures that bellimplemented pursuant to the environmental awdit also satisfy th
requirements of the RAC. We have installed a waeatment plant to serve part of our facilities drave formally submitted
Environmental Remediation and Management Progra#dM{@ in order to seek approval thereof by the Enowimental Authority
Such program sets forth an environmental compliaotedule. While we do not believe that compliawié these regulations w
expose us to material expenditures, compliance thigse or other environmental regulations, whetiesy or existing, that may
applicable to us in the future could increase @sts In addition, failure to comply with these wkdions could adversely affect us
a variety of ways, including adverse effects on memutation.

Regulation
Panama

Authorization and License?anamanian law requires airlines providing comnaérservices in Panama to hold
Operation Certificate and an Air Transportationdrise/Certificate issued by the AAC. The Air Transgiion Certificate specifit
the routes, equipment used, capacity, and the dérexyuof flights. This certificate must be updategrg time Copa acquires n
aircraft, or when routes and frequencies to a aer destination are modified.
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Panamanian law also requires that the aircraftaipdrby Copa be registered with the PanamaniarohtiAviatior
Registrar kept by the AAC, and that the PanamaNiational Aviation Authority certify the airworthige of each aircraft in Cop’
fleet. Copa’s aircraft must be re-certified everyay This requirement does not apply to Copa Colamhaircraft which ai
registered in Colombia.

The Panamanian government does not have an equiyest in our company. Bilateral agreements sigbgdhe
Panamanian government have protected our operaposéion and route network, allowing us to hamePianama a significant h
to transport intraregion traffic within and betwetty'® Americas and the Caribbean. All internatidiaaks are filed and technice
subject to the approval of the Panamanian goverhnkéistorically, we have been able to modify ticketces on a daily basis
respond to market conditions. Our status as a ferigarrier means that we are not required underrfanian law to serve a
particular route and are free to withdraw servioenf any of the routes we currently serve as we figesubject to bilater:
agreements. We are also free to determine the dreyuof service we offer across our route netwoithout any minimur
frequencies imposed by the Panamanian authorities.

Safety Assessmeimin. May 2001, the FAA downgraded Panam#&ASA rating from a Category 1 rating to a Catgg2
rating due to alleged deficiencies in Panamaniarsafiety standards and the AASCtapacity to provide regulatory oversight.
collaborated with the Panamanian government tooresthe countrys Category 1 status, a status that is importarth botthe
operations of Copa as an airline and the genemaleption of Panama as a country, particularly emviof the fact that the ma
initiative is to boost tourism in Panama. The coyistCategory 1 status was restored in April 2004.

Ownership Requirement¥he most significant restriction on our company as@d by the Panamanian Aviation Act
amended and interpreted to date, is that Panamaai#onals must exercise “effective controler the operations of the airline :
must maintain “substantial ownershif.hese phrases are not defined in the Aviation fselifi and it is unclear how a Panamal
court would interpret them. The share ownershipiregqnents and transfer restrictions contained inArticles of Incorporation, ¢
well as the structure of our capital stock desdihmder the caption “Description of Capital Stockre designed to ensi
compliance with these ownership and control retsbric created by the Aviation Act. While we beligtat our ownership structt
complies with the ownership and control restricsiafi the Aviation Act as interpreted by a recerdrde by the Executive Branch,
cannot assure you that a Panamanian court woulde shar interpretation of the Aviation Act or thecdee or that any su
interpretations would remain valid for the entirae you hold our Class A shares.

Although the Panamanian government does not clyrdwve the authority to dictate the terms of oarvie, thi
government is responsible for negotiating the bit@tagreements with other nations that allow uytto other countries. Several
these agreements require Copa to remain “effegtivehtrolled” and “substantially ownediy Panamanian nationals in order fo
to use the rights conferred by the agreements. 8alirements are analogous to the Panamaniaricavlatv described above tl
requires Panamanian control of our business.

Antitrust Regulations. In 1996, the Republic of Panama enacted antittagtslation, which regulates indus
concentration and vertical anticompetitive practi@nd prohibits horizontal collusion. The ConsurReotection and Free Tra
Authority is in charge of enforcement and may imgpéines only after a competent court renders ar@dvjudgment. The law a
provides for direct action by any affected markattigipant or consumer, independently or thougls<lactions. The law does
provide for the granting of antitrust immunity, essthe case in the United States. In February 2€86 antitrust legislation w
amended to increase the maximum fines that maysbesaed for violations to $1,000,000 for per séatians and $250,000 f
relative violations of antitrust law.

Noise Restrictions Panama has adopted Annex 16 of the ICAO reguisit#nd the noise abatement provisions of 1C
through Book XIV of the Panamanian Civil Aviatiore@ulations (RAC). Thus, articles 2229 of Book XIV of the RAC requi
aircraft registered in Panama to comply with asieBtage 2 noise requirements, and all aircrafstegd for the first time with tl
Panamanian Civil Aviation Authority after January2D03, to comply with Stage 3 noise restricticdBsrrently, all the airplanes \
operate or have on order meet the most stringaéaé mequirements established by both ICAO and th€ A
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Colombia

The Colombian aviation market is heavily regulabydthe Colombian Civil Aviation Administration, Usted Especii
Administrativa de Aeronautica Civil, or Aeronauti€avil. In October 2010 Colombia was recertifiedaa€ategory 1 country unc
the FAA’s IASA program. With respect to domestic aviatiainlines must present feasibility studies to se@pecific route right
and no airline may serve the city pairs with thestmiaffic unless that airline has at least fiveciift with valid airworthines
certificate. In addition, Aeronautica Civil sets ximum fares for each route and a maximum numberoaipeting airlines for ea
route based on the size of the city pairs servadin@s in Colombia must also add a surcharge @l to their ticket prices.
addition, since November 2006, airlines must havetarge an administrative fee (“Tarifa administal) for each ticket sol
through an airlines direct channels. Passengers in Colombia areealitted by law to compensation in the event ohgslin exces
of four hours, ovebookings and cancellations. Currently, the San AsdBogota, Pereira, Cali, Cartagena, Medellin, tdoa an
Barranquilla airports are under private managenemrngements. Furthermore, the government is |mingtother airports in ord
to finance necessary expansion projects and inertrees efficiency of operations, which may leadrioréases in landing fees
facility rentals at those airports.

Colombia has opeskies agreements with Aruba and the Andean Pawinsabf Bolivia, Ecuador and Peru (Comuni
Andina). Copa Colombia has been granted the us® aff the 56 available route rights for service@ylombian carriers betwe
Colombia and Panama, and as a result, began seldesielvice between the two countries in late 200%addition, Copa Colomk
was granted 30 additional bilateral frequencies \peek, seven of these frequencies to Panama frooarBmanga, Pereira ¢
Barranquilla, have yet to be utilized. In NovemB8d4.0, Colombia signed opeskies agreements with United States, which wilk
effect in January 2013.

u.s.

Operations to the United States by rds$. airlines, such as Copa, are subject to TRl@#ithe U.S. Code, under wh
the DOT, the FAA and the TSA exercise regulatortharity. The U.S. Department of Justice also hagsdgliction over airlin
competition matters under the federal antitrustslaw

Authorizations and Licenseshe DOT has jurisdiction over international aviatiwith respect to air transportation to
from the United States, including regulation ofatet route authorities, the granting of which ardgiect to review by the Presiden
the United States. The DOT exercises its jurisdictivith respect to unfair practices and methodsashpetition by airlines ai
related consumer protection matters as to allnaislioperating to and from the United States. Weatieorized by the DOT to eng:
in scheduled and charter air transportation sesyiceluding the transportation of persons, propérargo) and mail, or combinatic
thereof, between points in Panama and points itttieed States and beyond (via intermediate pamether countries). We hold t
necessary authorizations from the DOT in the forimacdforeign air carrier permit, an exemption auityoand statements
authorization to conduct our current operationand from the United States. The exemption authaviig granted by the DOT
February 1998 and was due to expire in Februarp280wever, the authority remains in effect by @pien of law under the terr
of the Administrative Procedure Act pending finaDD action on the application we filed to renew ¢hehority on January 3, 20!
There can be no assurance that the DOT will grenapplication. Our foreign air carrier permit Imasexpiration date.

Our operations to the United States are also subpecegulation by the FAA with respect to aviatieafety matter
including aircraft maintenance and operations, gmeint, aircraft noise, ground facilities, dispatcbhmmunications, personr
training, weather observation, air traffic contesld other matters affecting air safety. The FAAuiegs each foreign air carr
serving the United States to obtain operationatifipations pursuant to 14 CFR Part 129 of its tatjons and to meet operatio
criteria associated with operating specified eqptron approved international routes. We beliew we are in compliance in
material respects with all requirements necessamadintain in good standing our operations spetifics issued by the FAA. T
FAA can amend, suspend, revoke or terminate thpseifications, or can temporarily suspend or pemnéy revoke our authority
we fail to comply with the regulations, and canessscivil penalties for such failure. A modificatjcuspension or revocation of :
of our DOT authorizations or FAA operating spe@fions could have a material adverse effect onbmsiness. The FAA al
conducts safety audits and has the power to imfiose and other sanctions for violations of airlseety regulations. We have
incurred any material fines related to operatidiftee FAA also conducts safety International Aviateafety Assessment (IASA)
to Panama& compliance with International Civil Aviation Ongaation (ICAO) safety standards. Panama is cugresdnsidered
Category 1 country that complies with ICAO interoatl safety standards. As a Class 1 country, mitdtions are placed upon «
operating rights to the Unites States. If the FA®|d determine that Panama does not meet the I€HA€y standards, the FAA ¢
DOT would restrict our rights to expand operatidnsthe United States. We can offer no assuranc®afamas continue
compliance with ICAO safety standards.
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Security. On November 19, 2001, the U.S. Congress passed,ttendPresident signed into law, the Aviation
Transportation Security Act, (the “Aviation Secyrict”). This law federalized substantially all aspectsiuil @viation security an
created the TSA, an agency of the Department of ¢land Security, to which the security responsibsitpreviously held by tl
FAA were transitioned. The Aviation Security Acjteres, among other things, the implementationesfain security measures
airlines and airports, such as the requirementahgtassenger, their bags and all cargo be sctefemeexplosives and other secu
related contraband. Funding for airline and airpexdurity required under the Aviation Security Acprovided in part by a $2.50 |
segment passenger security fee for flights degaftom the U.S., subject to a $10 per roundtrip; teqvever, airlines are respons
for costs incurred to meet security requirementghbd those provided by the TSA. The United StateseBnment is consideril
increases to this fee as the TSA’s costs exceedetrenue it receives from these feBsplementation of the requirements of
Aviation Security Act has resulted in increasedtgder airlines and their passengers. Since thatevef September 11, 2001,
U.S. Congress has mandated and the TSA has implecheanmerous security procedures and requirembatshaive imposed a
will continue to impose burdens on airlines, pagees and shippers.

Passenger Facility Chargedost major U.S. airports impose passenger faciitgrges. The ability of airlines to con
increases in these charges is restricted by fediegadlation, DOT regulations and judicial decisoWith certain exceptions,
carriers pass these charges on to passengers. EiQvear ability to pass through passenger faciitvarges to our customers
subject to various factors, including market cadis and competitive factors. The current cap asseager facility charges is $4
per segment, subject to an $18 per roundtrip capieker, there is legislation in Congress to ralee ¢ap on passenger faci
charges.

Airport AccessTwo U.S. airports at which we operate, John F. Kelyninternational Airport in New York (“JFK"anc
Reagan National Airport in Washington, D.C., haeerb designated by the FAA as “high density tradfiports”. From time to time
operations at these airports have been subjectit@leand departure slot restrictions during derfgeriods of the day. Although s
restrictions at JFK were eliminated as of JanuardD7, on January 15, 2008, the FAA issued anrdiadting the number ¢
scheduled flight operations at JFK during peak hdaraddress the ovscheduling, congestion and delays at JFK. In J3R2@08
the DOT also issued a notice of proposed amendineitg Airport Rates and Charges policy that woalldw airports to establi
non-weight based fees during peak hours and tordppaertain expenses from “relieveairports to the charges for larger airport
an effort to limit congestion. We cannot predice thutcome of this potential rule change on our sast ability to operate
congested airports.

Noise RestrictiondJnder the Airport Noise and Capacity Act of 199@ aalated FAA regulations, aircraft that fly to
United States must comply with certain Stage 3 eno&strictions, which are currently the most siemgFAA operating nois
requirements. All of our Copa aircraft meet theg6t& requirement.

Other RegulationFAA regulations also require compliance with theaffic Alert and Collision Avoidance Syste
approved airborne windshear warning system andgagiircraft regulations. Our fleet meets these megoients. In addition, all
carriers are subject to certain provisions of trem@unications Act of 1934, because of their extengise of radio and otf
communication facilities, and are required to abtan aeronautical radio license from the Federah@anications Commissis
(FCC). To the extent we are subject to FCC requar@s) we have taken and will continue to take etlessary steps to comply w
those requirements. Additional U.S. laws and reguia have been proposed from time to time thatdeignificantly increase tt
cost of airline operations by imposing additionadjuirements or restrictions on airlines. There lbamo assurance that laws
regulations currently enacted or enacted in theréutvill not adversely affect our ability to maiimtaour current level of operati
results.
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Other Jurisdictions

We are also subject to regulation by the aviatiegutatory bodies which set standards and enfortensd aviatiol
legislation in each of the jurisdictions to whicle fly. These regulators may have the power toaetsf enforce environmental :
safety standards, levy fines, restrict operationthin their respective jurisdictions or any otheswers associated with aviati
regulation. We cannot predict how these variousilegry bodies will perform in the future and theolving standards enforced
any of them could have a material adverse effecwroperations.

C. Organizational Structure

The following is an organizational chart showingp@d-oldings and its principal subsidiaries.

Copa Holdings, S.A.

(Panama)
90 9% 90.9%* 100%
Compaiia Panameifia de AeroRepiblica Oval Financial Leasing,
Aviacion, S.A. (Copa) Ltd.
(Panama) (Copa Colombia) (British Virgin Islands)

* Includes ownership by us held through wh-owned holding companies organized in the BritiskgWi Islands

Copa is our principal airline operating subsiditdrgit operates out of our hub in Panama and proyidssenger service
North, South and Central America and the Caribb€uopa Colombia S.A. is our operating subsidiaryt tegrimarily engaged
domestic air travel within Colombia and internatibiservice from various points in Colombia to Paaa@ity and Caracas. O
Financial Leasing, Ltd. controls the special pugpeshicles that have a beneficial interest in tlagonity of our aircraft.

D. Property, Plants and Equipment
Headquarters

Our headquarters are located six miles away froeuiim@n International Airport. We have leased fivaofk consisting «
approximately 104,000 square feet of the buildirgnf Desarollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A., an gntibntrolled by the same grc
of investors that controls CIASA, under a Yi€ar lease at a rate of $106,000 per month duhedfitst three years, $110,000
month during year 4 through year 6, $113,000 duyiear 7 through year 9 and $116,000 per month an 6, which we believe
be a market rate.

Other Property

At Tocumen International Airport, we lease a manatece hangar, operations offices in the terminaiinter spac
parking spaces and other operational properties ftee entity that manages the airport. We pay apmrately $118,700 per mor
for this leased property. Around Panama City, ve® &ase various office spaces, parking spacested properties from a varie
of lessors, for which we pay approximately $11,845 month in the aggregate.
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In each of our destination cities, we also leasesmt the airport for chedk; reservations and airport ticket office sa
and we lease space for CTOs in more than 34 oétbities.

Copa Colombia leases most of its airport officed &TOs. Owned properties include one city tickdicef a warehous
close to the airport and one floor in a high-risédding in downtown Bogota.

See also our discussion of “Aircraft” and “Airpétacilities” above.
Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospest
A. Operating Results

You should read the following discussion in confiomcwith our consolidated financial statements ahd related note
and the other financial information included els@min this annual report.

We are a leading Latin American provider of airlipassenger and cargo service through our two pah@perating
subsidiaries, Copa and Copa Colombia. Copa opefatesits strategically located position in the Rbjic of Panama, and Coj
Colombia provides service primarily within Colombéamplemented by international flights from variotiies in Colombia t
Panama, Venezuela, Ecuador, México, Cuba, GuatemmaladCosta Rica. We currently operate a fleet ohié&aft, 37 Boeing 737-
Next Generation aircraft and 26 Embraer 190 aitc

Copa currently offers approximately 166 daily saled flights among 46 destinations in 25 countire®orth, Centra
and South America and the Caribbean from its Pan@aityahub. Copa provides passengers with accefligtds to more than 12
other destinations through codkare arrangements with UAL pursuant to which eddme places its name and flight designat
code on the othes’flights. Through its Panama City hub, Copa i dblconsolidate passenger traffic from multipléngoto serve
each destination effectively.

Copa operates a modern fleet of 35 Boeing M8Xt Generation aircraft and 12 Embraer 190 aitcfiad meet its growin
capacity requirements, Copa has firm orders, inolygpurchase and lease commitments, to acceptedglnf 56 additional aircra
through 2017 and has purchase rights and optiats ithexercised, would allow it to accept delivarfyup to 22 additional aircra
through 2018. Copa’s firm orders are for 56 addaioBoeing 73Mext Generation aircraft, and its purchase rigimid aptions ar
for up to sixteen Boeing 737-Next Generation aftaad up to six Embraer 190s.

Copa started its strategic alliance with UAL in 89%ince then, it has conducted joint marketing andesharing
arrangements, and participated in the award-win@ngPass frequent flyer loyalty program globallyl @m a cobranded basis i
Latin America. We believe that Copa’s boanding and joint marketing activities with UAL Jea enhanced its brand in La
America, and that the relationship with UALhas afied it costrelated benefits, such as improving purchasing pomweegotiation:
with aircraft vendors and insurers. Copa’s alliaand related service agreements with UAL are iaaftintil 2015.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchasedaGoplombia, a Colombian air carrier that was thiedttargest
domestic carrier in Colombia in terms of numbempatsengers carried in 2010, which at the time gexlipoint-topoint service
among 11 cities in Colombia. Copa Colombia curseaperates a fleet of 14 Embraer 190 and 2 Boeimghes expanded its rout
to include international point-tpeint service from various Colombian cities to Raaa Venezuela and Ecuador, México, Ct
Guatemala and Costa Rica. As part of its fleet egjoen plan, Copa Colombia has options to purchas®e three additional Embra
190 aircraft through 2013.
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Fuel is our single largest operating expense asd, result, our results of operations are likelgdatinue to be materia
affected by the cost of fuel as compared with pperiods. From 2005 to 2010, the average price e§tWexas Intermediate crt
oil, a benchmark widely used for crude oil prichattis measured in barrels and quoted in U.S. dpliacreased by 40.3% fr
$56.64 per barrel to $79.48 per barrel. During 2008 prices experienced significant volatilityitvWest Texas Intermediate cr
prices reaching the record price of approximataSpper barrel in July. Prices then dropped beld® ger barrel at the beginning
2009, and then stabilized at approximately $700aerel in the second half of 2009. In 2010, pricestinued to rise, reaching $91
by the end of the year. While prices have decreasext their peak in 2008, we believe that fuetgsiare likely to increase in
future. In past years, we have managed to offsetesof the increases in fuel prices by managing laatbrs, fuel related pri
increases, which may take the form of fare increasefuel surcharges, and cost cutting initiatiies. example, we estimate that
were able to offset approximately 100% of the iaseein unit costs in 2008 as compared to 2007 gfirdugher unit revenue
Although there are other factors affecting unittspmnanagement considers the 100% cost recoveyatalbe a fair estimate of t
coverage of incremental fuel prices, as most ofitlkezase in unit costs is related to fuel pricee kdve hedged 25% and 9% of
anticipated fuel needs for 2011 and 2012, respelgtivWe will continue to evaluate various hedgitigtegies, and we may enter i
additional hedging agreements in the future.

Regional Economic Environment

Our historical financial results have been, andewgect them to continue to be, materially affedigdhe general level
economic activity and growth of per capita dispdsabcome in North, South and Central America arel €Caribbean (drivers of ¢
passenger revenue) and the volume of trade betementries in the region (the principal driver of @argo revenue).

According to data fronThe Preliminary Overview of the Economies of Laimerica and the Caribbeanan annu:
United Nations publication prepared by the Economievelopment Division, the economy of Latin Ameriacluding the
Caribbean) decreased by 1.7% in 2009, but grew.B%5n 2010. In recent years, the Panamanian ecpras closely tracked t
economies of the United States and of Latin Amelic&2010, however, the Panamanian economy grewahterms by 6.2% (vers
3% in 2009), according to the International Mongtaund’s estimates. Inflation in Panama rose 3.4% in Z0&0sus 2.4% in 200¢
Additionally, the Colombian economy has experienceldtively stable growth. According to the Intetioaal Monetary Fund’
estimates, the Colombian gross domestic produat ¢gme 0.83% in 2009 and by 4.7% in 2010 with inflati(as indicated by tl
consumer price index) rising by 4.2% in 2009 artd2in 2010.

Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from passengerspartation which represents 95% of our revenuds, 5% derive:
from cargo and other revenues.

We recognize passenger revenue when transporfatimovided. Passenger revenues reflect the cgpafcdur aircraft o
the routes we fly, load factor and yield. Our catyais measured in terms of available seat mileSN) which represents the num
of seats available on our aircraft multiplied by thumber of miles the seats are flown. Our usageeiasured in terms of revel
passenger miles (RPMs), which is the number ofmeggassengers multiplied by the miles these pgssefily. Load factor, or tl
percentage of our capacity that is actually usegdyying customers, is calculated by dividing RPMsASMs. Yield is the avera
amount that one passenger pays to fly one mileu¥éea combination of approaches, taking into adcgietds, flight load factol
and effects on load factors of connecting trafilepending on the characteristics of the marketgesgerto arrive at a strategy
achieving the best possible revenue per availademile, balancing the average fare charged aghie<orresponding effect on
load factors.

We recognize cargo revenue when transportatiorrasigeed. Our other revenue consists primarily ofess baggal
charges, ticket change fees and charter flights.
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Overall demand for our passenger and cargo serigceighly dependent on the regional economic emvirent in whic
we operate, including the GDP of the countries ame and the disposable income of the residertisoske countries. We believe t
50% of our passengers travel at least in part @isiress reasons, and the growth of intraregioadktgreatly affects that portion
our business. The remaining 50% of our passenger®arists or travelers visiting friends and famil

The following table sets forth our capacity, loadtbr and yields for the periods indicated.

2009 2010

Copa Segmet

Capacity (in available seat miles, in millior 8,31¢ 9,22¢

Load factor 76% 77.%

Yield (in cents) 15.07% 15.1¢
Copa Colombie

Capacity (in available seat miles, in millior 1,592 1,722

Load factor 67.5% 71.1%

Yield (in cents) 22.0¢ 20.2¢

Seasonality

Generally, our revenues from and profitability afr dlights peak during the northern hemisphesimmer season in J
and August and again during the December and Jamadiday season. Given our high proportion of fixests, this seasonality
likely to cause our results of operations to vaonf quarter to quarter.

Operating Expenses

The main components of our operating expensesiamafa fuel, salaries and benefits, passengeriGarg, commission:
aircraft maintenance, reservations and sales andh#iirent. A common measure of per unit costtha airline industry is cost [
available seat mile (CASM), which is generally defi as operating expenses divided by ASMs.

Aircraft fuel. The price we pay for aircraft fuel varies signifitig from country to country primarily due to loctlxes
While we purchase aircraft fuel at all the airpdaasvhich we fly, we attempt to negotiate fuelimgntracts with companies that hi
a multinational presence in order to benefit framume purchases. During 2010, as a result of tbation of its hub, Copa purcha:
58% of its aircraft fuel in Panama. Copa has 1&bers of aircraft fuel across its network. In sonases, we tanker fuel in orde
minimize our cost by fueling in airports where fygices are lowest. Our aircraft fuel expensesvar@able and fluctuate based
global oil prices. From 2005 to 2010, the averageepof West Texas Intermediate crude oil, a berartkmvidely used for crude
prices that is measured in barrels and quoted $ tbllars, increased by 40.3% from $56.64 perebaor$79.48 per barrel. To de
we have managed to offset some of the increasfeliprices with higher load factors, fuel surcteg@nd fare increases. In addit
our relatively young, wingletquipped fleet also helps us mitigate the impadtigiier fuel prices. Historically, we have not hedg
significant portion of our fuel costs. We have hedl@5% and 9% of our anticipated fuel needs forl2@1id 2012, respectively.

Aircraft Fuel Data

2009 2010

Copa Segmet

Average price per gallon of jet fuel into planedlexiing hedge) (in U.S. dollar $ 1.84 $ 2.3t
Gallons consumed (in thousan: 112,40: 120,91:
Available seat miles (in millions 8,31¢ 9,22¢
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.3t 1.31
Copa Colombig(1)

Average price per gallon of jet fuel into planedlexling hedge) (in U.S. dollar $ 1.97 $ 2.5¢
Gallons consumed (in thousan 25,617 27,68¢
Available seat miles (in millions 1,592 1,722
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.61 1.61
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Salaries and benefit§alaries and benefits expenses have historicalhgased at the rate of inflation and by the grow
the number of our employees. In some cases, wedtjusted salaries of our employees to corresportidnges in the cost of livi
in the countries where these employees work. Wieaddncrease salaries based on seniority.

Passenger servicing expens&ur passenger servicing expenses consist of expeoseliability insurance, bagga
handling, catering, ifiight entertainment and other costs related toraft and airport services. These expenses argabndirectly
related to the number of passengers we carry ontimeber of flights we operate. Passenger serviekgenses provide us with
directional measurement of cost variances.

CommissionsCommission expenses are driven mainly by passeregenues, indirect channel penetration perform
and agreed commission rates, as opposed to ASMtlgr@ur commission expenses consist primarily gfinpents for ticket sals
made by travel agents and commissions paid totccadil companies. Travel agents receive base caiang not including back-
end incentive programs, ranging from 0% to 6% ddp®non the country. During the last few years \agehreduced our commiss
expense per available seat mile as a result afdustry-wide trend of paying lower commissions to travedragjes and by increasi
the proportion of our sales made through directnokés. We expect this trend to continue as morewf customers becor
accustomed to purchasing through call centers laredigh the internet. While increasing direct sates/ increase the commissi
we pay to credit card companies, we expect thasdlvings from the corresponding reduction in traggncy commissions will mc
than offset this increase. In recent years, basanissions paid to travel agents have decreasedisarly. At the same time, v
have encouraged travel agencies to move from stdrixsse commissions to incentive compensation basesdles volume and f

types.

Maintenance, material and repair expens@sir maintenance, material and repair expenses stoofsaircraft repair ar
charges related to light and heavy maintenanceupfcraft, including maintenance materials. As #ge of our fleet increases
our warranties expire, our maintenance expensdsingilease. We only conduct line maintenance irtlynand outsource hea
maintenance to independent third party contractorf003, we negotiated with GE Engine Servicesantenance cost per he
program for the repair and maintenance of our C¥Viengines which power our Boeing 737 Next Genamafieet. Our engir
maintenance costs are also aided by thdesed-elevation of our hub and the use of winglelsch allow us to operate the engine:
our Boeing 737 Next Generation aircraft with lowremust, thus putting less strain on the engines.

Line maintenance for Copa Colombia’s fleet is parfed by Copa Colombia’s iheuse maintenance staff. The ave
age of Copa Colombia’s fleet as of December 3102Q4s 4.1 years.

Aircraft rent. Our aircraft rental expenses are generally fixedhgyterms of our operating lease agreements. Qtyyeix
of Copas operating leases have fixed rates which areuigest to fluctuations in interest rates and theeséh is tied to LIBOR. A
of Copa Colombia operating leases have fixed rates which areuigest to fluctuations in interest rates. Our aftrent expens
also includes rental payments related to our weetitey of freighter aircraft to supplement our cangerations.

Reservations and sales expendd® main variable involved in driving Reservati@m Sales Expenses is the numb
bookings made through our global distribution cheenas opposed to ASM. Our reservations and saj@snses arise primarily fr¢
payments to these global distribution systems, siscAmadeus and Sabre, that list our flight ofigsion reservation systems aro
the world. These reservation systems tend to thise rates periodically, but we expect that if are successful in encouraging
customers to purchase tickets through our dirdetssehannels, these costs will decrease as a pageenf our operating costs,
portion of our reservations and sales expensesgs @mprised of our licensing payments for the SEHAReservation and cheak-
management software we use, which is not expeotetiagnge significantly from period to period.

46




Table of Contents

Flight operationsandlanding fees and other rentadse generally directly related to the number aftfts we operate, wi
a component attributed to fixed costs relatingatility rental expenses.

Otherincludes publicity and promotion expenses, expenskted to our cargo operations, technology rdlatéiatives
and miscellaneous other expenses.

Taxes

We pay taxes in the Republic of Panama and in atbentries in which we operate, based on regulatioreffect in eac
respective country. Our revenues come principatiynfforeign operations and according to the Pan&@ndfiscal Code these fore
operations are not subject to income tax in Panama.

As of 2010, the Panamanian tax code for the aiilvgeistry was amended, tax is now based on netriecearned fc
traffic whose origin or destination is the Repubdic Panama. The applicable tax rate for 2010 wa8% <7 For 2011 and goil
forward, the applicable tax rate will be 25.0%. idends from our Panamanian subsidiaries, includiopa, are separately subjec
a 10% percent withholding tax on the portion atttétble to Panamanian sourced income and a 5% wdinigotax on the portic
attributable to foreign sourced income. Additiogale 7% value added tax is levied on tickets issuedPanama for trav
commencing in Panama and going abroad, irrespeatiwdnere such tickets were ordered.

We are also subject to local tax regulations irhezfcthe other jurisdictions where we operate,gheat majority of whic
are related to the taxation of our income. In safhe countries to which we fly, we do not pay amgome taxes because we do
generate income under the laws of those countiib&rebecause they do not have income taxes ortdueeaties or oth
arrangements those countries have with Panamhbelretnaining countries, we pay income tax at anaging from 25% to 34%
our income attributable to those countries. Différeountries calculate our income in different wayst they are typically derivi
from our sales in the applicable country multipllsdour net margin or by a presumed net margirbgeahe relevant tax legislatic
The determination of our taxable income in seveoalntries is based on a combination of revenuesceduo each particular coun
and the allocation of expenses to that particutamtry. The methodology for multinational transptidn company sourcing
revenue and expense is not always specificallycpiteed in the relevant tax regulations, and theeefe subject to interpretation
both ourselves and the respective tax authorif@slitionally, in some countries, the applicability certain regulations governi
non4income taxes and the determination of our filirgfist are also subject to interpretation. We caastinate the amount, if any,
the potential tax liabilities that might resulttife allocations, interpretations and filing posisove use in preparing our income
returns were challenged by the tax authoritiesnaf or more countries. If taxes were to increasefinancial performance and resi
of operations could be materially and adverselgctéfd. Due to the competitive revenue environmexatny increases in fees ¢
taxes have been absorbed by the airline industimerahan being passed on to the passenger. Ahyisaeases in our fees and te
may reduce demand for air travel and thus our nesen

Under a reciprocal exemption confirmed by a biktergreement between Panama and the United Stedesre exem|
from the U.S. source transportation income taxvéerifrom the international operation of aircraft.

We paid taxes totaling approximately $13.8 millior2009 and $13.0 million in 2010.

Special Fleet Charges

In 2009, we decided to terminate early three BlDaircraft leases prior to their scheduled exjamtin connection wit
the transition of Copa Airlines’fleet to Embraer 190. Fees paid for early tertfoneamounted to $10.5 million and were recogn

as Special Fleet Charges in the Consolidated Séatesnof Income.

In addition to the early lease termination, we wrdbwn amounts related property, plant and equiprsech as rotab
parts, spare engines and tools totaling $4.9 milliand recognized a loss of $4.0 million relatedthte scrapping of obsole
expendable parts.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets in conformity with IFRS as issued by the IABRBjuires ot
management to adopt accounting policies and makmaies and judgments to develop amounts reporiedur consolidate
financial statements and related notes. We stoveaintain a process to review the application wf @accounting policies and
evaluate the appropriateness of the estimatesreshfdar the preparation of our consolidated finahstatements. We believe that
estimates and judgments are reasonable; howevasl aesults and the timing of recognition of sarhounts could differ from tho
estimates. In addition, estimates routinely reqaidgustments based on changing circumstances andetieipt of new or bett
information.

Critical accounting policies and estimates arerdzfias those that are reflective of significangjuénts and uncertaint
and potentially result in materially different résuunder different assumptions and conditions. &aliscussion of these and o
accounting policies, see Note 1 to our annual dateted financial statements.

Goodwill and Intangible Asset8Ve have allocated goodwill and intangible asseth widefinite lives acquired throu
business combinations for the purposes of impaitniesting to a single cagkenerating unit. Goodwill is tested for impairn
annually by comparing the carrying amount to treoverable amount of the cagknerating unit level that has been measured ¢
basis of its value-in-use, by applying cash flowjections in the functional currency based on tben@anys approved business p
covering a five-year period followed by the a Ialegm growth rate. Considerable judgment is necgsaevaluate the impact
operating and macroeconomic changes to estimateefutash flows and to measure the recoverable am@ssumptions in tt
Companys impairment evaluations are consistent with irgkepmojections and operating plans. AeroRepublicadename and rour
were acquired as part of the AeroRepublica acdoimsdnd were capitalized at fair value at that datee trade name and routes v
considered to have an indefinite useful life (amel mot amortized) due to several factors and cenatbns, including the bra
awareness and market position, customer recogramahloyalty. The carrying values of the routes tade names are reviewed
impairment at each reporting date and are subdémpairment testing when events or changes inugistances indicate tt
carrying values may not be recoverable. The Compasgsses at each statement of financial posititmwhether intangibles ass
with indefinite useful lives are impaired usingatisnted cash flow analyses. In the third quarte2Gif0, the company changed
commercial name of AeroRepublica and began to operader the brand Copa Colombia, and an impairin@snbeen recognized
$1.5 million during 2010. The remaining balancetloit intangible asset will be amortized over thge&rs. No impairment «
goodwill and other intangible assets was recognized

Maintenance DepositUnder its lease agreements, Copa pays maintenaquesits to lessors to be applied to fu
maintenance events cost, calculated based on @arpenfice measure, such as flight hours, and ardfisp#g to be used to reimbur
3rd-party maintenance providers. If amounts on demsitinsufficient, Copa must cover shortfall sinagp€& is legally responsik
for maintaining leased aircraft. If there are escasiounts on deposit at expiration of lease, tbgoleis entitled to retain any exc
amounts. Maintenance deposits paid under leaseermgrds do not transfer either the obligation tontaém aircraft or cost ris
associated with maintenance activities to the leséay excess amounts held by the lessor or redaime the lessor upon t
expiration of the lease, which are not expecteoktsignificant, would be recognized as additiomalraft rental expense at the tim
is no longer probable that such amounts will bedfee maintenance for which they were deposited.

The Company makes payments for engine overhauleryalver by the hour agreements (PBH). These paymelate:
to engine overhauls under PBH agreements are red@sl other assets.

These payments are capitalized and recorded asigrapsets until the event occurs and then wildilpertized until th

next event. Management performs regular reviewbefecovery of maintenance deposits and belidhaghe values reflected in-
consolidated statement of financial position amverable.
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Accounting for Property, Plant and Equipmerroperty, plant and equipment, including rotgidets, are recorded at ¢
and are depreciated to estimated residual values their estimated useful lives using the stralgig-method. Each component
property, plant and equipment that has a costish&ignificant in relation to the overall cost bktitem is depreciated separately. Pre-
delivery deposits refer to prepayments made basatieagreements entered into with Boeing Companyhie purchase of Boei
737800 Next Generation aircraft and includes inteastl finance charges incurred during the manufaatdiraircraft and th
leasehold improvements.

Under IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipmem&jor engine overhauls including replacement spaneslabor costs, &
treated as a separate asset component with theapisalized and amortized over the period to teet major overhaul. All oth:
replacement spares and costs relating to maintenahdleet assets are charged to the income stateore consumption or
incurred. Interest costs incurred on borrowings fli@ad progress payments on assets under constnudticluding predelivery
deposits to acquire new aircraft, are capitalizad acluded as part of the cost of the assets firahe earlier of the date
completion or aircraft delivery.
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In estimating the lives and expected residual \&abfdts aircraft, the Company primarily has religgbn actual experien
with the same or similar aircraft types and recomdations from Boeing and Embraer, the manufactwttse Companyg aircraft
Subsequent revisions to these estimates, whichbeasignificant, could be caused by changes to tmpganys maintenanc
program, changes in utilization of the aircraftt(et cycles during a given period of time), goveemtal regulations related to ag
aircraft, and changing market prices of new andl@rcraft of the same or similar types. The Conypewaluates its estimates
assumptions each reporting period and, when wadaatdjusts these estimates and assumptions. ablipstments are accounted
on a prospective basis through depreciation andtazation expense, as required by IFRS.

We evaluate annually whether there is an indicatfi@t our property, plant and equipment may be irega Factors th.
would indicate potential impairment may includet bre not limited to, significant decreases in tinarket value of the lontived
asset(s), a significant change in the long-liveskts physical condition, and operating or cash flossks associated with the us
the longlived assets. We have not identified any impairreeatated to our existing aircraft fleet. As of B&cember 2010 and 201
no impairment on property, plant and equipmenttassas recognized.

Lease accountingAircraft lease agreements are accounted as eitherating or (finance leases). When the risks
benefits of the lease are transferred to us, eededhe lease is classified as a finance leasanéeé leases are accounted &
acquisition obtained through a financing, with digcraft recorded as a fixed asset and a correspgridbility recorded as a log
Finance leases are recorded based on the lestieg tdir value of the aircraft or the present vadfieghe minimum lease paymer
discounted at an implicit interest rate, when iclisarly identified in the lease agreement, or imgremental borrowing rate. T
aircraft is depreciated through the lesser of $=ful life or the lease term. Interest expensedsgnized through the effective inte
rate method, based on the implicit interest rat¢heflease. Lease agreements that do not trareferisks and benefits to us
classified as operating leases. Operating leageacaounted as a rent, and the lease minimum ée@®nse is recognized through
straight line method.

Lease accounting is critical for us because it ireguan extensive analysis of the lease agreemewntsler to classify ar
measure the transactions in our financial statesnamdl significantly impacts our financial positiand results of operations. Chan
in the terms of our outstanding lease agreemerdstlanterms of future lease agreements may impacttcounting for the lee
transactions and our future financial position egslilts of operations.

Deferred taxesDeferred taxes are calculated based on tax lossegporary differences between tax bases and cg
amounts for financial reporting purposes of ouretssind liabilities. Deferred taxes is a criticet@unting policy for us becaust
requires a number of assumptions and is based phesi estimate of our projections related to fttaxable profit. In additio
because the preparation of our business plan ieduto a variety of market conditions, the reswfsour operations may ve
significantly from our projections and as such, éineounts recorded as deferred tax assets may lzetietpsignificantly in the futur
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Standards issued but not yet effective

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Amendmt

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentat— Classification of Rights Issues (Amendme
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification andal@remen

IFRIC 14 Prepayment of a minimum funding requiret{@&mendment

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities withghity Instrument:

Improvements to IFRSs (issued in May 2(

The IASB issued Improvements to IFRSs, an omnidusneendments to its IFRS standards. The amendnhawis nc
been adopted as they become effective for annualdseon or after either 1 July 2010 or 1 Janu®¥12 The amendments lis
below are considered to have a reasonable possipkect on the Group:

IFRS 3 Business Combinatio

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosu

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Stateme

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statts

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programm

Results of Operation

The following table shows each of the line item®ur income statements for the periods indicated psrcentage of o
total operating revenues for that period:

2009

Operating revenues:
Passenger reveni
Cargo, mail and othe

Total

Operating expense

Aircraft fuel

Salaries and benefi
Passenger servicir
Commission:

Reservation and sal
Maintenance, materials and repz
Depreciation and amortizatic
Flight operation:

Aircraft rentals

Landing fees and other renti

Other

Special fleet charge

Total

Operating incom

Nonr-operating income (expense
Interest expens

Interest capitalize

Interest incom:

Other, nel

Total

Income/(loss) before income tax
Income taxe:!
Net income

Year 2010 Compared to Year 200!

94.1%
5.2%
10(%

(23.9%
(12.5%
(10.0%
(3.9%
(4.5)%
(4.4%
(4.2)%
(4.9%
(3.1%
(2.1%
(5.0%
(1.5)%
(80.9%
19.1%

(2.6%
0.1%
0.7%
4.7%
2.9%

22.(%
2.1%

24.1%

2010

94.€%
5.4%
10C%

(25.1)%

(12.6%
(9.5)%
(3.2%
(4.2%
(4.49%
(4.5)%
(5.0%
(3.9%
(2.9%
(5.1%
(0.0%

(79.5%
20.5%

(2.9)%
0.0%
0.2%

(0.30%

(2.0)%

18.2%
1.%%

19.7%



Our consolidated net income in 2010 totaled $24dilllon, a 3.2% decrease from net income of $24#illion in 2009
This decrease was primarily due to a $58.0 millgain in the fair value of fuel hedge instruments2®09 as compared tc
$11.7 million gain in the fair value of fuel hedgetruments in 2010. We had consolidated operdtiogme of $289.6 million i

2010, a 20.6% increase over operating income 00 324illion in 2009. Our consolidated operating giarin 2010 was 20.5%,
increase of 1.4 percentage points over an operatargin of 19.1% in 2009.
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Operating revenue

Our consolidated revenue totaled $1.4 billion il@0a 12.6% increase from operating revenue of BilliBn in 2009, du
to increases in both passenger and cargo revenue.

Copa’s segment operating revenue

Copas operating revenue totaled $1.2 billion in 2010428% increase from operating revenue of $1.®hilin 2009 du
to increases in both passenger and cargo revenues.

Passenger revenuePassenger revenue totaled $1.1 billion in 2010,4a4% increase over passenger revenu
$953.0 million in 2009. This increase resulted ity from higher passenger yield, which increabgd.6% to 15.16 in 2010, a
higher load factor, which increased by 1.9 peragafaoints to 77.9% in 2010. The increase in yield l@ad factor was in spite of 1
increase in capacity as available seat miles iseéy 10.9% in 2010 as compared to 2009.

Cargo, mail and otherCargo, mail and other revenue totaled $73.6 milimB8010, a 22.5% increase from cargo, mail
other revenue of $60.2 million in 2009. This inceavas primarily the result of higher cargo revenue

Copa Colombia segment operating revenue

Copa Colombia operating revenue totaled $270.0 million in 2G®jncrease of $15.3 million over operating reeenl
$254.6 million in 2009, resulting from an increaeseboth passenger and cargo revenues. This incressdéted primarily from
stronger Colombian currency. There was a decreageld that was partially offset by higher loadtfar (load factor increased by
percentage points to 71.1% in 2010) and 8.2% mapadity.

Operating expenses

Our consolidated operating expenses totaled $1lidrbin 2010, an 10.7% increase over operatingeases of $1.0 billic
in 2009 that was primarily the result of higherlfaest, stronger currency and higher operatingscdae to growth in capacity.

In 2010, our operating expenses per available délat excluding aircraft fuel was 7.04 cents, a 2.B#&crease fro
operating expenses per available seat mile exdudircraft fuel of 7.22 cents in 2009. Aircraft fyeer available seat mile was 3
cents in 2010, compared to 3.04 cents in 20090k020our total operating expenses per availablerséa was 10.39 cents, a 0..
increase from operating expenses per availablensabf 10.35 cents in 2009.

An overview of the major variances on a consoliddtasis follows:

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $354.4 million in 2010, a 8% increase from aircraft fuel of $300.8 million 2009
This increase was primarily a result of higher fpetes and 7.65% higher fuel consumption which padially offset by a realiz¢
fuel hedge gain of $2.4 million in 2010, as compaiea realized fuel hedge loss of $41.9 millior2009.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $178.8 million in ®0d 13.9% increase over salaries and benel
$157.0 million in 2009. This increase was primaalyesult of an overall increase in headcount ppstt our operations.

Passengerservicing. Passenger servicing totaled $133.7 million in 20405.8% increase over passenger servicit
$125.2 million in 2009. This increase was primaalyesult of an increase in capacity and on-boas$gngers.
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Maintenance, materials and repaifslaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $62lBomiin 2010, a 11.7% increa
over maintenance, materials and repairs of $55lbmiin 2009. This increase was primarily a resofitincrease in capacity a
overhaul events.

The remaining operating expenses totaled $395&mih 2010, an increase of $18.7 million over 200
Copa segment operating expenses

The breakdown of operating expenses per availaaermsile is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31 Percent
2009 2010 Change
(in cents)

Operating Expenses per ASM:
Salaries and benefi 1.4¢ 1.5C 0.1%
Passenger servicir 1.12 1.0¢ (2.00%
Commissions 0.4 0.4C (6.)%
Reservation and sal: 0.5C 0.4¢ (7.7)%
Maintenance, materials and reps 0.51 0.5C (2.6)%
Depreciation and Amortizatic 0.5¢€ 0.6C 6.€%
Flight operation: 0.62 0.6 2.C%
Aircraft rentals 0.31 0.3¢ 7.4%
Landing fees and other renti 0.3C 0.3z 4.1%
Other 0.5t 0.54 (1.8%
Total operating expenses per ASM before aircradt 6.3¢ 6.3¢€ (0.9)%
Aircraft fuel 2.9¢ 3.0¢ 3.1%
Total operating expenses per AS 9.3¢ 9.4t 0.7%

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $284.8 million in 2010, a 446 decrease from aircraft fuel of $249.0 million2609
This increase was primarily a result of a 6.3% éase in the allh average price per gallon of jet fuel ($2.30 Bil@ compared
$2.20 in 2009) and the consumption of 7.6% moré fwe to a 2.1% increase in departures. Aircrafi foer available seat m
increased by 3.1% due to the increase in averagje@st per gallon.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $138.0 million in@0dn 11% increase over salaries and benel
$124.3 million in 2009. This increase was mainlgeault of an overall increase in operating headttmisupport increased capa
deployed during the year. Salaries and benefitapaitable seat mile increased by 0.1%.

Passenger servicing Passenger servicing totaled $100.9 million in @@bmpared to $92.9 million in 2009. T
represented an 8.7% increase driven mainly by 9n@¥ease in the number of passengers transporténbd2010. As a result, cert:
variable costs increased during the period. Pagsangal expenses increased by 14.3%, passeng#ityliaisurance increased
21% and handling by 7.5%. This was partially offisgtbetter controls in the on board service processch decreased interrup
flights expenses by 26.7%. Passenger servicingyatable seat mile decreased by 2.0%.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $37.2 million in 2010, an 4.B#rease from commissions of $35.8 million in 2(
This increase was primarily a result of 9% incremsen board passengers which led to higher passemyenue sold by tra\
agencies, which was somewhat offset by a lowerameecommission rate. Commissions represented 3f24r @perating revenue
2010 compared to 3.5% in 2009.

Reservations and saléReservations and sales totaled $42.5 million in02@12.4% increase compared to $41.5 millic
2009. This increase was primarily due to an 1.5é6eiase in our net booking peassenger on our main global distribution syst
Reservations angalesrepresented 3.7% of our operating revenue in 2@b@pared to 4.1% in 2009, a reduction of 0.5 pesxgE
points. Reservations and sales expenses per deaskadt mile decreased by 7.7%.
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Maintenance, materials and repairs. Maintenanamaterials and repairs totaled $45.8 million ill@0a 8.0% increa
over maintenance, materials and repairs of $42ldbmin 2009. This increase was primarily a resafla 10.9% increase in capau
and more overhaul events. Maintenance, materialsemair per available seat mile decreased by 2.6%.

Depreciation.Depreciation totaled $55.2 million in 2010, a 18.R¥drease over depreciation of $46.7 million in 208s .
result of higher depreciation attributable to ocqguisition of seven new Boeing 737-800.

Flight operations, aircraft rentals and landing feeand other rentalsCombined, flight operations, aircraft rentals
landing fees and other rentals increased from $1@illion in 2009 to $117.5 million in 2010. Flightperations amount
$57.9 million in 2010 compared to $51.2 million2A09. This represented an 13.2% increase drivenlyniay an increase of avere
daily departures from 152 in 2009 to 155 in 2016.8esult, air to ground communications incredseti3%, from $32.5 million
$36.7 million. Landing fees amounted $29.1 milliarR010 compared to $25.2 million in 2009. Thisreented an 15.5 % increa
driven mainly by the same reasons, which includesdffects of expanded operations in certain mark&tiditionally, simulatc
rental expense increased by 35% from $2.6 millio&009 to $3.5 million in 2010.

Aircraft rental. Aircraft rental expense amounted to $30.4 million the 2010 fiscal year, a 19.1% increase -
$25.5 million reported in the 2009 fiscal year. §icrease results from the addition of one le&meing 737NG aircraft, bringir
our total operating aircraft leased fleet to 1@ft which is comprised of both Boeing 737NG aiftand EMB 190 aicratft.

Other. Other expenses totaled $50.0 million in 2010, arease over other expenses of $45.9 million in 20089s
increase was primarily a result of an increase imeRass frequent flyer miles earned by customermngitihe period and high
technology related expenses. Other expenses pigitdesseat mile decreased by 1.8%.

Copa Colombia segment operating expensapa Colombias operating expenses totaled $274.9 million in 2Gir
increase of $26.8 million from operating expense$228.2 million reported during 2009, primarily asesult of higher aircraft fu
cost and currency appreciation.

Non-operating income (expense)

Our consolidated non-operating expense totaled 6828lion in 2010, decrease from naperating income
$35.9 million in 2009, primarily as a result of §h1.7 million mark to market gain of our fuel hedgmtracts in 2010 compared 1
$58.0M gain in 2009 and to a $19.7 million loss thuéhe devaluation of the Venezuelan Bolivar Feiattthe first quarter of 2010.

Copa segment non-operating income (expense)

Non-operating expense totaled $27.3 million in 2040decrease from naperating income of $39.3 million in 20!
attributable primarily to a $19.7 million loss digethe devaluation of the Venezuelan Bolivar Fuartthe first quarter of 2010.

Interest expensénterest expense totaled $27.1 million in 2010080% decrease from interest expense of $30.1 miik
2009, primarily resulting from lower average intreates during the period. The average effectiterést rates on our di
decreased by 49 basis points from 3.92% during 2043% during 2010. At perioglend, interest rate on 69% of our outstan
debt was fixed at an average effective rate of%.44

Interest capitalized.Interest capitalized totaled $0 million in 2010, 180% decrease from interest capitalizec
$0.7 million in 2009.

Interest incomelnterest income totaled $3.9 million in 2010, a9%4.decrease from interest income of $8.1 millio
2009. This decrease was mainly a result of lowerage interest rates during the period.
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Other, net.Other, net expense totaled $4.1 million in 2010npared to a $60.6 million other, net loss in 200Ais
change was primarily the result of a loss of $Xfilfion due to Venezuela currency depreciation amatk to market gain of o
$10.2 of fuel hedge contracts in 2010 compared@92

Copa Colombia segment non-operating income (expense

Non-operating income totaled $0.3 million in 20¥0,decrease from nasperating expense of $2.4 million in 20
attributable primarily to a currency appreciation.

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

In recent years, we have been able to meet ourimgdapital requirements through cash from our af@ns. Our capit
expenditures, which consist primarily of aircraftrghases, are funded through a combination of ash drom operations and long-
term financing. From time to time, we finance pedigery payments related to our aircraft with mexditerm financing in the form
commercial banks loans and/or bonds privately plasith commercial banks. Our accounts receivabl®atember 31, 20:
increased by $8.6 million compared with December2BD9, primarily as a result of the growth in ggérg revenues.

Our cash, cash equivalents and shemntr investments at December 31, 2010 increasekbByb million to $402.6 millior
At December 31, 2010, we had $6.2 million in reséd cash within longerm investments as collateral for letters of diedhd
December 31, 2010 we had available committed lafesedit totaling $ 79.0 million under which thesere no amounts outstand
and uncommitted lines of credit totaling $60.0 raill These lines of credit have been secured tigbrpotential liquidity gaps a
account for other potential contingencies.

Operating Activities

We rely primarily on cash flows from operationspmvide working capital for current and future ogt@ns. Net cas
flows provided by operations for the year ended dbalger 31, 2010 were $292.8 million, decreasing $iilfon compared to tt
$291.3 million in 2009. The decrease in cash fliwm operations in 2010 is primarily due the inaen fuel costs.

Investing Activities

During 2010, our capital expenditures were $348lfan, which consisted primarily of expenditureslated to ot
purchase of three Boeing 7800 aircraft, as well as $157.3 million in expendis related to advance payments on aircraft pae
contracts for aircraft delivering in 2013. Durin@®, our capital expenditures were $211.5 milliahjch consisted primarily
expenditures related to our purchase of one Bo@Big800 aircraft, as well as $151.7 million in expendis related to advar
payments on aircraft purchase contracts.

Financing Activities

Financing activities during 2010 consisted primaribf $282.1 million of aircraft financing, the repaent o
$138.7 million in long-term debt and $47.9 milliondividends declared and paid.

Financing activities during 2009 consisted primadf $103.8 million of financing of one aircraft dircraft predelivery
payments, the repayment of $175.4 million in loagyt debt and $16.3 million in dividends declared paid.

In past years we have generally been able to agrarggium-term financing for prelivery payments through loans v

commercial banks. In 2010, we financed our geéivery payments with our own cash. As the aitcaaé delivered and the financ
for the aircraft is received, these pre-deliverymants will be recovered by the company.

55




Table of Contents

We have financed the acquisition of 26 Boeing R&Ekt Generation aircraft and three spare enginesigih syndicate
loans provided by international financial instiarts with the support of partial guarantees issuethb Exporthmport Bank of th
United States, or Ex-Im, with repayment profilesl@years. The Ekn guarantees support 85% of the net purchase pridear
secured with a first priority mortgage on the aftin favor of a security trustee on behalf of Bx-The documentation for each Ic
follows standard market forms for this type of fieang, including standard events of default. OurlExsupported financing
amortize on a quarterly basis, are denominatedilard and originally bear interest at a floatirger linked to LIBOR. Our Exm
guarantee facilities typically offer an option tix the applicable interest rate. We have exercided option with respect
$526.3 million as of December 31, 2010 at an averagighted interest rate of 4.27%. The remainin@.&nillion bears interest
an average weighted interest of LIBOR plus 0.33%DAcember 31, 2010, the total amount outstandimteuour Ex-Imsupporte
financings totaled $547.1 million.

We have effectively extended the maturity of certaf our Boeing aircraft financing to 15 years tgb the use of
“Stretched Overall Amortization and Repayment,”SIDAR, structure which provides serial draawns calculated to result ir
100% loan accreting to a recourse balloon at theinityaof the Exim guaranteed loan. The SOAR portions of our faeglirequire L
to maintain certain financial covenants, includargEBITDAR to fixed charge ratio, a lorigrm obligation to EBITDAR ratio anc
minimum unrestricted cash balance. To comply withfirst ratio, our EBITDA plus aircraft rent exsen or EBITDAR, for the pric
year must be at least 2.0 times our fixed chargereses (including interest, commission, fees, distand other finance paymel
for that year. To comply with the second ratio, tmngterm obligations must be no more than six timesTEBAR. Third, our casl
cash equivalents and sheerm investment balance should be at least $50omilAs of December 31, 2010, we complied witt
required covenants. We also pay a commitment fab@nnutilized portion of our SOAR loans.

We also have financed 10% of the purchase priceedfin of our Boeing aircraft through commercizdns. Under tt
commercial loan agreements for aircraft receiveddf2, we are required to comply with four spedifi@ncial covenants. The fi
covenant requires our EBITDAR for the prior year lie at least 2.0 times our finance charge expefisekiding interes
commission, fees, discounts and other finance patshelhe second covenant limits our net borrowiag85% of our capitalizatio
The third covenant requires our tangible net westhe at least $120 million. The last covenant ieguus to maintain a minimum
$50 million in available cash (including cash egliants and committed credit facilities). As of Dedzer 31, 2010, we complied w
all required covenants.

Our Embraer aircraft purchases are not eligibleBrdm guaranteed financing. During 2008, we securestraor terr
loan facility in the amount of $100 million for thmrchase of four Embraer 190 aircraft. The loaageha term of twelve yea
During 2008, we utilized all of this facility. Undehe 2006 loan agreement we are required to comylly certain financic
covenants. The first covenant requires our EBITDi&Rthe prior year to be at least 2.5 times ouedixcharge expenses (includ
interest, commission, fees, discounts and othemfie payments) for that year. The second coverguires a total liability plt
operating leases minus operating cash to tangiétievorth ratio of less than 5.5 to 1. The third émant requires our tangible
worth to be at least $160 million. The last covenaeyuires us to maintain a minimum of $75 million available cash, ca
equivalents and short-term investments. As of Ddxeer1, 2010, we complied with all required coveaan

Capital resourcesWe finance our aircraft through long term debt aperating lease financings. Although we expe
finance future aircraft deliveries with a combiatiof similar debt arrangements and financing lgase may not be able to sec
such financing on attractive terms. To the exteato&nnot secure financing, we may be required tdifjmo@ur aircraft acquisitio
plans or incur higher than anticipated financingtso We expect to meet our operating obligationshag become due throu
available cash and internally generated funds, lsapgnted as necessary by short-term credit lines.

As of December 31, 2010, we had placed firm purehasiers with The Boeing Company for 42 Boeing R&X
Generation aircraft and we have purchase rightsogtidns for an additional sixteen Boeing 78&xt Generation aircraft. We a
have options to purchase an additional 6 Embra@rlr@raft. The schedule for delivery of our firmrphase orders is as follows: f
in 2011, seven in 2012, four in 2013, four in 20&iht in 2015, seven in 2016 and seven in 2017 nWet our predelivery depos
requirements for our Boeing 737-Next Generatiomraft by paying cash, or by using medigtenm borrowing facilities and/
vendor financing for deposits required between ywears and 6 months prior to delivery. Riedivery deposits for our Embraer
aircraft are required 18, 12 and 6 months priatetivery. We fund these deposits with our own cash.
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We maintain available facilities for letters of diewith several banks with outstanding balancess®8.8 million an
$25.7 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respryg. These letters of credit are pledged focwift rentals, maintenance ¢
guarantees for airport facilities. Of this totab2% million are letters of credit opened on betwdlfCopa Colombia for the sal
purposes listed above. In addition, we have comathitines of credit totaling $29.6 million, incluginone line of credit fc
$15.0 million with Banco General, an overdraft liofecredit of $10.0 million with Towerbank, a lire# credit of $20.0 million wit
Citibank, a line of credit of $30.0 million with Bao Nacional de Panama and a line of credit of $#lllon with Banco Panama. V
also had a non committed line of credit of $60.0iam with Bladex. These lines of credit have besexcured to bridge liquidity ga
and for other potential contingencies. As of Decen81, 2010, we had an outstanding balance of $hili@n with Bladex.

C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses;.

We believe that the Copa brand has strong valueiradidates superior service and value in the La&timerican trave
industry. We have registered the trademarks “Capal’ “Copa Airlines'with the trademark office in Panama and have filgliest
for registration in other countries, including tbaited States. We license certain brands, logostiatt® dress under the traden
license agreement with UAL related to our alliangk will have the right to continue to use our eatrlogos on our aircraft for up
five years after the end of the alliance agreentem. Copa Colombia’ has registered its name as a trademark in Coéofobithe
next ten years, and plans to register its tradenmaPanama, Ecuador, Venezuela and Peru.

We operate a number of software products undendieg from our vendors, including our booking engme automate
pricing system from SMG Technologies, our SABREemye management software and our Cargo Managerysets Under ot
agreements with Boeing, we also use a large am@fuBbeing’s proprietary information to maintain our aircrafhe loss of the:
software systems or technical support informatiemf Boeing could negatively affect our business.

D. Trend Information

We seek to expand our operations by adding freqeerand new routes with the addition of ten newiBge3780C
aircraft to our fleet in 2011. For the remainder26fl1, we expect to continue to concentrate onikgequr operating costs low a
pursuing ways to make our operations more efficient

We intend to continue developing initiatives to moye the operations at both Copa and Copa Colonihddding ¢
continued focus on on-time performance and conidtctors. In February 2010, as part of our ptambdernize Copa Colomb&’
fleet, we completed the retirement of our last rexng MD-80 aircraft. Additionally, we continue to seek het integration ¢
Copa’s and Copa Colombia’s network through codetsband fleet interchange agreements.

Our maintenance expenses are dependent on a langieen of factors, some of which can be estimatedh ss aircra
usage, aircraft destination and overhaul eventslewhany others result from unforeseen events.dh02 maintenance expen
increased by 18% and we estimate that our maintenexpenses will increase by at least 13% in 2011.

We expect jet fuel prices will continue to be viéatn 2011 and expect to continue evaluating fuediging programs
help protect us against shoetrm movements in crude oil prices. We expect quarating capacity to increase approximately 2(
in 2011, primarily as a result of the addition efi thew aircraft throughout the year.

E. Off-statement of financial position arrangements

None of our operating lease obligations are refléain our consolidated statement of financial pwsitand we have 1

other offstatement of financial position arrangements. Werasponsible for all maintenance, insurance ahdratosts associal
with operating these aircraft; however, we havematle any residual value or other guarantees ttessors.
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F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations
Our non-cancelable contractual obligations at Ddmam31, 2010 included the following:

At December 31, 201(
Less than 1 1-3 35
Total Year Years Years More than 5 Years
(in thousands of dollar:

Aircraft and engine purchase

commitments 1,632,07. 164,04: 383,38 588,33¢ 496,30¢
Aircraft operating lease 360,10: 55,23 111,13« 93,62 100,11(
Other operating leas: 32,05¢ 10,27( 12,13: 7,013 2,64(
Shor-term debt and lor-term debt(1 1,079,24! 143,61° 264,64: 284,45! 386,53¢
Total 3,103,47: 373,15¢ 771,29( 973,43: 985,59:

(1) Includes actual interest and estimated interedidating-rate debt based on December 31, 2010 r

Most contract leases include renewal options. Bioraft related leases have renewable terms ofyeae, and the
respective amounts included in the table above h@&en estimated through 2015, but we cannot edimuaiounts with respect
those leases for later years. Our leases do nlodi@cesidual value guarantees.

The Company has a prepaid pension asset, but éssirtfzat contribution payments to the plan, whieflect expecte
future services, will be $1.4 million for 2011.

Item 6. Directors, senior management and employees
A. Directors and Senior Management

We are managed by our Board of Directors whichemntly consists of eleven members who serve year terms and m.
be reelected. The number of directors elected each gkamates between six directors and five directbisssrs. Pedro Heilbrc
Osvaldo Heilbron, Ricardo A. Arias, Mark Erwin, Adfdo Arias Loredo and Roberto Artavia were eachleeted for twoyear term
at our annual shareholderseeting held in May 2010. Messsrs. Stanley Mottag XCastafieda Velez, Jaime Arias, Alberto C. |
Jr., and Joseph Fidanque were re-elected as diseat@ur annual shareholderseeting held on May 4, 2011. In November 2!
Mr. Douglas Leo was elected as director, filling thacancy created by the resignation of Mr. Marikrand serving for tF
remainder of Mr. Mark Erwin’s term. Mr. Douglas Ls@lection was confirmed at our annual sharehsldeeeting held on May
2011. Our charter does not have a mandatory regine@age for our directors.

The following table sets forth the name, age ansltipm of each member of our Board of DirectoroaMarch 30, 201:
A brief biographical description of each membeoof Board of Directors follows the table.

Name Position Age
Pedro Heilbror Chief Executive Officer and Directt 52
Stanley Motte Chairman and Directc 65
Osvaldo Heilbror Director 85
Jaime Arias Director 76
Ricardo Alberto Arias Director 71
Alberto C. Motta, Jr Director 64
Douglas Lec Director 51
Joseph Fidanque | Director 44
Jose Castarieda Vel Director 67
Roberto Artavia Loriz Director 52
Alfredo Arias Loredc Director 64

Mr. Pedro Heilbron . See “—Executive Officers.”
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Mr. Stanley Motta has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit®36 and a director of Copa Holdings, since &
established in 1998. Since 1990, he has serveldeaBresident of Motta Internacional, S.A. an indional importer and distribut
of consumer goods. Mr. Motta is the brother of director, Alberto C. Motta Jr. He serves on therbseof directors of Mot
Internacional, S.A., BG Financial Group, S.A., ASSAmpafiia de Seguros, S.A., Televisora NacionAl, $versiones Bahia, Lt
and GBM Corporation. Mr. Motta is a graduate ofaind University.

Mr. Osvaldo Heilbron has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit®86 and a director of Copa Holdings, sin
was established in 1998. Mr. Heilbron is the fatbBMr. Pedro Heilbron, our chief executive officéte serves on the boards
directors of CIASA, Desarrollo Costa Del Este, SHAarinas Panama, S.A., Televisora Nacional, Sofl. 8SA Panama Inc.

Mr. Jaime Arias has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesib@83 and a director of Copa Holdings, since &
established in 1998. He is a founding partner dirda, Arias & Lopez. Mr. Arias holds a B.A. fromafe University, a J.D. fro
Tulane University and legal studies at the Uniugrsef Paris, Sorbonne. He serves on the boardsreftdrs of Televisora Nacion
S.A., ASSA Compafiia de Seguros, S.A., Empresa @kderinversiones, S.A., Petr6leos Delta, S.A., Baernational Bank, Inc
Direct Vision, S.A. and Promed, S.A.

Mr. Ricardo Arias has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit®85 and a director of Copa Holdings, since #
established in 1998. He is a founding partner ofif@de, Arias & Lopez. Mr. Arias is the former Pananian ambassador to
United Nations. Mr. Arias holds a B.A. in interratal relations from Georgetown University, an LLfEdm the University of Puer
Rico and an LL.M. from Yale Law School. He servestbe boards of directors of Banco General, S.Al Bmpresa General
Inversiones, S.A., which is the holding companyt thans Banco General, S.A. Mr. Arias is also liseeda principal or alterne
director of several subsidiary companies of Banemésal, S.A. and Empresa General de Inversionds, M. Arias is a forme
Director and President of the Panamanian Stock &haé.

Mr. Alberto Motta, Jr. has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit@83 and a director of Copa Holdings, sin
was established in 1998. He is a Vice Presidemtwdrsiones Bahia, Ltd. Mr. Motta attended the @néity of Hartwick. He is tF
brother of Mr. Stanley Motta. He also serves on ltbards of directors of Motta Internacional, S.BG Financial Group, S./
Inversiones Costa del Este, S.A., ASSA Compafi&elguros, S.A., Petroleos Delta, S.A., Productogdanos, S.A., Financie
Automotriz, S.A., Televisora Nacional, S.A., Horamar Inter-Continental and Industrias Panamat@ugsS.A.

Mr. Douglas Leo has been one of the directors of Copa Holdingsesthe end of 2010. He is Vice President of Pri
and Revenue Management for United Airlines whicbased in Chicago, lllinois. Prior to joining Urdtdirlines in 2005, Mr. Le
was Vice President of Worldwide Sales, Distributanmd the International Division for US Airways aal$o held several positic
during a 17 year career at Northwest Airlines. Bef@ining the aviation industry, Mr. Leo worked &bucheRoss and Pei
Marwick and Mitchell. Mr. Leo has a bachelor's degrfrom Minnesota State Universityankato and is a Certified Puk
Accountant. He has also been a guest lectureedlttean School of Business at M.1.T.

Mr. Joseph Fidanque 1ll has been one of the directors of Copa Airlines esi@006. He is President of Fidan
Hermanos e Hijos, S.A. and Star Contact, Ltd. Hevese on the boards of directors of Multiholding faoration — Paname
Fundacién Filantrépica Fidanque, Colon Import amgdtt and Sky Technologies Network. Mr. Fidanquéde@ B.S. in Economi
from Tufts University.

Mr. Roberto Artavia Loria is one of the independent directors of Copa Holglitiie is Chairman of Viva Trust and V
Services, President of the Fundacion LatinoaméPfioaible in Panama and Costa Rica, Board Membervamitihg professor ¢
INCAE Business School, and Director of MarViva Fdation in Panama. Mr. Artavia Loria is also an advito the governments
five countries in Latin America, and a strategiwviadr to Purdy Motor, S.A., the Panama Canal AutlipCoyol Free Zone ai
Business Park, Grupo Nacion and FUNDESA, amongrattganizations in the region. Mr. Artavia Loriss@alserves on the Board
Directors of the World Resources Institute and Foendation for Management Education in Central Aogerboth in Washingto
Compafiia Cervecera de Nicaragua, OBS Americas staQRica, and IDC of Guatemala.
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Mr. José Castafieda Veleis one of the independent directors of Copa Holslitde is currently director of MMG Ba
Corporation, MMG Trust S.A, and Multibank. PrevibysMr. Castafieda Velez was the chief executiveiceff of Banc
Latinoamericano de Exportaciones, S.ABEADEX and has held managerial and officer levesifions at Banco Rio de la Pl:
Citibank, N.A., Banco de Credito del Peru and Cesdkational Bank. He is a graduate of the UnivgrsftLima.

Mr. Alfredo Arias Loredo is one of the independent directors of Copa Holslitde is the former Executive Presider
Cerveceria Nacional, S.A. Mr. Arias Loredo is a nbemof the Board of Trustees of ANCON (Asociacidmachnal para |
Conservacion de la Naturaleza). Mr. Arias Loredteieed a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering and an M $ndustrial Managemel
both from Georgia Institute of Technology.

The following table sets forth the name, age arsitjpm of each of our executive officers as of MaB9, 2011. A brie
biographical description of each of our executiffecers follows the table.

Name Position Age
Pedro Heilbror Chief Executive Office 52
Victor Vial Chief Financial Officel 45
Daniel Gunr Senior Vice-President of Operatior 43
Leo Marchosky Vice-President of Human Resourc 54
Joe Mohar Vice-President of Commercial and Plann 41
Ahmad Zaman Vice-President of Maintenanc 53
Vidalia de Casad Vice-President of O-Board Service: 53
David Lindskooc Vice-President of Flight Operatiol 60
Peter Dia: Vice-President of Airport Service 44
Glen Bakel Vice-President of Technolog 52
Roberto Junguito Pomk Chief Executive Officer of Copa Colomkt 40

Mr. Pedro Heilbron has been our Chief Executive Officer for 22 ye#is.received an M.B.A. from George Washinc
University and a B.A. from College of the Holy Csodr. Heilbron is the son of Mr. Osvaldo Heilboranmember of our Board
Directors. Mr. Heilbron is a Member of the Board@dvernors of IATA.

Mr. Victor Vial has been our Chief Financial Officer since 2000nt4995 until 2000, Mr. Vial served as our Direadd
Planning. Prior to his service at Copa, Mr. Vialswa Senior Financial Analyst for HBTGme Warner. Mr. Vial holds a B.B.A.
International Business from George Washington Unsitg

Mr. Daniel Gunn has been our Senior Videresident of Operations since February 2009. Rdathis Mr. Gunn ha
served as Vice-President of Commercial and PlanaimtyVicePresident of Planning and Alliances. Prior to joqiCopa in 1999, |
spent five years with American Airlines holding fims in Finance, Real Estate and Alliances. Mun@ received a B.A.
Business & Economics from Wheaton College and aB.M. with an emphasis in Finance and InternatioBasiness from tr
University of Southern California.

Dr. Leo Marchosky has been our Vic@resident of Human Resources since February 208@r&joining Copa, he w
CEO and President of Novartis Mexico and previolmid top management and regional positions wighsgdame company in La
America, Asia and Europe. Dr. Marchosky has a MastdBusiness Administration from the Sao PauloiBess School in Braz
and is also an MD with a specialty in Internal Mzade.

Mr. Joe Mohan has been our Viceresident of Commercial and Planning since FebrR@68. Prior to joining Copa,
was the Senior Vice President of Sales at Amerigard Lease and held several senior positions ati@ortal Airlines. Mr. Moha
received a B.A. in Economics from the University=bdrida and a M.B.A. with an emphasis on stratieggn Georgetown Universit

Mr. Ahmad Zamany joined Copa Airlines in August of 2010 as Vice Rdesat of Technical Operations, ultimat
responsible for the Maintenance, Engineering anchiieal Purchasing of the Company. Mr. Zamany ethhis aviation career w
Pan Am and has held several key roles with othateta. He was previously with Atlas Air & Polar iACargo as Vice President
Technical Operations, and Gemini Air Cargo as SeNiige President and Chief Operating Officer. ManZany graduated frc
Parks College of Saint Louis University with a beldn's degree in Aeronautics concentrated in Aircrafiitmance Engineering
1985.
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Ms. Vidalia de Casadohas been our Vice-President of Bpoard Services since January 2010. She joined @op889
serving as Passenger Services Manager from 198996 and VicdPresident of Passenger Services from 1995 to 2Rdor tc
joining Copa, she spent seven years as Human Resand Service Director with Air Panama Internaalp®.A. Ms. de Casa
received a B.S. in Business from Universidad Latind an M.B.A. from the University of Louisville.

Captain David Lindskoog has been our Viceresident of Flight Operations since 2008. Captaidskoog has worked
the airline industry since 1981, both in line opieregs and in management. Prior to joining Copa &kl Imanagement positions
North American Airlines and ATA Airlines. Captainindskoog received a B.S. in Professional Pilot Tedbgy from Purdu
University.

Mr. Peter Diaz has been our Viceresident of Airport Services since January 20XrRo joining Copa he served
Vice-President of Primeflight Aviation Services and aftsdd regional positions with JetBlue Airways fr&@03 through 2008. t
received a B.S. in Business Administration from EyaRiddle University.

Mr. Glen Baker has been our Viceresident of Technology since March 2011. Prigoising COPA he served as Ct
Information Officer of ATA Airlines from 2001 thragih 2008. He also served in the Government of ti @ilndianapolis.

Mr. Roberto Junguito Pombo joined our company on November 8, 2005 as the Chiefcutive Officer of our Coj
Colombia operating subsidiary. Mr. Junguito presgilguspent two years with Avianca, holding positias the Vice President
Planning, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Redtmiog Officer. Avianca declared bankruptcy in Ma@003. Mr. Junguit
received a B.S. in Industrial Engineering at thévidrsidad de Los Andes, an M.A. in Internationaldis from the Joseph H. Lau
Institute of the University of Pennsylvania andMiB.A. with an emphasis on finance from the Whar8uhool of the University
Pennsylvania.

The business address for all of our senior manageimec/o Copa Airlines, Avenida Principal y Aveaide la Rotond
Urbanizacion Costa del Este, Complejo Business,Famikte Norte, Parque Lefevre Panama City, Panama.

B. Compensation

In 2010, we paid an aggregate of approximately $8lkon in cash compensation to our executive agfs. Although i
2006 we set aside $3.0 million for payment to semanagement related to covenants not to compekeusiin the future, we ha
not set aside any other funds for future paymenexecutive officers.

At the Compensation Committee meeting held in Feébl2 the Chaiman announced members of our Boamirettor:
that are not officers of either Copa or UAL wilkceve an increase of $15,000 per year to $40,00@¢8 plus expenses incurret
attend our Board of Directors meetings. In additimembers of committees of the Board of Directexeive $1,000 per commit!
meeting, with the chairman of the audit committeeeiving $2,000 per meeting of the audit commitédeof the members of ol
Board of Directors and their spouses receive bentfitravel on Copa flights as well.
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Incentive Compensation Program

In 2005, the Compensation Committee of our Boar@®ioéctors eliminated the then existing Long Termtdhtion Pla
and approved a one-time non vested stock bonusdapragram for certain executive officers (the “$tdocentive Plan”).Non
vested stock delivered under the Stock Incentiven Rhay be sourced from treasury stock, or authdrizeissued shares.
March 2006, in accordance with this program, then@ensation Committee of our Board of Directors tgedr935,650 restrict
stock awards. Senior management were granted & H@2 vested stock awards, which vest over fivey@ayearly installmen
equal to 15% of the awarded stock on each of tisetfiree anniversaries of the grant date, 25%eridurth anniversary and 30%
the fifth anniversary. Managers, officers and keypyees, not on our senior management team, weargegl 88,025 non ves!
stock awards which vest on the second anniverdahearant date. In each 2007, 2008, 2009 and 24 Compensation Commit
of our Board of Directors granted 16,955, 73,3743,114 and 52,567 shares of ngsted stock awards, respectively., to ce
named executive officers, which vest over threes/éa yearly installments equal to otierd of the awarded stock on each of
three anniversaries of the grant date. Nlested stock awards were measured at their faieyathich is the same amount for whic
similarly restricted share would be issued to timadty, on the grant date. The fair value of themevested stocks award was $5:
and $22.05, for the 2010, 2009, grants, respegtivel

In March 2007, the Compensation Committee of ouarBoof Directors granted, for the first time, 35/6&quity stoc
options to certain named executive officers, whiekt over three years in yearly installments etmanethird of the awarded sto
on each of the three anniversaries of the grard. ddie exercise price of the options is $53.14,ctvhs the market price of t
Company’s stock at the grant date. The stock opti@mve a contractual term of 10 years.

The weighted-average fair value of the stock optiahthe grant date was $22.33, and was estimaied the Black-
Scholes optiorpricing model assuming an expected dividend yidl@.68%, expected volatility of approximately 37.8%sed o
historical volatility, weighted average rigiee interest rate of 4.59%, and an expected térényears calculated under the simplit
method.

The Compensation Committee plans to make additieqalty based awards under the plan from timent tiincluding
additional non vested stock and stock option awafdsle the Compensation Committee will retain digion to vary the exact teri
of future awards, we anticipate that future empéoy®nvested stock and stock option awards granted potdoathe plan wi
generally vest over a three year period and thekstptions will carry a ten year term.

The total compensation cost recognized for wested stocks and options awards was $4.0 milliwh $4.7 million ir
2010 and 2009, respectively, and was recordeccamponent of “Salaries and benefits” within OperatiExpense.

During first quarter of 2011, the Compensation Cdttem of our Board of Directors approved four netock
compensation plans. Awards were granted under theseplans for approximately 319,000 shares of vested stock awards whi
will vest over a period of three to five years. B&timate the fair value of these awards to be $ifilibn and the compensation ¢
in 2011 to be $7.2 million.

C. Board Practices

Our Board of Directors currently meets quarterlgditionally, informal meetings with UAL are held @m ongoing basi
and are supported by annually formal meetings dfAdlience Steering CommitteeWhich directs and reports on the progress c
Copa and UAL Alliance. Our Board of Directors is@ised on providing our overall strategic directéord as a result is respons
for establishing our general business policiesfandppointing our executive officers and supengsiheir management.

Currently, our Board of Directors is comprised téven members. The number of directors elected gaah alternate
between six directors and five directors. Messeslr® Heilbron, Osvaldo Heilbron, Ricardo A. Ariddark Erwin, Alfredo Aria:
Loredo and Roberto Artavia were each re-electedvworyear terms at our annual shareholderseting held in May 2010. Mess:
Stanley Motta, José Castafieda Velez, Jaime Arilizertd C. Motta Jr., and Joseph Fidanque wereleeted as directors at «
annual shareholdersieeting held on May 4, 2011. In November 2010, Myuglas Leo was elected as director, filling thearzec)
created by the resignation of Mr. Mark Erwin andvaey for the remainder of Mr. Mark Erwin’s term.rivDouglas Lecs electiol
was confirmed at our annual shareholdeng’eting held on May 4, 2011. Our charter does aveha mandatory retirement age
our directors.
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Pursuant to contractual arrangements with us andiS&)] UAL is entitled to designate one of our dimst an
Mr. Douglas Leo is the UAL appointed director.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit Committee. The primary function of the Audit Committee is tes&st the Board of Directors in fulfilling
oversight responsibilities by reviewing:

. the integrity of financial reports and other finaénformation made available to the public or aegulator ¢
governmental body

» the effectiveness of our internal financial contrab risk management systems; the effectivenessrahterna
audit function, the independent audit process dlioly the appointment, retention, compensation,
supervision of the independent auditor;

. the compliance with laws and regulations, as welthee policies and ethical codes established byagemer
and the Board of Director

The Audit Committee is also responsible for impletr® procedures for receiving, retaining and adsireg complain
regarding accounting, internal control and auditingtters, including the submission of confidentaionymous complaints frc
employees regarding questionable accounting otiagdinatters.

Messrs. Jose Castafieda, Roberto Artavia and Alffets, all independent noexecutive directors under the applic:
rules of the New York Stock Exchange, are the eurraembers of the committee, which is chaired by Mse Castafieda.
members are financially literate and Messrs. Jasstafieda and Roberto Artavia have been determinkd tinancial experts by t
Board of Directors.

Compensation Committee.Our Compensation Committee is responsible for #iection process of the Chief Execu
Officer and the evaluation of all executive offis€mcluding the CEO), recommending the level ahpensation and any associc
bonus. The charter of our Compensation Committgaires that all its members shall be rotecutive directors, of which at le
one member will be an independent director underabplicable rules of the New York Stock Excharlgessrs. Stanley Motl
Jaime Arias and José Castafieda are the members @ompensation Committee, and Mr. Stanley Mottthes Chairman of tt
Compensation Committee.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitg
responsible for developing and recommending céatior selecting new directors, overseeing evalaatiaf the Board of Directors,
members and committees of the Board of Directors lsandling other matters that are specifically dated to the compensat
committee by the Board of Directors from time tmeéi Our charter documents require that there beaat one independent mem
of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Commifi&til the first shareholdersieeting to elect directors after such time a:
Class A shares are entitled to full voting rigiessrs. Ricardo Arias, Osvaldo Heilbron and RobArtavia are the members of «
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, kindRicardo Arias is the Chairman of the Nominatiagd Corpora
Governance Committee.

Independent Directors Committee.Our Independent Directors Committee is createduryAaticles of Incorporation at
consists of any directors that the Board of Directdetermines from time to time meet the indepeocéeaquirements of the NY:
rules applicable to audit committee members ofifprerivate issuers. Our Articles of Incorporatiprovide that there will be thr
independent directors at all times, subject toaberexceptions. Under our Articles of Incorporatidghe Independent Directc
Committee must approve:

. any transactions in excess of $5 million betweeandgour controlling shareholde

. the designation of certain primary share issuatftaswill not be included in the calculation of thercentag
ownership pertaining to the Class B shares for gagp of determining whether the Class A sharesldhm
converted to voting shares under our Articles abhporation, an

. the issuance of additional Class B shares ors@ashares to ensure Copa Airlm&ompliance with aviatic
laws and regulation:
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The Independent Directors Committee shall also hewe other powers expressly delegated by the Bo&idirectors
Under the Articles of Incorporation, these poweas only be changed by the Board of Directors actis@ whole upon the writt
recommendation of the Independent Directors ConemitThe Independent Directors Committee will onlgetnregularly until th
first shareholderaneeting at which the Class A shareholders will iiled to vote for the election of directors arfteewards at ar
time that Class C shares are outstanding. All dmtisof the Independent Directors Committee shallvtade by a majority of t
members of the committee. See “ltem 10B. MemorandnthArticles of Association—Description of Capigtbck.”

D. Employees

We believe that our growth potential and the aotreent of our resulteriented corporate goals are directly linked to
ability to attract, motivate and maintain the besifessionals available in the airline businessorbfer to help retain our employe
we encourage open communication channels betwaeengpioyees and management. Our CEO meets quantihhall of our Cop
employees in Panama in town hall-style meetingsnduwhich he explains the compasyperformance and encourages feed
from attendees. A similar presentation is made loysenior executives at each of our foreign statidbur compensation strate
reinforces our determination to retain talented higthly motivated employees and is designed talig interests of our employ:
with our shareholders through profit-sharing.

Approximately 79% of Copa’ employees are located in Panama, while the raénga2l% are distributed among !
foreign stations. Copa’s employees can be categphas follows:

December 31

2008 2009 2010
Pilots 492 52¢ 612
Flight attendant 71¢ 783 94¢
Mechanics 247 24¢ 252
Customer service agents, reservation agents, rachptaet 2,27( 2,14: 2,37¢
Management and cleric 807 1,06¢ 1,20(
Total employee 453t 4,772 5,38¢

Our profitsharing program at Copa reflects our belief thatesaployees will remain dedicated to our succesiself hav
a stake in that success. We identify key perforraatrovers within each employeetontrol as part of our annual objectives pla
“Path to SuccessTypically, we pay bonuses in February based orpediormance during the preceding calendar yearnteanber
of management, 75% of the bonus amount is basediioperformance as a whole and 25% is based oacthievement of individu
goals. Bonuses for non-management employees aedl loesthe compang’performance and payment is typically a multigi¢ha
employees weekly salary. The bonus payments are approvedubycompensation committee. We typically make @aalsr eac
month for the expected annual bonuses which amnoded to actual payments at their dispersal fitst quarter.

We provide training for all of our employees indhgl technical training for our pilots, dispatchefigght attendants ar
other technical staff. In addition, we provide neemt customer service training to frontline staf, well as leadership training
managers. In 2005, we leased a Level B flight sauul for Boeing 73MNext Generation training that served 80% of outiat
training, transition and upgrade training and 108P6ur recurrent training needs relating to thatraift. During 2007, we upgrad
this simulator to provide 100% of our initial traig. In 2008, we leased a similar flight simulator Embraer 190 training that ser
for all of our initial and recurrent training needs
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We generally maintain good relations with our un&rd nondnion employees and have not experienced work atygs
during the past twenty years. Approximately 54%Cafpas employees are unionized. There are currently diviens covering oL
Copa employees in Panama: the pilots’ union (UNRA®E flight attendants’ union (SIPANAB); the meales’ union
(SITECMAP); the traffic attendantsinion (UGETRACO); and a generalized union (SIELAShich represents ground personi
messengers, drivers, counter agents and otheexecutive administrative staff. Copa entered irdtbective bargaining agreemer
with its mechanics’ union in April 2009, its genleaaion in July 2008, its pilots’ union in Novemhb2007 and its flight attendants’
union in March 2010Collective bargaining agreements in Panama typi¢edlve a term of three to four years. Copa recdmtlized
negotiations with UNCAP, where both parties agreedchedule renegotiations for the new collectiaeghining agreements f
September 2011. Renegotiations with Cspgeneral union are expected to take place in 8Sdpme2013. In the event su
negotiations do not lead to a mutually satisfactegolution, the government may require us to enterarbitration proceedings a
agree to terms that are less favorable to us tharexisting agreement. In the event the governmdeets not mandate arbitratic
these negotiations may result in a prolonged desmith our general union. We also have agreemeitts aur Copa employees
Sao Paulo, Brazil. We have traditionally experighgeod relations with our unions, and we generafjiee to terms in line with tt
economic environment affecting Panama, our compautythe airline industry generally.

Copa Colombia’s pilots and flight attendants arpresented by two separate unions. The pilots’ ynksociacior
Colombiana de Aviadores CivileACDAC), represents Copa Colombia’s pilots and dotp. The flight attendantsunion,
Asociacion Colombiana de Auxiliares de Vu(ACAV), represents all of Copa Colombia’s flighteatdants. Copa Colombg&’
entered into a new collective bargaining agreemetit ACDAC on March 3, 2008 and will be effect untune 30, 2011. Typicall
collective bargaining agreements in Colombia atil\far a period of two to four years. Copa Colombias traditionally experienci
good relations with its unions.

E. Share Ownership

The members of our Board of Directors and our etreewfficers as a group own 1.03% of our Classharss. Se
“ltem 7A. Major Shareholders and Related Party $aations.”

For a description of stock options granted to ooeil of Directors and our executive officers, seeCompensation—
Long Term Incentive Compensation Program”.

Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transations
A. Major Shareholders

The following table sets forth information relatitg the beneficial ownership of our Class A sharef December 3.
2010 by each person known to us to beneficially &#nor more of our common shares and all our direcand officers as a grot
Class A shares are limited voting shares entitlaty do vote in certain specified circumstances. Sdem 10B. Additiona
Information — Memorandum and Articles of Associatie- Description of Capital Stock.”

Class A Shares
Beneficially Owned

Shares (%) ©
CIASA @ 0 —
Executive officers and directors as a group (2@qes)“ 334,40° 1.02%
Tempus Quo Capital Management, LL®) 1,912,32 5.2%
Others 30,412,82 93.1%
Total 32,659,55 100%

(1) Based on a total of 32,659,557 Class A sharesandstg.
(2) CIASA owns 100% of the Class B shares of Copa Hhgsli representing 25.1% of our total capital st

(3) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC, datmary 11, 2011, in which Tempus Quo Capital Managnt, LLC. an
certain related parties, reported beneficial owmersf 1,912,323 Class A Shari

(4) Number of shares as of March, 20
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In June 2006, Continental reduced its ownershipusftotal capital stock from 27.3% to 10.0%. In M2308, Continent.
sold down its remaining shares in the public market

CIASA currently owns 100% of the Class B share€opa Holdings, representing all of the voting powE&pur capite
stock. CIASA is controlled by a group of Panamanimrestors representing several prominent familiePanama. This group
investors has historically acted together in aatgrof business activities both in Panama and éieesvin Latin America, includir
banking, insurance, real estate, telecommunicatiotternational trade and commerce and wholesalembkrs of the Mott
Heilbron and Arias families and their affiliatesniedicially own approximately 90% of CIASA’shares. Our Chief Executive Offic
Mr. Pedro Heilbron, and several of our directorgluding Messrs. Stanley Motta and Alberto C. Malta Mr. Osvaldo Heilbro
Mr. Jaime Arias and Mr. Ricardo Alberto Arias agraup hold beneficial ownership of approximatel@$a8f CIASA’s shares.

The holders of more than 78% of the issued andandgg stock of CIASA have entered into a shamrsl agreemer
providing that the parties to the agreement wiltevall of their shares in CIASA together as a graupall matters concerni
CIASA’s holdings of Class B shares. Additionalhhist shareholders’ agreement restricts transfer<CI#SA shares to non-
Panamanian nationals. Messrs. Stanley Motta andrllC. Motta Jr. together exercise effective aamf CIASA. In March 201(
CIASA converted a portion of its Class B shares ih million nonvoting New York Stock Exchange listed Class A shaed sol
such Class A shares in a SEC registered publigioffeAs a result, CIASA “s ownership decreaseanfi20.2% to 25.1% of o
capital stock. In the event CIASA seeks to redts@ivnership below 10% of our total share capdat, independent directors rr
decide to issue special voting shares solely toaPamian nationals to maintain the ownership requérgs mandated by t
Panamanian Aviation Act.

The address of CIASA is Corporacion de Inversiohémeas, S.A., c/o Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, Boulevart
Costa del Este, Avenida Principal y Avenida de tstdRda, Urbanizacién Costa del Este, Complejo BassinPark, Torre Nor
Parque Lefevre, Panama City, Panama. The addreSsriinental is Continental Airlines, Inc., 1600 i8mStreet, Houston, Tex
77002.

B. Related Party and Certain Significant Transactims
Supplemental Agreement

Copa Holdings is a party to a supplemental agreemgth CIASA and Continental entered into in contiee with
Continental’'s May 2008 offering of our shares. Tdwplemental agreement terminates the shareholdgreement between 1
Company, CIASA and Continental that existed prmiContinentals exit and further amends the amended and restaggstratiol
rights agreement between the parties. Pursuattetsupplemental agreement, UAL has the right towip@ member of its sen
management to our Board of Directors during thetef our alliance agreement with Continental.

Registration Rights Agreement

Under the registration rights agreement, as amehgiétle supplemental agreement, CIASA continudsatee the right 1
make one demand on us with respect to the reg@iraind sale of our common stock held by them. fdgstration expens
incurred in connection with the demand registratiequested after the date hereof, which expensdadecunderwriting discour
and commissions, will be paid ratably by each dgctolder participating in such offering in propion to the number of their sha
that are included in the offering.
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Commercial Agreements with UAL

Our alliance relationship with UAL is governed bgveral interrelated agreements between Copa and. Bath of th
agreements as amended and restated will expireupdy three yearsiritten notice by one of the airlines to the oth&hjch ma
not be given before May 2012. Other events of teatidn are set forth in the descriptions of theanajliancerelated agreements
forth below.

Alliance AgreementJnder our alliance agreement with UAL, both ensiteggree to continue their codesharing relatior
with extensions as they feel are appropriate angddik to maintain our antitrust immunity with theOD. In order to support tl
codesharing relationship, the alliance agreemestt ebntains provisions mandating a continued fregtlger relationship betwe:
the airlines, setting minimum levels of quality sérvice for the airlines and encouraging coopematio marketing and oth
operational initiatives. UAL and Copa are prohitlitey the alliance agreement from entering into camuial agreements with cert.
classes of competing airlines, and the agreementires both parties to include each other, as igadule, in their commerci
relationships with other airlines. Other than byieation as described above, the agreement istatstinable by an airline in ca:
of, among other things, uncured material breacHethe alliance agreement by the other airline, baptcy of the other airlin
termination of the services agreement for breacthbyother airline, termination of the frequenefiyarticipation agreement withs
entering into a successor agreement by the othkémeqicertain competitive activities, certain cgas of control of either of tl
parties and certain significant operational serféleires by the other airline.

Services Agreemernitinder the services agreement, both entities agrgedvide to each other certain services ove
course of the agreement at the providing casgiencremental cost, subject to certain limitatioB&rvices covered under
agreement include consolidating purchasing poweedoiipment purchases and insurance coveragenghmanagement informati
systems, pooling maintenance programs and invemt@yagement, joint training and employee exchangesing the benefits
other purchase contracts for goods and servickegommmunications and other services. Other thaaxXpjration as described abo
the agreement is also terminable by a party inccaeamong other things, uncured material breaoh#se alliance agreement by
other party , bankruptcy of the other party , tevamion of the services agreement for breach byother party , termination of t
frequent flyer participation agreement without eimg into a successor agreement by the other martertain changes of control
either of the parties and certain significant ofierel service failures by the other airline.

Frequent Flyer Participation Agreemendnder the frequent flyer participation agreemers, participate in Continental’
OnePass frequent flyer global program and on braaded basis in Latin America. Customers in tlog@am receive credit for flyir
on segments operated by us, which can be redeammeavéird travel on our flights and those of othantqer airlines. The agreem
also governs joint marketing agreements under tbgram, settlement procedures between the airmesrevenueharing unde
bank card affinity relationships. Further, if thendces agreement is terminated or expires, thepeosation structure of the frequ
flyer program will be revised to be comparable tioeo of Continentat frequent flyer relationships. We also have tgétrunder th
agreement to participate on similar terms in angceasor program operated by Continental. Other byaexpiration as describ
above, the agreement is also terminable by a partyases of, among other things, uncured mater@hdhes of the allian
agreement by the other party , bankruptcy of themwoparty , termination of the services agreementfeach by the other part
termination of the frequent flyer participation agment without entering into a successor agreetmerihe other airline, certe
changes of control of either of the parties andaiersignificant operational service failures by thther party. After the merger
United and Continental airlines, Continental andt&thairlines have maintained their individual foeqt flyer programs “One Pass”
and “Mileage Plus”respectively. While eventually the two airlines mayify their frequent flyer programs, there is dsyet nc
concrete plan to do so.

Trademark License Agreemehinder the trademark license agreement, we haveighéto use a logo incorporating
design that is similar to the design of the new UAgo. We also have the right to use Continenttade dress, aircraft livery &
certain other Continental marks under the agreethentallow us to more closely align our overabbguct with our alliance partn
The trademark license agreement is coterminous thwéhalliance agreement and can also be termirfatdateach. In most cases,
will have a period of five years after terminatitlncease to use the marks on our aircraft, with tese provided for signage &
other uses of the marks or in cases where the mgrds terminated for a breach by us.
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Agreements with our controlling shareholders and tleir affiliates

Our directors and controlling shareholders have ymather commercial interests within Panama anduttnout Latir
America. We have commercial relationships with salvef these affiliated parties from which we puash goods or services,
described below. In each case we believe our tctiosas with these affiliated parties are at arteagth and on terms that we beli
reflect prevailing market rates.

Banco General, S.A.

We have a strong commercial banking relationshiin Banco General, S.A., a Panamanian bank pariaiiyed by ot
controlling shareholders. We have obtained finagndiom Banco General under short to meditemm financing arrangements
part of the commercial loan tranche of one of tleen@any’s Exportmport Bank facilities. We also maintain generakb of cred
and time deposit accounts with Banco General Istgsgayments to Banco General totaled $1.0 millind 8.2 million in 2010 ar
2009, respectively, and interest received from BaBGeneral amounted to $ 0.1 million and $0.4 millend in 2010 and 20(
respectively. The outstanding debt balance at Dbee®il amounted to $ 1.5 million and $2.3 millior2010 and 2009 respective
These amounts are included in “Current maturitidemg-term debt” and “Long-term debiti the consolidated statement of finan
position

ASSA Compalfiia de Seguros, S.A.

Panamanian law requires us to maintain our insergaticies through a local insurance company. \Wee laontracte
with ASSA, an insurance company controlled by amtmlling shareholders, to provide substantiallyofiour insurance. ASSA he¢
in turn, reinsured almost all of the risks undersh policies with insurance companies around thédwdhe net payment to ASS
after taking into account the reinsurance of thesdes, is approximately $30,000 per year.

Petrdleos Delta, S.A.

During 2005, we entered into a contract with PewélDelta, S.A. to supply our jet fuel needs. Theepagreed to und
this contract is based on the two week averagdefd.S. Gulf Coast Waterborne Mean index plus |oasés, certain thirgharty
handling charges and a handling charge to Delta. ddntract has a one year term that automaticafigws for one year peric
unless terminated by one of the parties. Whileamntrolling shareholders do not hold a controlleguity interest in Petréleos De
S.A., several of our directors are also board membePetréleos Delta, S.A. Payments to PetréleelsaDotaled $170.7 million
2010, $116.1 million in 2009.

Desarollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A.

During January 2006, we moved into our recentlystrcted new headquarters located six miles away ffocume
International Airport. We lease five floors consigt of approximately 104,000 square feet of thelddgy from Desaroll
Inmobiliario del Este, S.A., an entity controlleg the same group of investors that controls CIA8#der a 10rear lease at a rate
$0.1 million per month, which we believe to be arkearate. Payments to Desarrollo Inmobiliario Bete, S.A. totaled $ 2.0 milli
and $1.9 million in 2010 and 2009 respectively.

Galindo, Arias & Lopez
Most of our legal work is carried out by the lawnfi Galindo, Arias & Lopez. Messrs. Jaime Arias &idardo Albert

Arias, partners of Galindo, Arias & Lopez, are medi shareholders of CIASA and serve on our BodrBimectors. Payments
Galindo, Arias & Lopez totaled $0.6 million and &@nillion in 2010 and 2009 respectively.
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Other Transactions

We also purchase most of the alcohol and someeobtiier beverages served on our aircraft from Maternacional, S./
and Global Brands, S.A., both of which are conglby our controlling shareholders. We do not heawe formal contracts for the
purchases, but pay wholesale prices based on fiste periodically submitted by those importers. Waid approximate
$0.8 million in 2010, $0.6 million in 2009 in thesatities.

Our telecommunications services have been provige@elecarrier. Some of the controlling sharehddsr CIASA hav
a controlling interest in Telecarrier. Payment3 éecarrier totaled $0.7 million, and $0.9 million2010, and 2009 respectively.

The advertising agency that we use in Panama, RoD&z Publicidad (RDP), is owned by the brothetaw of our chie
executive officer. Gross invoices for all servigesrformed through RDP totaled $0.6 million, $1.0lio in 2010, and 20C
respectively.

We have received services from Call Center Corpmrat call center that operates one of CepaSservations and sa
services and handles calls from Panama as well aosét other countries to which Copa flies. Onewf directors, Joseph Fidant
I, is one of the owners of this call center. Pays to Call Center Corporation totaled $3.8 millend $3.3 million in 2010 a
2009, respectively.

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel
Not applicable.
Item 8. Financial Information
A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Infonation
See “Item 3. Key Information—Selected Financial®and “Iltem 18. Financial Statements.”
Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, we areyptrtvarious legal actions, which we believe areidantal to th
operation of our business. While legal proceedengsinherently uncertain, we believe that the omte®f the proceedings to wh
we are currently a party is not likely to have atenial adverse effect on our financial positiorsuiés of operations and cash flo
The Antitrust Administrative Agency (Comisién debké Competencia y Asuntos del Consumidor, or CLIGAGgether with
group of travel agencies, has filed an antitrusisisit against Copa, Continental, American Airlin€aca and Delta Airlines in t
Panamanian Commercial Tribunal alleging monopaligtiactices in reducing travel agentmmissions. The outcome of t
lawsuit is still uncertain and may take severalrge®/e believe that in the worst scenario theradicould be required to pay uj
$20 million. In addition, ACES, a nodefunct Colombian airline, filed an antitrust lawsagainst Copa, Avianca and SAM, allec
monopolistic practices in relation to their coslearing agreements. The court of first instanceduh favor of Copa, but t
defendant has appealed the decision and it ismilyreeing reviewed by the superior court. Thisecasuld take several years tc
resolved. If Copa, Avianca and/or SAM were foundaalit and in breach of antitrust legislation, thenuld be potentially liable f
up to $11 million.

Dividends and Dividend Policy

The payment of dividends on our shares is subgethé discretion of our Board of Directors. UndanBmanian law, v
may pay dividends only out of retained earnings eapital surplus. So long as we do not defaultun gayments under our Ic
agreements, there are no covenants or other temtdcon our ability to declare and pay dividen@sir Articles of Incorporatic
provide that all dividends declared by our Boardokctors will be paid equally with respect to afithe Class A and Class B sha
See “Item 10B. Additional Information—Memorandundafirticles of Association—Description of Capitab8k—Dividends.”

69




Table of Contents

Effective February 10, 2010, our dividend policloals the Board of Directors to provide our sharded with a dividen
payment in an amount ranging from 10% to 20% of aumual consolidated net income to be declaredusaeaonual shareholders’
meeting and paid shortly thereafter. Our Board m&&ors may, in its sole discretion and for angs@n, amend or discontinue
dividend policy. Our Board of Directors may chartige level of dividends provided for in this dividkepolicy or entirely discontint
the payment of dividends. Future dividends wittpezs to shares of our common stock, if any, wilbeled on, among other thin
our results of operations, cash requirements, Gi@hncondition, contractual restrictions, busineggportunities, provisions
applicable law and other factors that our Boar®éctors may deem relevant.

On May 5, 2010, our Board of Directors declared aamual dividend of $1.09 per share payable June03p tc
shareholders of record as of May 31, 2010 whichesgnted an aggregate dividend payment of $471®BmilOn May 6, 2009, o
Board of Directors declared an annual dividend®B8$ per share payable June 15, 2009 to sharebafleecord as of May 30, 20
which represented an aggregate dividend paymeitl6f3 million. On May 7, 2008, our Board of Diretadeclared an annt
dividend of $0.37 per share payable June 15, 260éhareholders of record as of May 30, 2008 whagrasented an aggrec
dividend payment of $16.2 million.

B. Significant Changes
None

Item 9. The Offer and Listing

A. Offer and Listing Details

Our Class A shares have been listed on the New “&tdck Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “CPdice
December 14, 2005. The following table sets fofth,the periods indicated, the high and low prié@sthe Class A shares on
NYSE for the periods indicate

Low High

2006

Annual 20.31 49.0¢

2007

Annual 30.2¢ 73.3¢

2008

Annual 18.0C 43.6¢

2009

Annual 20.3¢ 56.7¢
First quartel 20.3¢ 33.1(
Second quarte 27.2C 42.17
Third quartet 38.1¢ 46.7(
Fourth quarte 40.0C 56.7¢

2010

Annual 42.0¢ 63.0¢
First quartel 47.7¢€ 61.74
Second quarte 43.5¢ 63.0¢
Third quarte! 42.6( 55.9¢
Fourth quarte 46.97 59.0¢

Last Six Months
November 201! 49.04 56.62
December 201 55.62 59.0¢
January 201 55.8¢ 59.92
February 201: 50.9¢ 58.5(
March 2011 56.01 58.5(
April 2011 49.5¢ 55.2¢

B. Plan of Distribution

Not applicable.
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C. Markets

Our Class A shares have been listed on the NYSEruheé symbol “CPA’since December 14, 2005. Our Class B sh
are not listed on any exchange and are not pultiialyed. We are subject to the NYSE corporate gmarere listing standards. T
NYSE requires that corporations with shares ligtedhe exchange comply with certain corporate guaece standards. As a forei
private issuer, we are only required to comply vaéintain NYSE rules relating to audit committeed aeriodic certifications to th
NYSE. The NYSE also requires that we provide a samrof the significant differences between our cogpe governance practic
and those that would apply to a U.S. domestic isshkease refer to “ltem 16 G. Corporate Governarioe a summary of th
significant differences between our corporate goaece practices and those that would typically yppla U.S. domestic issu
under the NYSE corporate governance rules.

D. Selling Shareholders
Not applicable.
E. Dilution
Not applicable.
F. Expenses of the Issue
Not applicable.
Item 10. Additional Information
A. Share Capital
Not applicable.
B. Memorandum and Articles of Association
Copa Holdings was formed on May 6, 1998 as a cator (sociedad anénimagiuly incorporated under the laws
Panama with an indefinite duration. The Registiantegistered under Public Document No. 3.989 ofy[8a1998 of the Notar

Number Eight of the Circuit of Panama and recorttethe Public Registry Office, Microfilm (Mercarg) Section, Microjacke
344962, Film Roll 59672, Frame 0023.

Objects and Purposes

Copa Holdings is principally engaged in the investimin airlines and aviatiorelated companies and ventures, althc
our Articles of Incorporation grant us general posvid engage in any other lawful business, whethemot related to any of tt
specific purposes set forth in the Articles of Irparation.

Description of Capital Stock

The following is a summary of the material termsGafpa Holdings capital stock and a brief summary of cer
significant provisions of Copa Holding'Articles of Incorporation. This description comtsall material information concerning tt
common stock but does not purport to be completeaBditional information regarding the common dtpoeference is made to tl
Articles of Incorporation, a copy of which has bdiged as an exhibit to thiForm 20-F .

For purposes of this section only, reference tor"aar “the company” shall refer only to Copa Holdings and referen
to “Panamanians”shall refer to those entities or natural personattare considered Panamanian nationals under thedPa@aniar
Aviation Act, as it may be amended or interpre

Common Stock

Our authorized capital stock consists of 80 millghrares, of common stock without par value, divioiéd Class A share
Class B shares and Class C shares. As of Decerib@030, we had 32,659,557 Class A shares issuk838,125 Class B shar
issued and outstanding, and no Class C sharesndist). Class A and Class B shares have the saonermdc rights and privilege
including the right to receive dividends, exceptlascribed in this section.
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Class A Shares

The holders of the Class A shares are not entitledote at our shareholdersieetings, except in connection with
following specific matters:

. a transformation of Copa Holdings into another ooage type
. a merger, consolidation or s-off of Copa Holdings

. a change of corporate purpo

. voluntarily delisting Class A shares from the NY¢

. approving the nomination of Independent Directwominated by our board of directsrNominating and Corpor:
Governance Committee following our next annual gainghareholders meeting; a

. any amendment to the foregoing special voting mions adversely affecting the rights and privilegkthe Class .
shares

At least 30 days prior to taking any of the actitisted above, we must give notice to the Classnd @lass B shareholders of
intention to do so. If requested by shareholdepsasenting at least 5% of our outstanding shahesBbard of Directors shall call
extraordinary shareholders’ meeting to approve adtton. At the extraordinary shareholdemseting, shareholders representil
majority of all of the outstanding shares must appra resolution authorizing the proposed actiam.gech purpose, every holde
our shares is entitled to one vote per share. Se®tfareholders Meetings.”

The Class A shareholders will acquire full votirights, entitled to one vote per Class A share dbmatters upon whic
shareholders are entitled to vote, if in the futowe Class B shares ever represent fewer than ¥afre dotal number of shares of |
common stock and the Independent Directors Comenitieall have determined that such additional votigéts of Class.
shareholders would not cause a triggering eveetned to below. In such event, the right of thes§IA shareholders to vote on
specific matters described in the preceding papgweill no longer be applicable. The 10% threshiddcribed in the first senter
of this paragraph will be calculated without givieffect to any newly issued shares sold with thpraal of the Independe
Directors Committee.

At such time, if any, as the Class A shareholderguime full voting rights, the Board of Directorhadl call ar
extraordinary shareholdensieeting to be held within 90 days following theadas of which the Class A shares are entitled te ot
all matters at our shareholders’ meetings. At tkieaerdinary shareholdersheeting, the shareholders shall vote to electlalles
members of the Board of Directors in a slate recemted by the Nominating and Governance Committee.té&rms of office of tt
directors that were serving prior to the extracadynshareholders’ meeting shall terminate uporetietion held at that meeting.

Class B Shares

Every holder of Class B shares is entitled to oo \per share on all matters for which shareholdezsentitled to vot
Class B shares will be automatically converted {@Dkass A shares upon the registration of trandfeuoh shares to holders which
not Panamanian as described below under “—Restngtbn Transfer of Common Stock; Conversion of CBShares.”

Class C Shares

Upon the occurrence and during the continuancetofgering event described below in “—Auviation Rtg Protections,”
the Independent Directors Committee of our Boar@ioéctors, or the Board of Directors as a wholagplicable, are authorized
issue Class C shares to the Class B holders padrradroportion to such Class B holdeosinership of Copa Holdings. The Clas
shares will have no economic value and will notria@sferable except to Class B holders, but wilgess such voting rights as
Independent Directors Committee shall deem necgssansure the effective control of the companyPlaypamanians. The Clas
shares will be redeemable by the company at sueé &s the Independent Directors Committee detesrtimat such a triggeril
event shall no longer be in effect. The Class Ceshwiill not be entitled to any dividends or angieteconomic rights.
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Restrictions on Transfer of Common Stock; Convensiof Class B Share

The Class B shares may only be held by Panamaraadsiipon registration of any transfer of a ClashBre to a hold
that does not certify that it is Panamanian, sules<B share shall automatically convert into as€la share. Transferees of Clas
shares will be required to deliver to us writtemtifieation of their status as a Panamanian asralition to registering the transfer
them of Class B shares. Class A shareholders willbe required or entitled to provide such cetdifion. If a Class B sharehol
intends to sell any Class B shares to a persorhtimhot delivered a certification as to Panamané&ionality and immediately aff
giving effect to such proposed transfer the outliten Class B shares would represent less than 10%um outstanding stou
(excluding newly issued shares sold with the apgiro¥ our Independent Directors Committee), thdirsglshareholder mushform
the Board of Directors at least ten days prior uohstransfer. The Independent Directors Committes whetermine to refuse
register the transfer if the Committee reasonabhctudes, on the basis of the advice of a repuktiernal aeronautical counsel, -
such transfer would be reasonably likely to cauéygering event as described below. After thetfehareholdersheeting at whic
the Class A shareholders are entitled to voteterdlection of our directors, the role of the Ineleglent Directors described in
preceding sentence shall be exercised by the é3wmed of Directors acting as a whole.

Also, the Board of Directors may refuse to registéransfer of stock if the transfer violates angvsion of the Articles ¢
Incorporation.

Tag-along Rights

Our Board of Directors may refuse to register amndfer of shares in which CIASA proposes to sélis€B share
pursuant to a sale at a price per share that mtegr¢han the average public trading price pereslo@rthe Class A shares for
preceding 30 days to an unrelated third partywuwaild, after giving effect to such sale, have tigatrto elect a majority of the Boe
of Directors and direct our management and policiesess the proposed purchaser agrees to makeomptly as possible, a puk
offer for the purchase of all outstanding ClasshAres and Class B shares at a price per sharetecthal price per share paid for
shares being sold by CIASA. While our Articles ntorporation provide limited rights to holders afrdClass A shares to sell tr
shares at the same price as CIASA in the eventitsate of Class B shares by CIASA results in tirelpaser having the right to el
a majority of our board, there are other changeootrol transactions in which holders of our Classhares would not have the ri
to participate, including the sale of interestsabparty that had previously acquired Class B shizoes CIASA, the sale of intere!
by another party in conjunction with a sale by CRA$he sale by CIASA of control to more than onetpeaor the sale of controllir
interests in CIASA itself.

Aviation Rights Protection:

As described in “Regulation—Panam#ije Panamanian Aviation Act, including the relatlstrees and regulations, i
the bilateral treaties between Panama and othertiges that allow us to fly to those countries rieguhat Panamanians exer¢
“effective control” of Copa and maintain “signifiseownership”of the airline. The Independent Directors Committe®e certai
powers under our Articles of Incorporation to emsthtat certain levels of ownership and control op& Holdings remain in tl
hands of Panamanians upon the occurrence of ceriggrering events referred to below.
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In the event that the Class B shareholders reprdses than 10% of the total share capital of tomgany (excludin
newly issued shares sold with the approval of autependent Directors Committee) and the IndepenDé@etctors Committe
determines that it is reasonably likely that Copar'<Copa Holdingslegal ability to engage in the aviation businessooexercise i
international route rights will be revoked, suspsthdr materially inhibited in a manner which woutdterially and adversely aff
the company, in each case as a result of suchPaoamanian ownership (each a triggering event),Infdependent Directc
Committee may take either or both of the followaddions:

. authorize the issuance of additional Class B shar€anamanians at a price determined by the Imakepe: Director
to reflect the current market value of such share

. authorize the issuance to Class B shareholders suchber of Class C shares as the Independent Dig
Committee, or the Board of Directors if applicabtksems necessary and with such other terms andtioms
established by the Independent Directors Committaedo not confer economic rights on the Clast&es.

Dividends

The payment of dividends on our shares is subgethé discretion of our Board of Directors. UndanBmanian law, v
may pay dividends only out of retained earnings eaquital surplus. Our Articles of Incorporation pide that all dividends declar
by our Board of Directors will be paid equally witespect to all othe Class A and Class B shares. Our Board of RQiredta
adopted a dividend policy that provides for the rpapmt of annual dividends, which range from 20% @%3of our annui
consolidated net income to Class A and Class Beslwddlers. Our Board of Directors may, in its sakziktion and for any reas:
amend or discontinue the dividend policy. Our Boafdirectors may change the level of dividendsvited for in this dividen
policy or entirely discontinue the payment of disiuls.

Shareholder Meeting:
Ordinary Meetings

Our Articles of Incorporation require us to hold @wlinary annual meeting of shareholders withinftrst five months c
each fiscal year. The ordinary annual meeting afalolders is the corporate body that elects trerdof Directors, approves |
annual financial statements of Copa Holdings angr@amges any other matter that does not require ara@xlinary shareholders’
meeting. Shareholders representing at least 5%eofssued and outstanding common stock entitlest® may submit proposals
be included in such ordinary shareholders meefimyided the proposal is submitted at least 45 ¢aigs to the meeting.

Extraordinary Meetings

Extraordinary meetings may be called by the Bodrdioectors when deemed appropriate. Ordinary axtdaerdinan
meetings must be called by the Board of Directohemrequested by shareholders representing at 3éasif the issued shal
entitled to vote at such meeting. Only matters tzate been described in the notice of an extraardimeeting may be dealt with
that extraordinary meeting.

Vote required

Resolutions are passed at shareholders meetinte @affirmative vote of a majority of those shagesitled to vote at su
meeting and present or represented at the meeting.

Notice and Location

Notice to convene the ordinary annual meeting draexdinary meeting is given by publication in aast one nation
newspaper in Panama and at least one national apesmvidely read in New York City not less thandzys in advance of t
meeting. We intend to publish such official notices national journal recognized by the NYSE.

Shareholders’ meetings are to be held in Pananya Ratnama unless otherwise specified by the Boabdrectors.
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Quorum

Generally, a quorum for a shareholdemseeting is established by the presence, in persdsy @roxy, of shareholde
representing a simple majority of the issued shaligéble to vote on any actions to be consideresuah meeting. If a quorum is r
present at the first meeting and the original mofmr such meeting so provides, the meeting caimibgediately reconvened on t
same day and, upon the meeting being reconvenadetsbiders present or represented at the reconveeeting are deemed
constitute a quorum regardless of the percentagleecghares represented.

Proxy Representation

Our Articles of Incorporation provide that, for kmg as the Class A shares do not have full vatigigts, each holder, k
owning our Class A shares, grants a general proxthé Chairman of our Board of Directors or anysperdesignated by o
Chairman to represent them and vote their shardba@nbehalf at any shareholderseeting, provided that due notice was mad
such meeting and that no specific proxy revokingeplacing thegeneral proxy has been received from such holder pv the
meeting in accordance with the instructions proditlg the notice.

Other Shareholder Rights

As a general principle, Panamanian law bars thenityajof a corporatiors shareholders from imposing resolutions wi
violate its articles of incorporation or the lawndagrants any shareholder the right to challengthinv30 days, any shareholders’
resolution that is illegal or that violates itsielgs of incorporation or bjaws, by requesting the annulment of said resatuéind/ot
the injunction thereof pending judicial decisionindrity shareholders representing at least 5% loisaled and outstanding sha
have the right to require a judge to call a shdddre’ meeting and to appoint an independent auditor geeyito examine th
corporate accounting books, the background of timepany’s incorporation or its operation.

Shareholders have no pre-emptive rights on theistnew shares.

Our Articles of Incorporation provide that directowrill be elected in staggered twear terms, which may have the eff
of discouraging certain changes of control.

Listing

Our Class A shares are listed on the NYSE undesyhgbol “CPA.” The Class B shares and Class C shares will n
listed on any exchange unless the Board of Direaietermines that it is in the best interest ofati@mpany to list the Class B sha
on the Panama Stock Exchange.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our Class &resh is Mellon Investor Services LLC. Until the Bdbaf Directors
otherwise provides, the transfer agent for our €Bishares and any Class C shares is Galindo, &riaspez which maintains th
share register for each class in Panama. TransfeZass B shares must be accompanied by a catidit of the transferee that st
transferee is Panamanian.

Summary of Significant Differences between Sharetiets’ Rights and Other Corporate Governance Matters Und@namanian
Corporation Law and Delaware Corporation Law

Copa Holdings is a Panamanian corporation (sociadédima). The Panamanian corporation law wasrailyi modelec
after the Delaware General Corporation Law. As sachny of the provisions applicable to Panamaniah Relaware corporatiot
are substantially similar, including (1) a dire¢sfiduciary duties of care and loyalty to the cagimn, (2) a lack of limits on tr
number of terms a person may serve on the boardirettors, (3) provisions allowing shareholdersvime by proxy ani
(4) cumulative voting if provided for in the aréd of incorporation. The following table highligtttee most significant provisiot
that materially differ between Panamanian corporakaw and Delaware corporation law.
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Panama

Delaware

Directors

Conflict of Interest TransactionsTransactions involving a
Panamanian corporation and an interested directofficer
are initially subject to the approval of the boafdlirectors.

At the next shareholders’ meeting, shareholderstiagin
have the right to disapprove the board of dire¢tesision
and to decide to take legal actions against thectiirs or
officers who voted in favor of the transactit

Terms. Panamanian law does not set limits on the leafjth
the terms that a director may serve. Staggeredstarm
allowed but not required.

Number. The board of directors must consist of a minimum
of three members, which could be natural personesgad
entities.

Authority to take Action. In general, a simple majority of
the board of directors is necessary and suffidietake any
action on behalf of the board of directc

Conflict of Interest TransactionsTransactions involving a
Delaware corporation and an interested directahatf corporatior
are generally permitted i

(1) the material facts as to the interested dirztelationship or
interest are disclosed and a majority of disinteslirectors
approve the transaction;

(2) the material facts are disclosed as to theésted director’s
relationship or interest and the stockholders apptbe
transaction; o

(3) the transaction is fair to the corporationteg time it is
authorized by the board of directors, a committeth® board of
directors or the stockholdel

Terms. The Delaware General Corporation Law generally
provides for a one-year term for directors. Howettee
directorships may be divided into up to three @assith up to
three-year terms, with the years for each clasgiegpn different
years, if permitted by the articles of incorporatian initial bylaw
or a by-law adopted by the shareholde

Number. The board of directors must consist of a mininafrone
member.

Authority to take Action. The articles of incorporation or by-laws
can establish certain actions that require thea@piof more than
a majority of directors

Shareholder Meetings and Voting Rights

Quorum. The quorum for shareholder meetings must be set Quorum. For stock corporations, the articles of incorpioraor

by the articles of incorporation or the laws. If the article:
of incorporation and the notice for a given meesog
provide, if quorum is not met a new meeting can be
immediately called and quorum shall consist of ¢hos
present at such new meetil

bylaws may specify the number to constitute a guobuit in no
event shall a quorum consist of less than one-tifichares
entitled to vote at a meeting. In the absence ol specifications,
a majority of shares entitled to vote shall congtita quorum.
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Panama

Delaware

Action by Written Consel. Panamanian law does not
permit shareholder action without formally calliag
meeting.

Action by Written Consel. Unless otherwise provided in the
articles of incorporation, any action required errpitted to be
taken at any annual meeting or special meetingogkbolders of
corporation may be taken without a meeting, withmidr notice
and without a vote, if a consent or consents intimgj setting fortt
the action to be so taken, is signed by the holdkeositstanding
shares having not less than the minimum numbeotafsvthat
would be necessary to authorize or take such aatianmeeting at
which all shares entitled to vote thereon weregmeand notec

Other Shareholder Rights

Shareholder ProposalsShareholders representing 5% of
the issued and outstanding capital of the corpamaiave
the right to require a judge to call a general shalders’
meeting and to propose the matters for vote.

Appraisal Rights. Shareholders of Panamanian corporation
do not have the right to demand payment in casheof
judicially determined fair value of their sharesconnectior
with a merger or consolidation involving the corgton.
Nevertheless, in a merger, the majority of shadrs

could approve the total or partial distributioncafh,

instead of shares, of the surviving entity.

Shareholder Derivative ActionsAny shareholder, with the
consent of the majority of the shareholders, canosu
behalf of the corporation, the directors of tweporation fo
a breach of their duties of care and loyalty todbgporatior
or a violation of the law, the articles of incorption or the
by-laws.

Inspection of Corporate Recor. Shareholders
representing at least 5% of the issued and outistgusthare
of the corporation have the right to require a pitly
appoint an independent auditor to examine the catpo
accounting books, the background of the company’s
incorporation or its operatio

Shareholder ProposalsDelaware law does not specifically grant
shareholders the right to bring business beforararual or special
meeting. If a Delaware corporation is subject ® $£C’s proxy
rules, a shareholder who owns at least $2,000 mkehaalue, or
1% of the corporation’s securities entitled to yotey propose a
matter for a vote at an annual or special meetiraccordance
with those rules

Appraisal Right:. Delaware law affords shareholders in certain
cases the right to demand payment in cash of dieiglly-
determined fair value of their shares in connectidith a merger
or consolidation involving their corporation. Hovezyno
appraisal rights are available if, among otherdghiand subject to
certain exceptions, such shares were listed onianah securities
exchange or designated national market systemaotbr shares
were held of record by more than 2,000 hold

Shareholder Derivative ActionsSubject to certain requirements
that a shareholder make prior demand on the bdattextors or
have an excuse not to make such demand, a shagelnwdgy bring
a derivative action on behalf of the corporatiortdorce the
rights of the corporation against officers, direstand third
parties. An individual may also commence a clagsmasuit on
behalf of himself and other similarly-situated stioclders if the
requirements for maintaining a class action undemelaware
General Corporation Law have been met. Subjeafjtitable
principles, a three-year period of limitations gextlg applies to
such shareholder suits against officers and dirsc

Inspection of Corporate Recor. A shareholder may inspect or
obtain copies of a corporatianshareholder list and its other bo
and records for any purpose reasonably relatepyson’s
interest as a shareholder.
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Panama

Delaware

Anti-takeover Provisions

Panamanian corporations may include in their agiclf
incorporation or by-laws classified board and supejority
provisions.

Panamanian corporation law’s anti-takeover provisio
apply only to companies that are:

(1) registered with the CNV for a period of six ntios
before the public offering,

(2) have over 3,000 shareholders, and

(3) have a permanent office in Panama with fulletim
employees and investments in the country for muae t
$1,000,000

These provisions are triggered when a buyer malkegkc
offer to acquire 5% or more of any class of sharis a
market value of at least $5,000,000. In sum, theebmust
deliver to the corporation a complete and accusttemen
that includes

(1) the name of the company, the number of theeshiduat
the buyer intends to acquire and the purchase;price

(2) the identity and background of the person aaugithe
shares;

(3) the source and amount of the funds or othedgdioat
will be used to pay the purchase price;

(4) the plans or project the buyer has once itdtasired
the control of the company;

(5) the number of shares of the company that tlyebu
already has or is a beneficiary of and those ovinyeany of
its directors, officers, subsidiaries, or partnarshe same,
and any transactions made regarding the sharés ilast
60 days;

(6) contracts, agreements, business relationsgotiations
regarding securities issued by the company in wttieh
buyer is a party;

(7) contract, agreements, business relations artizdpns
between the buyer and any director, officer or fieizey of
the securities; and

(8) any other significant information. This decléwa will
be accompanied by, among other things, a copyeof th
buyer's financial statement

Delaware corporations may have a classified baanpermajority
voting and shareholders’ rights plan.

Unless Delaware corporations specifically electothse,
Delaware corporations may not enter into a “busines
combination,” including mergers, sales and leasessets,
issuances of securities and similar transactioitk, an “interested
stockholder,” or one that beneficially owns 15%mare of a
corporation’s voting stock, within three years o€l person
becoming an interested shareholder unless:

(1) the transaction that will cause the personettoime an
interested shareholder is approved by the boadirectors of the
target prior to the transactions;

(2) after the completion of the transaction in whilke person
becomes an interested shareholder, the interelstedt®lder holc
at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporatiohincluding
shares owned by persons who are directors and#isers of
interested shareholders and shares owned by skeiinployee
benefit plans; or

(3) after the person becomes an interested shahohe busine
combination is approved by the board of directdrthe
corporation and holders of at least 66.67% of thistanding
voting stock, excluding shares held by the inteeshareholder.
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Panama Delaware

If the board of directors believes that the stateindees not
contain all required information or that the stagatis
inaccurate, the board of directors must send tierstent to
the CNV within 45 days from the buyer’s initial dedry of
the statement to the CNV. The CNV may then holdifaip
hearing to determine if the information is accurate
complete and if the buyer has complied with thealeg
requirements. The CNV may also start an inquirg thie
case, having the power to decide whether or notttes
may be made

Regardless of the above, the board of directordheas
authority to submit the offer to the consideratifrthe
shareholders. The board should only convene a
shareholders’ meeting when it deems the statement
delivered by the offeror to be complete and aceurt
convened, the shareholders’ meeting should taleepla
within the next 30 days. At the shareholders’ megttwo-
thirds of the holders of the issued and outstandieges of
each class of shares of the corporation with & tigkote
must approve the offer and the offer is to be etextwithin
60 days from the shareholders’ approval. If therthoa
decides not to convene the shareholders’ meetitigrwi
15 days following the receipt of a complete andusate
statement from the offeror, shares may then behased. |
all cases, the purchase of shares can take plagé dns
not prohibited by an administrative or judicial erdr
injunction.

The law also establishes some actions or recoofdbs
sellers against the buyer in cases the offer isenirad
contravention of the lav

Previously Acquired Rights

In no event can the vote of the majority sharehslde No comparable provisions exist under Delaware
deprive the shareholders of a corporation of presie

acquired rights. Panamanian jurisprudence and idedtas

established that the majority shareholders canmeina the

articles of incorporation and deprive minority stfaolders

of previously-acquired rights nor impose upon tream

agreement that is contrary to those articles afriparation.

Once a share is issued, the shareholders becoitleccta
the rights established in the articles of incorgoraand
such rights cannot be taken away, diminished nor
extinguished without the express consent of the
shareholders entitled to such rights. If by amegdire
articles of incorporation, the rights granted tdass of
shareholders is somehow altered or modified ta thei
disadvantage, those shareholders will need to appte
amendment unanimousl
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C. Material Contracts
Commercial Agreements with UAL Airlines

Our alliance relationship with UAL is governed kBvsral interrelated agreements. We have amendedeatated each
these agreements and extended them through 2Gddirection with our initial public offering in Deder 2005. As a result of t
UAL merger, UAL succeeded Continental as the catitrg party in each of these commercial agreements.

Alliance Agreement between UAL and Copa Airlingsder the alliance agreement, both parties agremmtinue the
codesharing relationship with extensions as theydee appropriate and to work to maintain ourteugt immunity with the DOT. |
order to support the codesharing relationship,altiance agreement also contains provisions mamglati continued frequent fly
relationship between the parties, setting minimwwels of quality of service for the airlines andcemraging cooperation
marketing and other operational initiatives.

Services Agreement between UAL and Copa Airlidesler the services agreement, both parties agrpeotade to eac
other certain services over the course of the ageeé at the providing carriex’incremental cost, subject to certain limitati
Services covered under the agreement include ddasiog purchasing power for equipment purchases iagurance coverag
sharing management information systems, poolinghteaance programs and inventory management, jairting and employze
exchanges, sharing the benefits of other purchaseacts for goods and services, telecommunicatimisother services.

Frequent Flyer Participation Agreement between Whld Copa AirlinesUnder the frequent flyer participation agreemr
we patrticipate in Continental’'s OnePass frequgmrfglobal program and on a boanded basis in Latin America. Customers ir
program receive credit for flying on segments ofeetdy us, which can be redeemed for award travdlights and those of oth
partner airlines. The agreement also governs joiatketing agreements under the program, settlemetedures between 1
airlines and revenue-sharing under bank card &ffielationships.

Trademark License Agreement between UAL and Cattiags. Under the trademark license agreement, Copa hagth
to use a logo incorporating a globe design thainslar to the globe design of UAL'’s logo. Copaalsas the right to use UA& trad:
dress, aircraft livery and certain other UAL maukaler the agreement that allow us to more cloday aur overall product with ol
alliance partner.

Aircraft General Terms Agreement between The Boeingompany and Copa Airlines
In 1998, Copa entered into an agreement with theigpCompany for the purchase of aircraft, instata of buye
furnished equipment provided by Copa, customer supgervices and product assurance. In additiotheoaircraft supplied, tl

Boeing Company will provide maintenance trainingl dhght training programs, as well as operatiomgieeering support. Tl
agreement has been amended several times singertbshrecently in October 2010.

Purchase Agreement between Empresa Brasileira de Amautica, S.A. and Copa Airlines

In 2003, Copa entered into a purchase agreemehntBmitpresa Brasileira de Aeronautica, S.A (Embrémrihe purchas
of aircraft, customer support services and tectmichlications.
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Purchase Agreement between Empresa Brasileira de Amautica, S.A. and Copa Holdings, S.A.

In February 2006, we entered into a purchase agreewith Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica, S.A IfEaer) for th
purchase of aircraft, customer support servicesteeithical publications.

D. Exchange Controls

There are currently no Panamanian restrictionsherekport or import of capital, including foreigrchange controls, a
no restrictions on the payment of dividends orrieég nor are there limitations on the rights akfgn stockholders to hold or w
stock.
E. Taxation
United States

The following summary describes the material Unittdtes federal income tax consequences of the rehipean:
disposition of our Class A shares as of the datedie The discussion set forth below is applicaioleJnited States Holders |
defined below) that beneficially own our Class Aaits as capital assets for United States federalrie tax purposes (genere
property held for investment). This summary does mepresent a detailed description of the UnitedteSt federal income t

consequences applicable to you if you are subgespéecial treatment under the United States fediecalme tax laws, including
you are:

. a bank;

. a dealer in securities or currenci
. a financial institution

. a regulated investment compal
. a real estate investment tru

. an insurance compan

. a ta-exempt organizatior

. a person holding our Class A shares as part ofigihg, integrated or conversion transaction, a waove sale or
straddle;

. a trader in securities that has elected the -to-market method of accounting for your securit

. a person liable for alternative minimum ti

. a person who owns 10% or more of our voting st

. a partnership or other pi-through entity for United States federal incomeparposes; o

. a person whos"functional currenc” is not the United States doll:

The discussion below is based upon the provisidriibeoInternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended“@lode”),anc
regulations, rulings and judicial decisions theemas of the date hereof, and such authoritiesbeagplaced, revoked or modif

so as to result in United States federal incometamsequences different from those discussed below.

If you are considering the purchase, ownership oridposition of our Class A shares, you should consuour own
tax advisors concerning the United States federahcome tax consequences to you in light of your pacular situation as wel
as any consequences arising under the laws of anther taxing jurisdiction.

As used herein, “United States Holdentans a beneficial owner of our Class A sharesishfdr United States fede
income tax purposes:

. an individual citizen or resident of the United t6&
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. a corporation (or other entity treated as a cotpmmafor United States federal income tax purposaepted ¢
organized in or under the laws of the United Statey state thereof or the District of Columt

. an estate the income of which is subject to UnBtates federal income taxation regardless of iisc&) or

. a trust if it (1) is subject to the primary supsign of a court within the United States and onenore United Stat
persons have the authority to control all subsshmtécisions of the trust or (2) has a valid etettin effect unde
applicable United States Treasury regulations ttrdmted as a United States pers

Taxation of Dividends

Distributions on the Class A shares (including amswvithheld to reflect Panamanian withholding &xié any) will be
taxable as dividends to the extent paid out of @urent or accumulated earnings and profits, asrdebed under United Sta
federal income tax principles. Such income (inahgdivithheld taxes) will be includable in your grassome as ordinary income
the day actually or constructively received by yBuch dividends will not be eligible for the divit#s received deduction allowec
corporations.

With respect to nomerporate United States Holders, certain dividenelseived in taxable years beginning be
January 1, 2013 from a qualified foreign corpomatinay be subject to reduced rates of taxation. r&igm corporation generally
treated as a qualified foreign corporation withpexs to dividends paid by that corporation on shadhat are readily tradable on
established securities market in the United Stdtksted States Treasury Department guidance ineicéttat our Class A shar
which are listed on the NYSE, are currently reatlihdable on an established securities marketdriihited States. There can be
assurance, however, that our Class A shares widbbsidered readily tradable on an establishedrgiesumarket at a later date. Non-
corporate United States Holders that do not meeinédmum holding period requirement during whichyttege not protected from t
risk of loss or that elect to treat the dividenddme as “investment incomgursuant to Section 163(d)(4) of the Code will he
eligible for the reduced rates of taxation regassllef our status as a qualified foreign corporatinraddition, the rate reduction v
not apply to dividends if the recipient of a dividkeis obligated to make related payments with retsfe positions in substantia
similar or related property. This disallowance @&pkven if the minimum holding period has been. ieti should consult your ov
tax advisors regarding the application of thesest your particular circumstances.

Subject to certain conditions and limitations, Raaaian withholding taxes on dividends may be trba® foreign tax:
eligible for credit against your United States fiedléncome tax liability. For purposes of calcutafithe foreign tax credit, divider
paid on the Class A shares generally will be tida® income from sources outside the United Seatelswill generally constitu
passive income. Further, in certain circumstani¢gsu:

. have held Class A shares for less than a spedifieémum period during which you are not protecteshf risk o
loss, or

. are obligated to make payments related to the elindd,

you will not be allowed a foreign tax credit forégn taxes imposed on dividends paid on the Glaskares, if any. Tt
rules governing the foreign tax credit are comphau are urged to consult your tax advisors regeydihe availability of the foreic
tax credit under your particular circumstances.

To the extent that the amount of any distributicoesds our current and accumulated earnings arfdspfor a taxabl
year, as determined under United States federalnectax principles, the distribution will first Heeated as a taftee return ¢
capital, causing a reduction in the adjusted bekithe Class A shares (thereby increasing the amofigain, or decreasing t
amount of loss, to be recognized by you on a sulssgglisposition of the Class A shares), and tii@nioe in excess of adjusted b
will be taxed as capital gain recognized on a saleexchange (as discussed below under “—TaxatiorCapital Gains).
Consequently, such distributions in excess of oarent and accumulated earnings and profits woattegally not give rise to forei
source income and you would generally not be ableise the foreign tax credit arising from any Paawaien withholding ta
imposed on such distributions unless such creditbeaapplied (subject to applicable limitationsqiagt United States federal incc
tax due on other foreign source income in the gmpaite category for foreign tax credit purposeswideer, we do not intend to ke
earnings and profits in accordance with United &dtdéderal income tax principles. Therefore, yooustth expect that a distributi
will generally be treated as a dividend (as disedsshove).
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Passive Foreign Investment Company

We do not believe that we are a passive foreigestment company (a “PFICTpr United States federal income
purposes (or that we were one in 2010), and weatxpeperate in such a manner so as not to beeoRHC. If, however, we are
become a PFIC, you could be subject to additiormatdd States federal income taxes on gain recognidth respect to the Class
shares and on certain distributions, plus an istecharge on certain taxes treated as having befmred under the PFIC rul
Further, noncorporate United States Holders will not be eligifdr reduced rates of taxation on any dividendgix@d from us i
taxable years beginning prior to January 1, 2003yd are a PFIC in the taxable year in which suchddnds are paid or tl
preceding taxable year.

Taxation of Capital Gains

For United States federal income tax purposes witluecognize taxable gain or loss on any salexarhange of a Class
share in an amount equal to the difference betwemmount realized for the Class A share and jeubasis in the Class A shz
Such gain or loss will generally be capital gaidass. Capital gains of individuals derived witlspect to capital assets held for i
than one year are eligible for reduced rates ddttar. The deductibility of capital losses is sabj® limitations. Any gain or lo:
recognized by you will generally be treated as ethiStates source gain or loss.

Information reporting and backup withholding

In general, information reporting will apply to diends in respect of our Class A shares and theeprs from the sa
exchange or redemption of our Class A shares tieapaid to you within the United States (and intaiercases, outside the Uni
States), unless you are an exempt recipient suahcagporation. A backup withholding tax may apfgysuch payments if you fail
provide a taxpayer identification number or cectifion of other exempt status or fail to reportuith dividend and interest income.

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholdialgs will be allowed as a refund or a credit agajasir United State
federal income tax liability provided the requiieformation is timely furnished to the Internal Rewme Service.

Panamanian Taxation

The following is a discussion of the material Paaaran tax considerations to holders of Class Aeshander Panaman
tax law, and is based upon the tax laws and regokain force and effect as of the date hereofcivimay be subject to change. 1
discussion, to the extent it states matters of Pan&n tax law or legal conclusions and subjeth¢oqualifications herein, represe
the opinion of Galindo, Arias & Lopez, our Pananaancounsel.

Taxation of dividends

Dividends paid by a corporation duly licensed to ligsiness in Panama, whether in the form of casitksor othe
property, are subject to a 10% withholding tax lo@ portion attributable to Panamanian sourced irc@nd a 5% withholding tax
the portion attributable to foreign sourced incoéidends paid by a holding company which correspto dividends receivt
from its subsidiaries for which the dividend taxsa@eviously paid, are not subject to any furthghlmolding tax under Panaman
law. Therefore, distributions on the Class A shavesild not be subject to withholding tax to theemttthat said distributions ¢
attributable to dividends received from any of subsidiaries.
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Taxation of capital gains

As long as the Class A shares are registered W#CNV and are sold through an organized marketafanian taxes
capital gains will not apply either to Panamaniansther countrieshationals. We have registered the Class A shariés,both th
New York Stock Exchange and the CN

Other Panamanian taxes

There are no estate, gift or other taxes imposethéyPanamanian government that would affect aelnadél the Class
shares, whether such holder were Panamanian dioamaleof another country.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.

G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable.

H. Documents on Display

We are subject to the informational requirementthefU.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whichl$® known as tt
Exchange Act. Accordingly, we are required to figgorts and other information with the Commissimicjuding annual reports
Form 20-F and reports on FormK6-You may inspect and copy reports and other mftion to be filed with the Commission at
Public Reference Room of the Commission at 100 reeft N.W., Washington D.C. 20549, and copies ef itaterials may |
obtained there at prescribed rates. The public alagin information on the operation of the Commie& Public Reference Roc
by calling the Commission in the United States-800-SECO0330. In addition, the Commission maintains a websti www.sec.go
from which you can electronically access the regigin statement and its materials.

As a foreign private issuer, we are not subjedchtosame disclosure requirements as a domesticrégBtrant under ti
Exchange Act. For example, we are not requiredrépare and issue quarterly reports. However, weighrour shareholders w
annual reports containing financial statementstaddby our independent auditors and make availabtur shareholders quarte
reports containing unaudited financial data for fing& three quarters of each fiscal year. We $ileh quarterly reports with the S
within two months of each quarter of our fiscal yeend we file annual reports on Form RQ@vithin the time period required by -
SEC, which is currently six months from DecembertB& end of our fiscal year.

I. Subsidiary Information
Not applicable.
Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures bout Market Risk

The risks inherent in our business are the potdosaes arising from adverse changes to the pfifeel, interest rates a
the U.S. dollar exchange rate.

Aircraft Fuel. Our results of operations are affected by changelsd price and availability of aircraft fuel. Tcamage th
price risk, we use crude oil option contracts, zewet collars and swap agreements. Market rislstisnated as a hypothetical 1
increase in the December 31, 2010 cost per gafifueh Based on projected 2011 fuel consumptioichsan increase would resul
an increase to aircraft fuel expense of approxim&@8.4 million in 2011, not taking into accountraderivative contracts. We he
hedged approximately 25% and 9% of our anticipdtes needs for 2011 and 2012, respectively. We mter into addition
hedging agreements in the future to reduce vdiatli our fuel expenses.

Interest.Our earnings are affected by changes in interest rdue to the impact those changes have on ihtexpsns
from variablerate debt instruments and operating leases andterest income generated from our cash and investhaances.
interest rates average 10% more in 2011 than tlkghuding 2010, our interest expense would incrdgsapproximately $0.1 millic
and the fair value of our debt would decrease lpr@pmately $0.9 million. If interest rates averad®b less in 2011 than they dic
2010, our interest income from marketable securitiduld decrease by approximately $0.5 million &mel fair value of our de
would increase by approximately $0.9 million. Theseounts are determined by considering the impathehypothetical intere
rates on our variable-rate debt and marketablersiesuequivalent balances at December 31, 2010.
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Foreign CurrenciesThe majority of our obligations are denominated)is. dollars. Since Panama uses the U.S. dol
legal tender, the majority of our operating expsnaee also denominated in U.S. dollars. Our foragochange risk is limited
approximately 42% of our revenues are in U.S. dsll&Vhile a significant part of our revenues ardareign currency, no sing
currency represented more than 11% of our operagmgnues in 2010, except for the Colombian Pesichmepresented 15.7
Generally, our exposure to most of these foreigmericies, with the exception of the Venezuelan BoliFuerte and Cuban Pesc
limited to the period of up to two weeks betweea tompletion of a sale and the conversion to UoBais. The Colombian Pesc
the functional currency of Copa Colombia, and tf@eeany revenue exposure is mitigated by the dipgr&xpenses, which we a
denominate in Colombian Peso.

2010 Revenues and Expenses Breakdown by Currency

Revenue Expense
Argentinean Pes 6.5% 2.C%
Brazilian Rea 8.3% 4.2%
Chilean Pesi 2.% 1.1%
Colombian Pes 15.7% 11.5%
Costa Rican Colo 2.1% 0.€%
Mexican Pest 3.2% 1.6%
U.S. Dollar 42.(% 66.7%
Venezuelan Bolivar Fuer 11.1% 8.5%
Other(1) 8.1% 3.6%

(1) Dominican Peso, European Euro, Guatemalanz@lydamaican Dollar, Honduran Lempira, Haitiaru@le, Uruguayan Peso,
Bolivian Boliviano, Trinidad and Tobago Doll

Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equiy Securities
Not applicable.
Part 1l
Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquecies
None
Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Seurity Holders and Use of Proceeds
None
Item 15. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedure

Disclosure controls and procedures are designeshsare that information required to be disclosedh®y Company i
reports filed or submitted under the SecuritiesHaxge Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, sumnuhard reported within the tir
periods specified in the SE€tules and forms. We carried out an evaluatioreutite supervision of our management, including
chief executive officer and chief financial officesf the effectiveness of the design and operatibour disclosure controls a
procedures as of December 31, 2010. There areenhémitations to the effectiveness of any systeindisclosure controls a
procedures, including the possibility of human eand the circumvention or overriding of the cotgrand procedures. According
even effective disclosure controls and proceduagsanly provide reasonable assurance of achievieig tontrol objectives. Bas
upon our evaluation, our chief executive officed ahief financial officer concluded that our disslioe controls and procedures v
effective to provide reasonable assurance thatrimdion required to be disclosed by us in the respitiat we file or submit under t
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizedepuited, within the time periods specified in #pplicable rules and forn
and that it is accumulated and communicated tontamagement, including our chief executive officed ghief financial officer, ¢
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosure.
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Managemen's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repdrtg

Management of the Company is responsible for estdby and maintaining effective internal controleo financia
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under tkeuBities Exchange Act of 1934. The Companyiternal control over financ
reporting is designed to provide reasonable assaramthe Compang’management and Board of Directors regarding téegpatiol
and fair presentation of published financial staats.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtover financial reporting may not prevent or détenisstatement
Therefore, even those systems determined to betiefecan provide only reasonable assurance wiheae to financial stateme
preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cghspiaternal control over financial reporting as oéd@mber 3:
2010. In making this assessment, management usedritieria set forth by the Committee of Sponsorganizations of tf
Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Contrdftegrated Framework. Based on this assessmenggearent believes that,
of December 31, 2010, the Company’s internal cdwiver financial reporting is effective based ongé criteria.

The effectiveness of our internal controls oveafioial reporting as of December 31, 2010 has bediteal by Ernst ¢
Young, the independent registered public accourftimgwho also audited the Compasyconsolidated financial statements. Ern
Young’s attestation report on the effectivenesthefCompany’s internal controls over financial néjmg is included herein.

Changes in internal control

No significant changes in our internal controlsroother factors that could significantly affecesie controls subsequen
the date of the evaluation, including any corrextictions with regard to significant deficienciesl anaterial weaknesses, were Ir
as a result of the evaluation.

Report of Independent Registered Public AccountiRigm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

We have audited Copa Holdings, S.A. (the “Compangiid its subsidiariesinternal control over financial reporting as
December 31, 2010, based on criteria establishéaténnal Control-ntegrated Framework issued by the Committee omSpion¢
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the C@8t@ria). Copa Holdings, S.A. and its subsididrimanagement is responsi
for maintaining effective internal control over dincial reporting, and for its assessment of thecsffeness of internal control o'
financial reporting included in the accompanyingridgement’s report. Our responsibility is to exprasopinion on the comparyy’
internal control over financial reporting basedoum audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversight @ nited States). Tho
standards require that we plan and perform thetaadbbtain reasonable assurance about whethectigteinternal control ov
financial reporting was maintained in all mateniespects. Our audit included obtaining an undedstgnof internal control ovi
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a nelteveakness exists, testing and evaluating tisggdeand operating effectivenes:
internal control based on the assessed risk, arfdrpeng such other procedures as we consideredssecy in the circumstanc
We believe that our audit provide a reasonablestfasiour opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @pess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability o
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsi@tements for external purposes in accordante geinerally accepted account
principles. A compang internal control over financial reporting inclsdéhose policies and procedures that (1) pertairhg¢
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detedurately and fairly reflect the transactions digpositions of the assets of
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance thatactions are recorded as necessary to permit pteganf financial statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipless and that receipts and expenditures of tmepemy are being made only
accordance with authorizations of management amelctdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonasieurance regardi
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigion, use or disposition of the compasi@ssets that could have a material €
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projectic
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may becoradequate because of change
conditions, or that the degree of compliance whhpolicies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Copa Holdings, S.A. and its sulmigis maintained, in all material respects, effectnternal control over financ
reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on theGCOkeria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bofdnited States), ti
consolidated statements of financial position op&doldings, S.A. and its subsidiaries as of De@mii, 2010 and 2009 &
January 1, 2009 and related statements of incoompiehensive income, changes in equity and casls ffor each of the two ye:



in the period ended December 31, 2010 and our refladed May 13, 2011 expressed an unqualified opittiereon.
/s/ Ernst and Young

May 13, 2011
Panama City, Republic of Panama

Item 16. Reserved
Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. JGsé&tafieda and Roberto Artavia qualify as andit committe
financial experts’as defined by current SEC rules and meet the imdkpee requirements of the SEC and the NYSE i
standards. For a discussion of the role of ourtaunmittee, see “ltem 6C. Board Practices—Audim@uttee.”

Item 16B. Code of Ethics

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Bssit@onduct and Ethics applicable to our direcwffs;ers, employee
and consultants. The Code of Business Conduct #ridsican be found at www.copaair.comder the heading “Investor Relations—
Corporate Governance.” Information found at thibsite is not incorporated by reference into thiswoent.
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Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table sets forth by category of seevthe total fees for services performed by ouefrhdent auditors Eri
& Young during the fiscal years ended December2B10 and 2009:

2009 2010
Audit Fees $ 715,00( $ 662,00(
Audit-Related Fee — —
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees 538,99 205,00(
Total $ 1,253,99: $ 867,00(
Audit Fees

Audit fees for 2010 and 2009 included the audibwf annual financial statements and internal césittbe review of ot
quarterly reports.

Audit-Related Fees

There were no audit-related fees for 2010.
Tax Fees

There were no tax fees for 2010.
All Other Fees

Other fees for 2010 and 2009 included amounts fmighermitted consulting services performed by E&sroung ant
pre-approved by our audit committee.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our audit committee approves all audit, audiated services, tax services and other servieadded by Ernst & Youni
Any services provided by Ernst & Young that are syecifically included within the scope of the a@udust be prexpproved by tr
audit committee in advance of any engagement. Botdo Rule 2-01 of Regulation)§-audit committees are permitted to app!
certain fees for audit-related services, tax ses/@nd other services pursuant eaminimisexception prior to the completion of
audit engagement. In 2010, none of the fees pditiriet & Young were approved pursuant to dieeminimisexception.
Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards forAudit Committees

None
Item 16E. Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issr and Affiliated Purchasers

None
Item 16F. Changes in Registrant’s Certifying Accoutant

None

Item 16G. Corporate Governance

Companies that are registered in Panama are regtorelisclose whether or not they comply with derteorporat
governance guidelines and principles that are revended by the National Securities Commissi@onisién Nacional de Valores
or CNV). Statements below referring to Panamanieveghance standards reflect these voluntary gueglset by the CNV ratt
than legal requirements or standard national prestiOur Class A shares are registered with the ,Gitd we comply with tt
CNV’s disclosure requirements.
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NYSE Standards

Our Corporate Governance Practice

Director IndependenceMajority of board of directors mu:
be independent. 8303A.01

Executive SessiontNon-management directors must meet
regularly in executive sessions without management.
Independent directors should meet alone in an dxex
session at least once a year. 8303/

Nominating/corporate governance committe
Nominating/corporate governance committe:
independent directors is required. The committestrhave
a charter specifying the purpose, duties and ev@na
procedures of the committee. 8303A

Compensation committe€€ompensation committee of
independent directors is required, which must appro
executive officer compensation. The committee hays a
charter specifying the purpose, duties and evatumati
procedures of the committee. 8303A

Equity compensation plan<Equity compensation plans
require shareholder approval, subject to limiteceptions

Panamanian corporate governance standards recontheagrahe
in every five directors should be an independergatior. The
criteria for determining independence under theaRsmnian
corporate governance standards differs from the R¥es. In
Panama, a director would be considered indeperadeloing as th
director does not directly or indirectly own 5%rmore of the
issued and outstanding voting shares of the compampt
involved in the daily management of the company ianmbt a
spouse or related to the second degree by bloothaiage to the
persons named abo\

Our Articles of Incorporation require us to havesthindependent
directors as defined under the NYSE ru

There are no mandatory requirements under Panamkaviethat ¢
company should hold, and we currently do not hsilgth
executive sessions.

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthand
registered companies have a nominating committegosed of
three members of the board of directors, at leastad which
should be an independent director, plus the chiefative officer
and the chief financial officer. In Panama, the onigj of public
corporations do not have a nominating or corpagateernance
committee. Our Articles of Incorporation requirathive maintain
a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committele atiteast
one independent director until the first sharehadmeeting to
elect directors after such time as the Class Aeshare entitled to
full voting rights.

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthegrtie
compensation of executives and directors be oversg¢he
nominating committee but do not otherwise addresseed for a
compensation committee.

While we maintain a compensation committee thatates under
a charter as described by the NYSE governance atdsd
currently only one of the members of that committee
independent

Under Panamanian law, shareholder approval isatptired for
equity compensation plar
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NYSE Standards

Our Corporate Governance Practice

Code of EthicsCorporate governance guidelines and a Panamanian corporate governance standards doquiter¢he
code of business conduct and ethics is requireith, wi adoption of specific guidelines as contemplatedheyNY SE
disclosure of any waiver for directors or executbféicers. standards, although they do require that compatisetose
8§303A.10 differences between their practices and a lispet#ied practices

recommended by the CNV.

We have not adopted a set of corporate governandelges as
contemplated by the NYSE, although we will be reeglito
comply with the disclosure requirement of the CI

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthend
registered companies adopt a code of ethics caystioh topics ¢
its ethical and moral principles, how to addressflazis of
interest, the appropriate use of resources, oligato inform of
acts of corruption and mechanism to enforce theptiamce with
established rules of condu

PART Il

Item 17. Financial Statements

See “ltem 18. Financial Statements”

Item 18. Financial Statements

See our consolidated financial statements beginmmgage F-1.

Item 19. Exhibits

1.1+
2.1

2.2
10.1%*t

10.2¢*t

10.2%*t

10.4**t

10.5%*

10.€*7

10.7+*t

English translation of the Articles of IncorporatipPacto Socia) of the Registrar

Form of Second Amended and Restated Shareholdgrgetnent among Copa Holdings, S.A., Corporacién de
Inversiones Aéreas, S.A. and Continental Airliras,

Form of Amended and Restated Registration Righte@ment among Copa Holdings, S.A., Corporacion de
Inversiones Aéreas, S.A. and Continental Airliries,

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October 9818etween First Security Bank and Compafiia Pafiamie
Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeing Model *-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 aingmiircraft Lease Agreement, dated October 1, 1998
between First Security Bank and Compafiia Paname@idcion, S.A., in respect of One Boeing Modef73
71Q Aircraft, Manufactures Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of Rlgy2004 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated Octdber
1998, between First Security Bank and Compafiiamafia de Aviacién, S.A., in respect of Boeing Mod&T -
71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October 9818etween First Security Bank and Compafiia Pafiarmie
Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeing Model -71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 aingmircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of OctohdroD8
between First Security Bank and Compafia Paname@idcion, S.A., in respect of Boeing Model 737171
Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of Rigy2003 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated Octdber
1998, between First Security Bank and CompafiiarRafa de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeing Mod#&r-
71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novemberl988, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacidn, S.A., Boeing Mo8e-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860
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10.&x*t Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 18818%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 9881
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Confi@&fanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 737-700
Aircraft, Serial No. 2860
10.¢*t Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 199itoraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1998,

between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Confip@dfanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 737-700
Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

10.10*F Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated Agrdf30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
November 18, 1998, between Aviation Financial Smwilnc. and Compafiia Panamefa de Aviacion,
Boeing Model 73-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

10.17*t Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of November1988, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Mo8e-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

10.12%*t Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 18818%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 9881
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Confi@dfanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 737-700
Aircraft, Serial No. 3004!

10.13t Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 199itoraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1998,
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Confi@&fanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 737-700
Aircraft, Serial No. 3004!

10.14%*F Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated Agraf30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
Novembelrl8, 1998, between Aviation Financial Services bmd Compafia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A.,
Boeing Model 73-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

10.15*t Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novembe2B03, between International Lease Finance Corpmoraind
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., New 700 or 800, Serial No. 306"

10.1€x*t Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of March 4, 2@@4ween International Lease Finance Corporatich a
Compaiia Panamenfa de Aviacion, S.A., New I-700 or 800, Serial No. 328(

10.17*t Aircraft Lease Agreement dated as of December @34 2between Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., in respeBbefng B73-800 Aircraft, Serial No. 2967

10.18*f Embraer 190LR Purchase Agreement DCT-006/2003 deted May 2003 between Embraer— Empresa
Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional Airckbldings Ltd.

10.1¢*t Letter Agreement DCT-007/2003 between Embraer—EsgBrasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional
Aircraft Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase Agresmh DCT-006/2003

10.2C*F Letter Agreement DCT-008/2003 between Embraer—EsgBrasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional
Aircraft Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase AgresmDCT-006/2003

10.27t Embraer 190 Purchase Agreement COM 0028-06 datedi&g 2006 between Embraer—Empresa Brasileira de
Aeronautica S.A. and Copa Holdings, S.A. relatm@mbraer 190LR aircra

10.2z¢t Letter Agreement COM 0029-06 to the Embraer Agregrdated February 2006 between Embraer—Empresa
Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Copa Holding8,. &lating to Embraer 190LR aircr

10.23*t Aircraft General Terms Agreement, dated Novemberl298, between The Boeing Company and Copa
Holdings, S.A.

10.24*% Purchase Agreement Number 2191, dated Novembdr9®8, between The Boeing Company and Copa
Holdings, S.A., Inc. relating to Boeing Model -7V3 & 737-8V3 Aircraft

10.28%*t Supplemental Agreement No. 1 dated as of June®, © Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between The
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

10.2€**t Supplemental Agreement No. 2 dated as of Decenthe2D1 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

90




Table of Contents

10.27**%
10.2&*t
10.29*%
10.30¢*t
10.37*%
10.32¢*t
10.3&t

10.34t

10.35*%
10.3€**t

10.37**
10.3&*

10.3¢*
10.40*
10.47*
10.42%
10.42*
10.44t
10.45F
10.4¢t
10.4%t
10.4¢t

10.4¢t

Supplemental Agreement No. 3 dated as of JuneQB2 & Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between The
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

Supplemental Agreement No. 4 dated as of Decenthe2@?2 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

Supplemental Agreement No. 5 dated as of Octobe?@®13 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between Th
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

Supplemental Agreement No. 6 dated as of Septe)2004 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 betwben T
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

Supplemental Agreement No. 7 dated as of Decemi3@®@! to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between Th
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

Supplemental Agreement No. 8 dated as of April2IR5 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between The
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

Supplemental Agreement No. 9 dated as of Marcl2Q66 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

Supplemental Agreement No. 10 dated as of May 8620 the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 21%ddat
November 25, 1998 between the Boeing Company ampé Eoldings, S.A

Maintenance Cost per Hour Engine Service Agreentaitéd March 5, 2003, between G.E. Engine Servines,
and Copa Holdings, S./

English translation of Aviation Fuel Supply Agreemedated July 18, 2005, between Petréleos Delfa, &d
Compaifiia Panamenfa de Aviacion, S

Form of Guaranteed Loan Agreem:

Form of Amended and Restated Alliance Agreementéen Continental Airlines, Inc. and Compafia Parf@ame
de Aviacién, S.A

Form of Amended and Restated Services Agreemeweleet Continental Airlines, Inc. and Compafiia Parf@ame
de Aviacién, S.A

Form of Amended and Restated Frequent Flyer Proarticipation Agreemel

Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. 2005 Stock Incentivart

Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. Restricted Stock AwAgteemen

Form of Indemnification Agreement with the Regist’s directors

Supplemental Agreement No. 11 dated as of Augus2@06 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

Supplemental Agreement No. 12 dated as of Feb2&r2007 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Numb&t 21
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

Supplemental Agreement No. 13 dated as of April2Z2®7 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

Supplemental Agreement No. 14 dated as of Augus2@17 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

Supplemental Agreement No. 15 dated as of Febi2tr008 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Numb@t 21
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

Supplemental Agreement No. 16 dated as of Jun2(8I8 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2&8k
November 25, 1998 between the Boeing Company ampé Eoldings, S.A
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10.5(t Supplemental Agreement No. 17 dated as of Decefrfhe2008 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Numbt
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

10.51t Supplemental Agreement No. 18 dated as of Jul@89 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2a8d
November 25, 1998 between the Boeing Company ampé Eoldings, S./

10.5%t Supplemental Agreement No. 19 dated as of Augus?@Qd9 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S.

10.5:t Supplemental Agreement No. 20 dated as of Noverh®e2009 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Numb&t

dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S.

10.54tt Supplemental Agreement No. 21 dated as of May @80 2o the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 21&0
November 25, 1998 between the Boeing Company ampeé Eloldings, S./

10.55t Supplemental Agreement No. 22 dated as of SepteB#h&010 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Numbet
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S.

10.5¢tt Supplemental Agreement No. 23 dated as of Oct@®d1) to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S.

12.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, puesu to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the SecuEtiebange
Act of 1934.

12.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puemt to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the SecuBtiehange
Act of 1934.

13.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuantSection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

13.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puemt to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

21.1%* Subsidiaries of the Registre

*  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibit andorporated by reference from our Registraticate8hent on Form E; filed
June 15, 2006, File No. 3-135031.

**  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibitcaimcorporated by reference from our Registratitete3nent on Form E; filed
November 28, 2005, as amended on December 1, 2@DBecember 13, 2005, File No. -129967.

T  The Registrant was granted confidential treatmenpbértions of this exhibir
Tt The Registrant has requested confidential treatfioengortions of this exhibi

92




Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

The Registrant hereby certifies that it meets fithe requirements for filing on Form Z0and that it has duly caused
authorized the undersigned to sign this annualrtepoits behalf.

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

By: /s/ Pedro Heilbron

Name: Pedro Heilbro
Title: Chief Executive Office

Dated: May 13, 201
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséates of financial position of Copa Holdings, Sakhd its subsidiaries as
December 31, 2010 and 2009 and January 1, 2009 thendelated consolidated statements of income,pecenensive incom
changes in equity and cash flows for each of the years in the period ended December 31, 2010.€eThessolidated financi
statements are the responsibility of the Compamyanagement. Our responsibility is to expressmnian on these consolidat
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBigUnited States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet andibtain reasonable assurance about whethdinguecial statements are free
material misstatement. An audit includes examinomga test basis, evidence supporting the amoungtsiesclosures in the financ
statements. An audit also includes assessing ttmuating principles used and significant estima@sle by management, as we
evaluating the overall financial statement pregd@riaWe believe that our audits provide a reastanbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referrecélbove present fairly, in all material respedts, tconsolidated financial position
Copa Holdings, S.A. and its subsidiaries at Decerihe 2010 and 2009 and January 1, 2009, and theotidated results of th
operations and their cash flows for each of the ywars in the period ended December 31, 2010, ifocmity with Internatione
Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by tlegriational Accounting Standards Board.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bofdnited States), ti
effectiveness of Comparg/internal control over financial reporting as afdember 31, 2010, based on criteria establishédema
Controlintegrated Framework issued by the Committee oinSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiod aar repol
dated May 13, 2011 expressed an unqualified opithiereon.

/sl Ernst and Young

May 13, 2011
Panama City, Republic of Panama
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(In US$ thousands)

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,
Notes 2010 2009 2009
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivale 4 $ 207,69( $ 262,65t $ 220,80¢
Shor-term investment 5 194,91! 89,41: 176,01¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investment: 402,60 352,06¢ 396,82t
Accounts receivabl 6 88,77 76,39: 70,60¢
Accounts receivable from related part 18 613 4,39¢ 4,592
Expendable parts and suppl 7 45,98: 27,09¢ 22,04¢
Prepaid expense 8 31,78¢ 30,45¢ 24,47(
Other current asse 9 24,62 12,60° 4,571
Total Current Asset 594,38 503,02: 523,11
Investments 5 6,22¢ 6,40 11,14¢
Property, Plant and Equipment:
Flight equipmen 11 1,782,071 1,451,31. 1,375,04.
Other 59,42¢ 45,12¢ 41,41°¢
1,841,49 1,496,43 1,416,45
Less: Accumulated depreciati 11 (274,94() (214,96 (168,80:)
1,566,55I 1,281,47! 1,247,65!
Purchase deposits for flight equipm: 12 205,97: 198,69° 84,86
Total Property and Equipme 1,772,52 1,480,17. 1,332,511
Other Assets:
Prepaid pension ass 8,151 6,831 5,59¢
Goodwill 13 25,47¢ 23,85: 21,73.
Other intangible asse 13 43,46t 42,59 38,057
Other asset 10 105,76! 98,33: 73,95(
Total Other Asset 182,86: 171,60° 139,33:
Total Assets $ 2,555,99 $ 2,161,20i $ 2,006,11

The accompanying notes are an integral part oférmmsolidated financial statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONT

(In US$ thousands)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS'
EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of lor-term debt
Accounts payabl
Accounts payable to related part
Air traffic liability
Taxes and interest payal
Accrued expenses payal
Other current liabilitie:

Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities:
Long-term debr
Post employment benefits liabili
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Total Nor-Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities
Shareholder¢ Equity:

Class A common stock - 33,025,284 (2009 -
31,136,619) shares issued, 32,659,557 (2009 -
30,566,853) outstandir

Class B common stock - 10,938,125 (2009 -
12,778,125) shares issu

and outstanding, no par val

Additional paid in capita

Retained earning

Accumulated other comprehensive income (It

Total Shareholde’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

INUED)
As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,

Notes 2010 2009 2009
14 $ 100,86( $ 94,55( 115,83:
66,00¢ 50,88¢ 54,06¢
18 13,89t 14,10: 11,51(
208,73t 180,95° 178,81t
49,85 43,227 37,19«
15 47,61« 49,05¢ 40,64
16 10,93¢ 10,831 60,34¢
497,89! 443,61t 498,41:
14 888,68: 750,97: 800,19¢
5,73¢ 5,28t 4,60¢
17 33,70: 26,28 18,17¢
21 20,01¢ 23,92( 15,371
948,13! 806,45¢ 838,35!
1,446,02! 1,250,07! 1,336,76
22,29 20,86¢ 20,76
7,46¢€ 8,72: 8,72:
26,11( 22,19¢ 17,61:
1,051,69: 858,54: 625,71
2,41( 80¢ (3,467)
1,109,96! 911,13 669,34
$ 2,555,99 $ 2,161,20 $ 2,006,11,

The accompanying notes are an integral part oféhmmsolidated financial statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In US$ thousands)

Operating revenue:
Passenger reveni
Cargo, mail and othe

Operating expenses
Aircraft fuel
Salaries and benefi
Passenger servicir
Commissions
Maintenance, material and repe
Reservations and sal
Aircraft rentals
Flight operation:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Landing fees and other renti
Other
Special fleet charge

Operating income

Non-operating expense (income)
Interest cost:
Interest capitalize
Interest incom:
Exchange rate different
Mark to market fuel derivativ
Other, ne!

Income before income tax
Provision for income taxe

Net income

Earnings per share (Basic and dilut

Year Ended December 31

Notes 2010 2009
$ 1,338,558  $ 1,189,701
76,22¢ 66,37(
1,414,801 1,256,07!
354,42 300,81
22 178,84 157,04
133,71 125,15(
45,337 47,45;
62,22¢ 55,72
58,811 56,28(
46,33¢ 46,53
70,64¢ 60,87:
11,13 62,96 50,87¢
40,32( 33,62t
71,531 62,19(
27 — 19,41
1,125,15: 1,015,99
289,64 240,08
29,981 32,93¢
— (699)
(4,759 (9,18%)
19 20,62° (20¢)
(11,72) (58,040)
(4,507) (707)
29,62° (35,89
260,02 275,98:
21 18,96¢ 26,89
$ 241,05 $ 249,08
23 $ 546  $ 5.67

The accompanying notes are an integral part oféhmmsolidated financial statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In US$ thousands)

Net income

Other income and expense credited/charge to net eity net of tax
Net change in fair value of derivative instrume

Exchange effect on intercompany long term bale

Foreign currency translatic

Other comprehensive income for the yea
Total comprehensive income for the yea

The accompanying notes are an integral part oféhmssolidated financial statements.

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009

$ 241,05 $ 249,08

(1,307) 1,50¢
(1,062) (1,486)
3,96¢ 4,24¢
1,607 4,271

$  242,65¢ $ 253,35t
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(In US$ thousands)

At January 1, 2009
Issuance of stoc
Total comprehensive incon
Restricted stock pla
Dividends declare

At December 31, 200¢
Issuance of stoc
Total comprehensive incon
Restricted stock pla
Dividends declare

At December 31, 201(

The accompanying notes are an

Accumulated

Common Stoclt Additional Other
(Nor-par value) Issued Capita Paidin  Retained Comprehensive
Notes Class A ClassB Class A Class B Capital Earnings Income (Loss Total
30,416,44 12,778,12 $20,76. $ 8,72z $ 17,61! $ 625,71: $ (3,469 $ 669,34
150,41: 102 (103)
249,08° 4,271  253,35¢
4,68¢ 4,68¢
(16,25%) (16,25%)
30,566,85 12,778,12 $20,86¢ $ 8,72: $ 22,19¢ $ 858,54! $ 80¢ $ 911,13
2,092,70. (1,840,00) 1,427 (1,25¢€) a7
241,05’ 1,60z  242,65¢
4,08t 4,08t
24 (47,909 (47,908

32,659,55 10,938,12 $22,29. $ 7,46¢ $ 26,11( $1,051,69. $

2,41C $1,109,96!

integral part ofelmmsolidated financial statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In US$ thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 241,05 $ 249,08
Adjustments for
Provision for income ta 18,96¢ 26,89«
Interest cos 29,981 32,93¢
Interest income (4,759 (9,185
Depreciation and amortizatic 62,96 50,87¢
Gain on sale of property and equipm (20) —
Special fleet charge — 8,92:
Provision for impairmen (540) 55
Allowance for obsolescen 36 25
Derivative instruments mark to marlk (13,55%) (59,010)
Stock compensatic 4,032 4,68¢
Impairment to the brand nar 1,50( —
Currency translation adjustme 62 —
Income tax pait (13,04) (13,849
Interest paic (26,249 (32,07¢)
Interest receive 3,31¢ 8,30¢
Changes in
Accounts receivabl (10,20¢) (4,280
Accounts receivable from related part 4,06 524
Other current asse (32,449 (12,997
Restricted cas 182 40,93
Other asset (9,197 (23,00:)
Accounts payabl 13,20 (3,66€)
Accounts payable to related part (1,839 7,444
Air traffic liability 27,10¢ 1,03¢
Other liabilities (1,824 17,62¢
Net cash provided by operating activities 292,80: 291,29¢
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment (340,269 (217,909
Proceeds from redemption of investme 234,76¢ 268,31«
Advance payments on aircraft purchase conti (157,297 (151,67¢
Acquisition of property and equipme (191,43 (59,857
Disposal of property and equipme 8,791 81C
Net cash flows used in investing activitie (445,437 (160,314
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowir 282,07: 103,78(
Payments on loans and borrowir (138,69) (175,379
Paic-in capital 53 —
Dividends declared and pe (47,90¢) (16,255
Net cash flows provided (used) in financing activiés 95,52( (87,849
Effect of exchange rate change on cas 2,14~ (1,28¢)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (54,966 41,84¢
Cash and cash equivalents at Januest 262,65¢ 220,80t
Cash and cash equivalents at December ! $  207,69( $ 262,65t

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofé¢rmmsolidated financial statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

(In US$ thousands)

1. Corporate Information

Copa Holdings, S. A. (“the Companyi$ a leading Latin American provider of internatbrirline passenger and cargo services
Company was incorporated according to the lawhefRepublic of Panama. The Company owns 99.9%eo§tiares of Compai
Panamefia de Aviacién, S. A. (“Copa Airlines”), 10@¥the shares of Oval Financial Leasing, Ltd. (“&lY), and 99.9% of tF
shares of AeroRepublica, S.A. (“Copa Colombia™).

Copa Airlines, the Company’core operation, is incorporated according to ldves of the Republic of Panama and prov
international air transportation for passengersga@and mail. Copa Airlines operates from its Paad®ity hub in the Republic
Panama, from where it offers approximately 166ydadheduled flights among 46 destinations in 25ntdes in North, Central al
South America and the Caribbean. Additionally, Cdpdines provides passengers with access to fligbt more than 130 otf
international destinations through codeshare ageetsnwith United Continental and other airlines.eT@ompany has a brc
commercial alliance with United Continental whiafcludes joint marketing, coddtaring arrangements, participation in Un
Continental's OnePass frequent flyer loyalty progr@nd access to United Continental’s VIP loungegmm, Presidens’ Club, alon
with other benefits such as improved purchasinggrdw negotiations with service providers, aircreghdors and insurers. In 20
Copa Airlines was accepted to become a future membthe Star Alliance. Copa Airlinegassengers, who are members o
frequent flyer program, can earn OnePass miledldlights operated by Star Alliance partners adl\as are eligible to redeem th
OnePass miles for free reward tickets on any of Stence’s 1,292 global destinations.

Copa Colombia is a domestic Colombian air carmérich is incorporated according to the laws of Republic of Colombia ar
provides domestic service to 12 cities in Colombith a point-topoint route network as well as international sesvio seve
(7) cities. During the third quarter 2010, AeroRbklxg, S, A. began to operate under Copa Colomiziac

OVAL is incorporated according to the laws of theatiBh Virgin Islands, and controls the special pase entities that have
beneficial interest in 47 aircraft, all of whichedeased to either Copa Airlines or Copa Colombia.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company operatesea ffe63 aircraft with an average age of 4.79 yeenssisting of 37 mode
Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft and 26 Embi#¢Y aircraft.

F-9
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

(In US$ thousands)

1. Corporate Information (continued)

The Companys principal executive offices are located at BoatevCosta del Este, Avenida Principal y Avenidalal&kotonde
Urbanizacion Costa del Este, Complejo Business,Farke Norte, Parque Lefevre, Panama City, RepujflPanama.

As used in these Notes to Consolidated Financete8tents, the terms “the Company”, “we”,
Copa Holdings, S.A. and, unless the context indatherwise, its consolidated subsidiaries.

us”, “band similar terms refer

The consolidated financial statements have bedrodméd by Management for issue on May 13, 2011.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies adopted by than@any for the preparation of these consolidatednfoial statements are
follows:

2.1 Basis of Presentation

The Companys consolidated financial statements have been prépa accordance with International Financial Répg Standarc
(“IFRS"), as issued by the International Accountidtandards Board (“IASB”)These are the Company first consolidated fina
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS an8 IFRrst-time Adoption of International Financial Repiog Standardg“IFRS
1”) has been applied.

The consolidated financial statements have begraped on a historical cost basis, except for aedasets and liabilities, which
measured at fair value, as set out in each speadtunting policy for such assets and liabiliti#se consolidated financ
statements are presented in United States dolfalsakvalues are rounded to the nearest thousa8dbQ00, except when otherw
indicated.

The Company has applied all IFRS standards thatffeetive as of December 31, 2010, the end dfirigs IFRS financial reportin
period.

An explanation of how the transition to IFRSs htisaed the reported financial position, finangakformance and cash flows of
Company is provided in note 3.

F-10
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

(In US$ thousands)

Standards issued but not yet effecti

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the daissuance of the Compasyfinancial statements are listed below. ThisHigti
of standards and interpretations issued, whiclCitiapany reasonably expects to be applicable aueefdate. The Company intel
to adopt those standards when they become effective

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Amendmehte amended standard is effective for annual perimehinning on or after
January 2011. It clarified the definition of a teld party to simplify the identification of suchlatonships and to eliming
inconsistencies in its application. The reviseadsad introduces a partial exemption of discloserirements for governme
related entities. The Company does not expect mpact on its financial position or performance.¥Eadoption is permitte
for either the partial exemption for governmeeltated entities or for the entire standard. Thenany has not early adop
this standard

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation — Classificatiof Rights Issues (Amendmeiit)e amendment to IAS 32

effective for annual periods beginning on or aftéfebruary 2010 and amended the definition of anfimal liability in order t

classify rights issues (and certain options or am@ts) as equity instruments in cases where sublsrage given pro rata to all

the existing owners of the same class of an estitgh-derivative equity instruments, or to acqaifexed number of the entity’
own equity instruments for a fixed amount in anyrency. This amendment will have no impact on tleen@any after initie

application.

IFRS 9Financial Instruments: Classification and Measure&RS 9 as issued reflects the first two phases@1ASBs worl
on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to clesdibn and measurement of financial assets arzhéial liabilities as define
in IAS 39. The standard is effective for annualigpas beginning on or after 1 January 2013. In sgibset phases, the IASB v
address hedge accounting and derecognition. Th@letion of this project is expected in early 20The adoption of the fir
two phases of IFRS 9 will have an effect on thegification and measurement of the Compariiiancial assets and finant
liabilities. The Company will quantify the effeat conjunction with the other phases, when issueg@résent a comprehens
picture.

IFRIC 14 Prepayment of a minimum funding requirement (AmemihThe amendment to IFRIC 14 is effective for an
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 wéthospective application. The amendment providédageze on assessing
recoverable amount of a net pension asset. The gt permits an entity to treat the prepaymerd ofinimum fundin
requirement as an asset. The amendment is nottexigchave a material impact on the financialestents of the Compan

F-11
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

(In US$ thousands)

2.2 New and Amended Accounting Pronouncements andterpretations (continued)

. IFRIC 19Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity ItreimentsIFRIC 19 is effective for annual periods beginnig ol
after 1 July 2010. The interpretation clarifiesttbquity instruments issued to a creditor to extiag a financial liability qualif
as consideration paid. The equity instruments bsaiee measured at their fair value. In case that ¢hnnot be reliab
measured, the instruments are measured at thealai of the liability extinguished. Any gain oiskis recognized immediat
in profit or loss. The adoption of this interprédatis not expected to have a material effect anfthancial statements of 1
Company.

Improvements to IFRSs (issued in May 201

The IASB issuedmprovements to IFRSsan omnibus of amendments to its IFRS standaitus.amendments have not been adc
as they become effective for annual periods onfiar @ither 1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011. The atmemts listed below, &
considered to have a reasonable possible impatto@ompany:

. IFRS 3Business Combinatior

. IFRS 7Financial Instruments: Disclosure

. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statemel

. IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statem
. IFRIC 13Customer Loyalty Programm:

2.3 Principles of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements comprige fittancial statements of the Company and its slidrsés. The financi
statements of subsidiaries are prepared for thee saporting period as the parent company, using stersi accounting policie
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date onhvbhantrol is obtained by the Company and contirubéd consolidated until t
date when control ceases. All intercompany accotirgesactions and profits arising from consolidatatities have been elimina
in consolidation.

2.4 Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates andssumptions
The preparation of the Compasyfinancial statements requires management to madgments, estimates and assumptions
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expemassgfs and liabilities, at the reporting date. Alctesults could differ from tho

estimates. However, uncertainty about these assomspand estimates could result in outcomes thatdcoequire a materi
adjustment to the carrying amount of the relatesbtasr liability in the future.

a) Judgments
In the process of applying the Compayaccounting policies, management has made judgnagatrt from those involvir

estimations. The judgments that have the mostf&gni effect on the amounts recognized in the obdated financial statemel
are operating lease commitments.

F-12
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

(In US$ thousands)

2.4 Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates andssumptions (continued)

The Company has entered into lease contracts omitheaft it operates. The Company has determibeded on the terms &
conditions of the arrangements, that all the sigaift risks and rewards of ownership of the aitdtadperates are not transferred
it accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

b) Estimates and Assumptions

The estimates and associated assumptions are tadeskorical experience and various other fadi@lgeved to be reasonable ur
the circumstances. These underlying assumptionsegiewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to actogiestimates are recogni:
in the period in which the estimate is revised.

The Company believes that the tax positions takenr@asonable. However, various taxing authoriti@y challenge the positic
taken resulting in additional liabilities for taxaad interest that may become payable in futuresyas a result of audits by the
authorities. The tax positions involve considergbtiggment on the part of management and tax paositiwe reviewed and adjuste:
account for changes in circumstances, such asnlapsi applicable statutes of limitations, conclusioof tax audits, additior
exposures based on identification of new issuesoart decisions affecting a particular tax issuetudl results could differ fro
estimates.

The Company assesses whether there are any indicdtionpairment for all nofinancial assets at each reporting date. Goodwd
indefinitedived intangible assets are tested for impairmemtually and at other times when such indicatorsteXihe recoverak
amounts of cash-generating units have been detedriased on value-mse calculations. The value in use is determinedg
discounted cash flow assumptions established byagement.

The Companys management has determined that the residual ehline aircraft components owned is 15% of the obshe asse
so the depreciation of flight equipment is madeoadingly. Annually, management reviews the usefeldnd salvage value of et
of these assets.

2.5 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bawkgynmarket accounts and time deposits with origimeturities of three mont
or less when purchased.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement sii ¢ws, cash and cash equivalents consist of caslof outstanding ba
overdraft.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

(In US$ thousands)

2.6 Financial Instruments — Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Financial instruments within the scope of IAS 38 elassified as: (a) financial assets and liabgitt fair value through profit or lo
(b) receivables, (c) held to maturity investmentsae (d) derivatives designated as hedging instngsne an effective hedge,
appropriate. The Company determines the clasdificalf its financial assets at initial recognition.

All financial assets and liabilities are recognizedially at fair value plus directly attributablgansaction costs, in the case
investments not at fair value through profit ansslo

Subsequent measurement of financial assets arilitiégsbdepends on their classification.

The Company’s financial assets include cash andt-#don and longerm deposits, trade and other receivables and/ates
financial instruments.

a) Held to maturity investments

The Company invests in shdgrm time deposits with original maturities of matean three months but less than one
Additionally, the Company invests in lorigrm time deposits with maturities greater than pear. These investments are class
as short and lonterm investments, respectively, in the accompanyiagsolidated statement of financial position. &fl thes
investments are classify as heldaaturity securities and are subsequently measurexmartized cost, since the Company
determined that it has the intent and ability tédhtbe securities to maturity. Restricted cashlassified within short-term and long-
term investments and is held as collateral foetstof credit.

b) Receivable

Accounts receivable, which generally have 30 days$, are recognized and carried at original ir'@mount less a provision
impairment which approximates fair value given ttskiort term nature.

The Company records its best estimate of provigorimpairment of receivables, on the basis of masifactors, including: varyii
customer classifications, agreed upon credit teand,the age of the individual debt.
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2.7 Impairment
a) Impairment of Financial Assets

Company assesses at the end of each reportingdpghiether there is objective evidence that a firdrasset or group of financ
assets is impaired. A financial asset or groupimdrfcial assets are impaired and impairment loasesncurred only if there
objective evidence of impairment as a result of onenore events that occurred after the initialogrgtion of the asset (ddss
event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact erestimated future cash flows of the financial assegroup of financit
assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Company uses to determinettieze is objective evidence of an impairment liostude: significant financi.
difficulty of the issuer or obligor; a breach ofntmact, such as default or delinquency in integgsprincipal payments; it becor
probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcyother financial reorganization; and observableadatlicating that there is
measurable decrease in the estimated future aash.fl

b) Impairment of Financial Assets Carried at Amozed Cost

For financial assets carried at amortized costCibenpany first assesses whether objective evidehrepairment exists individual
for financial assets that are individually sigréfit, or collectively for financial assets that a individually significant. If th
Company determines that no objective evidence phirment exists for an individually assessed fima@rnasset, whether significe
or not, it includes the asset in a group of finaheissets with similar credit risk characteriséesl collectively assesses them
impairment. Assets that are individually assessednfipairment and for which an impairment lossoiscontinues to be, recogni:
are not included in a collective assessment of imyent.

If there is objective evidence that an impairmesgs| on assets carried at amortized cost has beerred, the amount of t
impairment loss is measured as the difference hmtwiee assetd’ carrying amount and the present value of estinhttire cas
flows (excluding future expected credit losses ttate not been incurred) discounted at the findiasisets original effective intere
rate. The carrying amount of the asset is redunddlze loss is recorded in the consolidated statenfancome.

¢) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The Company assesses at each reporting date wtikéreris an indication that a néinancial asset may be impaired. If any <

indication exists, or when annual impairment tegfior an asset is required, the Company estimatesisses recoverable amou
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher ofsaetss or cash-generating unit’s fair value leststo sell and its value in use.
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¢) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets (continued)

Impairment losses of continuing operations are ga@ed in the consolidated statement of incomehims¢ expense categol
consistent with the function of the impaired ass&tept for a property previously revalued whee rvaluation was taken to ot
comprehensive income. In this case, the impairner@so recognized in other comprehensive incomeouthe amount of al
previous revaluation.

For assets, excluding goodwill and intangible ags#t indefinite lives, an assessment is made eh eaporting date as to whet
there is any indication that previously recognimmgairment losses may no longer exists or may laeased. If such indicati
exists, the Company makes an estimate of recoveeahbunt. If that is the case, the carrying amafithe asset is increased tc
recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceedatinging amount that would have been determinetiph depreciation, had
impairment loss been recognized for the assetior gears. Such reversal is recognized in the dadeted statement of incor
unless the asset is carried at the revalued amiownhich case the reversal is treated as an igeréee revaluation reserve.

d) Impairment testing of goodwill and intangiblesith indefinite lives

Goodwill result from business combinations, haw#eiimite lives and have been allocated to eacth@Qompany ‘s cash genera
units that are expected to benefit from the busimesnbination in which the goodwill arose.

The Company performed its annual impairment teséisgf December 31, 2010. The Company considergidgtermination of tr
terminal value based on the present value of thegamy “s cash flows in perpetuity (see discussfdtep assumptions below). T
recoverable amount has been determined based @fua in use calculation using cash flow projectidmsn financial budge
approved by management covering a five-year period.

Key assumptions used in value in use calculatic
The calculations of value in use for the impairmteisting are most sensitive to the following asstiong:

Discount rates— The discount factors are based on the Compangghted Average Cost of Capital (“WACC’and are applie
using the mid-year convention. Migkar convention assumes that cash flows are genkeeaenly throughout the year, as oppos
in a lump sum at the end of the year.

Long-Term Growth Rate— was determined by considering industry researatipyéiing analyst reports, and various governt
studies which are believed to be reliable. Addiigyn management considered perpetual growth etk frepresented the lorngsr
growth prospects of the business.
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d) Impairment testing of goodwill and intangiblesith indefinite lives (continued)

Terminal Value— Determination of the terminal value is basedtmngresent value of the Compasigash flows in perpetuity. Wh
estimating the cash flow for use in the residudli®aalculation, it is essential to clearly defihe normalized cash flow level, 1
appropriate discount rate for the degree of rigienent in that return stream and a constant fujuogth rate for the related ce
flows. To estimate the value, we have used the @o@Growth Model.

2.8 Derecognition

a) Derecognition of Financial Assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part ihancial asset or part of a group of similar fingl assets) is derecognized when:
. The rights to receive cash flows from the assetlepired.

. Company has transferred its rights to receive flagés from the asset and either has transferredtanbially all risks an
rewards of the asset, or has neither transferredatained substantially all the risks and rewasfishe asset, but h
transferred control of the ass

. Company retains the right to receive cash flowsnftbe asset, but has assumed an obligation tohaa in full withou
material delay to third party undef pass throug arrangemen

When the Company has transferred its rights toiveagash flows from an asset or has entered irgasa through arrangement,
has neither transferred nor retained substant@lligf the risks and rewards of the asset nor feared control of the asset, the ass
recognized to the extent of the Company “s contipuivolvement in the asset.

In that case, the Company also recognizes an assddiability. The transferred asset and the dasext liability are measured ol
basis that reflects the rights and obligations thatCompany has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of argméee over the transferred asset is measure@ &bvler of the original carryir
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of deredion that the Company could be required toyepa

b) Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognized when theigailon under the liability is discharged, cancglier expired. When a financ
liability is replaced by another from the same kemdn substantially different terms, or the ternfisan existing liability ar
substantially modified, such an exchange or madliftn is treated as a derecognition of the origiiedlility and the recognition of
new liability, and the difference in the respectbarying amounts is recognized in the consolidatatement of income.
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2.9 Expendable Parts and Supplies

Expendable parts and supplies for flight equipnaatcarried at the lower of the average acquisitimst or net realizable value,
are expensed when used in operations. The netabldi value is the estimated selling price in tbemmal course of business, |
estimated costs of completion and the estimatet$ cexessary to make the sale.

The amount of expendable parts and supplies rezedris an expense was $13.6 million in 2010 ancd2$hlion in 2009.

2.10 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly amie, engines and other related flight equipmentk.pfoperty, plant an
equipment is shown at cost, less subsequent defiecend impairment, if any. Subsequent costsreaded in the asset'carrying
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appFppnly when it is probable that future economénefits associated with -
item will flow to the Company and the cost of theni can be measured reliably. All other repairs muaghtenance expenditures
charged to the statement of income during the firuperiod in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straitife- method to allocate the cost of each assestesidual value over its estimated us

life as follows:
. Airframe and engine 30 years
. Aircraft component: 30 years
. Ground equipmer 10 years
. Furniture, fixture, equipment and ott 5to 10 year:
. Major maintenance even 1to 8 year:
. Leasehold improvemen lesser of remaining lease term or useful

The assetsfesidual values and useful lives are reviewed, atjdsted if appropriate, at each statement of @ii@dposition date. A
asset's carrying amount is written down immediatilyits recoverable amount if the assetarrying amount is greater than
estimated recoverable amount. The carrying valueqfipment and leasehold improvements are revidaedmpairment whe
events or changes in circumstances indicate tleatdlrying value may not be recoverable.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined bparimg the disposal proceeds with the carrying amhand are included in t
income statement.

F-18




Table of Contents

COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

(In US$ thousands)

2.10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction ofy ajualifying asset are capitalized during the petrad time that is required
complete and prepare the asset for its intendedQtber borrowing costs are expensed.

Under IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipmemtigjor maintenance events, including major engirerfeauls, are treated as a sepi
asset component with the cost capitalized and degiesl over the period to the next major event.cdltler replacement spares
costs relating to maintenance of fleet assetstzeged to the income statement on consumption micasred.

2.11 Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being theess of the aggregate of the consideration tranesferver the net identifiable ass
acquired and liabilities assumed of the acquirdibsliary at the date of acquisition.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measuredaist less any accumulated impairment losses.

2.12 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measuréuitial recognition at cost. The cost of intdnlgi assets acquired in a busir
combination is its fair value at the date of acijigis. Following initial recognition, intangible asts are carried at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairn@sges, if any. Internally generated intangiblsesés excluding capitaliz
development costs, are not capitalized and thersipee is reflected in the statement of incoméhm year in which the expendit
is incurred.

Useful live of intangible assets are assessedbardinite or indefinite.
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2.12 Intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortizeckrothe useful economic life and assessed for imp&it whenever there is
indication that the intangible asset may be impuhiféhe amortization period and method for an inialegasset with a finite use
life is reviewed at least at the end of each repgmeriod. Changes in the expected useful liftherexpected pattern of consump
of future economic benefits embodied in the assatcounted for by changing the amortization peoiochethod, as appropriate, i
are treated as changes in accounting estimatesafilogtization expense on intangible assets withefilives is recognized in t
statement of income.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives am amortized, but are tested for impairment arlpuaither individually or at tr
cashgenerating unit level. The assessment of indefiifies reviewed annually to determine whether ithdefinite life continues 1
be supportable. If not, the change in useful literf indefinite to finite is made on a prospectiasis.

Gain and losses arising from the derecognitionnohéangible asset are measured as the differesiweekn the net disposal proce
and the carrying amount of the asset and are réxedjin the consolidated statement of income wherasset is derecognized.

A summary of the Company s intangible assets hagbolicies applied is:
a) Computer Software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalmethe basis of the costs incurred to acquirebaimdy to use the specific softwe
These costs are amortized using the straight-liethad over their estimated useful lives (threeigbteyears).

Costs associated with developing or maintaining mater software programs are recognized as an eg@enscurred. Costs that
directly associated with the production of ideiatifie and unique software products controlled byGbmpany, and that are estime
to generate economic benefits exceeding costs lbdegna year, are recognized as intangible assetsctiiosts include the softwi
development employee costs and an appropriateoparfirelevant overheads.

Computer software development costs recognizedssetsaare amortized using the straigig-method over their estimated us
lives.

Licenses and software rights acquired by the Compane finite useful lives and are amortized onraightdine basis over the tei
of the contract and the amortization is recognirettie consolidated statement of income.
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b) Brand name and routes

Brand name and routes have an indefinite usefaldiid are carried at cost, less any accumulatediiment. Annually they a
tested for impairment.

During the third quarter 2010, AeroRepublica beg¢maroperate under Copa Colombia brand, causing agehin managemerst’
assumption from indefinite live to 5 years for theroRepublicas brand name. Based on the change of the commeiamaé, a
impairment loss has been recognized for $1.5 mildaring 2010. The remaining balance of this intalegasset will be amortiz
over the 5 years.

2.13 Maintenance Deposit

Under lease agreement with aircraft lessors, Cape pnaintenance deposits, for two aircrafts, tedesto be applied to futt
maintenance event costs, calculated based on arpenfice measure, such as flight hours, and aréfisp#ig to be used to reimbur
3rd-party maintenance providers. If amounts on depasit insufficient, Copa must cover the shortfallceinCopa is legal
responsible for maintaining the leased aircrafthéfre are excess amounts on deposit at expiratitre lease, the lessor is entitle
retain any excess amounts. Maintenance depositsypaler lease agreements do not transfer eitheoliigation to maintain tt
aircraft or cost risk associated with maintenaratevities to lessors.

The Company also makes payments for engine overhauder power by the hour agreements (“PBIRFgyments related to eng
overhauls under PBH agreements as well as the ema@inte deposits under aircraft leases are capitiatiz prepaid assets until
maintenance event occurs and are then amortized theeexpected period until the next everilanagement performs regt
reviews of the recovery of maintenance deposits laglieves that the values reflected in the conattid statement of financ
position are recoverable.

2.14 Loans Payable

All borrowings and loans are initially recognizedfair value less any directly attributable trangat costs. Subsequent to ini
recognition, these liabilities are measured at dgimed cost using the effective interest rate method

Gain and losses are recognized in the consolidsttgément of income when the liabilities are degeced as well as through -
amortization process.
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2.15 Other Financial Liabilities

Other financial liabilities are initially recognideat fair value, including directly attributablearsaction costs. Subsequent to ir
recognition, they are measured at amortized casguke effective interest rate method.

Gain and losses are recognized in the consolidsttgdment of income when the liabilities are degeced as well as through -
amortization process.

2.16 Provisions

For certain operating leases, the Company is cotdly obliged to return aircraft in a defined dition. The Company accrues
restitution costs related to aircraft held undeerafing leases at the time the asset does not timeeeturn conditions criteria a
throughout the remaining duration of the lease.vBions for costs, including restitution, restrugtg and legal claims al
assessments are recognized when:

«  The Company has a present legal or constructivigation as a result of past ever

. It is more likely than not that an outflow of resoes will be required to settle the obligation; i
The amount has been reliably estimated.

2.17 Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is giotd that the economic benefits will flow to thengmany and the revenue car
reliably measured, regardless of when the paynsel¢ing made. Revenue is measured at the fair wdltie consideration receiv
or receivable, taking into account contractuallyfiked terms of payment and excluding taxes or diitye following specifi
recognition criteria must also be met before reeeisuecognized:

a) Passenger Revenue

Passenger revenue is recognized when transportatiprovided rather than when a ticket is sold. @heount of passenger tic
sales but not yet recognized as revenue is reflescse’Air traffic liability” in the consolidated statement of financial positibare
for tickets that expire unused are recognized asmae based on historical data and experience.Cidmpany performs perioc
evaluations of this liability, and any adjustmengsulting therefrom, which can be significant, areluded in operations for t
periods in which the evaluations are completed.

A significant portion of the Compargy’ticket sales are processed through major credii companies, resulting in accot

receivable which are generally shtetm in duration and typically collected prior tchen revenue is recognized. The Comy
believes that the credit risk associated with tireseivables is minimal.
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a) Passenger Revenue (continue

The Company is required to charge certain taxesfe@sl on its passenger tickets. These taxes asdrfeleide transportation tax
airport passenger facility charges and arrival degarture taxes. These taxes and fees are legasassnts on the customer. As
Company has a legal obligation to act as a cotlactigent with respect to these taxes and fees,onetlinclude such amounts
passenger revenue. The Company records a liahitign the amounts are collected and relieve thditialvhen payments are ma
to the applicable government agency or operatimgera

b) Cargo and Courier Services

Cargo and courier services are recognized wherCtirapany provides the shipping services and theoslmgpletes the earni
process.

c¢) Other Revenue

Other revenue is primarily comprised of excess hgggcharges, commissions earned on tickets solitights on other airlines au
charter flights, and is recognized when transpiomadr service is provided.

d) Frequent Flyer Program

The Company participates in United ContinentalsePass frequent flyer program, for which the Compaipassengers receive
the benefits and privileges offered by the OneRasgram. United Continental is responsible for aldeninistration of the OneP:
program. Under the terms of the Companfrequent flyer agreement with United Continen@hePass members receive One
frequent flyer mileage credits for travel on then@mny, and the Company pays United Continentalranjile rate for each milea
credit granted by United Continental, at which palre Company has no further obligation. The amsulue to United Continen
under this agreement are expensed by the Compahy asileage credits are earned.

2.18 Passenger Traffic Commissions

Passenger traffic commissions are recognized asnegpwhen the transportation is provided and tleek revenue is recogniz
Passenger traffic commissions paid but not yetgeized as expense are included in “Prepaid expérirethe accompanyir
consolidated statement of financial position.
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2.19 Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

The Companys functional currency is the U.S. Dollar, the legghder in Panama. Assets and liabilities in faredgirrencies a
translated at end-of-period exchange rates, exoepbn-monetary assets and liabilities, which are trapdlat equivalent U.S. dol
costs at dates of acquisition and maintained abfiisl rate. Results of operations are translatedverage exchange rates in e
during the period. Foreign exchange gains and soase included in the exchange rate differenceifinthe consolidated stateme
of income for the year.

The financial statements of AeroRepublica (Copao@diia) are measured using the Colombian Peso dsittisgonal currency ar
are translated to U.S. Dollars as follows: for &éssad liabilities at the exchange rate prevailibghe reporting date and for incc
statement at average exchange rate for each mémthange differences arising on the translation @e@ognized in oth
comprehensive income (loss).

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foraigperation is treated as asset of the foreignatiper and translated at the clos
exchange rate.

2.20 Leases

Leases where lessor effectively retains substéntal the risks and benefits of ownership of tleaded item, are classified
operating leases. Operating lease payments argmigea as an expense in the consolidated stateofientome on a straigHine
basis over the lease term.

The determination of whether an arrangement igpatains a lease is based on the substance ofrdregament at inception date
whether the fulfillment of the agreement is deperida the use of a specific asset or assets arthegement conveys a right to

the asset, even if that right is not explicitly sified in an arrangement. A reassessment is mdadeiateption of the lease only if ¢
of the following applies:

. There is a change in contractual terms, other ghamewal or extension of the arrangem

« Arenewal option is exercised or extension grantedess the term of the renewal or extension wisiglig included in th
lease term

. There is a change in the determination of whethiéitifnent is dependent on a specified asse
. There is a substantial change to the a:
Where a reassessment is made, lease accountihg@mahence or cease from the date when the changecumstances gave rise

the reassessment. When a renewal option is exdroisextension granted, lease accounting shall cemem or cease at the dat
renewal or extension period.
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2.21 Taxes
a) Current Income Tax

The current income tax is calculated on the basteetax laws enacted or substantially enactdtieateporting date. Income tax
the current period and for prior periods is recagdiby the Company as a liability to the extent thhas not been settled. If 1
amount already paid in respect of the current peaod of prior periods, exceeds the amount dudhiose periods, the exces:
recognized as an asset.

b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability methawl temporary differences at the reporting dateveen the tax bases of assets
liabilities and their carrying amounts for finariaiaporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities egeognized for all taxable tempor
differences, except:

*  Where the deferred tax liability arises from thigi@h recognition of goodwill or of an asset orHility in a transaction that is r
a business combination and, at the time of thes&retion, affects neither the accounting profit tasable profit or loss

. In respect of taxable temporary differences assaediwith investments in subsidiaries, associatesi@terests in joint venture
where the timing of the reversal of the temporaffecences can be controlled and it is probable tha temporary differenc
will not reverse in the foreseeable futL

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all dedect#mporary differences, carry forward of unuseddredits and unused tax los
to the extent that it is probable that taxable ipreill be available against which the deductibdeniporary differences, and the c:
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losarde utilized, except:

. Where deferred tax asset relating to the deduct#stgorary difference arises from initial recogmitiof an asset or liability in
transaction that is not a business combination anthe time of the transaction, affects neitherabcounting profit nor taxal
profit or loss.

. In respect of deductible temporary differences eissed with investments in subsidiaries, associated interests in joi
ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized onhetextent that it is probable that the tempodiiferences will reverse in tl
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be aafalié against which the temporary differences cautitieed.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is vexikeat each reporting date and reduced to the etttanit is no longer probat
that sufficient taxable profit will be available #&ilow all or part of the deferred tax asset toubibzed. Unrecognized deferred
assets are reassessed at each reporting datecaret@gnized to the extent that it has become pielihat future taxable profits w
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measurdkeatax rates that are expected to apply in tlee wen the asset is realized or
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and taxd) that have been enacted or substantively ehatthe reporting date.
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2.21 Taxes (continued)

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outsid#ipor loss is recognized outside profit or loBeferred tax items are recogni:
in correlation to the underlying transaction eitireother comprehensive income or directly in eguit

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilitiesadfset, if a legally enforceable right existsstd off current tax assets against cul
income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes eetatthe same taxable entity and the same taxatitirority.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business cortibmabut not satisfying the criteria for separsgeognition at that date, would
recognized subsequently if new information aboutsfaand circumstances changed. The adjustment waitlidr be treated as
reduction to goodwill (as long as it does not exicgeodwill) if it incurred during the measuremeaetipd or in profit or loss.

2.22 Derivative financial instruments and hedging etivities

Derivatives instruments are initially recognizedfair value on the date on which a derivative cactris entered into and
subsequently reneasured at their fair value. Derivatives are edrds financial assets when the fair value is pes#tnd as financi
liabilities when the fair value is negative. Thethwal for recognizing the resulting gain or lossalegs on whether the derivative
designated as a hedging instrument, and if smdhére of the item being hedged. The Company datégrcertain derivatives as ¢
flow hedges.

The Company documents at the inception of the &etien the relationship between hedging instrumantshedged items, as wel
its risk management objectives and strategy foeta#ting various hedging transactions.

The Company also documents its assessment bottdgehnception and on an ongoing basis, of whetteederivatives that are us
in hedging transactions are highly effective irseffing changes in fair values or cash flows ofgeedtems.

The fair values of various derivative instrumensed for hedging purposes and movements on the tigedgserve in shareholders
equity are shown in note 16.

Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relatmghe effective portion of the hedge is recogdirethe consolidated statemen
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relatindpecineffective portion is recognized immediateiyttie consolidated statemen
income.

2.23 Monetary unit

The consolidated financial statements are preseintédlS. Dollar, the legal tender of the RepublicRanama. The Republic
Panama does not issue its own paper currencyaihstiee U.S. Dollar (US$) is used as legal currency
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3. Application of IFRS 1

These consolidated financial statements relatédegeriod ended December 31, 2010 are the Compdinst consolidated financi
statements prepared in accordance with Interndtleinancial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Complaary applied the provisic
of IFRS 1 in preparing its consolidated financitatements.

The Companys transition date is January 1, 2009, for whichais prepared its opening consolidated statemefmanicial positiol
under IFRS at that date.

In accordance with IFRS 1, all the mandatory exoegtand some of the optional exemptions from sgeative application ha
been used in the preparation of these consolidit@dicial statements. The most significant chanfges its previous financi
statements prepared in accordance with accountemdards generally accepted in the United States GAAP) relate to tt
following:

(a) Maintenance

Under US GAAP, maintenance events were expensé@tcaged. Under IFRS, major maintenance of the wtitdet is capitalize
when it occurs and amortized until next event.

(b) Engine Overhaul under power by the hour agreems

Under US GAAP, payments related to engine overhamdter power by the hour agreements were recors&X@enses when pe
Under IFRS, these payments are capitalized anddedaas prepaid asset until the event occurs aem dimortized until the ne
event.

(c) Leased Aircraft Return Conditions

Under US GAAP, return conditions were expensed upturn of the aircraft. Under IFRS, expenses eelab complying with retu
conditions are being accrued over the life of tasé.

(d) Stock Compensation
Under US GAAP, the straighine attribution method was used to recognize themensation cost for awards with graded ve

periods. Under IFRS, only one method is used tckltbe compensation cost for awards that vest italinsents (graded vesti
method).
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3. Application of IFRS 1 (continued)
(e) Revenue Recognition

Under US GAAP, for tourist package revenue wasgeized only for the fare portion and a liability sveooked for the hotel a
land portion. Under IFRS, the Company is recoggjzime entire value of the package as revenue antidtel and land portion ¢
recorded as a related cost. In addition, under USIBAhe Company recognized the revenue when untideat expires and / or &
more than one year old. Under IFRS, fares for tekbat expire unused are recognized as revenued b@s historical data a
experience.

(f) Seniority Plan and Indemnity Plan
The Company has chosen to recognize all actuaaiabgand losses accumulated at January 1, 2009.

IAS 19 specifies that a “terminal accounting methaalist be used for Termination Indemnity Plan. Unithis method, only tr
obligation for those with benefits in pay statusdfiected. Since only lump sums are paid for tlea pthe plan has no obligation
future benefits in pay status once the lump sunespaid out and therefore the obligation is zero docounting purposes.
transition, this reduction in obligation producesradit to beginning Retained Earnings for the mdity Plan of $1.6 million.

(g) Deferred Tax

On the other hand, all the differences between BAKand IFRS transition that were booked, eithereitained earnings or in ott
comprehensive income, were subjected to the calonland booking of the corresponding deferred tax.

The reconciliations set out below show the quaraifon of the impact of the transition to IFRS ba Company:
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3. Application of IFRS 1 (continued)

3.1.1 Reconciliation of net equity as of Decembed 32009

US GAAP $ 865,62
Passenger reven 13,46«
Stock compensatia (3,539
Additional paid in capita 3,53¢
Pensior 1,711
Passenger servicir (14,387
Maintenance even 15,12
Overhaul repai 54,34t
Return condition: (12,57¢)
Depreciatior (5,709
Provision for income taxe (7,929
Other 45¢
Effect of transition to IFR! 45,50¢
Net equity according to IFR $ 911,13

3.1.2 Reconciliation of net equity as of January 2009

US GAAP $ 632,43
Passenger reveni 1,00(
Stock compensatic (4,137
Additional paid in capita 4,13
Pensior 1,471
Maintenance Eveni 5,50¢
Overhaul repai 40,28(
Return condition: (8,917
Depreciatior (2,797)
Provision for income taxe (64%)
Effect of transition to IFR! 36,91:
Net equity according to IFR $ 669,34
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3. Application of IFRS 1 (continued)

3.1.3 Reconciliation of comprehensive income for ¢hperiod ended December 31, 2009

US GAAF-Net income $  240,35¢
Passenger reven 12,46:
Stock compensatic 594
Pensior 23t
Passenger servicir (14,382
Maintenance Eveni 9,61«
Overhaul repai 14,06t
Return condition: (2,665)
Depreciatior (3,919
Provision for income taxe (7,287
Effect of transition to IFR! 8,72¢
Net income according to IFF 249,08°
Comprehensive income according to US GA 4,271
Comprehensive income according to IF $ 253,35¢

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, P@t@mber 31, 2009 and January 1, 2009, are asvillo

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,

2010 2009 2009
Checking and saving accoul $ 89,88¢ % 49,34t $ 74,53(
Time deposits of no more than ninety d 91,95¢ 174,31( 111,94(
Overnight deposit 17,097 18,27: 16,97
Others 8,74¢ 20,73( 17,36¢

$ 207,69( $ 262,65¢ $ 220,80¢

Time deposits earn interest based on rates detedntip the banks in which the instruments are hBEte use of the time depos
depends on the cash requirements of the Companipeardnterest rates ranging between 0.20% and/et&¥)of December 31, 2C
and 2009.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009 there were ndatshs for the use of cash and cash equivalents.
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5. Investments

Investments as of December 31, 2010, December@®B @nd January 1, 2009, consisted of the following

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,
2010 2009 2009
Short-term investments:
Time deposits between 90 and 365 ¢ $ 194,911 $ 89,41: $ 176,01
$ 194,91 $ 89,41: $ 176,01t
Long-term investments:
Time deposits of more than 365 d: $ — % — $ 3,50(
Restricted cas 6,224 6,407 7,64¢
$ 6,224 $ 6,401 $ 11,14¢

6. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable as of December 31, 2010, Deeeih, 2009 and January 1, 2009, are summarizédiass:

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,

2010 2009 2009
Travel agencies and airlines clearing ha $ 29,90 % 39,89 $ 41,71:
Credit cards 32,24¢ 19,96¢ 13,04:
Cargo and other travel agenc 13,54( 7,87¢ 8,28¢
Mail 2,03t 2,01¢ 1,73¢
Other 15,241 11,365 10,613
92,96¢ 81,12: 75,39¢
Provision for impairmen (4,190 (4,730 (4,78%)

$ 88,77« $ 76,39: $ 70,60¢

F-31




Table of Contents

COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

(In US$ thousands)

6. Accounts Receivable (continued)

The following is an analysis of accounts receivalllee but not impaired, as of December 31, 2010;eBer 31, 2009 a
January 1, 2009:

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,

2010 2009 2009
Current $ 57,48¢ $ 44,95¢ $ 44,34¢
Past due 0 to 30 da 15,07¢ 10,71 7,55:
Past due 31 to 60 da 10,68¢ 8,48t 4,50¢
More than 60 day 9,72( 16,96¢ 18,98¢

$ 92,96¢ $ 81,12: $ 75,394

Current accounts receivable are those that dohmw slelays in their payments, according to the dgteed with the customer. 1
provision for impairment is made collectively whgre Company estimates that it will not be abledbect all of the amounts p:
due. Movements in the provision for impairmentetaivables were as follows:

As of As of
December 31 December 31

2010 2009
Balance at beginning of ye $ 4730  $ 4,78t
Additions 4,797 2,35¢
Write-offs (5,33%) (2,409
Balance at end of ye $ 419C $ 4,73(
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7. Expendable parts and supplies

Expendable parts and supplies as of December 3D, Zecember 31, 2009 and January 1, 2009, are atized as follows:

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,

2010 2009 2009
Material for repair and maitenan $ 35,09¢ % 23,40t $ 18,45¢
Purchases in trans 9,93( 3,771 3,644
Other inventorie! 1,071 — —
46,091 27,17¢ 22,10:
Allowance for obsolescen (115) (78) (53

$ 45,98 $ 27,09¢ $ 22,04¢

8. Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses as of December 31, 2010, Dec&hp2009 and January 1, 2009, are summarized lasviol

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,

2010 2009 2009
Prepaid taxe $ 10,66: $ 11,13¢ $ 8,221
Prepaid commissior 3,03¢ 2,63¢ 3,31¢
Prepaid insuranc 6,13¢€ 6,50¢ 5,571
Prepaid ren 1,77z 1,04¢ 1,26(
Prepaid— other 10,181 9,134 6,09:

$ 31,78¢ $ 30,45¢ $ 24,47(
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9. Other current assets

Other current assets as of December 31, 2010, Desredd, 2009 and January 1, 2009, are summarizedass:

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,

2010 2009 2009
Derivative financial instrumen $ 21,94¢ $ 10,01¢ $ —
Others 2,67¢ 2,591 4,571

$ 24,62 $ 12,60 $ 4,571

10. Other assets

Other assets as of December 31, 2010, Decemb@089,and January 1, 2009, are summarized as fallows

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,

2010 2009 2009
Guaranty deposit $ 11,13( $ 12,14¢ $ 10,01¢
Deposits for litigatior 16,341 12,29 6,67¢
Maintenance deposi 69,47 63,03¢ 48,05!
Other asset 8,81 10,85¢ 9,204

$ 105,76¢ $ 98,33 $ 73,95(

Guaranty deposits are amounts paid to fuel sugpberd lessors of monthly lease payments, as reatitbe inception of tt
agreements.

Deposit for litigation is paid into escrow accounntil the related dispute is settled. (see note 25)
Maintenance deposits mainly refer to payments niigdhe Company for overhaul covered by power byhiber arrangements to
used in future engines maintenance events, angafgments to lessors to be applied to future maamtea events cost. Maintena

deposits paid do not transfer either obligationmaintain aircraft or cost risk associated with neance activities to lessors
providers.
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11. Property, plant and equipment, net

A summary of equipment and leasehold improvementsf &ecember, 31 2010, are as follows:

Ramp anc Furniture,
Miscellaneous Fixtures,
Aircraft Flight Equipmen  Leaseholc Constructior
Component Equipmen:  Airframe Engines and Other Improvement in Progress Total

At January 1, 2010, net of accumulated depreciatiah

amortizatior $ 62,787 $ 8,00¢ $ 725,75¢ $463,69° $ 4,851 $ 8,29¢ $ 8,077 $1,281,47
Additions 12,00¢ 3,922 196,83t 127,68 2,561 54 10,41.  353,48:
Reclassification 25 (25) — — — 2,17( (2,170 0
Disposals (331) (389 0 0 (48¢) — (7,21%) (8,427
Disposals depreciatic 54 397 — — 351 — — 802
Depreciation and amortizatic (2,516 (2,335 (35,427 (16,29% (2,247) (1,96%) — (60,779
At December 31, 2010, net of accumulated deprecia

and amortizatiol $ 72,020 $ 9,581 $ 887,17. $575,08¢ $ 5,037 $ 8,55. $ 9,107 $1,566,55!
At January 1, 201
At cost $ 74,20¢ $ 23,74¢ $ 837,21 $522,50° $ 17,02! $ 13,66: $ 8,077 $1,496,43
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (11,419 (15,737 (111,459 (58,810 (12,179 (5,36€) — (214,96
Net carrying amour $ 62,787 $ 8,00¢ $§ 725,75¢ $463,69° $ 4,851 $ 8,29¢ $ 8,077 $1,281,47!
At December 31, 201
At cost $ 85,90¢ $ 27,25¢ $1,034,05. $650,19: $ 19,09¢ $ 15,88: $ 9,10¢ $1,841,49
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (13,88)) (17,67%) (146,88 (75,10%) (14,069 (7,330) — (274,940
Net carrying amour $ 72,020 $ 9,581 $ 887,17. $575,08¢ $ 5,037 $ 8,65. $ 9,107 $1,566,55!
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11. Property, plant and equipment, Net (continued)

A summary of equipment and leasehold improvementsf &ecember, 31 2009, are as follows:

Ramp,
miscellaneou: Furniture,
Flight equipmen Fixtures,
Aircraft and other Equipmen  Leaseholc  Constructior
Component Equipmen Airframe Engines and Other Improvement in Progress Total

At January 1, 2009, net of accumulated deprecic $ 56,66 $ 7,36z $ 723,19t $441,42t $ 451¢ $ 7,162 $ 7,32% $1,247,65!
Additions 12,40: 3,58¢ 28,677 35,71« 1,87¢ 10€ 3,43¢ 85,79¢
Reclassification 2) 9) — — 10 2,68 (2,687) 0
Disposals (4,640 (1,959  (1,49¢) (884 (1,210 — — (10,189
Disposals depreciatic 88¢ 1,08:¢ 2,24C 1,73¢ 1,20z — — 7,152
Depreciatior (2,529 (2,059 (26,859 (14,300 (1,549 (1,656 — (48,946
At December 31, 2009, net of accumulated

depreciatior $ 6278 $ 8,00¢ $ 725,75¢ $463,69 $ 4,851 $ 8,29t $ 8,077 $1,281,47!
At January 1, 200
At cost $ 66,44 $ 22,22¢ $807,93¢ $485,80! $ 15,88( $ 10,837 $ 7,32% $1,416,45
Accumulated depreciatic (9,785 (14,864) (84,747 (44,377)  (11,36)) (3,679 — _ (168,80:)
Net carrying amour $ 56,66, $ 7,36: $723,19¢ $441,42( $ 451¢ $ 7,16 $ 7,32 $1,247,65!
At December 31, 200
At cost $ 7420t $ 23,74¢ $837,21° $522,50° $ 17,02 $ 13,66: $ 8,077 $1,496,43!
Accumulated depreciatic (11,419 (15,737 (111,459 (58,81() (12,177 (5,366 — _(214,96)
Net carrying amour $ 6278 $ 8,00¢ $ 725,75¢ $463,69 $ 4,851 $ 8,29t $ 8,077 $1,281,47!

47 aircraft with a carrying value of $1.4 billioregpledged as collateral for the obligation of $pecial purpose entities.
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12. Purchase deposits for flight equipment

A detail of purchase deposit for flight equipment the years ended December 31, is as follows:

Pre-Delivery Payments

At January 1, 200 $ 84,86
Additions 265,51:
Capitalize Transfer (151,676
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 198,69°
Additions 164,56¢
Capitalize Transfer (157,29)
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 205,97

13. Intangible assets, net

A detail of intangibles assets as of December 8102December 31, 2009 and January 1, 2009, isllasvé:

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,

2010 2009 2009
Routes $ 31,371 $ 29,37: $ 26,76:
Brand name 4,48: 5,60( 5,102
Software and license 7,612 7,62( 6,192
Intangible balanc $ 43,46¢ $ 42,59: $ 38,057

At the acquisition date both (routes and brand rjamege valued and recognized as intangible ass#tsaw indefinite useful life, ar
recorded in Colombian pesos, which is the funclianarency of the subsidiary. Variations year oyear, in the value of tl
indefinite life intangible assets correspond to¢hanges in the USD / Colombian Peso exchange rates
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13. Intangible assets, net (continued)

A detail of routes and brand name rights for thargeended December 31, 2010, December 31, 2009amghry 1, 2009 is

follows:
Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Balance at beginning of ye $ 34,97 $ 31,86¢
Changes in exchange ra 2,38( 3,10¢
Impairment of brand nan (1,500 —
Balance at end of ye $ 35,85 $ 34,97

A detail of licenses and software rights as of Delger 31, 2010, December 31, 2009 and January B, 20@s follows:

Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Balance at beginning of year, net of amortiza $ 7,62 % 6,192
Additions— internal developmer 94¢€ 951
Additions— acquired separate 893 3,764
Intangibles in proces— completec (1,839 (4,712)
Intangibles in proces— additions 2,17¢ 3,35¢
Disposals (652) (1,027
Disposals amortizatio 652 1,021
Amortization (2,189 (1,930
Balance at end of year, net of amortiza $ 7612 $ 7,62(
Intangibles, at cos $ 15,801 % 14,617
Intangibles in proces 1,93¢ 1,59¢
Accumulated amortizatio (10,129 (8,597
Net value $ 7612 $ 7,62(
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13. Intangible assets, net (continued)

Movements in goodwill were as follows:

Balance at beginning of ye
Change in exchange ral

Balance at end of year net of exchange r

14. Loans Payable

At December 31, long-term debt consisted of the¥ahg:

Long-term fixed rate debt (secured fixed rate inddhess due through 20:

effective rates ranged from 3.95% to 6.7¢

Long-term variable rate debt (secured variable iredebtedness due through

2022 effective rates ranged from 1.00% to 2.8

Medium-term variable rate debt (unsecured variadtie indebtedness due

2009 effective rates ranged of 2.52% to 4.8!
Sul-total

Less current maturitie

Long-term debt less current maturiti
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Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
$ 23,85: $ 21,73
1,62¢ 2,12(
$ 25,47¢ $ 23,85:
As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,
2010 2009 2009
$ 526,28¢ $ 347,24¢ $ 363,70
463,25 498,27! 504,36:
— — 47,957
989,54 845,52: 916,02¢
100,86( 94,55( 115,83
$ 888,68 $ 750,97 $ 800,19¢
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14. Loans Payable (continued)

Maturities of long-term debt for the next five yeare as follows:

Year ending December 3

2011 $ 100,86(
2012 $ 112,72
2013 $ 82,16:
2014 $ 117,06(
2015 $ 113,83°
Thereaftel $ 462,90(

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company B4d.$ and $363.5 million of outstanding indebtednesspectively, that
owed to financial institutions under financing agaments guaranteed by the Export-Import Bank efithited States. The Export-
Import Bank guarantees support 85% of the net @setprice of the aircraft and are secured withrst firiority mortgage on tl
aircraft in favor of a security trustee on behdlEaport-Import Bank.

The Company’s Exportmport Bank supported financings are amortized aquarterly basis, are denominated in U.S. Dollard
originally bear interest at a floating rate linked_IBOR.

The Exporttmport Bank guaranteed facilities typically offar aption to fix the applicable interest rate. Then(pany has exercis
this option with respect to $526,288 as of Decendie2010.

The Company effectively extends the maturity of discraft financing to 15 years through the useaof'Stretched Overe
Amortization and Repayment,” or SOAR, structure ehhprovides serial drawewns calculated to result in a 100% loan accrettd
a recourse balloon at the maturity of the Exponpdnh Bank guaranteed loan which totaled $75.4 arills of

December 31, 2010.

The Company also typically finances a portion @& flurchase price of the Boeing aircraft through mential loans which totals
$3.5 million as of December 31, 2010.

As of December 31, 2010 the Company has one unasetmitment for longerm financing agreements for approxima
$178.5 million to acquire five (5) Boeing 737-80€ceaft to be delivered between March and Octolfer12
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15. Accrued expenses payable
Labor Related Provisions

The Company sponsors a profit-sharing program éoh management and nomanagement personnel. For members of manage
profit-sharing is based on a combination of the @any’s performance as a whole and the achievenfentiividual goals. Profit-
sharing for non-management employees is based/smighe Company’s performance.

GDS Expenses and Miscellaneous Provisions

The Company records estimation for charges recet@aigh clearinghouse for general distributionteys (GDS) charges relatec
ticket transactions; and for centralized Bank 8at#nt Plan (BSP) charges related to processing eost administrative fees. Th
provisions are established every month and revehsedext month.

The provisions detail as of December 31, 2010, Bbez 31, 2009 and January 1, 2009, is as follows:

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,

2010 2009 2009
Provisions and estimatiol $ 27,33: $ 30,42¢ $ 25,597
Labor related provision 20,28 18,62¢ 15,04¢

$ 47,61¢ $ 49,05¢ $ 40,64:
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16. Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities as of December 31, 20@8¢cember 31, 2009 and January 1, 2009, are sunedagfollows:

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,
2010 2009 2009
Derivative financial instrumen $ 6,50 $ 5,47 $ 54,69(
Vacation payabl 1,43¢ 1,027 88¢€
Others 2,992 4,33¢ 4,77:
$ 10,93 $ 10,83 $ 60,34¢
17. Other long-term liabilities
Other long-term liabilities as of December 31, 206cember 31, 2009 and January 1, 2009, are suredas follows:
As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,
2010 2009 2009
Provision for contingencie $ 37¢ % 30z $ 68(C
Provision for litigations 16,68« 12,53¢ 6,80¢
Provision for return conditior 14,68( 11,57¢ 8,911
Other long term liabilitie: 1,961 1,87( 1,77¢
$ 33,70: $ 26,28: $ 18,17¢
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18. Accounts and Transactions with Related Parties

The accounts receivable from and accounts payablddted parties detail at December 31, are &sfsl

Accounts Receivable from related parties

ASSA Compaifiia de Seguros, S
Others

Accounts Payable to related partie:
United Continenta
ASSA Compaifiia de Seguros, S
Petréleos Delt:
Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S
Galindo, Arias & Lope:
Motta Internacional & Global Branc
RD Nexos
Call Center Corporatio
Telecarrier, S.A
BDM Internaciona
Others

As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 01,
2010 2009 2009
$ 563 $ 4,36 $ 4,50¢

50 32 86

$ 613 $ 4,39¢ $ 4,592
As of As of As of

December 31 December 31 January 01,
2010 2009 2009

$ 2,95¢ $ 1,92 $ 1,83t

6,39: 6,082 5,67(

4,281 5,14¢ 3,35:

32 33 28

6 — 15

54 59 59

88 12z 227

— 39z —

11 71 60

19 57 263

56 214 —

$ 13,89¢ $ 14,10: $ 11,51(




Table of Contents

COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2010
(In US$ thousands)

18. Accounts and Transactions with Related Partiegontinued)

Transaction with related parties detail for thery@aded December 31, are as follows:

Amount of Amount of
transaction transaction
Related Party Transaction 2010 2009
United Continenta Commercial Alliance $ 50,25¢ $ 36,39:
Received Paymen 37,57¢ 30,87«
Banco Genere Debt 1,51¢ 2261
Interest receive 10C 39¢
Interest paic 98¢ 17C
ASSA Compaifiia de Seguros, S Insurance 30 30
Petréleos Delti Purchase Jet Fu 170,72 116,12(
Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S Property 2,01¢ 1,947
Galindo, Arias & Lope: Legal Service: 60¢€ 367
Motta Internacional & Global Branc Payment: 821 637
RD Nexos Advertising 61€ 1,00¢
Call Center Corporatio Call centel 3,86¢ 3,31z
Telecarrier, S.A Payment: 754 863

United ContinentalThe Airlines has comprehensive commercial and sesvalliance. Key elements of the alliance inclugdetilar
brand images, code sharing, lm@anding of the One Pass frequent flyer prograrmaitn America, joint construction and operatiol
the Panama Presidents Club VIP lounge, joint pugiciga maintenance and engineering support and deuof other marketin

sales and service initiatives.

Banco GeneralThe Company’s shareholders own approximately 408®financial Group, which is the controlling compa

ASSA Campania de Seguros, S.An insurance company controlled by the Compangontrolling shareholders, to prov

substantially all of its insurance.

Petréleos DeltaThe fuel company, during 2005 entered into a cahtnath The Company to supply its jet fuel needse Tontrac
has a one year term that automatically renewsriery@ar period unless terminated by one of thegzart
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18. Accounts and Transactions with Related Partiegontinued)

Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S/The Company leases five floors consisting of apinakely 104,000 square feet of the builc
from Desarrollo Inmobiliario, an entity crontollég the same group of investors that controls CIASA.

Galindo, Arias & LépezLaw Firm Certain partners of Galindo, Arias & Lopaz indirect shareholders of CIASA and serve @
Company’s Board of Directors.

Motta Internacional & Global BrandsThe Company purchases most of the alcohol and dinegrages served on its aircraft fi
Motta Internacional, S.A. and Global Brands, Sbwth of which are controlled by the Company’s collitig shareholders.

RD Nexos:The advertising agency that the Company uses immanRD Nexos, S.A., is own by a family member pé dhe
company officers.

Call Center CorporationA call center that operates Copa Airlinesservations and sales services and handles oaitsFanama
well as most other countries to which Copa Airlifless. One of the Company'’s directors is one @f dhwners of this call center.

Telecarrier, S.A.The Companys telecommunications and other data services haga provided by Telecarrier, Inc. Some of
controlling shareholders of CIASA have a contraglinterest in Telecarrier.

Compensation of Key Management Personnel

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Companyipaidmpensation to its key management personndbtloeving amounts:

Year ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Shor-term employees benefi $ 350C $ 2,70(
Pos-employment pensio 68 52
Stock based compensati 4,00( 4,661
$ 7,56 % 7,418

The Company has not set aside any other additimmals for future payments to executive officerdjestthan pursuant to a non-
compete agreement for $3.0 million establisheddi@62
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19. Exchange Rate Difference

Results of operations are translated at averagbaege rates in effect during the period. Foreigoherge gains and losses
included in the exchange rate difference line mm¢bnsolidated statements of income for the year.

On January 8, 2010, the Venezuelan government awseduits decision to implement new fixed excharages effective January :
2010, resulting in a significant devaluation of tr@ivar (VEB) against the U.S. dollar.

Since 2005 the official exchange rate had beerdfateVEB 2.15 per U.S. dollar, however, the newimegapplies two official ratt
to different sectors of the economy. The first exale rate, applicable to imported goods charaetg@s essential, will be VEB 2.
per U.S. dollar, and the rate applicable to alkeotimported goods and services, including the arnasector, will be VEB 4.30 p
U.S. dollar.

In addition, we have significant cash balancesafivars subject to Venezuelan exchange controtsceSR003, under the Venezue
foreign exchange control regime, foreign compamies required to obtain Venezuelan government agprimvexchange Boliva
into U.S. dollars at the fixed official exchangeerdor the purpose of transferring funds out of ®arela. Furthermore, since 2!
foreign companies with operations in Venezuela haxgerienced increasing delays in obtaining suckegonent approvals. (
January 27, 2010 the Venezuelan government annduheg it would apply the exchange rate of VEB 20 U.S. dollar to &
authorization requests in process of approval byMénezuela Central Bank through January 8, 208G Fesult, the Company los
related to the devaluation of these funds were agprately US$19.7 million, which were recorded eftfirst quarter of 2010
accordance with IFRS.
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20. Operating Leases

The Company leases the aircraft it operates aner @hsets under lortgfm lease arrangements. Other leased assets eéncda
property, airport and terminal facilities, salefiagfs, maintenance facilities, training centers gederal offices. Most contract lea
include renewal options; a few have escalationsgaubut no purchase options. Nareraft related leases, primarily held with Ic
governments, generally have renewable terms ofyeae In certain cases, the rental payments duhiegenewal periods would
greater than the current payments. Because the teagwals are not considered to be reasonablyeasghe rental payments t
would be due during the renewal periods are nduded in the determination of rent expense unéllgases are renewed. Lease
improvements are amortized over the contractualiyritted lease term, which does not include thewah periods.

At December 31, 2010, the scheduled future mininkesse rental payments required under aircraft amdaircraft operating leas
that have initial or remaining non-cancelable le@sms in excess of one year are as follows:

Engines
Aircraft and Other
Up to one yea $ 55,23 $ 10,27(
One to five year 204,76: 19,147
Over five year: 100,11( 2,64(
Total minimum lease rental payme| $ 360,10: $ 32,057

Total rent expense was $72.8 million and $61.7iomilfor the years ended December 31, 2010 and 286pectively.
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21. Income Taxes

Expense for deferred taxes and income tax for da@syended at December 31, 2010 and 2009, ateugdtsie to the following:

Current tax expens
Current perioc
Under provided in prior perioc

Deferred tax expens
Origination and reversal of temporary differen

Total income tax expen:

The balances of deferred taxes are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assel
Reserve for maintenan:
Prepaid dividend ta
Others

Deferred tax asse
Return condition:
Property and equipme
Others

Net deferred tax liabilitie

As of As of
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
$ 26,46( $ 15,79
1,151 —
27,61’ 15,79
(8,645 11,10(
$ 18,96¢ $ 26,89
As of As of As of
December 31 December 31 January 1,
2010 2009 2009
$ (11,83) $ (112,54) $ (10,519
(4,567 (4,44¢) (4,03%)
(1,329 (7,060 —
(2,299 (873) (82%)
(20,016 (23,920 (15,377
2,97¢ 1,761 1,21z
_ — 3,48
5,497 2,55k 2,70(
8,47¢ 4,31¢ 7,394
$ (11,54 % (19,609 % (7,989
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21. Income Taxes (continued)

The aggregate amount of temporary differences &sdcwith investments in subsidiaries, branchest associates and interest:
joint ventures, for which deferred tax liabilitibave not been recognized is $9,0

Reconciliation of effective tax rate is as follows:

Net Income
Total income tax expen:

Profit excluding income ta

Income taxes at Panamanian statutory r
Panamanian gross tax elect

Effect of tax rates in nc-Panamanian jurisdictior
Exemption in no-taxable countrie

Under (over) provided in prior perio:

Provision for income taxe

For the year ended

December 31

For the year ended
December 31

2010 2009
241,05 249,08°
18,96¢ 26,80
260,02 275,98:
27.5% 71,50 30.0% 82,79
0.C% — (1.7%) (4,630)
(9.2%) (23,99) (7.3%) (20,08¢)
(11.4%) (29,699 (11.7%) (31,18
0.4% 1,157 0.0% —
7.%% 18,96¢ 9.7% 26,89+
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22. Share-Based Payments

Copa Holdings has established equity compensatamspunder which it administers restricted stotgls options and certain ott
equity-based awards to attract, retain and motivatecutive officers, certain key employees and employee directors
compensate them for their contributions to the ghoand profitability of the Company. Shares delddeunder this award progr:
may be sourced from treasury stock, or authorizegsued shares.

The Company’s equity compensation plans are aceduot under IFRS No. 2Share-Based Payment(*IFRS 2”). IFRS 2 require
companies to measure the cost of employee sermécesved in exchange for an award of equity instmta based on the grahte
fair value of the award or at fair value of the advat each reporting date, depending on the tymanafrd granted. The fair value
estimated using optiopricing models. The resulting cost is recognizeérothe period during which an employee is requi
provide service in exchange for the award, whialsigally the vesting period.

The total compensation cost recognized for wested stock and options awards was $4.0 milli@h%&h7 million in 2010 and 20(
respectively, and was recorded as a componentadafigs and benefits” within Administrative expesise

Nor-vested Stock

Copa Holdings approved a one-time nasted stock bonus award for certain executiveerfi of the Company and eliminated
existing Long Term Retention Plan.

A summary of the terms and conditions, properlyraped by the Compensation Committee of our BoarDiodctors, relating to tt
grants of the non-vested stock award under theyeqoampensation plan is as follows:

Number of Contractua

Grand Date Instruments Vesting Condition: life

March, 200€ 847,62¢ 15% first three anniversaries, 25% fourth and 3G& &nniversary 5 years
March, 200€ 88,02t Second anniversal 2 years
March, 2007 16,95¢ One-third every anniversar 3 years
March, 200¢ 73,37¢ One-third every anniversar 3 years
March, 200¢ 113,71 One-third every anniversar 3 years
March, 201C 52,56 One-third every anniversar 3 years
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22. Share-Based Payments (continued)

Non-vested stock awards were measured at their failreyabhich is the same amount for which a similaestricted share would
issued to third party, on the grant date. For tB&02grants, the fair value of these non-vestedkstagvard was $53.92 ($22.05 —
2009).

A summary of nonsested stock award activity under the plan as afdbeber 31, 2010 and 2009 with changes during theses ar

as follows:
Shares
2010 2009

Nor-vested at January 1 569,76¢ 614,68t
Granted 52,56 113,71
Vested (252,709 (150,41
Forfeited (3,909 (8,229
Non-vested at December st 365,72 569,76t

The Company uses the accelerated attribution methogtognize the compensation cost for awards gritidled vesting periods. T
Company estimates that the remaining compensatiety not yet recognized for the nwasted stock awards, is $2.0 million wit
weighted average remaining contractual life of y®edrs. Additionally, the Company estimates that 2081 compensation ci
related to this plan will be $1.5 million.

Stock Options

In March 2007, Copa Holdings granted 35,657 eqsttck options to certain named executive officersich vested over thr
(3) years in yearly installments equal to dhigd of the awarded stock on each of the thredvansaries of the grant date. 7
exercise price of the options is $53.14, which thesmarket price of the Compasystock at the grant date. The stock options h
contractual term of 10 years.

The weighted-average fair value of the stock opgtiah the grant date was B/.22.33, and was estimated) the Blackschole
optionpricing model assuming an expected dividend yidl0.68%, expected volatility of approximately 37.8%sed on historic
volatility, weighted average risk-free intereseraf 4.59%, and an expected term of 6 years catilander the simplified method.
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22. Share-Based Payments (continued)
Stock Options (continued)

A summary of options award activity under the pdanof December 31, 2010 and changes during theearfollows:

Shares
Outstanding at January 1, 2C 33,62¢
Granted —
Exercisec (990)
Forfeited or expirel —
Outstanding at December 31, 2C 32,63¢

The Company uses the accelerated method to re@grézcompensation cost for stock options. Themmiadditional compensati
cost to be recognized for stock options and theglkted average contractual life of 6.2 years and igrinsic value.

Copa Holdings plans to make additional equity basegdrds under the plan from time to time, includauglitional nonvested stoc
and stock option awards. The Company anticipatsftiiure employee nowested stock and stock option awards granted paotsc
the plan will generally vest over a three yeargetand the stock options will carry a ten year term

23. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculatetiviling the net income for the year attributatdeotdinary equity holders of t
parent by the weighted average number of ordinlaayes outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculagedividing the net income attributable to ordinaguity holders of the parent

the weighted average number of ordinary sharegandsg during the year plus the weighted averageber of ordinary shares tl
would be issued on conversion of all the dilutiatgmtial ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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23. Earnings per share (continued)

The following reflects the income and share datus the basic and diluted earnings per share atatipns:

As of As of
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Net income $ 241,05  $ 249,08
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings peres
Weighted average common shares outstan 43,53¢ 43,30¢
Non-vested share 462 603
Total shares for basic and diluted earnings peres 43,99¢ 43,91
Earnings per shal
Basic and dilutes $ 54¢  $ 5.67

Options to purchase 32,882 shares of common stod6&14 per share outstanding at the end of 20&fe vexcluded in tt
computation of diluted EPS because the options’aése price was greater than the average markst pfithe common shares.

24. Dividends paid
Dividends declared and paid were 1.09 cents peesh&£010 and 0.37 cents per share in 2009.
25. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has 2 purchase contracts with Boeing far 28 Boeing 73Next Generation aircraft, under which the Compaas
twenty two (22) firm orders and six (6) purchaséiags, and another order for thirty (30) Boeing #8&xt Generation aircraft, unc
which the company has twenty (20) firm orders asm {L0) purchase orders. Additionally, the Comphag six purchase optic
with Embraer for Embraer 190 aircraft. The firm erslhave an approximate value of $4 billion basediccraft list prices, includir
estimated amounts for contractual price escalaiahpredelivery deposits. The Company is scheduled to tehiwery of the aircra
underlying the 29 firm orders between 2010 and 2@h8 the aircraft underlying the 30 firm ordersamen 2015 and 2018.
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25. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)
Covenants

As a result of the various aircraft financing cawits entered into by the Company, the Companydgired to comply with certa
financial covenants. These covenants, among ofliegg, require the Company to maintain an EBITDARited charge ratio of
least 2.5 times, a minimum tangible net worth o8&nillion, an EBITDAR to finance charge expensgoraf at least 2.0 times,
net borrowings to Company’capitalization ratio of less than 85%, a totability plus operating leases minus operating da
tangible net worth ratio of less than 5.5, a Idagn obligations to EBITDAR ratio of less than 6a0minimum unrestricted ce
balance of $50 million and a minimum of $75 millisnavailable cash, cash equivalents and short-tevestments.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company was in compdiavith all required covenants.
Labor Unions

Approximately 54% of the Comparg/’7,047 employees are unionized. There are cuyresetven (7) union organizations; f
(5) covering employees in Panama and two (2) cagezmployees in Colombia.

The five (5) unions covering employees in Panancdude: the pilots’ union (SIPAC); the flight attearts’ union (SIPANAB); thi
mechanics’ union (SITECMAP); the traffic attendanision (UGETRACO); and a generalized union (SIELABRhich represen
ground personnel, messengers, drivers, counteitaged other noexecutive administrative staff. Copa Airlines eatkinto a ne
collective bargaining agreement with SIELAS on JAA608 which will end May 2013 and another one opril®2009 witt
SITECMAP on 2010 which will end in 2014. Typicallgllective bargaining agreements in Panama hawestef four years.

In 2010, SIELAS introduced a list of demands whaeh in arbitration with the Ministry of Labour.

The two (2) unions covering employees in Colomls& pilots’ union (ACDAC): The current collective bargainingregment, whic
was valid from March 3, 2009 until December 31, 2@kpired without having the union presenting adfilpetitions. So the prese¢
agreement will be extended for another 6 monthschvimeans that will be expiring again on June 3,12 flight attendantstnior
(ACAV): there is currently a collective bargainiagreement signed with ACDAC valid from July 17, 2athtil December 31, 201
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25. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Typically, collective bargaining agreements in Golba have terms of two to four years. Copa Colomhées traditionall
experienced good relations with its unions.

Lines of Credit for Working Capital and Letters@riedit

The Company maintained available facilities fotdet of credit with several banks with outstandi@gances of $26.8 million a
$25.7 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respeyg. These letters of credit are pledged maifdy operating lessol
maintenance providers and airport operators. Qftthtal, $2.9 million are letters of credit opemgdbehalf of Copa Colombia for 1
same purposes listed above.

Copa Airlines has lines of credit at total amouht$@39 million, in which it has committed lines ofedit totaling $79 millior
including one line of credit for $15 million witha®co General, an overdraft line of credit of $10iom with Towerbank, a line «
credit of $20 million with Citibank, a line of creef $30 million with Banco Nacional de Panaméa ameé line of credit of $4 millic
with Banco Panama. Copa Airlines also has a nomutted line of credit of $60.0 million with BladeXhese lines of credit ha
been put in place to bridge liquidity gaps anddtrer potential contingencies.

As of December 31, 2010 Copa Airlines has an onitsigy balance of $13.0 million dollars with Bladex
Litigation

We are plaintiffs in an action we filed against RIKERO, Brazils airport operator, in October of 2003 challendimglegality of th
Additional Airport Tariffs (Adicional das Tarifas Aeroportuarigsor ATAERO), which is a 50% surcharge imposed braidines
which fly to Brazil. Similar suits have been filegainst INFRAERO by other major airline carriens.dur case, the court of fi
instance ruled in favor of INFRAERO and we haveegled the judgment. During the pendency of thgdtton, we continue to p
the amounts of ATAERO due into an escrow account @ of December 31, 2010, the aggregate amousuah account total
US$16 million. In the event we receive a final wtfeable judgment, we will be required to releaseéhkcrowed fund to INFRAEF
and will not be able to recover such amounts. Weatp however, expect the release of such amoortisite a material impact
our financial results.
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26. Objectives and Policies for Managing FinancidRisk
26.1 Fuel Price Risk

In the normal course of its operations, the Compiangxposed to a variety of financial risks: markiek (especially cash floy
currency, commodity price and interest rate risigdit risk and liquidity risk. The Company hasabdished risk managem:
policies to minimize potential adverse effects lom Company’s financial performance.

Also the Company has risks that are common in tineilustry and these are mitigated through deriestigontracts. The main r
associated with the industry is the variation ialforices, which the Company mitigates throughwdgives instruments contracts.

The Company periodically enters into transactioith derivative financial instruments, namely, falgrivative instruments, with t
purpose of providing for short to midrm hedge protection (generally three to eighteemths) against sudden and signifit
increases in jet fuel prices, while simultaneoushsuring that the Company is not competitively disataged in the event o
substantial decrease in the price of jet fuel. Thenpany does not hold or issue derivative finanaisttuments for trading purposes.

The Companys derivative contracts did not qualify as hedgedif@ncial reporting purposes. Accordingly, chasige fair value ¢
such derivative contracts, which amounted to $iiillion and $58.0 million in years 2010 and 2008spectively, were recorded ¢
component of “Other operating expenses” in the glidated statement of income.

The fair value of derivative contracts amounte®2d.9 million at December 31, 2010 and $10.0 millad December 31, 2009 ¢
was recorded in “Other current assets” in the clidested statement of financial position. The Comparpurchases of jet fuel ¢
made substantially from one supplier.

At December 31, 2010, the Company held derivatistriuments for 23% of its projected fuel consumpfior 2011, in comparis¢
with 27% of its 2010 fuel expense.

Financial derivative instruments expose the Compiangredit loss in the event of nonperformance ly tounterparties to t
agreements. However, the Company does not expgcfadare of the counterparties to meet their oéligns, as the Comparsy’
policy to manage credit risk is to engage in bussneith counterparties who are financially stabid avellversed in the matters
energy risk management. The amount of such creggdiisre is generally the unrealized gain, if anyslch contracts.

The sensitivity of a possible change in the pri€gebfuel, with all other variables held constaot,the Company income befoi
income taxes if the price of jet fuel were to irase or decrease by 5% would be $17,721 and $15@010 and 2009, respective
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26. Objectives and Policies for Managing FinanciaRisk (continued)
26.2 Market Risk
Foreign Currency Ris

Foreign exchange risk is originated when the Compperforms transactions and maintains monetarytassed liabilities i
currencies that are different to the functionalrency of the Company. Assets and liabilities inefgn currency are converted w
the exchange rates at the end of the period, eXoepionmonetary assets and liabilities that are conveatetie equivalent cost
the (US$) United States Dollar at the acquisitiatedand maintain at the historical rate. The resfitoperations are converted v
the average exchange rates that were in placegdtivinperiod. Earnings and losses deriving fronharge rates are included wit
“Exchange rate difference” in the consolidatedestant of income.

In 2010, approximately 67% of the Compangxpenses and 42% of its revenues are denomimatidiars. The rest of revenue ¢
expenses are denominated in currencies from cesntine Company flies to, on which the most sigaificis the Colombian Pe:
Generally, the Company’exposure to foreign currency risk is limited tpeaiod of up to two weeks, from the moment thatghle i
completed until the funds are repatriated to Pananbalboa or dollars of the United States of Aroari

If the devaluation percentage of the most represimes currencies would have been 5% during 201D tha remaining mark
variables were constant, the pretax income woulg Hallen by $0.23 in 2010 and $0.22 in 2009. Tkerdase origin would |
principally for exchange losses, due to the reatitm of the currency, due to the Company genemalfyntains more assets tl
liabilities in foreign currency, basically cash azakh equivalents.

Due to exchange controls in Venezuela, howeverpften experience additional delays converting ageherated from our loc
operations in Venezuela.
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26.2 Market Risk (continued)
Foreign Currency Risk (continue

The following chart summarized the Compangxchange risk exposure (assets and liabilitie®méated in foreign currency)
December 31, 2010 and 2009:

As of As of
December 31 December 31

2010 2009
Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 34489 $ 265,39¢
Documents and accounts receivables, 58,71¢ 36,35¢
Prepaid expense 28,66( 24,96¢
Other asset 46,00: 41,33:
Total asset $ 478,27.  $ 368,05!
Liabilities
Loans $ 2,908 % 13,18¢
Accounts payables suppliers and agen 144,15° 86,94¢
Accumulated taxes and expenses paye 51,28¢ 53,33(
Air traffic liability 7,76¢€ 5,03t
Other liabilities 41,68¢ 19,197
Total liabilities 247,79¢ 177,69¢
Net position $ 230,47¢ $ 190,35’
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26.3 Credit Risk

The credit risk is originated from the cash anchocaguivalents, deposits in banks, investmentsnanitial instruments, accounts
documents receivables and consist in the risktti@icounterparty could not be capable to fulfdl @dontracted obligations, caus
financial losses to the Company. The Company, tigate the credit risk arising from deposit in bardnd investments in financ
instruments, only performs business with finangiatruments that have investment grade of Fitch $tachdard & Poor above BBB-
with strength and liquidity indicators aligning Wwibr above the market average. Also, for the cneskt originated for commerci
accounts receivables, the Company does not congidera significant one, since most of the acceumtceivables can be ea
converted into cash, usually in periods no longeome month. Accounts receivables from cargo agsnare more likely to |
exposed to credit risk, but this is mitigated wiltle established policies to make sure that theitcsates are to clients with go
credit history. Specific credit limits and paymeatms have been established according to perigtitysis of the payment capac
of the clients.

A considerable amount of the sales of tickets by @ompany are processed through major credit caedsy|ting in accoun
receivable that are generally shtetm, and usually collected before revenue is reizegl. The Company considers that the ¢
risk associated with these accounts receivableoigrallable based on the indussytrends and strong policies and procec
established and followed up by the Company.

26.4 Interest Rates and Cash Flow Risk

The income and operating cash flow of the Compaaysabstantially independent of changes in intewss, because the Comp
does not have significant assets that generategttexcept for surplus cash.

The interest rate risk is originated mainly for doterm aircraft lease payments. These long terselgayments at variable intel
rates expose the Company to cash flow risk. Togauiéi the effect of variable cash flows associabecbntracted rates and transft
them into fixed rates, the Company has entereddntInterest Rates Swap contract to hedge agaedtet rates fluctuations. Tl
eliminate interest rates hedge contract has besigridged and qualified as cash flow hedge contradts changes in fair val
recorded in “Other current assets” or in “Otherrent liabilities” in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Posidad offset i
“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)”.
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26.4 Interest Rates and Cash Flow Risk (continued)

At December 31, 2010, the fixed interest rates aoyn 0.28% to 6.07% and the main floating ratd.IBOR. Gains and loss
recognized in the other comprehensive income iritegu interest rate swap contracts as of Decer@lbgR010 will be continuous
released to the consolidated statement of incortietne repayment of the debt.

The fair value of the interest rate swap hedgevdévie contract amounted to $6,504 and $5,204 aebéer 31, 2010 and 2C
respectively and is recorded as a component of éOturrent liabilities” against theAtcumulated other comprehensive ince
(loss)”.

The ineffective portion of this contract, if any fiecognized in the consolidated statement of ikc@® a component oOthel
operating expenses”. During these periods therenoaseffectiveness of the hedging contracts.

26.5 Liquidity Risk
The Companys policy requires having sufficient cash to fulfi obligations. The Company maintains sufficieash on hand and

banks or equivalents of easy realization into c@sle. Company also has credit lines in financidiagons that allows it to withstai
potential cash deficit to fulfill its short term manitments.

F-60




Table of Contents

COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

(In US$ thousands)

26.5 Liquidity Risk (continued)

The table below summarizes the Comparfyhancial liabilities according to their maturitiate. The amounts in the table are
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances dtlénstwelve months equal their carrying balanceshe impact of discounting
not significant.

Less than More than
December 31, 201! twelve months 1to 4 years four years
Long term deb 100,86( 425,78: 462,90(
Accounts payabl 66,00¢ — —
Air traffic liability 208,73! — —
Accounts payable to related part 13,89t — —
Other liabilities 108,40( 59,45: —
December 31, 200!
Long term deb 94,55( 326,59¢ 424,37¢
Accounts payabl 50,88« — —
Air traffic liability 180,95 — —
Accounts payable to related part 14,10: — —
Other liabilities 103,12. 55,48¢ —

26.6 Capital Risk Management

The Company’s objectives when managing capitat@asafeguard the Comparsyability to continue as a going concern in ore
provide returns for shareholders and benefits fbelostakeholders and to maintain an optimal chgitacture to reduce the cost
capital.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Comparonitors capital on the basis of the gearing réfius ratio is calculated as
debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calcethas total borrowings (including current and ronrent borrowings as shown in
consolidated statement of financial position) leash and cash equivalents. Total capital is catedlas equity as shown in
consolidated statement of financial position plasaebt.

Following is summarized the gearing ratio of thex@any:

2011
Total loans payable (Note 1 $ 989,54
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Not (402,609
Net debt 586,93¢
Total equity 1,109,96!
Total capital $ 1,696,90
Gearing ratic 35%
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26.7 Fair value measurement

The carrying amount of cash, cash equivalentsticte cash, accounts receivable and accounts fagpaproximate fair value dt
to their short-term nature.

Fair value measurement is classified entirely foilg the hierarchy level of fair value that waslimted in the IFRS Financial
Instruments: Disclosuresas following:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active miarker identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices includwithin level 1 that are observable for the assdiatnility, either directly (that is, &
prices) or indirectly (that is derived from prices)

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability thatist based on observable market data (that is uneddsle inputs).

The following chart summarizes the Companfihancial instruments measured at fair valuesgifeed according to the valuati

method:
Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using

December 31
Description 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Fuel derivative: $ 21,78t — $ 21,78t —
Currency derivative 20¢ — 20¢ —
Total asset $ 21,99 — $ 21,99¢ —
Liabilities
Interest rates hedg: 6,504 — 6,504 —
Total liabilities $ 6,504 — $ 6,504 —
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27. Special Fleet Charges

In 2009, the Company decided to terminate earlgehviD-80 aircraft leases, in connection with the fleetonation plan of Cog
Colombia to Embraer190 aircraft. Early termination charges amountedb10.5 million and were recognized as Special
Charges in the consolidated statements of income.

In connection with the early lease terminationg, @ompany wrote off related property, plant andiggent such as rotable pa
spare engines and tools that amounted to $4.9%midind recognized a loss of $4.0 million relatethtoscrap of obsolete expend:
parts. We estimated the fair values based on dumarket conditions, the condition of our aircraftd our expected proceeds fi
the sale of the assets, using unobservable inputatiich there is little or no market data and vishiequire us to develop our o
assumptions about how market participants woulcepthie assets.

28. Subsequent Events
Stock Grants

During first quarter of 2011, the Compensation Cottea of the Companyg’ Board of Directors approved four (4) new aw:
Awards were granted under these new plans for appetely 319,000 shares of neested stock, which will vest over a perioc
three (3) to five (5) years. The Company estim#besfair value of these awards to be approxima$dl8.1 million and the 20:
compensation cost for these plans is $7.2 million.

Dividend distributior

On May 4, 2011, the ComparsyBoard of Directors approved a dividend distribatof approximately $72 million, which represe
30% of the 2010 net income. This dividend will kédoon June 15, 2011.
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29. Segment Reporting

The Company determined it has two reportable setgnétme Copa segment and the Copa Colombia segimemiarily becaus:
(1) management evaluates the financial and opeticesults of the Copa segment and Copa Colondgament separately 1
internal reporting and management performance atialu purposes; and (2) management intends to alopa Colombigs existing
management to continue operating the airline asirt4o-point Colombian carrier. The accounting policiestté segments are !
same as those described in Note 2, “Summary ofifgignt Accounting Policies”General corporate and other assets are allocs
the Copa segment.

Information concerning operating revenue by priatigeographic area for the period ended Decembér &4 follow (in millions):

2010 2009
North America $ 215.2 $ 192.¢
Central America and Caribbe 208.2 188.1
South Americe 784.2 740.2
Panam: 206.¢ 135.1

$ 1,414.¢ $ 1,256.(

We attribute revenue among the geographical arassdoupon point of sales. Our tangible assets apitiat expenditures cons
primarily of flight and related ground support gouient, which is mobile across geographic markets #rerefore, has not be
allocated.

F-64




Table of Contents

COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

(In US$ thousands)

29. Segment Reporting

Operating information for the Copa segment anddbpa Colombia segment for the period ended DeceBhe2010 and 2009 is
follow (in millions):

2010 2009
Operating revenues:
Copa segmer 1,164.( 1,013.:
Copa Colombia segme 270.C 254.¢
Eliminations (19.2) (11.%)
Consolidatec 1,414.¢ 1,256.(
Depreciation:
Copa segmer 55.2 46.7
Copa Colombia segme 7.7 4.1
Consolidatec 62.¢ 50.€
Aircraft rentals:
Copa segmer 30.4 25.t
Copa Colombia segme 27.2 26.2
Eliminations (11.9) (5.2
Consolidatec 46.% 46.F
Operating income:
Copa segmer 292.( 232.%
Copa Colombia segme (5.0 6.t
Eliminations 2.6 0.€
Consolidatec 289.¢ 240.1
Interest expense
Copa segmer 27.C 30.C
Copa Colombia segme 2.9 2.C
Consolidatec 29.¢ 32.¢
Interest income:
Copa segmer 3.9 8.1
Copa Colombia segme 0.9 1.C
Consolidatec 4.8 9.1
Income before income taxes
Copa segmer 264.7 271.¢
Copa Colombia segme (4.7) 4.1
Consolidatec 260.( 275.¢
Total Assets at End of Period
Copa segmer 2,386.: 1,984..
Copa Colombia segme 340.¢ 321.¢
Eliminations (171.0) (145.0
Consolidatec 2,555.¢ 2,161.:
Capital Expenditures:
Copa segmer (270.9 (155.9)
Copa Colombia segme (58.5) (55.9)
Consolidatec (328.9) (211.5)

Total Liabilities at End of Period:
Copa Segmer 1,277.t 1,082.(



Copa Colombia segme 273.< 246.¢
Eliminations (104.9 (78.7)

Consolidatec 1,446.( 1,250.:
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
Supplemental Agreement No. 21
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft

THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT No. 21 (“Supplementajfeement 21") is entered into as of May 28, 201 @y
between THE BOEING COMPANY, a Delaware corporatidgth its principal office in Seattle, WashingtoBaeing) and COPA
HOLDINGS, S.A., INC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchageément No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998, (as dedend
supplemented and together with all exhibits, schedand letter agreements pertaining thereto, Phechase Agreementiglating tc
Boeing Model 737-7V3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (colleely, the “Aircraft” and each an “Aircraft”);

WHEREAS, Customer has exercised one (1) [***] Optidircraft and one (1) [***] Option Aircraft; and
[***]
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cams herein contained, the parties agree as fallows

1. The one (1) [***] and one (1) [***] Aircraft theCustomer has exercised will deliver one (1) [*With serial number [***] and
one (1) in [**]with serial number [***].

2. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herball$ave the meanings ascribed to them in thelisee Agreement.

3. The “ Table of Contentsof the Purchase Agreement is revised to refleetdghanges made by this Supplemental Agreement 21
and to delete Restricted Letter Agreement “6-118J-082R8. . . .Special Matters . . . .SA-20" frdme fTable of Contents since it
was not included in SA-20. A copy of the revisedl€aof Contents is attached hereto.

4. The following changes are made to the Aircradtivery, Description, Price and Advance Paymentsid@&to incorporate the [***]

4.1. Tables 1-6, 1-9 and 1-10B are revised to chaing features price and SPE price as discusgeatagraph 4 above. Tables
1-6, 1-9 and 1-10B as revised in accordance withgaragraph 4 are attached hereto.

PA No. 2191 Page 1 SA No. 2:
May 201(
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4.2. Table 1-8 is revised to change the featuneg jand SPE price as discussed in paragraph 4 dbotle August 2011
Aircraft only. Table 1-8, as revised, is attachedeto.

4.3. Table 1-10A is revised to create two Tablesbld 1-10A(1) lists only the [***] Aircraft which @ntinue to have the features
from Exhibit A-3. Table 1-10A(2) lists the remaimdd the Aircraft from Table 1-10A and includes texised features pricing
and SPE estimate as discussed in paragraph 4 abable. 1-10A(1) and Table 1-10A(2) are attachecetoer

4.4. Table 1-12, attached hereto, provides theéngimformation for the exercised [***] Aircraft.

5. Exhibit A-4 entitled “Aircraft Configuration fo€ustomer’s 737-8V3 Aircraft with Deliveries [***]"attached hereto, provides the
features for Aircraft with deliveries [***] includig the [***]. These changes will be included in Guser’s Detail Specification
number [***].

6. Supplemental Agreement BFE1, Buyer Furnishedpfgent Variables, paragraph 2 is revised as staéalv to add the
preliminary on-dock dates for the [***] Aircraft.rEeliminary On dock Dates for the [***] Aircraft af®und in Supplemental
Agreement 18.

[***]
Aircraft
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]

[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]

[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]

7. [***]

8. Letter Agreement 6-RLL-3958R2, Table 11 entitl€@ption Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price adlvance Payments is
revised to [***]. The revised Table 11 dated Mayl®20s attached hereto

0. [***]
10. [***]

PA No. 2191 Page SA No. 2:
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11. At signing of this Supplemental Agreement is due.

The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sumpitsd and revised to the extent herein providesf #& date hereof and as so
supplemented and revised will continue in full end effect.

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Suppleihfgreement to be duly executed as of the dayyaad first written above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
By By:
Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Office
PA No. 2191 Page @ SA No. 2:
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Table 1-6
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments
(BSI Interior)

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [***]
Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation

Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B26 [***]  Formula: [***]  [***]
Airframe Price: [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula — [***] [***]
Optional Features: il I il
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: [***]  Airframe Escalation Data: [**]
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0 Base Year Index (ECI): [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): ***]  Base Year Index (CPI): [***]
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: $ O
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: [***]
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: [***]

Escalation

Estimate

Escalation Adv Paymeni Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor  Serial Base [***] [***] [***] [***]
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number Price Per AIF  [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
Total: 4

COF-5404}-1F. TXT May 201(
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Table 1-8
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments
Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: see PA 219:
Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B26 [***] Formula: [***]  [***]
Airframe Price*: see note below [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: [***]  [***]
Optional Features: il T il
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: [***]  Airframe Escalation Data: [***]
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0 Base Year Index (ECI): [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): ***]  Base Year Index (CPI): [***]
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: $ O
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate [***]
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: [***]
Escalation
Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto
Number Escalation Adv Payment Delivery):
Delivery of Factor  Serial Base [***] [***] [***] [***]
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number Price Per AIF  [***] [***] [*¥**] [*¥**]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [**-k] [***] [**-k] [***] [**-k] [***] [**-k] [**-k]
Total: 2
[***]
[***]
COF-48720/5402-1F. TXT May 201(
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Table 1-9
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments
(BSI Interior)

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [+ ]
Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B26 [***] Formula: [
Airframe Price: [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula  [***] [***]
Optional Features: ]
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: [***]  Airframe Escalation Data: [***]
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0 Base Year Index (ECI): [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): ***]  Base Year Index (CPI): [***]
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: $ O
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: [***]
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: [***]
Escalation
Estimate
Escalation Adv Paymeni Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor  Serial Base [**+] [***] [**] [**]
Date Aircraft  (Airframe) Number Price Per AIF  [**] [***] [***] [
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
Total: 2
COF-5402-1F.TXT May 201(
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Table 1-10A(1)
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [***]
Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B26 [***] Formula: [***]  [***]
Airframe Price: [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: [***]  [***]
Optional Features: i
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: [***]  Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0 Base Year Index (ECI): [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): ***]  Base Year Index (CPI): [***]
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: $ O
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate [***]
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: [***]
Escalation
Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto
Escalation Adv Payment Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor  Serial Base [***] [***] [***] [***]
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number Escalatior Price Per A/IF  [***] [*¥**] [***] [*¥**]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [**-k] [***] [**-k] [**-k] [**-k] [**-k] [***] [**-k]
Total: 2
[***]
[***]
[***]
COP PA 2191 S-20 11/25/0¢
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Table 1-10A(2)
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments (BSI/Winglets)
Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [***]
Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B26 [***] Formula: [***]  [***]
Airframe Price: [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: [***] [**¥]
Optional Features: i
Suk-Total of Airframe and Features: [***] Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0 Base Year Index (ECI): [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): ***]  Base Year Index (CPI): [***]
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: $ O
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate [***]
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: [***]
Escalation
Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto
Escalation Adv Payment Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor  Serial Fixed Base [***] [***] [***] [***]
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number Escalatior Price Per A/IF  [***] [*¥**] [***] [*¥**]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
Total: 10
[***]
[***]
COF- 5401¢-1F.TXT May 201(
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Table 1-10B
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments
(BSI Interior)

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [***]
Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B26 [***] Formula: [***] [***]
Airframe Price: [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula  [***] [***]
Optional Features: i
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: [***]  Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0 Base Year Index (ECI): [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): ***]  Base Year Index (CPI): [***]
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: $ O
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: [***]
Option Deposit Paid [***]
Escalation
Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto
Escalation Adv Payment Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor  Serial Base [***] [***] [***] [***]
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number Escalation* Price Per A/F  [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [**-k] [**-k] [**-k] [***] [**-k]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
Total: 3
[***]
[***]
COF- 5402:-1F. TXT May 201(
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Table 1-12
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments
(BSI Interior)

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [***]
Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation

Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B26 [***] Formula: [***] [***]
Airframe Price: [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula  [***] [***]
Optional Features: i
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: [***]  Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0 Base Year Index (ECI): [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): ***]  Base Year Index (CPI): [***]
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: $ O
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: [***]
Option Deposit [***]

Escalation

Estimate

Escalation Adv Paymeni Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):

Delivery Number of Factor Serial Base [***] [***] [***] [***]
Date Aircraft  (Airframe) Numbers Price Per AIF  [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***]
COF-5401¢-1F. TXT May 201(
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Table 1-11
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments
(BSI Interior)

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [***]
Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B26 [***]  Formula: [***]  [***]
Airframe Price: [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula — [***] [***]
Optional Features: i
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: [***]  Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0 Base Year Index (ECI): [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): ***]  Base Year Index (CPI): [***]
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: $ O
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: [***]
Non-Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Def Agreemt: [***]
Escalation
Estimate
Escalation Adv Payment Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor Base [***] [***] [***] [***]
Date Aircraft  (Airframe) Price Per A/F [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [**-k] [***] [***] [**-k] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [**-k] [***] [***] [**-k] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
COF- 5403¢-10.TXT May 201(

PA No. 2191 S-21 Boeing Proprietary Page




11-COP38W000-06_051101017.

PA No. 2191 S-21

BOEING PROPRIETARY

AIRCRAFT CONFIGURATION FOR AIRCRAFT
WITH DELIEVERIES [**¥]

Between
THE BOEING COMPANY
And
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC.

Exhibit A-4 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191

A-4
BOEING PROPRIETARY

CONFIDENTIAL

4/11/201:




CONFIDENTIAL

Exhibit A-4 to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
Page 2

AIRCRAFT CONFIGUARTION
WITH DELIEVERIES BEGINNING IN 2011

Dated May 2010
relating to
BOEING MODEL 737-8V3 AIRCRAFT
Exhibit A-4 provides the Options for CustongAircraft [***]. These Aircraft will have the [**4. The Detail Specification wi
be [***]. Such Detail Specification will incorporatthe Options listed below, including the [***]. €haircraft Basic Price reflects and

includes all effects of such Options, except suaierAft Basic Price does not include the price &feof any Buyer Furnished
Equipment or Seller Purchased Equipment. Exhibit i&-[***] used in the pricing Tables.

P.A. No. 2191 S-21 A-4
BOEING PROPRIETARY




CONFIDENTIAL

11-COP38W000-06_051101017. BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-06

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA No. 219C BOEING PROPRIETARY Page




CONFIDENTIAL

11-COP38W000-06_051101017. BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-06

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA No. 219C BOEING PROPRIETARY Page .




CONFIDENTIAL

11-COP38W000-06_051101017. BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-06

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA No. 219C BOEING PROPRIETARY Page




CONFIDENTIAL

11-COP38W000-06_051101017. BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-06

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA No. 219C BOEING PROPRIETARY Page -




CONFIDENTIAL

11-COP38W000-06051101017: BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-06

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA No. 219C BOEING PROPRIETARY Page




CONFIDENTIAL

11-COP38W000-06_051101017. BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-06

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA No. 219C BOEING PROPRIETARY Page




CONFIDENTIAL

11-COP38W000-06_051101017. BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-06

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA No. 219C BOEING PROPRIETARY Page




CONFIDENTIAL

COP38W000:-07_051110101813.XL BOEING PROPRIETARY

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-07

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
PA No. 2191 S,-21 BOEING PROPRIETARY May 201(

Page




CONFIDENTIAL

12-COP38W000-07_05110101813XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-07

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA 2190 S/-21 Boeing Proprietary Page




CONFIDENTIAL

12-COP38W000-07_05110101813XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-07

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA 2190 S/-21 Boeing Proprietary Page !




CONFIDENTIAL

12-COP38W000-07_05110101813XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-07

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA 2190 S/-21 Boeing Proprietary Page




CONFIDENTIAL

12-COP38W000-07_05110101813XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-07

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA 2190 S/-21 Boeing Proprietary Page !




CONFIDENTIAL

12-COP38W000-07_05110101813XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-07

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA 2190 S/-21 Boeing Proprietary Page




CONFIDENTIAL

12-COP38W000-07_05110101813XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38WO000-07

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

May 201(

PA 2190 S/-21 Boeing Proprietary Page




CONFIDENTIAL

COP38W000-08_051110095538.XL BOEING PROPRIETARY

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38W000-08

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]

PA No. 2191 Page 1 SA No. i




CONFIDENTIAL

13-COP38W000-08_05110095538.3XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38W000-08

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
PA No. 2191 S,-21 BOEING PROPRIETARY SS1(-022¢

AERC-B-BBA4-M10-0377




CONFIDENTIAL

13-COP38W000-08_05110095538.3XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38W000-08

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
PA No. 2191 S,-21 BOEING PROPRIETARY SS1(-022¢

AERC-B-BBA4-M10-0377




CONFIDENTIAL

13-COP38W000-08_05110095538.3XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38W000-08

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
PA No. 2191 S,-21 BOEING PROPRIETARY SS1(-022¢

AERGC-B-BBA4-M10-0377




CONFIDENTIAL

13-COP38W000-08_05110095538.3XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38W000-08

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
PA No. 2191 S,-21 BOEING PROPRIETARY SS1(-022¢
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13-COP38W000-08_05110095538.3XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38W000-08

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
PA No. 2191 S-21 BOEING PROPRIETARY SS1(-022¢
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CONFIDENTIAL

13-COP38W000-08_05110095538.3XL BOEING PROPRIETARY 4/11/201:

Exhibit A To
Boeing Purchase Agreement

Customer Log COP38W000-08

Customer COP— COPA Airlines
Model: 737-800
Base Date [***]
Qty of A/C: [***]

[

Price
CR Title Per A/IC
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***]
PA No. 2191 S,-21 BOEING PROPRIETARY SS1(-022¢
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Attachment to Letter Agreement
No. €-1162-KSW-6471
CFM56-7B26 Engines

Page 1

MODEL 737-8V3 [**]

FOR COPA (COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. INC.)

SECTION CONTENTS
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
PA No. 2191 Si-21 BOEING PROPRIETARY SS1(-022¢
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Attachment to Letter Agreement
No. €-1162-KSW-6471
CFM56-7B26 Engines

Page 2

[***]

[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]

PA No. 2191 S-21 BOEING PROPRIETARY
AERGC-B-BBA4-M10-0377

[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]

CONFIDENTIAL

[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
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Attachment to Letter Agreement
No. €-1162-KSW-6471
CFM-56-7B26 Engines

Page 3

[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]

-
-
-
-

[***]

-
-
-
-

PA No. 2191 S,-21 BOEING PROPRIETARY SS1(-022¢
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Attachment to Letter Agreement
No. €-1162-KSW-6471
CFM56-7B26 Engines

Page 4

[***]

[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]

PA No. 2191 S-21 BOEING PROPRIETARY SS1(-022¢
AERC-B-BBA4-M10-0377
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"

SFOEING

The Boeing Company
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 98124-2207

LA-1000842

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemenay Calle 390
Panama 1, Paname

Subject: Installation of Cabin Systems Equipm

Reference:  Purchase Agreement No. 2191 (Purchase Agreememtgée The Boeing Company (Boeing) and COPA
HOLDINGS, S.A (Customer) relating to Model i-8V3 Aircraft [***]

This letter agreement (Letter Agreement) amendssapglements the Purchase Agreement. All terms isedot defined
in this Letter Agreement will have the same meargsgn the Purchase Agreement.

[***]
[***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]

[***] [***]




e

S OEING

[***]

[***]

PA No. 2191

[***]

[***] X

[***]

[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]

[***]

CONFIDENTIAL

[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]

SA No. 7
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CONFIDENTIAL
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.INC.

LA-1 000842
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***]
[***] [***]
[***]
[***] [***]
[***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***]
[***] [***]
[***]
[***]

PA 2190 S/-21 2 May 201(
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S OFEFING
CONFIDENTIAL

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.,INC.
LA-1 000842

Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By/(gu’ééf«,c' é«_)_a_,b.._j

Its Attorney-In-Fact
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO thi:
Date: May __ , 201
COPA (COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC

By

Its

PA 2190 S/-21

May 201(
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.,INC.

LA-1 000842
[¥+4]
[***]

[***]

[¥]

[¥] [4]

[***] [***]

[***] [***]

[¥] [¥]

PA 2190 S/-21 4 May 201(
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.,INC.
LA-1 000842

[***]
[***]

[***]

PA 2190 S/-21

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]

May 201(



EXHIBIT 10.55
CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
Supplemental Agreement No. 22
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft
THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT No. 22 (“Supplementabfeement 22")s entered into as of September 24, 201
and between THE BOEING COMPANY, a Delaware corgoratith its principal office in Seattle, WashingtqBoeing) and COP
HOLDINGS, S.A. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchageeéinent No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998, (as dedemn:
supplemented and together with all exhibits, scheedand letter agreements pertaining thereto, Buechase Agreementiglating tc
Boeing Model 737-7V3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (colleely, the “Aircraft” and each an “Aircraft”);

WHEREAS, Customer is purchasing [***] aircraft [*}*

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have mutually agreeaimiend the Agreement to incorporate the effech@$e and certe
other changes;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cau@s herein contained, the parties agree as follows

1. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herkadldave the meanings ascribed to them in theHase Agreement. The [***] 737-
8V3 aircraft that Customer is purchasing are haféén defined as the Table 1-13 Aircraft.

2. The “ Table of Contents of the Purchase Agreement is revised to reflectcttenges made by this Supplemental Agreeme
and a copy of such revised Table of Contents &h#d hereto.

3. Table 1-13, “Aircraft Delivery, Description, e and Advance Paymentsittached hereto, is added to the Purchase Agre
providing the delivery and pricing information fibre Table 1-13 Aircraft.

6. Exhibit A-4 entitled “Aircraft Configuration fo€ustomer’s 737-8V3 [***]” provides the configurati for the Table 1-13 Aircraft.

PA No. 2191 SA No. 2:
September 20:




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

7. Supplemental Exhibit BFE1, Buyer Furnished Emept Variables is not revised because preliminandack dates for the
delivery positions are not available as they atside the current production schedule. [***]

8 i [***]

9. Letter Agreement 6-RLL-1162-3958R2, entitled ptidn Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Aalvce Payment§ is [***].
The revised letter agreement 6-1962-RLL-3958R3t&ched hereto

10. [**]
11. [**]

12. Letter Agreement COP-2191-LA-10001606 entiftet] attached hereto, is added to the Purchaseetgrnent.
[*4]

The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sugpltad and revised to the extent herein provideaf #ise date hereof and as
supplemented and revised will continue in full fend effect.

PA No. 2191 Page 2 SA No. 2:
September 20:




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Suppiaidgreement to be duly executed as of the dayyasad first written above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
By By:
Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Office
PA No. 2191 Page 3 SA No. 2:

September 20!




CONFIDENTIAL
TABLE OF CONTENTS

SA

ARTICLES NUMBER
1. Quantity, Model and Descriptic SA 3
2. Delivery Schedul
3. Price
4. Paymen SA 3
5. Miscellaneou:
TABLE
1-1 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft SA 4
1-2 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SAE
1-3 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft SA 7
1-4 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft SA 1¢
1-5 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 1¢
1-6 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-7 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7.-8V3 Aircraft Option Aircraft SA 1:
1-8 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-9 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-10 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-10A(1) Aircraft Information Table for Model 7-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-10A(2) Aircraft Information Table for Model 7-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-10B Aircraft Information Table for Model 7-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-11 Aircraft Information Table for Model 737 -8V3 Option Aircraft SA 22
1-12 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-13 Aircraft Information Table for Model 737 -8V 3 Aircraft SA 22
1-14 Aircraft Information Table for Model 737 -8V3 Option Aircraft SA 27
EXHIBIT
A-1 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft SA 3
A-2 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 3
A-3 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 1¢
A-4 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 2z

[***]
B. Aircraft Delivery Requirements and Responsilg! SA 3
PA No. 2191 i SA No. 2:

September 20:




SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS

AEL. Escalation Adjustment Airframe and Optionahftees

BFEL. BFE Variable:

CS1. Customer Support Variabl

EE1. Engine Escalation/Engine Warranty and Patedgrhnity

SLP1. Service Life Policy Componet

LETTER AGREEMENT

219101
2191-02
2191-03
219103R1

Demonstration Flight Waive

Seller Purchased Equipme
Seller Purchased Equipme

RESTRICTED LETTER AGREEMENT:

6-1162-DAN-0123
6-1162-DAN-0124
6-1162-DAN-0155
6-1162-DAN-0156
6-1162-DAN-0157
6-1162-MJB-0017
6-1162-MJB-0030
6-1162-LAJ-874R
6-1162-LAJ-874R1
6-116z-LAJ-874R2
6-1162-LAJ-982
6-1162-LAJ-982R3
6-1162-RLL-3852
6-116z-LAJ-982R4
6-1162-RLL-3958
6-1162-RLL-3958R1
6-1162-RLL-3958R2
6-1162z-RLL -3958R3
6-1162-LAJ-982R5
6-1162-LAJ-982R6
6-116zLAJ-982R7
6-1162-LAJ -982R8
6-1162-RLL-4092
6-116-KSW-6417
6-1162-KSW-6419
6-1162-KSW-6419R1
6-1162-KSW-6471

LA-1000847
LA -1000160¢

PA No. 2191

Performance Guarante

Special Matter:

Airframe Escalation Revisio

Year 2000 Ready Software, Hardware and Firmy
Miscellaneous Matter

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

737-800 Performance Guarante
Special Matter:

737-8V3 Option Aircraft

737-8V3 Option Aircraft

737-8V3 Option Aircraft

737-8V3 Option Aircraft

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matters

Advance Payment Matters for Aircraft Listed in Tal-9
*kk

{***}

[***]

[***]

[***]

Installation of Cabin Systems Equipm

[***]

CONFIDENTIAL

SA 1C
SA 22

SA S

SA-20

SAS5
SA 6
SA7
SA 8
SA 11
SA9
SA 13
SA 13
SA 18
SA 21
SA 22
SA 16
SA 17
SA 18
SA 22
SA 17
SA 18
SA 20
SA 22

SA 22
SA 21
SA 22

SA No. 2:
September 20!




SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS

CONFIDENTIAL

DATED AS OF:

Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No

Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No. 2.

PA No. 2191

June 29, 20C
December 21, 20(
June 14, 20C
December 20, 10(
October 31, 20C
September 9, 20!
December 9, 20(
April 15, 200¢
March 16, 200
May 8, 200!
August 30, 200
February 26, 20(
April 23, 2007
August 31, 200
February 21, 20(
June 30, 20C
December 15, 20(
July 15, 200
August 31, 200
November 19, 20(
May 28, 201(

SA No. 2:
September 20:
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Table 1-13
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments
Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [***]
Airframe Price Base
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B26 [***] Year/Escalation Formula: [***] [***]
Engine Price Base
Airframe Price: [***] Year/Escalation Formula: [***] [***]
Optional Features: i
Suk-Total of Airframe and Features: [***] Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ O Base Year Index (ECI): [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding Base Year Index (CPI):
BFE/SPE): i [***]
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE)
Estimate: $ O
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE
Estimate: [***]
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal
Accept: [***]
Escalation
Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto
Number Escalation Adv Payment Delivery):
Delivery of Factor  Serial Base [***] [***] [***] [***]
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number Escalatior Price Per A/F  [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
PA 2191 SA 22 Boeing Proprietary 9/201(
54965 5495¢ 2
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L

EBOEING

Boeing Commercial Airplanes
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 98124-2207

6-1162-LAJ-982R8

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.
Urbanizacion Costa del Este
P.O. Box 0816-06819
Panama, Republic of Panama

Subject:  Special Matter:

Reference Purchase Agreement No. 2191 as amended to daligdiimg without limitation all exhibits, attachmenschedules and
letter agreements thereto (the Purchase Agreerbetween The Boeing Company (Boeing) and COPA HOLGBSE\
S.A. (Customer) relating to Model 737 aircraft (thiecraft)

This Letter Agreement amends and supplements thegh&se Agreement and supersedes and replaceimtinesty Letter Agreeme
6-1162-LAJ982R7. All terms used but not defined in this Lefagreement have the same meaning as in the Pwdhgizemen
For purposes of this Letter Agreement “Incremetatraft” as defined in Supplemental Agreement 18 &ircraft” or “Table 1-
10A&B Aircraft”; the exercised Option Aircraft inUpplemental Agreement 21 are “Table 1-12 Aircraftid “Aircraft” and thi
“Table 1-13 Aircraft” are “Table 1-13 Aircraft” arthircraft”.

[***]

PA 2191 SA 2 9/201(
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-

EBOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.
6-1162-LAJ-982R8

13. Confidentiality. The information contained herein represents denfiial business information and has value precigsetaus
it is not available generally or to other parti&xcept as otherwise required by applicable lawuleggn or legal proces
Customer will limit the disclosure of its conterits employees, counsel and auditors of Customer witieed to know tt
contents for purposes of helping Customer perfasrobligations under the Purchase Agreement orsadyiCustomer wi
respect thereto and who understand they are rbsttnse its contents to any other person or eirtityiolation of the provisior
of this Paragraph 1.

Very truly yours,
THE BOEING COMPANY

By
Its Attorney-In-Fact

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO thi:

Date: , 2010

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By
Its

PA 2191 S£-22 2 9/201(
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L

EBOEING

Boeing Commercial Airplanes
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 98124-2207

6-1162-RLL-3958R3

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.
Urbanizacion Costa del Este
P.O. Box 0816-06819
Panama, Republic of Panama

Subject: Option Aircraft

Reference Purchase Agreement No. 2191 as amended to daliediimg without limitation all exhibits, attachmenptchedules and
letter agreements thereto (the Purchase Agreerbetween The Boeing Company (Boeing) and COPA HOLBENS.A
(Customer) relating to Model 737 aircraft (the Aadt)

This Letter Agreement amends the Purchase Agreearehsupersedes and replaces in its entirety LAleeement 6-1162-RLL-
3958R2. All terms used but not defined in this eeigreement have the same meaning as in the PRigr&greement.

[***]

1. Aircraft Description and Changes

1.1 Aircraft Description The Option Aircraft are described by the DetgikSification [***].

1.2 ChangesThe Detail Specification will be revised to indkt
[***]

PA No. 2191 SA-22
Option Aircraft 9/1C
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e

EBOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.
6-1162-RLL-3958R3

2. Price
[***]
2.2 [***]
3. Payment
[***]

P.A. No. 2191 SA-22
Option Aircraft 9/1C
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e

EBOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
6-1162-RLL-3958R3

4. Option Exercise
4.1 [**¥]
4.2 [**¥]

5. [**]
5.1 [**+]

6. Contract Terms

[***]
P.A. No. 2191 SA-22
Option Aircraft 9/1C




A u

EBOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
6-1162-RLL-3958R3

Very truly yours,
THE BOEING COMPANY

By

Its Attorney-In-Fact
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this
Date: September_, 2010
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

By

Its

Attachment — Table 1-11 and 1-14

P.A. No. 2191
Option Aircraft

CONFIDENTIAL

SA-22
9/1C
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Table 1-11
Option Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments
Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [***]
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B26 [***] Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula [+ [***]
Airframe Price: [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula [***]  [***]
Optional Features: [***]
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: [***] Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0 Base Year Index (ECI): [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding [***] Base Year Index (CPI):
BFE/SPE): [***]
Buyer Furnished Equipment $ 0
(BFE) Estimate:
Seller Purchased Equipmen [***]
(SPE) Estimate:
Non-Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at [***]
Def Agreemt:
Escalation Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto
Escalation Estimate Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor Adv Payment Bast  [***] [***] [***] [***]
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Price Per A/P [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[*7\'*] [*7\'*] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[*7\'*] [*7\'*] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***]
[*7\'*]
COP-54039-10.TXT Boeing Proprietary Sep 201
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CONFIDENTIAL

Attachment to
6-1162-RLL-3958R3

Table 1-14
Option Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments
Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [***]
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B26 [***] Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: [ [***
Airframe Price: [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula [ [***
Optional Features: rxx
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: [***] Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0 Base Year Index (ECI): [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): *xk Base Year Index (CPI): [**+]
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: $ 0
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate [***]
Non-Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Def Agreemt: [***]
Escalation
Escalation Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Deliver Number of Factor Adv Payment Basi i i i i
y y
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Price Per A/P [***] [***] [***] [***]
*kk *kk *kk *kk *kk *kk *kk *kk
E***} %***} E***} %***} E***} E***} E***} E***}
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
*kk *kk *k*k *kk *kk *kk *kk *kk
E***} %***} E***} %***} E***} E***} E***} E***}
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
COP{ PA 2191 SA-22 Boeing Proprietary 9/201(
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CONFIDENTIAL

-

EBOEING

Boeing Commercial Airplanes
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 98124-2207

6-1162-KSW-6419R1

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.
Urbanizacion Costa del Este
P.O. Box 0816-06819
Panama, Republic of Panama

Subject:  [***]

Reference Purchase Agreement No. 2191, as amended to dekediimg without limitation all exhibits, attachmenschedules and
letter agreements thereto (the Purchase Agreentattyeen The Boeing Company (Boeing) and COPA HONGS,
S.A. (Customer) relating to Model 7-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft

[***]




-

EBOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC.
6-1162-KSW-6419R1
Page 2

CONFIDENTIAL

6. The information contained herein representsidenfial business information and has value précisecause it is not availal
generally or to other parties. Except as otherwesgiired by applicable law, regulation or legal qgess, Customer will limit tt
disclosure of its contents to employees, counsélamitors of Customer with a need to know the eotst for purposes of helpi
Customer perform its obligations under the Purchsg®ement or advising Customer with respect tloeagid who understand tt

are not to disclose its contents to any other peos@ntity in violation of the provisions of tH&aragraph 6.

Very truly yours,
THE BOEING COMPANY

By

Its Attorney-In-Fact
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this
Date: , 2010

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

By

Its

P.A. No. 2191

[***]

09/10

SA-22
Boeing Proprietary




CONFIDENTIAL

Attachment A to Letter Agreement 6-1162-KSW-6419R1

[***]

Airframe Model 737-800
Engine Model: CFM5€-7B26
Airframe Price Base Year [***]
Engine Price Base Yea [***]

Applicable

Combined
Delivery Airframe/Engine
Month and Subject Aircraft Escalation
Year Serial Number Provisions Election Periog

[***] [***] [***] [***]

[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
P.A. No. 2191 SA-22

Boeing Proprietary 09/1(C




CONFIDENTIAL

Attachment A to Letter Agreement 6-1162-KSW-6419R1

[***]

Applicable

Combined
Delivery Airframe/Engine
Month and Subject Aircraft Escalation
Year Serial Number Provisions Election Perioc
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
P.A. No. 2191 SA-22

Boeing Proprietary 09/1cC




CONFIDENTIAL

Boeing Commercial Airplanes
P.O. Box 3707

Seattle, Washington 98124-2207
U.S.A.

Reference Purchase Agreement No. 2191 dated as of Novemhdr9®8, as amended to date, including all exhibitschments,
schedules and letter agreements thereto, betweeBdd&ing Company (Boeing) and COPA HOLDINGS, Sthe(
Purchase Agreemer

Attention: Vice Presiden— Contracts
Mail Code 2:-34

Pursuant to Article 2 of Letter Agreement 6-1162V5419 (Letter Agreement) to the Purchase Agreemadt sabject to tF
provisions of Article 3 of such Letter AgreemenQRA HOLDINGS, S.A. [***]:

Airframe Model: Airframe Price Base Year:
Engine Model: Engine Price Base Year [***]
Combined
Candidate Aircraft Airframe/Engine
Delivery Month and Year Serial Number Escalation Factol
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.
By
Its
Dated
[***]
THE BOEING COMPANY
By
Its Attorney-in-Fact
Dated
P.A. No. 2191 SA-22

Boeing Proprietary 09/1(C




CONFIDENTIAL

The Boeing Company
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 9812-2207

-

EBOEING
LA-1001606

COPA HOLDINGS S.A.
Urbanizacion Costa del Este
P.O. Box 0816-06819
Panama, Republic of Panama

Subject:  [***]
Reference Purchase Agreement No. PA-2191 as amended toidelieding without limitation all exhibits, attachmis, schedules

and letter agreements thereto (Purchase Agreeinetrteen The Boeing Company (Boeing) and COPA HgklB.A.
(Customer) relating to Model 7-800 aircraft (Aircraft)

[***]
1.2 [***]

COF-PA-2191LA-100160¢€ SA-22
[***] Boeing Proprietary LA Page :




CONFIDENTIAL

-

EBOEING

4. Confidential Treatment.

The information contained herein represents confidebusiness information and has value precibelyause it is not availal
generally or to other parties. Except as otherwéspiired by applicable law, regulation or legal qgass, Customer will limit tt
disclosure of its contents to employees, counsélamitors of Customer with a need to know the eotst for purposes of helpi
Customer perform its obligations under the Purchg®ement or advising Customer with respect tloeaetd who understand tt
are not to disclose its contents to any other peosentity in violation of the provisions of tHaragraph 4.

COF-PA-2191-LA-100160€ SA-22
[***] Boeing Proprietary LA Page .




L

EBOEING
Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By

Its Attorney-in-Fact
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date:

COPA Holdings, S.A.

By

Its

COF-PA-2191LA-100160¢€
[‘k)\"k]

Boeing Proprietary

CONFIDENTIAL

SA-22
LA Page .



EXHIBIT 10.56
CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
Supplemental Agreement No. 23
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft
THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT No. 23 (“Supplementajfeement 23”) is entered into as of October __ 2010 by
and between THE BOEING COMPANY, a Delaware corgoratvith its principal office in Seattle, WashingtqBoeing) and COP
HOLDINGS, S.A. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchageément No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998, (as dedend
supplemented and together with all exhibits, schedand letter agreements pertaining thereto, Phechase Agreementiglating tc
Boeing Model 737-7V3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (colleely, the “Aircraft” and each an “Aircraft”);

[***] ,

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have mutually agreeaiiend the Agreement to incorporate the effethiede and certain
other changes;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cau@s herein contained, the parties agree as follows
1. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herkallhave the meanings ascribed to them in theHise Agreement.

2. The “ Table of Contentsof the Purchase Agreement is revised to refleetdghanges made by this Supplemental Agreement 23
and a copy of such revised Table of Contents &ch#d hereto.

3. [***]_
3. Tables 1-10A(2) and 1-10B, “Aircraft DeliveryeBcription, Price and Advance Payments”, attacleeet, [***].
6. Attachment A of Letter Agreement 6-1162-KSW-6R19***].

The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sumgpitsd and revised to the extent herein providesf #& date hereof and as so
supplemented and revised will continue in full fend effect.

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Suppiaidgreement to be duly executed as of the dayyauad first written above.

PA No. 2191 Page SA No. 2:
September 20:




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
By: By:
Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Office
PA No. 2191 Page - SA No. 2:

September 20:




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
TABLE OF CONTENTS

SA

ARTICLES NUMBER
1. Quantity, Model and Descriptic SA 3
2. Delivery Schedul
3. Price
4. Paymen SA 3
5. Miscellaneou:
TABLE
1-1 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft SA 4
1-2 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SAE
1-3 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft SA 7
1-4 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft SA 1¢
1-5 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 1¢
1-6 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-7 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7.-8V3 Aircraft Option Aircraft SA 1:
1-8 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-9 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-10 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-10A(1) Aircraft Information Table for Model 7-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-10A(2) Aircraft Information Table for Model 7-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-10B Aircraft Information Table for Model 7-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-11 Aircraft Information Table for Model 737 -8V3 Option Aircraft SA 22
1-12 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7-8V3 Aircraft SA 21
1-13 Aircraft Information Table for Model 737 -8V 3 Aircraft SA 22
1-14 Aircraft Information Table for Model 737 -8V3 Option Aircraft SA 27
EXHIBIT
A-1 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft SA 3
A-2 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 3
A-3 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 1¢
A-4 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 2z

[***]
B. Aircraft Delivery Requirements and Responsilg! SA 3
PA No. 2191 i SA No. 2:

September 20:




SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS

AEL. Escalation Adjustment Airframe and Optionahftees
BFE1. BFE Variable:

CS1. Customer Support Variabl

EE1. Engine Escalation/Engine Warranty and Patedgrhnity
SLP1. Service Life Policy Componer

LETTER AGREEMENT

219101 Demonstration Flight Waive
2191-02 Escalation Sharin

219103 Seller Purchased Equipme
2191-03R1 Seller Purchased Equipme

RESTRICTED LETTER AGREEMENT

6-1162-DAN-01
6-1162-DAN-0124
6-1162-DAN-0155
6-1162-DAN-0156
6-1162-DAN-0157
6-1162-MJB-0017
6-1162-MJB-0030
6-116z-LAJ-874R
6-1162-LAJ-874R1
6-1162-LAJ-874R2
6-1162-LAJ-982
6-1162-LAJ-982R3
6-1162-RLL-3852
6-116z-LAJ-982R4
6-1162-RLL-3958
6-1162-RLL-3958R1
6-1162-RLL-3958R2
6-1162z-RLL -3958R3
6-1162-LAJ-982R5
6-1162-LAJ-982R6
6-1162LAJ-982R7
6-1162-LAJ -982R8
6-1162-RLL-4092

6-1162-KSW-6417
6-1162-KSW-6419
6-116-KSW-6419R1
6-1162-KSW-6471
LA-1000847

LA -1000160¢

PA No. 2191

Performance Guarante
Special Matter:
Airframe Escalation Revisio

Year 2000 Ready Software, Hardware and Firmy

Miscellaneous Matter

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

737-800 Performance Guarante
Special Matter:

737-8V3 Option Aircraft
737-8V3 Option Aircraft
737-8V3 Option Aircraft
737-8V3 Option Aircraft
Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matters

Advance Payment Matters for Aircre
Listed in Table -9

[***]

[***]

[***]

[***]

Installation of Cabin Systems Equipm

[***]

SA 1C

SA 22

SA-20

SAES
SAE€
SA7
SA 8
SA 11
SA S
SA 1t
SA 1t
SA 1¢
SA 21
SA 22
SA 1€
SA 17
SA 1¢
SA 22
SA 17

SA 1¢
SA 2C
SA 2z
SA 22
SA 21
SA 22

SA No. 2:
September 20!




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS DATED AS OF:

Supplemental Agreement No June 29, 20C
Supplemental Agreement No December 21, 20(
Supplemental Agreement No June 14, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.

Supplemental Agreement No. 2.

PA No. 2191

December 20, 10(
October 31, 20C
September 9, 20!
December 9, 20(
April 15, 200¢
March 16, 200
May 8, 200!
August 30, 200
February 26, 20(
April , 2007
August 31, 200
February 21, 20(
June 30, 20C
December 15, 20(
July 15, 200
August 31, 200
November 19, 20(
May 28, 201(

SA No. 2:
September 20:




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

Table 1-10A(2)
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments (BSI/Winglets)

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [***]

Engine Model/Thrust: CFM56-7B26 [***] Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation [***] [***]
Formula:

Airframe Price: [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formulz [**] [**]

Optional Features: [***]

Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: [***] Airframe Escalation Data:

Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0 Base Year Index (ECI): [***]

Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): [***] Base Year Index (CPI): [**]

Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: $ O

Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate [***]

Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept  [***]

Escalation Escalation Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor  Serial Fixed Adv Payment Base [***] [***] [*¥**] [*¥**]
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number Escalatior  Price Per A/P [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
] o O o R B o ] ] ] ]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
Total: 10
[***]
[***]
[***]
COF-5401¢-1F. TXT Oct. 201!
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

Table 1-10B
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments
(BSI Interior)

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 [***] Detail Specification: [***]

Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5¢€-7B26 [***] Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula [***] [***]
Airframe Price: [***] Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula [***] [***]
Optional Features: i

Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: [***] Airframe Escalation Data:

Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $ 0Base Year Index (ECI): [**]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): [***] Base Year Index (CPI): [***]

Buyer Furnished Equipment 0

(BFE) Estimate: $
Seller Purchased Equipmen ]
(SPE) Estimate:

Option Deposit Paid [***]
Escalation Escalation Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor  Serial Adv Payment Base [***] [**+] [***] [*¥**]
Date Aircraft  (Airframe) Number Escalation*  Price Per A/P [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
Total:
[***]
[***]
[***]
COF-5402:-1F. TXT 10/1C
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CONFIDENTIAL

Attachment A to Letter Agreement 6-1162-KSW-6419R1
[***]

Airframe Model 737-800
Engine Model: CFM5¢€-7B26
Airframe Price Base Year [***]
Engine Price Base Yea [***]
Applicable

Subject Combined
Delivery Aircraft Airframe/Engine
Month and Serial Escalation
Year Number Provisions Election Period
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***]

[***] [***] [***] [***]

PA No. 2191 SA2! 10/1C



EXHIBIT 12.1

Certification

I, Pedro Heilbron, certify that:

1.
2.

5.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of Copa Holdings, S.A

Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factmoit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementswade, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ligy tdport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statéseand other financial information included irstheport, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, fessaf operations and cash flows of the compangfaand for, the periods
presented in this repol

The company’s other certifying officer(s)Xdnare responsible for establishing and maintgmisclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hay

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriabteformation relating to the company, includiitg consolidate
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide regsle assurance regarding the reliability of finaheporting and
the preparation of financial statements for extepo@poses in accordance with generally accepteduating
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentéisinegport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canyps internal control over financial reporting tleecurred during
the period covered by the annual report that haenadly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the
company'’s internal control over financial reportiagd

The company’s other certifying officer(sddrhave disclosed, based on our most recent e@tuaf internal control over
financial reporting, to the company’s auditors #mel audit committee of the company’s board of doec(or persons
performing the equivalent function:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the company’s ability to record, processnsarize and
report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in
the company’s internal control over financial retpag.

Date: May 13, 2011

/s/ Pedro Heilbroi
Pedro Heilbror
Chief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 12.2

Certification

I, Victor Vial, certify that:

1.
2.

5.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of Copa Holdings, S.A

Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factmoit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementswade, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ligy tdport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statéseand other financial information included irstheport, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, fessaf operations and cash flows of the compangfaand for, the periods
presented in this repol

The company’s other certifying officer(s)Xdnare responsible for establishing and maintgmisclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hay

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriabteformation relating to the company, includiitg consolidate
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide regsle assurance regarding the reliability of finaheporting and
the preparation of financial statements for extepo@poses in accordance with generally accepteduating
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentéisinegport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canyps internal control over financial reporting tleecurred during
the period covered by the annual report that haenadly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the
company'’s internal control over financial reportiagd

The company’s other certifying officer(sddrhave disclosed, based on our most recent e@tuaf internal control over
financial reporting, to the company’s auditors #mel audit committee of the company’s board of doec(or persons
performing the equivalent function:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the company’s ability to record, processnsarize and
report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in
the company’s internal control over financial retpag.

Date: May 13, 2011

/s/ Victor Vial
Victor Vial
Chief Financial Office




EXHIBIT 13.1

Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the SarbaB®etey Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of serti350, chapter 63 of title 18, Unil
States Code), each of the undersigned officersopbColdings, S.A. (the “ Compariy, does hereby certify, to such officer’s
knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year endeddinber 31, 2010 of the Company fully complies g requirements
of section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securii@shange Act of 1934 and information containeth Form 20F fairly presents, i
all material respects, the financial condition aeshlts of operations of the Company.

Dated: May 13, 2011

/s/ Pedro Heilbroi
Pedro Heilbror
Chief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 13.2

Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the SarbaB®etey Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of serti350, chapter 63 of title 18, Unil
States Code), each of the undersigned officersopbColdings, S.A. (the “ Compariy, does hereby certify, to such officer’s
knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year endeddinber 31, 2010 of the Company fully complies g requirements
of section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securii@shange Act of 1934 and information containeth Form 20F fairly presents, i
all material respects, the financial condition aeshlts of operations of the Company.

Dated: May 13, 2011

/s/ Victor Vial
Victor Vial
Chief Financial Officel




